

A COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS

of

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

and

THE DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

2020 - 2022

Table of Contents

		page
Article 1:	Definitions	7
Article 2:	Purposes of Agreement	9
Article 3:	Academic Freedom	9
Article 4:	No Discrimination	10
Article 5:	Recognition	10
Article 6:	Management Rights	11
Article 7:	Rights of the Association	11
Article 8:	Association-Board Relations	15
Article 9:	University Governance	 17
Article 10:	Research Staff Appointments	 17
Article 11:	Professional Librarians	18
	Scheduling	23
Article 12:	Instructors	24
	Appointments, Reappointments and Continuing Term	
	Appointments	26
	Probationary Appointments	29
	Senior Instructor	29
	University Teaching Fellow	30
	Technology Instructor	31
Article 13:	Professional Counsellors	33
	Duties and Responsibilities of Professional Counsellors	34
	Special Leave	35
Article 14:	Appointments and Reappointments	37
	Spousal Appointments	47
Article 15:	Tenure, Continuing Appointments and Appointments Without	
	Term	49
	Standards in Considering Tenure	51
	Eligibility for Consideration for Tenure	51
	Time for Decision on Tenure	51
	Procedures for Considering Tenure	53
	Appeals or Reference to University Tenure Committee	56
	Procedure- Tenure on Initial Appointment	57

Article 15		pag
cont:	Consideration of Tenure for Person with Duties in More than	
	One Faculty	5′
<u>le 16:</u>	Promotion	
	Promotion Appeals	
<u>17:</u>	Rights, Responsibilities and Professional Relationships	63
	Professional Ethics	63
	Duties	6
	Annual Reports	65
	Teaching	65
	Research, Scholarly, Artistic and/or Professional Activity	66
	Academic Administration within Dalhousie University	66
	Professional Responsibilities outside Dalhousie University	67
<u> 18:</u>	Personal Files	67
<u>9:</u>	Existing Practices	71
0:	Workloads	
<u>1:</u>	Off-Campus Teaching	
<u>2:</u>	Extra Professional Activities	_
<u>3:</u>	Copyrights, Patents and Author's Rights	
<u>:</u>	Resignation and Retirement	80
<u>:</u>	Changes in Programme Staffing for Academic Reasons	82
<u>6:</u>	Financial Constraint	85
<u> 27:</u>	Financial Exigency	88
<u>8:</u>	Disciplinary Actions, Suspension and Dismissal	93
	Procedures for Those Holding Appointments as Instructor or	
	Professional Counsellor Members	94
	Verbal Warning	94
	Written Warning	94
	Suspension	94
	Dismissal	95
	Procedure for Members Holding Appointments as University	_
	Teaching Fellow, Professional Librarian or Professor	96
	Suspension	99
	Dismissal	10

		p
Article 29:	Grievance and Arbitration	
	Informal Procedure	
	Formal Procedure	
Article 30:	Arbitration	
	Process Provisions and Precedent	
	Vacations, Holidays and Leaves	
	Pregnancy, Paternity and Adoption Leaves	
	Bereavement Leave	
	Personal Problems and Emergencies	
	Political Leave	
	Off-Campus Activities	
	Retraining Leave	
	Sabbatical Leave	
	Special Leave	
	Unpaid Leave of Absence	
	Conferences	
	Educational Leave	
	Travel	
Article 31:	Salaries	
	Regular Salaries for the Academic Year 2020/21	
	Regular Salaries for 2020/21 for Members Other Than	
	Professional Librarian, Instructor and Professional	
	Counsellor Members	
	Regular Salaries for 2020/21 for Professional Librarian	
	Members	
	Regular Salaries for 2020/21 for Instructor Members	
	Regular Salaries for 2020/21 for Professional Counsellor	
	Members	
	Regular Salaries for the Academic Year 2021/22	
	Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Members Other Than	
	Professional Librarian, Instructor and Professional	
	Counsellor Members	

31	
<u>ont:</u>	Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Professional Librarian
	Members Decider Selection for 2021/22 for Instructor Members
	Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Instructor Members
	Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Professional Counsellor
	Members
	Salary on Initial Appointment to Dalhousie University
	Salary Maxima
	Administrative Stipends
	Overload Stipends
	Overload Stipends
<u> 4:</u>	Salary Administration
<u>1:</u> 2:	The Anomalies Fund
<u>:</u> :	Benefits
-	Health and Safety
	Strikes and Lock-Outs
<u>:</u> <u>:</u>	Transition, Term and Duration
	Fairness and Natural Justice
	Continuing Education Members
	Kinds of Appointment
	Appointments/Promotions and Tenure Committees
	Tenure
	Duties and Responsibilities of Continuing Education Members
	Workloads
	Transfer/Reassignment
	Ranks
	Promotion
	Directors
	Salaries, Y Values and Ranks
7A:	Financial Emergency in the College of Continuing Education
	Signature Page

		page
Schedule A:	2020/21 Salary Minima for Members Other Than Professional	
	Librarian, Instructor and Professional Counsellor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2020	17
Schedule B:	2020/21 Salary Scale for Professional Librarian Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2020	17
Schedule C:	2020/21 Salary Scale for Instructor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2020	17
Schedule D:	2020/21 Salary Scale for Professional Counsellor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2020	17
Schedule E:	2020/21 Salary Scale for Technology Instructor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2020	17
Schedule F:	2021/22 Salary Minima for Members Other Than Professional	
	Librarian, Instructor and Professional Counsellor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2021	17
Schedule G:	2021/22 Salary Scale for Professional Librarian Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2021	17
Schedule H:	2021/22 Salary Scale for Instructor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2021	18
Schedule I:	2021/22 Salary Scale for Professional Counsellor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2021	18
Schedule J:	2021/22 Salary Scale for Technology Instructor Members,	
	Effective 1 July 2021	18
Appendix I:	Grievance Form	18
Appendix II:	Certificates and Letters of Clarification	18
Appendix III:	Calculation of Y Values	20
	The Evaluation of s	20
	The Evaluation of e	20
	Relevance Weight 0	20
	Low Relevance Weights	20
	Relevance Weight 1/2	20
	High Relevance Weights	
	Relevance Weight 1	

Appendix III		page
cont:	The Ph.D. and its Equivalents	204
	Combining the Elements	204
	Teaching Staff in the School of Dental Hygiene	204
	Instructor Members	203
	Y Values for Professional Counsellor Members	200
	Y Values for Professional Librarians	200
	Y Values for the Continuing Education Members at the	
	College of Continuing Education	20′
	Calculation of Continuing Y Value	20′
Appendix IV:	Letter of Understanding - Clause 14.16 - Limited-Term	
	Appointments of Less than One Year and Clause 14.18(a)	
	- Part-Time or Other Staff Excluded	208
Appendix V:	Guidelines Pursuant to Clause 22.03(b)	210
Appendix VI:	Sample Letters for External Referees	21
Appendix VII:	Letter of Understanding - Academic Staffing	214
Appendix VIII:	Letter of Understanding (Exclusions from the Bargaining	
	Unit)	21:
Appendix IX:	Memorandum of Understanding (Contributions to the	
	Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan)	210
Appendix X:	Letter of Understanding - Definition of "Spouse"	21
Appendix XI:	Memorandum of Understanding - Special Salary	
	increases (SSI) - Clause 8.01(b)	218
Appendix XII:	Memorandum of Agreement - N.S. Agricultural College	
	Merger Agreement	220
Appendix XIII:	Letter of Understanding - Academic Renewal	225
Appendix XIV:	Y-Value Letter of Understanding	22
Appendix XV:	COVID-19 Letter of Understanding	228
Appendix XVI:	Letter of Understanding - Cessation of Transfers	23
Appendix XVII:	Letter of Understanding - Canada Pension Enhancement	
	Integration	232
Appendix XVIII:	Letter of Understanding - Protected Leaves under the Labour	
	Standards Code	233

Article 1: Definitions

- 1.01 The words "academic year" refer to the period from 1 July of one calendar year to 30 June of the next.
- 1.02 The word "Association" shall mean the Dalhousie Faculty Association.
- 1.03 The words "Association grievance" mean a grievance claimed by the Dalhousie Faculty Association, even though it may be a grievance involving an individual Member or group of Members.
- 1.04 The word "Board" shall mean the Board of Governors of Dalhousie University, and any agents appointed by it to act on its behalf.
- 1.05 The word "Chairperson", when printed with an initial upper-case letter, refers to the Chairperson of the Department and the words "Head", "Director" and "Head of Library" refer to people with a similar relationship to a Department or other such unit. The Deans of Law and Computer Science, where appropriate, act in relation to the Faculty of Law and Faculty of Computer Science respectively, jointly as a Dean and a Chairperson.
- 1.06 The words "Continuing Education Member" shall be deemed to mean all Members employed by the Board as full-time or regular part-time Continuing Education Professional staff in the College of Continuing Education for a continuous period of four months or more provided that Members that were in the bargaining unit on 1 July 1991 and all Instructors employed in the Transition Year Programme shall not be considered as Continuing Education Members.
- 1.07 The word "day" means a working day, exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and holidays.
- 1.08 The words "Department", "School", "College", "Institute", "Library", "Centre", and "Faculty", when printed with an initial upper-case letter, refer to the collective body of members of the professional librarian, teaching, research, artistic and professional counselling staff in the units so referred to in Dalhousie University and the list of such units is sometimes referred to as "Department or other such unit" or by a similar expression.
- 1.09 The words "designated group" shall mean:
 - (a) The groups designated by the Employment Equity Act, meaning women, disabled persons, Aboriginal Peoples and visible minorities; and
 - (b) Persons protected under Clause 4.01 on the basis of sexual orientation, gender identity and gender expression.

Mi'kmaq people will be given preference among Aboriginal Peoples and African Nova Scotians will be given preference among visible minorities.

- 1.10 A "grievance" is any difference between the Parties or between the Board and an individual Member or a group of Members, as the context requires, relating to the interpretation, application or administration of this Collective Agreement or an allegation that this Collective Agreement has been violated.
- 1.11 "instructor Member" means a Technology Instructor, Instructor, Senior Instructor or University Teaching Fellow.
- 1.12 The word "Member", when printed with an initial upper-case letter, shall mean a member of the bargaining unit as defined on the certificate cited in Article 5. The phrase "part-time Member" shall mean a member of the bargaining unit referred to as "regular part-time" as defined in the certificate and in the letter of clarification cited in Article 5. Unless otherwise excluded, regular part-time and full-time members of the teaching staff shall be deemed to be in the bargaining unit when they are employed by Dalhousie University for one academic term or more. Academic terms normally run from September to December, January to April, and from May to August subject to Clause 20.08. Unless otherwise excluded, regular part-time and full-time professional librarians, professional counsellors and research staff shall be in the bargaining unit when they are employed by Dalhousie University for a continuous period of four months or more.
- 1.13 The words "net proceeds" shall mean the net profits derived from licensing or commercialisation of a patented product or process after deduction of all expenses including but not restricted to expenses for patent searches, patent protection and maintaining such protection in Canada and other countries.
- 1.14 The word "Parties", when printed with an initial upper-case letter, means the Association and the Board.
- 1.15 The word "President" when used without qualification shall mean the President of Dalhousie University.
- 1.16 The word "Programme", when printed with an initial upper-case letter, refers to a course of study leading to a degree, diploma or certificate approved by the Senate.
- 1.17 The words "regular salary" mean the annual salary paid by the Board to a Member for the work regularly done by the Member. Regular salary does not include stipends paid for special administrative duties (for example, Chairpersons' stipends), payment for summer school teaching, travel expenses or contributions made by the Board to pension and other benefits.
- 1.18 "Signature" shall include an electronic signature. "Sign" and "signed" shall have corresponding meaning.
- 1.19 The word "University" when used without qualification and printed with an initial upper-

case letter shall mean Dalhousie University.

Article 2: Purposes of Agreement

2.01 The Parties recognize that the principal goal of Dalhousie University is the attainment of high standards of academic excellence in the pursuit and dissemination of knowledge for the benefit of students and of the academic and wider communities. Excellence is to be pursued in teaching, in research and scholarly contributions and in service to Dalhousie University and the community at large. The Parties agree to co-operate in encouraging in Dalhousie University a climate of freedom, responsibility and mutual respect in the pursuit of these objectives. It is the purpose of this Collective Agreement to set out terms and conditions of employment for Members of the bargaining unit, which terms and conditions will promote academic excellence, foster and continue harmonious relations within the Dalhousie University community, ensure equity in the treatment of Members through fair procedures, which are published for all Members and which include means for settling differences which may arise from time to time between the Board and the Members.

Article 3: Academic Freedom

- 3.01 The Parties recognize and affirm that academic freedom is essential to the fulfillment of the purpose of Dalhousie University in the search for knowledge and the communication of knowledge to students, colleagues and society at large. The Parties agree that academic freedom carries with it a corresponding responsibility on the part of Members to use their freedom responsibly, with due concern for the rights of others, for the duties appropriate to the Member's university appointment, and for the welfare of society. Academic freedom does not confer legal immunity either inside or outside Dalhousie University, nor does it prevent collective self-governance and peer evaluation as conducted or approved by the Senate or by other academic, research or professional bodies whether within or outside Dalhousie University. Academic freedom does not require neutrality on the part of the individual. Rather, academic freedom makes commitment possible.
- 3.02 The Parties agree that they will not infringe or abridge the academic freedom of any member of the academic community. Members of the bargaining unit are entitled to freedom, as appropriate to the Member's university appointment, in carrying out research and in publishing the results thereof, freedom of teaching and of discussion, freedom to criticize, including criticism of the Board and the Association, and freedom from institutional censorship.
- 3.03 Academic freedom, as appropriate to the Member's university appointment, implies protection of Members by the Board and the Association from pressure intended to hinder or prevent them pursuing their scholarly and research interests and communicating the results thereof to students, colleagues and the community at large. The Parties acknowledge this responsibility, whether such pressure emanates from inside or outside

the University.

Article 4: No Discrimination

- 4.01 The Parties agree that there shall be no discrimination or favouritism (except (a) as may be provided for elsewhere in this Collective Agreement) exercised or practised with regard to any Member in regard to salary, rank, appointment, reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment or appointment without term, sabbatical or other leave, benefits, dismissal or any other terms and conditions of employment by reason of race, creed, colour, ancestry, national origin, place of birth, citizenship (except insofar as citizenship may be a criterion for initial appointment), political or religious affiliation or belief, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, marital status, family relationship, personal lifestyle, membership or non-membership in the Association, activity or non-activity on behalf of the Board or the Association, age, language (if the language is adequate to carry out required duties), criminal record prior to employment at Dalhousie University (providing such a record has not been misrepresented by the Member), or handicap or disability (providing the handicap or disability does not preclude the Member's carrying out required duties). The correction of inequities, the implementation of affirmative action programmes, or spousal appointment provisions, as may be agreed between the Parties, shall not constitute discrimination.
 - (b) The Parties agree they are committed to a working and learning environment that is free from personal harassment.
- 4.02 The Parties are committed to the goal of increasing the proportion of designated group members among those holding academic appointments at Dalhousie University and have incorporated Clause 14.01 to that end. The Board will endeavour to collect information on the numbers and proportions of designated group member candidates and other candidates for academic appointments and the numbers and proportions of designated group members and others appointed. The President shall report this information annually to the Association and to the Senate.
- 4.03 The Parties agree that, in keeping with the commitment to increase the proportion of designated group members among those holding academic appointments at Dalhousie University, where possible, Members of the designated group shall be nominated to, or asked to serve on, appointment, promotion and tenure committees.

Article 5: Recognition

5.01 The Board, pursuant to the certification by the Nova Scotia Labour Relations Board, recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Members described in Certificate No. 2478, dated 24 November 1978, and its accompanying letter

of clarification, as amended by Certificate No. 2885, dated 19 August 1982, with its letter of clarification of that same date, and as amended by Certificate No. 4173, dated 21 April 1993, and as amended by Certificate No. 4544, dated 11 December 1997 and as amended by Certificate No. 0582, dated 19 November 2014 as may be further amended from time to time. A copy of Certificate No. 2478 and its letter of clarification, and of Certificate No. 2885 and its letter of clarification and Certificates Nos. 4173 and 4544 and Certificate No. 0582 are given in Appendix II.

5.02 In addition to the exclusions described in the Nova Scotia Labour Relations Board's Certificates and the Memorandum of Agreement, additional exclusions from the bargaining unit are:

Associate Deans Associate University Librarians Director, Counselling Services

Article 6: Management Rights

6.01 The Board, consistent with its rights and obligations in law, retains the powers to manage and operate Dalhousie University, except as explicitly limited by this Collective Agreement.

Article 7: Rights of the Association

- 7.01 Nobody is required to join the Association as a condition of employment.
- 7.02 So long as this Collective Agreement continues to operate, the Board once in each month shall deduct from the salary of each Member of the bargaining unit such regular monthly dues or their equivalents as shall be authorized from time to time and certified in writing to the Board by the Association. The Board agrees to deduct and remit dues in accordance with this Article 7 from funds held to the credit of a Member on unpaid leave of absence under Clause 30.29 if the Board continues to administer the salary of the Member on behalf of a third party during the leave of absence. The Association agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Board from any liability or action arising out of any such deductions.
- 7.03 The equivalent of dues for those Members whose objections to paying dues or their equivalents to unions were upheld under the terms of a previous Collective Agreement between the Parties shall continue to be paid to the Dalhousie University Scholarship Fund, unless the Member concerned requests in writing that the dues or their equivalents be paid to the Association. The equivalent of dues for those who registered objections to paying dues or their equivalents to unions under the terms of a previous Collective Agreement between the Parties, and whose objections were not upheld, shall be paid to the Dalhousie University Scholarship Fund, effective the month following the signing of this Collective Agreement, unless the Member concerned requests in writing that the dues

or their equivalents be paid to the Association. A newly appointed Member, or one who has entered the bargaining unit for the first time, may apply to the Association-Board Committee within ninety days of the effective date of initial appointment or entry to the bargaining unit, to register an objection to paying the dues or their equivalents specified in Clause 7.02. Such objection shall be on religious grounds, that the Member is a practising member of a recognized religion which has a doctrine against paying dues or the equivalent of dues to unions; or the objection shall be on conscientious grounds that the Member has an affirmatively expressed conscientious objection to paying dues or their equivalents to unions. The committee shall consider each such objection together with what evidence or other documentation the Member may submit in writing or personally. For the purpose of considering such objections, but only for this purpose, the committee shall be chaired by the President of the Atlantic School of Theology. In any case where the President of the Atlantic School of Theology might determine that for personal reasons he should not chair the committee, a chairperson shall be named by agreement of the Parties. The committee shall reach its decision by simple majority, including the chairperson. Where an objection is upheld, the equivalent of dues shall be paid to the Dalhousie University Scholarship Fund provided, however, that the total number of Members paying the equivalent of dues to the Dalhousie University Scholarship Fund would not exceed sixteen, or 2.5% of the total number of Members in the bargaining unit (in the latter case any fraction resulting from the calculation of 2.5% shall be rounded to the next higher whole number), whichever is the lesser.

- 7.04 (a) Teaching, research and professional library staff who are on the regular monthly payroll for at least four consecutive months and who are not Members of the bargaining unit but who do not opt out of membership of the Association will continue to have regular monthly dues to the Association deducted from their salaries each month. Such monthly dues shall be those authorized from time to time by the Association and certified in writing to the Board by the Association.
 - (b) Clause 7.04(a) above does not apply to employees in the bargaining unit represented by CUPE, Local 3912.
- 7.05 No later than the 7th day of the month following each payment of salaries, the Board shall inform the Association of the names of those persons from whose salaries deductions have been made, and the amounts so deducted from each person's salary and shall remit to the Association the amounts so deducted on or before that date.
- 7.06 The Board agrees to print the annual amount of dues deducted from each person's salary in accordance with Clauses 7.02 and 7.04, on behalf of the Association, on that person's T4 slip.
- 7.07 The Board agrees to provide to the President of the Association, upon request and within a reasonable period of time and for the exclusive use of the Executive of the Association, information relevant to the operations of Dalhousie University. Such information shall include reports or policies produced by Departments, Schools, Centres, Institutes,

Libraries and Faculties. It is understood that this Clause 7.07 shall not be construed to require the Board to prepare reports which differ in other than minor ways from those it prepares for other purposes. Except for the use of information in grievances, arbitrations and confidential proceedings, any information which is normally treated as confidential within Dalhousie University shall be treated as such by the Executive of the Association and shall not be published or revealed in any manner whatsoever by the Executive of the Association.

- 7.08 Without limiting the generality of Clause 7.07, the Board agrees specifically to provide the Association:
 - (a) on a confidential basis, a copy of all staff changes as and when approved by the Board and, on a monthly basis, notice that such changes have taken effect;
 - (b) on a confidential basis, a copy of the Faculty Payroll Information Profile or other such documents as contain the same information for all changes in teaching, research, artistic, professional library and professional counsellor staff in those departments and similar units where Members work;
 - (c) a copy of Dalhousie University's annual Financial Report and the Auditor's Report;
 - (d) a copy of the budget documents of the University, after they have been presented to the Board;
 - (e) access to correspondence with government agencies on funding and copies of reports and requests to M.P.H.E.C.;
 - (f) by 1 December of each year a list of those Members who do not pay dues to the Association as a result of the application of Clause 7.03, together with a notation of the amounts paid to the Dalhousie University Scholarship Fund on behalf of those Members upon payment thereof;
 - (g) once each term, no later than the end of the sixth week of each term, the Board shall provide the Association with a list in printed and machine-readable form of all persons who are not included in the bargaining unit and are appointed to the teaching staff in departments and similar units where Members work. This list shall include the following information:
 - (i) name of appointee;
 - (ii) department;
 - (iii) start date of each current assignment;
 - (iv) end date of each current assignment;
 - (v) academic unit;
 - (vi) for persons other than those appointed to the School of Dental Hygiene

and those excluded from the bargaining unit in accordance with Clause 14.22, class number for each class assigned and total full-class equivalents assigned;

(h) information about class number for each class assigned for persons appointed with laboratory, clinical and/or other lecture responsibilities and persons appointed to the School of Dental Hygiene and those excluded from the bargaining unit in accordance with Clause 14.22 shall be provided in the same manner as in Clause 7.08(g) within a reasonable time following the implementation of the Banner Administrative Computing Suite.

It is understood and agreed that the limits of confidentiality referred to in this Clause 7.08 and also in Clause 7.07 extend to the publication in any form by the Association of information obtained under the terms of Clauses 7.07 and 7.08.

- 7.09 The Board agrees to provide the Association, free of charge, with the use of reasonable, serviced office space on Dalhousie University premises. Such other services or facilities as the Association may require shall be provided by the Board on the same basis and at the same cost as these services or facilities are provided and actually charged to departments.
- 7.10 The Board shall provide the Association with suitable meeting rooms as required, free of charge on the same basis as voluntary organizations within Dalhousie University, provided reasonable notice is given.
- 7.11 The Board agrees to continue to arrange for a courtesy account for use by the Association. Charges incurred by the Association shall be debited to this account for subsequent payment by the Association. The Association shall pay the amounts debited to the courtesy account within thirty days of being billed. Failure to pay the correct amounts on time will lead to interest charges at the University's bank borrowing rate.
- 7.12 The Board shall not unreasonably deny opportunity for Members to attend meetings and to attend to Association business.
- 7.13 In determining and authorizing a Member's workload, the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian and Dean or Vice-President shall not unreasonably refuse a Member a reduction in components of their normal workload if there exists a reasonable expectation that the Member's responsibilities as President of the Association, as a member of the Association's bargaining committee, as a member of a joint committee set up pursuant to this Collective Agreement to facilitate the operation of the Collective Agreement, or as a member of the Grievance Committee of the Association (there being a limit of four in this last category) will impose significant demands upon the Member's time. The President of the Association shall be entitled to a reduction in workload of one full class or its equivalent; and, as designated by the Association no later than 1 July in each year, one Member of the Executive Committee of the Association shall be entitled to a

reduction in workload of one full class or its equivalent or two Members of the Executive Committee shall be entitled to a reduction in workload of one-half class or its equivalent. In years in which this Collective Agreement is being negotiated, the Association's Chief Negotiator shall be entitled to a reduction in workload of one-half class or its equivalent. The cost of providing replacements for the reductions in workload for the President of the Association, the designated Member(s) of the Executive Committee and the Association's Chief Negotiator shall be borne by the Board out of the University General Budget.

- 7.14 The Association shall provide a copy of the Collective Agreement, edited by both Parties, and suitable for printing, and the Board shall provide the Association 100 copies of the Collective Agreement at no extra cost. The Association may purchase such number of additional copies as it requests, at a charge no greater than the actual cost to the Board of reproduction of the Collective Agreement. The Board agrees to email a searchable PDF copy of the Collective Agreement to each Member a copy of this Collective Agreement. The Board shall also provide a hard copy of the Collective Agreement to any Member or appointee upon request.
- 7.15 The Board agrees to appoint as a trustee of the Dalhousie University Pension Trust Fund a person nominated by the Association. The Board agrees to appoint as a trustee of the Dalhousie Retirees' Trust Fund, a person nominated by the Association. The Board shall not cede its right to appoint a person nominated by the Association as a trustee for the Dalhousie University Pension Plan without thorough prior discussion with the Association.
- 7.16 The Board agrees to continue the appointment as members of the Employee Benefits Committee, in accordance with Clause 32.06, of two persons nominated by the Association.

Article 8: Association-Board Relations

- 8.01 (a) Unless otherwise specifically provided for in this Collective Agreement, the Board shall not enter into any agreement with any Member or group of Members respecting their terms and conditions of employment except as approved by the Association-Board Committee, set up in accordance with Clause 8.04.
 - (b) However, so long as the salary minima and maxima of the Agreement are adhered to, the Board may bargain with Members with respect to upward adjustments of regular salary rate subject to the conditions of this Clause 8.01. Such adjustments may not be given in any academic year to more than twelve (12) Members. No adjustment shall exceed \$15,000 and no Member may receive more than one (1) adjustment for the life of this Collective Agreement. The amount of each adjustment is subject to the approval of the Association-Board Committee in accordance with Appendix XI of this Collective Agreement. The Board establishes a total fund of \$140,000 per year of the Collective Agreement to be

- used for Special Salary Increases. The effective date for implementation of each adjustment shall be as determined by the Board, and reported to the Association-Board Committee, provided that it is within the academic year to which the adjustment is attributed under this Clause (b), or 1 July of the following year.
- (c) The adjustments referred to in Clause (b) include adjustments to regular salary rate made on any basis, and are not limited to those made in respect of actual or anticipated competitive offers.
- (d) The cost of increases pursuant to Clause (b) shall be borne by the Board out of the University General Budget.
- (e) Administrative stipends, overload stipends, changes to percentage of FTE, externally funded salary adjustments, and any other increments provided for elsewhere in this Collective Agreement, are not covered by Clauses 8.01 (b) to (d).
- 8.02 Unless other means are specifically provided for in this Collective Agreement, correspondence between the Association and the Board shall be to and from the President of the Association and the President of the University, or persons each may designate.
- 8.03 Unless other means are specifically provided for in this Collective Agreement, the internal mail service of the University, or personal delivery, shall be the regular means for delivery of mail, and when the internal mail service is used delivery shall be assumed to occur not later than two working days after deposit in the internal mail service, unless failure to receive correspondence is established. When email is used, delivery shall be assumed to occur on the day that the email is sent unless an electronic error message is returned.
- 8.04 Within fourteen days of the signing of this Collective Agreement, each Party shall provide the other in writing the names and titles of three persons authorized to represent that Party in the Association-Board Committee. Each Party shall maintain the currency of its list of representatives, advising the other by email or in writing of any changes.
- 8.05 The Association-Board Committee shall have co-chairpersons, one designated by each Party, who shall jointly arrange for meetings and their agenda and who shall in turn chair meetings. The committee shall meet monthly during the regular academic session and whenever the co-chairpersons arrange additional meetings, and a record or minutes of the meetings shall be kept as may be arranged by the co-chairpersons. A quorum for meetings shall be not less than four members of the committee, two representing each Party. Each member shall have a vote.
- 8.06 The Association-Board Committee shall consider matters referred to it by the Parties, by Members, or as initiated by members of the committee, including questions of interpretation or application of the Collective Agreement. Changes in, or amendments to,

this Collective Agreement may be made by written agreement between the Parties on the recommendation by a concurrent majority of the committee. A concurrent majority is reached by the committee when at least two members of the committee from the Association and two members of the committee from the Board vote in favour of a motion. Any agreement reached by the committee, by concurrent majority, on the interpretation or application of this Collective Agreement shall be binding when confirmed in writing and signed by the two co-chairpersons.

- 8.07 Wherever possible, documents exchanged between the Parties in support of business of the Association Board Committee shall be provided electronically.
- 8.08 The Association may at any time call upon the assistance of the Canadian Association of University Teachers (C.A.U.T.). Such representatives and any other duly designated representatives or counsel for the Association shall have access to Dalhousie University premises to consult with Members or officers of the Association. These representatives designated by the Association may participate in discussions or negotiations with representatives of the Board when their authority has been communicated to the Board by the Association.

Article 9: University Governance

- 9.01 Except as expressly provided for in the certification order or in this Collective Agreement, the Board acknowledges the importance of participation by Members and other academic staff in the collegial process, including the internal regulation of the University and the selection of academic administrators, in accordance with arrangements approved from time to time by the Senate and the Board.
- 9.02 The Parties agree that before either submits a proposal to Government or to the Legislative Assembly for legislation, or before either supports any legislative proposal affecting Dalhousie University, each will advise the other and the Senate and provide both with a reasonable opportunity for consultation about their positions.

Article 10: Research Staff Appointments

- 10.01 A Member whose responsibilities and assigned workload mainly involve research may hold an appointment to a teaching rank provided in Clause 14.04 of this Collective Agreement or may be appointed as a Research Associate, Assistant Professor (Research), Associate Professor (Research) or Professor (Research). Appointments to these research ranks shall be made by the same procedures as those used for Members holding appointments to the teaching ranks provided in Clause 14.04.
- 10.02 Unless stated explicitly to be otherwise in this Collective Agreement, the research ranks, Research Associate, Assistant Professor (Research), Associate Professor (Research) and Professor (Research) shall correspond generally in terms of qualifications, salary and

- general terms and conditions of appointment to those of the teaching staff in the following ranks respectively, Lecturer, Assistant Professor, Associate Professor, and Professor.
- 10.03 Without limiting the generality of Clauses 10.01 and 10.02, appointments to the research ranks shall be of the same four kinds as those given in Clause 14.09 of this Collective Agreement. When consideration is given to making such appointments to the research ranks, the process of evaluation shall take due account of any special responsibilities and duties involved.
- 10.04 Members holding appointments in the research ranks shall be considered for promotion and tenure by the same procedures as those used for Members holding teaching appointments as provided in Articles 15 and 16 of this Collective Agreement, except that the process of evaluation shall take due account of any special responsibilities and duties of the research appointee concerned.

Article 11: Professional Librarians

- 11.01 In evaluating professional librarians for initial appointment at any level within the University Library System, consideration shall take account of the librarian's formal qualifications or their equivalent, as well as any additional relevant professional experience.
- 11.02 Consideration of professional librarians for reappointment, promotion and appointment without term shall take account of the following criteria:
 - (a) the librarian's formal qualifications or equivalent relevant experience;
 - (b) effectiveness of the librarian's performance on the job, which shall include a consideration of the following: knowledge of, and ability to apply, the principles of librarianship; technical ability; ability to relate to library staff; ability to relate to users; teaching ability; and potential contributions to the library system;
 - (c) the librarian's contribution to the library system, the University and the profession, the community at large, and scholarly activity (which does not include any normal activity necessary to maintain competence or to perform required duties as a librarian);
 - (d) professional development and ability to handle increased responsibility;
 - (e) effectiveness of the librarian's performance in administrative and supervisory duties.

If the librarian has duties in more than one unit of Dalhousie University, consideration shall be given to performance in all of these. Particular strength in some criteria may be

considered as counterbalancing relative lack of strength in others so that decisions taken are based on an overall assessment of performance, but in no case shall reappointment, promotion, or appointment without term take place if performance in any of the criteria in Clause 11.02(a) to (d), and if appropriate (e), is less than satisfactory. A librarian's responsibilities need not include supervisory and/or administrative duties. In such a case, a librarian will not be denied reappointment, promotion, or appointment without term because they do not perform supervisory or administrative duties.

- 11.03 Appointments of professional librarians shall be of three kinds:
 - (a) probationary appointments;
 - (b) appointments without term;
 - (c) limited-term appointments.

The duration of these kinds of appointments, and the process of appointment and reappointment are described in Article 14 of this Collective Agreement. Limited-term appointments may be made to replace a librarian on leave, to appoint a librarian for a special project of limited duration, or to hire staff who will be paid fifty percent or more salary from limited-term, external contract or grant funds awarded to the University, or to replace a librarian who has left the University with less notice than that specified in Clause 24.01 where a regular appointment cannot reasonably be made in the time available, and in the last case, the appointment shall not exceed 12 months.

- 11.04 The length and any special conditions attached to a limited-term appointment shall be stated clearly in writing. Librarians who hold limited-term appointments for at least three consecutive years shall be entitled to consideration for one of the kinds of appointments specified in Clause 11.03(a) or (b) (in the latter case subject to Clause 11.11 and 11.13) in accordance with Clause 14.20. Such consideration shall take place upon the librarian's submission of a written request, by 1 October, to the appropriate Library Appointments Committee. Part-time professional librarian Members who hold limited-term appointments at the time this Collective Agreement is signed shall be eligible for reappointment to further such limited-term appointments notwithstanding that such limited-term appointments do not fall within any of the categories specified in Clause 11.03. If reappointment is not made, reasons shall be given in writing.
- 11.05 There will be four ranks for librarians: promotion to the ranks of Librarian 2, 3 and 4 shall take place only when the Member's performance satisfies the requirements of Clause 11.02, and such additional requirements as are specified below.
 - (a) Librarian 1: This is the entering level for a new graduate in Library Science and for a beginning professional librarian with equivalent relevant experience. This is the junior rank of a librarian whose work is performed under the supervision of an experienced librarian.
 - (b) Librarian 2: Appointment at or promotion to the rank of Librarian 2 shall be based

upon an evaluation of the criteria in Clause 11.02, and shall require evidence of significant professional contributions to the library and to the University. Subject to Clause 14.13, promotion to the rank of Librarian 2 shall be considered in the fall term of the second year as Librarian 1 at Dalhousie upon the request of the Librarian, but failing such request shall be considered no later than the fall term of the third year as Librarian 1 at Dalhousie.

- (c) Librarian 3: Appointment at or promotion to the rank of Librarian 3 is based upon an evaluation of the criteria in Clause 11.02 and shall require evidence of significant professional contributions to the library and to the University. Subject to Clause 14.13, promotion to the rank of Librarian 3 shall be considered in the fall term of the second year as Librarian 2 at Dalhousie upon the request of the librarian, but failing such request shall be considered no later than the fall term of the third year as Librarian 2 at Dalhousie.
- Librarian 4: Appointment at or promotion to the rank of Librarian 4 shall require (d) in addition to the criteria in Clause 11.02, and at a standard above that in Clause 11.05(c), achievements in bibliographical activities which make a contribution to the field, academic administration within Dalhousie University, significant professional contributions to the needs and the effectiveness of the Library System, or a record of professional accomplishments which is widely recognized beyond the University in the fields of library science or administration. Subject to Clause 14.13, on the initiative of the Member or the appropriate Chief Librarian, Associate University Librarian or Dean, a Member may be considered for promotion from the rank of Librarian 3 to that of Librarian 4, but failing such an initiative, the Chief Librarian, Associate University Librarian or Dean shall inform the Member that they are eligible to be considered for promotion to the rank of Librarian 4 in the fall term of the fifth year as Librarian 3 or after other equivalent experience, provided the Librarian has been employed as a librarian at Dalhousie for at least the previous twelve months.
- (e) Promotion to Librarian 2, 3, or 4, shall take effect, when granted, from the beginning of the following academic year.
- 11.06 There is no limit as to how often a Member may request promotion or how often a Member may be put forward by the committee mentioned in Clause 11.07. When a Member has been considered for promotion and promotion has not been recommended, requests for promotion by the Member and recommendations that the Member be promoted by the Library Appointments Committee must address the reasons mentioned in Clause 11.09(c) and 11.15 of this Collective Agreement, which were given in the last year in which the Member was not recommended.
- 11.07 (a) There shall be a representative Library Appointments Committee in each library (i.e., the Killam Memorial, the Sir James Dunn Law, Sexton Design & Technology, the MacRae and the W.K. Kellogg Health Sciences Libraries), the

Members of which shall be elected by all the professional librarians in each library by 15 June of each year, or shall be committees of all Members in a library. In no case shall the deliberations of the Library Appointments Committee be transacted in the absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations. These Library Appointments Committees shall make recommendations to the Library System Appointments Committee on all matters concerning appointments, reappointments, promotions and appointments without term of librarians; recommendations concerning reappointments, promotions and appointments without term shall be made no later than 15 November of each year. Such recommendations shall be accompanied by all documents and other evidence upon which the recommendations are based. At each stage in these deliberations, recommendations that are made by the committee shall be made known to the Member concerned. All recommendations that reappointment, promotion or appointment without term be granted, not be granted, or that consideration be deferred (except when the Member has requested such deferral) shall include a written statement of the reasons for the recommendation with respect to each of the characteristics specified or provided in Clause 11.02 and other relevant clauses of this Article 11.

- (b) In the case of an application for reappointment, appointment without term, or promotion, those Members who identify as Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian may elect to have an Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian non-voting representative on their Library Appointments Committee. The representative will be chosen by the Member and must be arm's length and have an academic appointment at Dalhousie University. The role of the representative is to provide advice to the Committee on any aspect of the Member's application that may be a reflection of the Member's heritage and/or identity. The representative may prepare an independent report to be added to the Member's file.
- 11.08 In addition, there shall be a Library System Appointments Committee consisting of **five** professional librarians, **four** of whom shall be elected annually by all professional librarian Members at Dalhousie University. Not less than three of the members shall have appointments without term, and each of the libraries (the Killam Memorial, the Sir James Dunn Law, and the W.K. Kellogg Health Sciences Libraries) shall be represented on this committee. **The Sexton Design & Technology and the MacRae Libraries shall have a representative in alternate years**. The **fifth** member shall be a continuing member from the previous committee. The Library System Appointments Committee shall choose its own chairperson from among its members, and shall choose one of its members to be a continuing member, who shall serve a second term without the need of election. No member may serve more than two consecutive years. In no case shall the deliberations of the Library System Appointments Committee be transacted in the

absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations. It shall be the responsibility of the continuing member to initiate and oversee the election of the Library System Appointments Committee in the spring of each year and to call a meeting of the committee no later than 1 October of each year.

- 11.09 The Library System Appointments Committee, having regard to the characteristics specified or provided in Clauses 11.02 and 11.05 shall:
 - (a) consider recommendations from the representative Library Appointments Committees established in Clause 11.07 with regard to appointments, reappointments, promotions and appointments without term and shall make recommendations to the appropriate Chief Librarians on reappointments, promotions and appointments without term by 15 December;
 - (b) consult supervisors, colleagues and appropriate Chief Librarians as well as personal files, current resumes and other relevant documents for reappointment, promotion and appointment without term cases, and relevant references and other documentation for appointments;
 - (c) notify the candidate of any recommendation it makes at the time the recommendation is made and shall provide to the candidate a written statement of the reasons for the recommendation in respect to each of the characteristics specified or provided in Clauses 11.02 and 11.05.
- 11.10 Prior to making a recommendation in accordance with Clause 11.09, if it appears in hearings of the Library System Appointments Committee, that recommendation for reappointment, promotion or appointment without term may be denied or consideration deferred, the Member shall be informed of this in writing, and shall be given a written statement of the areas of concern with respect to the characteristics specified or provided in Clause 11.02 and other relevant clauses of this Article 11, and shall be invited to appear before the committee. All Members who are candidates for promotion and appointment without term may appear before the committee if they so desire. The Chief Librarian shall inform the Member concerned before making a recommendation which differs from that of the Library System Appointments Committee.
- 11.11 Subject to Clause 11.13 or unless otherwise specified in a Member's letter of appointment from the Board, appointment without term shall be considered in the fall term of a Member's fifth year as a professional librarian at Dalhousie University.
- 11.12 A Member may, in exceptional circumstances, be granted an appointment without term at the time of their appointment, but any such grant of appointment without term shall be

- consistent with the characteristics set forth in Clause 11.02, and must be approved by the Library System Appointments Committee before the appointment is made.
- 11.13 A professional librarian with three or more years of full-time relevant experience prior to their initial appointment to Dalhousie University shall be considered for appointment without term in the fall term of their third year as a professional librarian at Dalhousie University, unless the Member indicates that they do not wish to be considered for appointment without term at that time.
- 11.14 On appointments, reappointments, promotions and appointments without term, the appropriate Chief Librarian, after careful consideration of the recommendations of the Library System Appointments Committee, shall make a recommendation to the appropriate Dean or Vice-President. Such recommendations shall be made within fifteen days of the receipt of a recommendation from the Library System Appointments Committee. When making recommendations to the appropriate Dean or Vice-President, the Chief Librarian shall include the text of the recommendation of the Library System Appointments Committee together with all documentation on which it is based.
- 11.15 When a Chief Librarian makes a recommendation to a Dean or Vice-President, the candidate shall be notified in writing at the time the recommendation is made. When this recommendation differs from that of the Library System Appointments Committee, the appropriate Chief Librarian shall include in the notification given to the Member concerned a written statement of the reasons for the recommendation in respect to each of the characteristics specified or provided in Clause 11.02 and other relevant clauses of Article 11.
- 11.16 Professional librarians who hold an appointment without term shall only be transferred or reassigned duties in other units of Dalhousie University after consultation and with their consent, or where such transfer or reassignment is required in order to meet the service needs of the University Library System, in which case provision shall be made for the Member's input which shall be considered and to which a written response shall be provided upon request. Where practicable, at least one (1) month prior written notice of any transfer shall be given. Requests for transfer or reassignment to available positions shall not be unreasonably denied provided the transfer or reassignment is consistent with the service needs of the University Library System. The parties shall endeavour to resolve any grievances regarding a transfer as expeditiously as possible.

Scheduling.

11.17 The duties of a professional librarian include providing information services to library users and the necessary technical services to make this provision of information and service possible. Hours of work may include nights and weekends because of the service component and may vary from week to week according to time of year and levels of service required. Scheduling is the responsibility of the appropriate supervisor and shall take into account the preference of the individual as much as is compatible with meeting

the needs of library service. Hours of work will be based on a schedule of 35 hours per week September through April and 32.5 hours per week from May through August. Part-time service by professional librarians shall refer to the fraction of full-time hours worked per week.

- 11.18 The schedules of professional librarians should normally be arranged so as to permit 48 consecutive hours free of duties in every seven-day cycle although this may not always be possible in smaller units. If emergency situations arise, such as illness, death, or unexpected resignations among the professional library staff, and it becomes necessary for a professional librarian to work a seven-day cycle without 48 consecutive hours free of duties, the librarian will be compensated as for work done on holidays.
- 11.19 While it is recognized that professional librarians may be required to work on some holidays, the assignment of such work must be equitable, and disputes about such assignments are grievable. Compensation for carrying out work on holidays shall be at the rate of two hours for every such hour worked, in the form of time off from such duty in lieu of payment, or in the equivalent in overtime pay at the discretion of the librarian. The use of paid overtime work is subject to budget limitations, as well as the needs of the library. In no case shall overtime accumulated by a professional librarian exceed 19.5 hours without the professional librarian being given the opportunity to take time in lieu of payment or the equivalent in pay. The time off shall be arranged by mutual consent of the librarian and the supervisor based on the needs of library service.
- 11.20 Time worked in excess of the minimum requirement shall be compensated either at the rate of one hour for each additional hour worked in the form of time off or by payment at equivalent rate. The form of recompense shall be chosen by the librarian concerned at the time the excess work is authorized. In order to be sure that compensatory time off or payment is made the present time-accounting system shall be continued.
- 11.21 Notwithstanding Clauses 11.19 and 11.20 above, any librarian regularly assigned additional duties in accordance with Clause 22.02 shall be reimbursed in accordance with that clause. Duties of 20 hours or more in any four-month period shall constitute consideration under Clause 22.02.
- 11.22 Administrative responsibilities of professional librarians within the University Library System may be assigned, varied or terminated by the Chief Librarian responsible for the library unit concerned. Provision shall be made for consultation with the Members concerned.

Article 12: Instructors

12.01 Appointment(s) of instructor Members shall be made following the procedures set out in this Article 12. When a recommendation has been made for a specific appointment, a letter signed by the appropriate Dean or Vice-President shall be sent to the candidate and

such letter shall list the primary duties, initial salary and benefits, full-time or part-time status of the appointment, status of the term of the appointment, shall state the single fraction of full-time duties as provided in Clause 12.03, and shall set out the Department to which the appointment is to be made, and a copy of the Collective Agreement shall be included.

- 12.02 The Board shall consult with the Association Members of the Association-Board Committee on the salary, creditable years of service, and other terms and conditions of employment for each person to be appointed to a position in the bargaining unit prior to making such an appointment.
- 12.03 (a) There shall be a job description, including related workloads, prepared by the appropriate Department Chairperson in consultation with the Member concerned for each current position held by instructor Members. Job descriptions shall set out in as much detail as is reasonable the teaching, service and other academic responsibilities (if appropriate) of the instructor Member. For all part-time instructor Members, the job description shall include the single fraction of full-time duties associated with the position and this fraction shall not be less than one-half.
 - (b) When a new position is created, a job description shall be prepared by the Department prior to posting of the notice referred to in Clause 12.10(a). At the time of posting or advertising, a copy of the job description shall be provided to the Association. Such job description shall comply with Clause 12.03(a).
 - (c) The appropriate Department Chairperson will make reasonable effort by March 1 of each year to inform each instructor Member of the details of their workload for the next academic year.
- 12.04 (a) Each instructor Member shall receive a copy of their job description and a copy shall also be provided to the Association.
 - (b) An instructor Member whose workload exceeds the normal workload performed in accordance with their existing job description and the existing policies and procedures within the Department shall be entitled to additional remuneration equivalent to that fraction of the Member's salary that the overload represents of the Member's normal workload.
- 12.05 Reasonable revisions to the job description shall be made, when appropriate, by the Department in consultation with the instructor Member involved. The instructor Member and the Association shall each be provided with a revised copy.
- 12.06 Instructor Members shall disseminate knowledge and understanding through teaching and shall carry out such other activities as may be defined by the Collective Agreement as well as by the job descriptions for their positions.

- 12.07 (a) It is recognized that all instructor Members have the right and responsibility consistent with their individual job descriptions to maintain their professional development within the area of expertise in which they are employed, to teach conscientiously and competently, to organize and structure activities, and where appropriate, to supervise demonstrators, tutors, markers, teaching assistants and/or other instructors.
 - (b) Instructor Members who currently attend and vote at Departmental meetings shall continue to have the right to do so. Further, in all cases, instructor Members can attend and vote in Departmental meetings where such meetings involve matters relating to instructors.
 - (c) Instructor Members shall have the opportunity and the responsibility to serve, where appropriate, on departmental, Faculty and other University committees. Should such service conflict with other assigned duties and responsibilities of the instructor Member, then mutually satisfactory arrangements shall be made in advance within the appropriate Department.
- 12.08 Assessment of instructor Members shall focus on the effectiveness and general competence with which teaching and other assigned duties and responsibilities are carried out. In assessing teaching effectiveness, opinions of students (subject to Clause 18.09), other Members, and other teaching staff shall all be taken into account, insofar as is appropriate, and each class of opinion shall be given due and fair consideration and no class of opinion shall be given undue or unfair consideration or weight. Wherever possible, such opinions shall be based on firsthand knowledge of the instructor Member's performance in the classroom, laboratory or field.
- 12.09 In formulating assessments of the performance of duties and responsibilities that the instructor Member has had a reasonable opportunity to undertake, judgment shall relate to the normal performance level of other Members with the same general responsibilities, duties, and/or experience.

Appointments, Reappointments, and Continuing Term Appointments.

12.10 (a) When an Instructor position opening occurs within the bargaining unit, a notice shall be posted publicly using a University-wide communication tool and in the Department or other such unit for at least one (1) week, and shall include a description of the position, including whether the position is for twelve months in any academic year or a portion thereof, qualifications required and the final date for written applications. If no qualified instructor Member applies or is appointed within one (1) month, the position shall be advertised, although the position may be advertised earlier. The position shall be advertised in appropriate publications which normally shall include, if publication time permits, at least University Affairs, the CAUT Bulletin, and one Canadian professional publication, if such exists, suggested by the Department. If publication time does not permit such

normal advertising in University Affairs, the CAUT Bulletin and a Canadian professional publication, any appointment made shall be in accordance with Clause 14.16(a)(i) or (vi), for a period no longer than one year, and normal advertising shall take place no later than the 1st of April following the date of the limited-term appointment.

- (b) Preference will be given to instructor Members who, in the judgment of the Departmental Appointments Committee, are suitably qualified for the position.
- (c) Technology Instructors in continuing appointments who compete successfully for positions as Instructor in the Faculty of Agriculture shall assume their positions in continuing appointments, but shall be hired at the rank of Instructor, subject to Clause 12.11(b).
- (d) The process in Clause 12.10(a) shall not be required when the Board seeks to renew the appointment of an instructor Member provided that reappointments without further posting or advertising under this Clause are granted to permit a maximum of six years consecutive service before the process in Clause 12.10(a) is required.
- 12.11 (a) Appointment of instructor Members shall be one of three kinds:
 - (i) probationary appointments;
 - (ii) continuing appointments;
 - (iii) limited-term appointments.

The duration of these kinds of appointments, and the process of appointment and reappointment are described in Article 14, and Clauses 12.16 and 12.17. Limited-term appointments shall only be made pursuant to Clause 14.16(a), Sub-Clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (vi), (vii), (x) and Clause 14.16(b), Sub-Clause (vi). Instructor Members holding limited-term appointments shall be informed of the limited-term of their appointment in their letter of appointment.

- (b) Initial appointment of instructor Members shall normally be as Instructor. However, in exceptional circumstances, an instructor Member may be initially appointed at the rank of Senior Instructor or University Teaching Fellow.
- 12.12 (a) A Departmental Appointments Committee shall make recommendations to the Dean through the Chairperson regarding all appointments, reappointments, continuing appointments, and promotion to University Teaching Fellow and such committee shall include an instructor Member (other than the individual under consideration) from the Department. When no other instructor Member is available from the Department, then an instructor Member shall be named by the Association to serve on the Departmental Appointments Committee. No instructor Member shall be appointed or reappointed or promoted to University Teaching

Fellow unless they have been recommended by such a committee. Each Department shall develop written procedures for the evaluation and assessment of instructor Members, based upon the criteria set out in this Article 12, and such evaluation and assessment shall normally take place no later than 31 October. In the case of reappointment or consideration for a continuing appointment or promotion to University Teaching Fellow the instructor Member shall have the right to be heard by and submit a written statement to the Departmental Appointments Committee.

- i) In the case of an application for reappointment, continuing appointment or promotion, those members who identify as Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian may elect to have an Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian nonvoting representative on their Department-level Committee. The representative will be chosen by the member and must be arm's length and have an academic appointment at Dalhousie University. The role of the representative is to provide advice to the Committee on any aspect of the Member's application that may be a reflection of the Member's heritage and/or identity. The representative may prepare an independent report to be added to the Member's file.
- (b) In no case shall deliberations be transacted in the absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number) and which always shall include one instructor Member. In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations.
- 12.13 At each step of the process for reappointment, consideration for a continuing appointment, or promotion to University Teaching Fellow (Departmental Appointments Committee, Chairperson, appropriate Dean or Vice-President), recommendations shall be made known to the instructor Member concerned. Any recommendation that reappointment or continuing appointment or promotion to University Teaching Fellow not be granted, or that consideration be deferred (except where the instructor Member has requested deferral) shall include a written statement of the reasons for the recommendation in respect to the criteria given in this Article 12, and in sufficient particularity to allow the instructor Member to respond to any alleged deficiencies from the facts of their case.
- 12.14 Normally, appointments of instructor Members shall be for twelve (12) months in any academic year. In no case shall an instructor Member be appointed for less than eight (8) months in any academic year, except when the appointment is to replace an instructor Member on leave, in which case the appointment shall be for a period which is not to exceed the duration of the leave and may be shorter than the duration of the leave provided the requirements of the position as given in the job description reasonably can

- be met. Members whose appointments are for less than twelve (12) months in any year shall become eligible to be considered for classification as Senior Instructor in the fifth academic year of their appointment.
- 12.15 Subject to the terms of this Collective Agreement, all instructor Members who are currently employed for twelve months in any academic year shall continue to be employed for twelve months in any academic year, unless the Member and the Department agree to a change as given in Clause 14.07.

Probationary Appointments.

- 12.16 (a) It is expected that the effectiveness and general competence with which teaching and other primary duties and responsibilities are carried out by the instructor Member shall be at the norm for other instructor Members as specified in Clauses 12.08 and 12.09.
 - (b) An instructor Member will be advised in writing as to whether or not they shall be reappointed not later than 31 October. Should their term not be renewed, they will be provided with written reason(s) at the time of notification.

Senior Instructor.

- 12.17 (a) An instructor Member, after completion of at least four (4) years of service or as provided in Clause 12.14, shall have the right to be considered for classification as Senior Instructor, and upon classification as Senior Instructor appointment shall be on a continuing term basis commencing at the beginning of the sixth year. In counting years of service towards a continuing appointment as Senior Instructor, any years in which a Member would have been eligible for membership in the bargaining unit, had it existed, may, with the consent of the instructor Member, be included. Subject to Article 28, an instructor Member with a continuing appointment may be dismissed for cause; in addition, their appointment may be terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Collective Agreement relating to resignation, retirement, or through the procedures provided in Articles 25 and 27.
 - (b) Instructor Members may request in writing early consideration for appointment as Senior Instructor, and in such cases the appropriate Dean or Vice-President may waive the normal requirements for consideration for classification as Senior Instructor as provided in Clause 12.17(a), and shall notify the Member in writing within two (2) months of such request, stating whether or not the requirements will be waived.
 - (c) Requests for consideration for classification as Senior Instructor by Members eligible pursuant to Clauses 12.17(a) or 12.17(b) shall be considered first by the Departmental Appointments Committee, which shall make recommendation to

the appropriate Dean or Vice-President through the Chairperson. If the Chairperson does not agree with the recommendation of the Departmental Appointments Committee, they may submit a separate recommendation to the appropriate Dean or Vice-President. Such requests shall be processed as soon as possible and not later than the end of the Fall term of the academic year in which the request is made, provided it is made prior to 31 October.

- (d) In considering the request of an instructor Member for classification as Senior Instructor, the Departmental Appointments Committee shall satisfy itself that the effectiveness and general competence with which teaching and other primary duties and responsibilities are being carried out by the Member are at the norm for other instructor Members, as set out in Clauses 12.08 and 12.09.
- (e) When the decision on a continuing appointment as Senior Instructor is unfavourable, reasons shall be provided in writing and shall be based upon criteria established in this Article 12 and in Clause 12.17(d), and in sufficient particularity to allow the instructor Member against whom the decision was made to respond to any alleged deficiencies from the facts of their case. The Department may, upon the request of the instructor Member, reconsider them for a continuing appointment in the Fall of the year following the original consideration.
- (f) The Member shall be informed in writing of the appropriate Dean's or Vice-President's decision normally by 31 December and in no case later than 15 January.

University Teaching Fellow:

- 12.18 (a) On the initiative of the instructor Member or the appropriate Chairperson, Head, Director or appropriate Dean or Vice-President, an instructor Member may be considered for promotion from the rank of Senior Instructor to that of University Teaching Fellow, but failing such an initiative, the Dean shall inform the Member, by 15 August, in the fifth year of their appointment as Senior Instructor, that they are eligible to be considered for promotion to the rank of University Teaching Fellow.
 - (b) Promotion to the rank of University Teaching Fellow, shall be recommended only when solid evidence is established that the Member has attained and is likely to maintain a high level of effectiveness in teaching and other primary duties and responsibilities that support the dissemination of knowledge and understanding and the Member's teaching represents a significant contribution to the University.
 - (c) Solid evidence of teaching effectiveness and contribution shall demonstrate a professional commitment to progress as a university teacher and to leadership in university teaching. It may include evidence of mentorship of teaching colleagues, development of new courses, development of innovative teaching aids and

- techniques and scholarly activity related to pedagogy. It may also include other kinds of scholarly activity if scholarly activity is a requirement of the position set out in the instructor Member's letter of appointment or job description.
- (d) Requests for consideration for promotion to University Teaching Fellow by instructor Members eligible pursuant to Clause 12.18 shall be considered first by the Departmental Appointments Committee, which shall make recommendation to the appropriate Dean or Vice-President through the Chairperson. The Chairperson shall submit a separate recommendation to the appropriate Dean or Vice-President. Such requests shall be processed as soon as possible and not later than the end of the Fall term or the academic year in which the request is made, provided it is made prior to 31 October.
- (e) The Chairperson or Dean shall obtain written recommendations, normally two, unless the instructor Member and the Dean agree that such letters are inappropriate. Any request for a written recommendation shall include the text of Clause 12.18(b), the instructor Member's teaching dossier, and the instructor Member's job description.
- (f) Before the instructor Member is formally considered for promotion to University Teaching Fellow, they shall be informed and given the opportunity to be heard or to present a written statement. At any stage of consideration, the instructor Member may request that promotion not be considered or that consideration be terminated, and such requests shall be honoured.
- (g) At each stage in the promotion process (Department or other similar unit, appropriate Dean or Vice-President and President), recommendations that promotion to University Teaching Fellow be granted, or that promotion not be granted shall be made known to the instructor Member concerned at the same time it is sent to the next stage.
- (h) At each stage of the process of promotion to University Teaching Fellow, the instructor Member shall be given the reasons for recommendations and decisions in writing, with sufficient particularity to assist the instructor Member to understand the decision and with specific reference to the duties specified in Article 12, and additional job duties contained in the instructor Member's letter of appointment or job description and the criteria and standards specified in Clause 12.18.

Technology Instructor:

12.19 Notwithstanding Clause 12.11(b), an instructor Member whose duties and responsibilities are 50% or more in Diploma Programs in the Faculty of Agriculture and who is required to have a diploma qualification only shall be appointed as a Technology Instructor I, unless the Member has a University degree in which case the Member shall be appointed

- as a Technology Instructor II; all other provisions in Article 12 shall apply to Members who hold the ranks of Technology Instructor I, II or III.
- 12.20 A Technology Instructor Member who obtains a university degree shall be promoted automatically to the rank of Technology Instructor II from the beginning of the academic year in which the university degree is obtained. Consideration of promotion from Technology Instructor I to Technology Instructor II may be requested if the Member has completed four years of service, demonstrates a high level of teaching effectiveness and is a registered veterinary technologist in good standing.
- 12.21 (a) Technology Instructor Members in the bargaining unit at the date of this agreement shall be appointed with a continuing appointment.
 - (b) A Technology Instructor Member appointed after the date of this agreement who has completed four years of service shall have the right to be considered for a continuing appointment commencing at the beginning of the sixth year and the procedures in Clause 12.17 dealing with the consideration of an instructor Member for a continuing appointment shall apply.
 - (c) In evaluating Technology Instructor Members for appointment, reappointment, and continuing appointment, consideration shall take account of:
 - (i) formal qualifications or their equivalent;
 - (ii) relevant professional experience;
 - (iii) where applicable, effectiveness of the Technology Instructor Member's performance of the duties and responsibilities specified in their letter of appointment, job description, and in Article 12.
- 12.22 On the initiative of the Technology Instructor II Member or the appropriate Chairperson, Head, Director or appropriate Dean or Vice-President, a Technology Instructor II may be considered for promotion to the rank of Technology Instructor III, but failing such initiative, the Dean shall inform the Technology Instructor II, by 15 August, in the fifth year of their appointment as Technology Instructor II, that they are eligible to be considered for promotion to the rank of Technology Instructor III.
- 12.23 Promotion to the rank of Technology Instructor III shall be recommended only when solid evidence is established that the Member has attained and is likely to maintain a high level of effectiveness in teaching and other primary duties and responsibilities that support the dissemination of knowledge and understanding, and the instructor Member's teaching represents a significant contribution to the University.
- 12.24 Solid evidence of teaching effectiveness and contribution shall demonstrate a professional commitment to progress as a teacher and to leadership in teaching. It may include evidence of mentorship of teaching colleagues, development of new courses, updating existing courses, effective use of teaching aids and techniques, development of

innovative teaching aids and techniques, involvement in curriculum development, organization of laboratories and successful public or continuing education activities.

Article 13: Professional Counsellors

- 13.01 In evaluating professional counsellors for appointment, reappointment, and continuing appointment, consideration shall take account of:
 - (a) formal qualifications or their equivalent;
 - (b) relevant professional experience;
 - (c) where applicable, effectiveness of the professional counsellor's performance of the duties and responsibilities specified in Clause 13.06.
- 13.02 Appointments of professional counsellors shall be of three kinds:
 - (a) probationary appointments;
 - (b) continuing appointments;
 - (c) limited-term appointments.

The duration of these kinds of appointments and reappointments are described in Article 14 of this Collective Agreement. Limited-term appointments shall only be made to replace a professional counsellor on leave, to appoint a professional counsellor for a special project of limited duration, or to hire staff who will be paid fifty percent or more salary from limited-term external contract or grant funds awarded to the University, or to replace a professional counsellor who has left the University with less notice than that specified in Clause 24.01 where a regular appointment cannot reasonably be made in the time available, and in the last case, the appointment shall not exceed twelve months. The length, and any special conditions, attached to a limited-term appointment shall be stated clearly in writing. Professional counsellors who hold limited-term appointments for three consecutive years shall be entitled to consideration for one of the appointments specified in Clause 13.02(a) or (b) (in the latter case subject to Clause 13.04) in accordance with Clause 14.20.

- 13.03 (a) There shall be a Counsellor Appointments Committee composed of all professional counsellor Members. Its procedure with respect to appointments and reappointments are given in Clause 14.11 of this Collective Agreement. In case of consideration of continuing appointment, the Director shall make a recommendation after consulting with the Counsellor Appointments Committee, which for this purpose shall be augmented by a person mutually agreeable to the Director and the Vice-Provost (Student Affairs).
 - i) In the case of an application for reappointment or continuing appointment those members who identify as Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian may elect to have an Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian non-voting

representative on their Department-level Committee. The representative will be chosen by the member and must be arm's length and have an academic appointment at Dalhousie University. The role of the representative is to provide advice to the Committee on any aspect of the Member's application that may be a reflection of the Member's heritage and/or identity. The representative may prepare an independent report to be added to the Member's file.

- (b) In no case shall deliberations be transacted in the absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations.
- 13.04 Unless early consideration for continuing appointment has been agreed to take place in the fall term of the third year of the professional counsellor's appointment at Dalhousie University, such consideration being possible only in the light of two or three years of relevant experience, consideration for continuing appointment shall take place in the fall term of the fifth year of the professional counsellor's appointment at Dalhousie University. If continuing appointment is denied, the reasons shall be stated in writing to the Member and shall include the evaluations of the Member's performance of those duties in Clause 13.06 that are included in their workload. Recommendations on continuing appointment shall be made by the committee specified in Clause 13.03 on or before 15 December. The decision by the Vice-Provost (Student Affairs) shall be reported to the Member by 31 January.

<u>Duties and Responsibilities of Professional Counsellors.</u>

- 13.05 An appointment as a professional counsellor at Dalhousie University carries with it the right to professional freedom in the practice of counselling, the responsibility to protect that freedom for others and to strive to provide counselling and psychological services, within the professional counsellor's competence, to clients in order to enhance their learning and academic performance through improved study skills, and the relief of emotional, personal, and psychological problems. The Board undertakes to provide the facilities appropriate to the level of counselling services to be provided.
- 13.06 The duties of professional counsellors, in varying proportions dependent upon the Member's qualifications and actual workload, fall within the following categories:
 - (a) counselling for career, study effectiveness and personal concerns, individually or in groups;
 - (b) professional study, especially as related to counselling, both in assessment and in intervention aspects, and the outcome of these;

- (c) service to Dalhousie University both in administration and providing professional expertise which may include, but need not be limited to the development and implementation of preventive services and programmes, and working in cooperation with other members of the University community to enhance the academic excellence of the University and the quality of student life;
- (d) supervision and training of students;
- (e) professional responsibilities outside Dalhousie University.
- 13.07 Members presently employed as professional counsellors in the Students' Counselling and Psychological Services Centre shall be deemed to hold probationary appointments and shall be considered for continuing appointment in accordance with Clause 13.04. Any Member employed before 1 July 1977 to perform duties which would now be considered those of a professional counsellor shall be deemed to hold a continuing appointment at the time of the signing of this Collective Agreement.
- 13.08 The duties in Clause 13.06 to be carried out by a Member shall be recommended by the Director to the Executive Director, Student Wellness and Development for approval, and this approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

Special Leave.

- 13.09 Special leave to pursue studies or similar work that complements their work at Dalhousie University may be granted to professional counsellors, on the same conditions as those applying to other Members to whom special leave is granted, in accordance with Clause 30.24 of this Collective Agreement.
 - In lieu of the periods specified for leave in Clause 30.16, special leave for professional counsellors, when granted, may be for a period of three (3) months during the summer. Two such periods of three months' leave shall substitute for a continuous period of six (6) months' leave and four such periods of three months' leave shall substitute for a full year of leave. The eligibility for leave shall be subject to Clauses 30.17 and 30.18, but if periods of three months of leave are taken, eligibility for subsequent leaves shall be counted from the end of the previous period of eligibility plus one year.
- 13.10 Members employed as professional counsellors, with appointments in the Students' Counselling and Psychological Services Centre, shall be subject to the provisions of Article 26 and 27 in the same way as provided for other Members in those Articles. In other circumstances, before the Board takes any action to reduce or terminate the provision of counselling and psychological services offered through the Centre, it shall inform the Vice-Provost (Student Affairs) and the Director of the Centre by a written report. This report shall cite any proposed reduction or elimination of the services provided in accordance with Clause 13.05, the reasons for such action, the number of steps (a) to (f) listed in this Clause 13.10 to be taken, and the number of Members to be

affected. A special advisory committee to consider the Board's report shall consist of the Vice-Provost (Student Affairs), the Director of the Centre, a student enrolled at Dalhousie appointed by the Dalhousie Student Council, and two other persons agreed to by the Vice-President and the Director. The committee shall have a reasonable period of time, not less than 45 days, to report on the likely impact of the proposed action on students and on the quality of student life at Dalhousie University and may propose alternative means for dealing with the situation. The Association and the Senate shall be given a copy of the committee's report at the time it is given to the Board. The Board shall allow a reasonable period, not less than 45 days, for the Association and the Senate to respond to this report. In any case where the committee, the Association or the Senate has recommended against taking a particular action, the Board shall not take that action without advising the Association and the Senate of the Board's reasons for the proposed actions.

- 13.11 If it is necessary to reduce the number of Members employed in the Centre, the following steps shall be taken in order until the necessary reduction is made:
 - (a) Through the following arrangements in cooperation with Members and the Association-Board Committee:
 - (i) regular retirements and resignations and the non-replacement of Members who leave the university or otherwise terminate their employment;
 - (ii) voluntary transfers to other duties within Dalhousie University;
 - (iii) voluntary early retirement or voluntary reduction in workload and commensurate salary;
 - (iv) voluntary separation;
 - (v) voluntary retraining for other available positions within Dalhousie University for which the Member may, in the judgement of a concurrent majority of the Association-Board Committee, be reasonably qualified.
 - (b) If the arrangements set out in Clause 13.11(a) will not result in the elimination of the number of positions required within a reasonable period of time, the Board, in consultation with the Association-Board Committee, may proceed with the following steps in sequence as necessary to make the required number of reductions:
 - (i) non-renewal of initial probationary and of initial limited-term appointments under Clause 14.16(b);
 - (ii) non-renewal of renewed limited-term appointments under Clause 14.16(b);

- (iii) non-renewal of renewed probationary appointments;
- (iv) redeployment of Members with continuing appointments (on the recommendation of the Association-Board Committee) to other available positions for which they are qualified (or for which they can reasonably be retrained) and which they are willing to accept.

The Association-Board Committee will make all reasonable efforts to find alternative positions for Members affected by steps under Clause 13.11(b).

(c) If Members holding continuing appointments are unwilling to be redeployed or if there is no possible job for which the Member could qualify with reasonable retraining, the Board may lay the Member off with at least the same notice, recall rights and any other rights and privileges provided to Members or laid-off former Members under Clause 27.28(b), but with an additional six months' severance pay.

In the case of retraining under (a)(v) and (b)(iv) above if carried out at Dalhousie University, the Board shall provide that without cost to the Member or Members. If retraining will be at another institution, the Board shall pay the tuition costs as these are judged to be necessary by the Association-Board Committee.

Article 14: Appointments and Reappointments

- 14.01 (a) The Parties agree that it is appropriate that positive initiatives be taken to increase the proportion of designated group members among those holding academic appointments at Dalhousie University, particularly full-time and regular part-time appointments, and that procedures be adopted to monitor and report on progress toward this objective; therefore, the following policy is adopted at Dalhousie University. Where non-designated group member candidates who are eligible for appointment have qualifications and experience judged not to be substantially better suited for the appointment than those of a designated group member candidate, the designated group member candidate is to be selected. This policy does not apply in respect of women (not otherwise designated group members) in those departments, schools and other such units wherein the proportion of women Members already exceeds one-half.
 - (b) The Dean of the relevant Faculty, or Vice-President where there is no relevant Faculty, is responsible for ensuring that appropriate steps are taken by departments, schools and other such units to encourage applications for available positions from qualified designated group member candidates to attain the policy objective of increasing the proportion of designated group member academics. These steps shall include the submission of the standard form to the President's Office. A copy of the completed form with the names or other identifying features

of candidates deleted shall be provided to the Association on a confidential basis in accordance with Clause 7.07. Except in a case where a limited-term appointment must be made on short notice, the form will be provided when an appointment is recommended to the Board.

- 14.02 (a) Subject to this Collective Agreement, appointments at Dalhousie University of Members are made by letters of appointment from the Board to the Member.
 - (b) Any special terms shall be spelled out in such letters of appointment.
- 14.03 All appointments of professional librarian Members, employed to carry out the duties of professional librarians, shall be to one of the ranks given in Clause 11.05 of this Collective Agreement. All appointments of instructor Members shall be to one of the ranks given in Clause 12.11(b); all appointments of professional counsellor Members shall be to the rank of Counsellor. All appointments of professional research Members shall be to one of the ranks given in Clause 10.01 or Clause 14.04 of this Collective Agreement. All appointments of Continuing Education Members shall be to one of the ranks given in Clause 37.08. Appointments of such Members to any other ranks must be approved by the Association-Board Committee.
- 14.04 Appointments of Members of the teaching staff, except for instructor Members, shall be made to one of the following ranks:
 - (a) Lecturer;
 - (b) Assistant Professor;
 - (c) Associate Professor;
 - (d) Professor.

Appointments to any other ranks for Members of the teaching staff must be approved by the Association-Board Committee.

- 14.05 The Parties agree that no one will be appointed to the rank of Lecturer who possesses the qualifications appropriate for appointment to the rank of Assistant Professor. Persons, except for instructor Members, appointed to the teaching staff for the first time who do not possess the full qualifications specified as appropriate at the time of appointment, but are expected to obtain such qualifications, shall be appointed initially to the rank of Lecturer. Lecturers shall be promoted automatically to the rank of Assistant Professor from the beginning of the academic year in which the formal qualifications appropriate for that rank are obtained. In other circumstances promotion shall follow normal procedures specified in Clause 16.09.
- 14.06 Part-time Members shall have the fraction of full-time duties that they are employed to perform stated in their letter of appointment. The Dean or Vice-President shall consult with the appropriate Chairperson, Head or Director before such a fraction is specified. Where the period of employment is less than 12 months, both the fraction and the period shall be specified. Any change in such a fraction or period, which may be of a temporary

or continuing nature must be acceptable to the Member and the Board and shall be confirmed in writing. The Department or other similar unit must be consulted about any change in a fraction or period. No change which will result in a reduction of the fraction or period shall be made without the agreement of the Department or other similar unit. In the case of instructor Members, the fraction of full-time duties shall be given in the job description, in accordance with Clause 12.03.

- 14.07 Full-time Members may apply through their Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian and the Dean or Vice-President, to the Board to have their status changed to part-time while retaining the same rank and status with respect to tenure, continuing appointment, or appointment without term subject to Article 15. Such a request may be for a permanent or a temporary change to part-time status and in either case shall not be unreasonably denied. Such Members shall then participate or have the right to participate in such benefit provisions as apply or are available to part-time Members in accordance with Article 32 of this Collective Agreement.
- 14.08 A Member may be appointed jointly to two or more Faculties, Schools, Departments or other units within Dalhousie University, and such appointments need not be at the same rank. Each Member with a joint appointment shall, for the purposes of this Collective Agreement, hold a principal appointment, and the unit in which the principal appointment is held shall be stated in the letter of appointment. For Members holding joint appointments at the time this Collective Agreement is signed, the principal appointment shall be in that unit in which the greatest fraction of duties is performed; if the fractions are equal, the Board shall specify the principal appointment within thirty days of the signing of this Collective Agreement, and in so doing shall take account of any preference expressed by the Member and the Departments or similar units concerned. In any decision subject to the provisions of this Collective Agreement for which rank is to be a criterion, the rank in the principal appointment shall be used.
- 14.09 Appointments of Members of the teaching or research staff, except for instructor Members, shall be of four kinds:
 - (a) probationary tenure-track appointments;
 - (b) tenure-track appointments;
 - (c) appointments with tenure;
 - (d) limited-term appointments.
- 14.10 Members presently employed in the School of Dental Hygiene shall, during their period of employment at Dalhousie, have the right to a twenty percent (20%) time allocation for extra-mural practice privileges unless such are changed or terminated with the agreement of the Member(s) and the Board. Those appointed to the School of Dental Hygiene after the signing of this Collective Agreement shall have this privilege if agreed by the Member(s) and the School and such agreement is indicated in their letters of appointment.

- 14.11 (a) No Member shall be appointed or reappointed unless they have been recommended for such an appointment by an appropriate committee of the relevant Department or other such unit. All recommendations shall be made to the appropriate Dean by the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian, and subsequently to the President for presentation to the Board. If no appropriate Dean exists the recommendation shall be made to the President. The appropriate Dean or, where there is no appropriate Dean, the President, shall consider a recommendation, if any, with respect to rank and kind of appointment; if they disagree with the recommendation they shall consult with the committee and endeavour to reach agreement on the matter before proceeding. If no relevant Faculty, School, College, Library, or similar unit exists, a special appointments committee shall be formed by the Senate (in consultation with whatever Faculties may be appropriate), to make such a recommendation. The Parties agree that unnecessary delays in the appointment process would diminish the reputation of Dalhousie University and its effectiveness as a teaching and research institution. The Board therefore undertakes to ensure that all decisions affecting appointments are made as expeditiously as possible.
 - (b) The appropriate Dean recommending or making an offer of appointment shall prepare a written report listing all candidates to whom offers have been made and the details of such offers including salary. This information shall be provided to the Employment Equity Officer.
 - (c) When a position for a Member other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Member occurs within the bargaining unit, the position shall be advertised in appropriate publications which normally shall include, if publication time permits, at least University Affairs, the CAUT Bulletin and one Canadian professional publication, if such exists, unless the department determines that advertising shall occur in other publications. If publication time does not permit such normal advertising, any appointment made shall be in accordance with Clause 14.16(a)(i), (vi), (vii) or (viii) for a period no longer than one year, and normal advertising shall take place no later than 1 April, following the date of the limited-term appointment.

Notwithstanding the above, no advertising is required for appointments made pursuant to Clause 14.16(a)(iii), (iv), (v) or 14.16(b)(ii), (iii) or (vi).

Additionally, no advertising shall be required for positions within the bargaining unit when

(i) the candidate for that position is acceptable to the department in accordance with the procedures of Clause 14.11 but has been selected by an external agency which principally funds the initial appointment including, but not limited to, positions such as CIAR Fellowships and NSERC University Faculty Awards and other similar appointments, and

(ii) the Board seeks to renew the appointment of a Member who was appointed following a full national search authorized by Clause 14.11(c). Reappointments without further advertising under this Clause will be granted to permit a maximum of six years' consecutive service before advertising shall be required again.

No advertising shall be required for the first-time reappointment made pursuant to Clause 14.16(b) (vii), provided that advertising occurred for the first appointment pursuant to this clause and subject to a maximum of ten years in total.

- (d) In no case shall deliberations be transacted in the absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations.
- (e) With the mutual consent of the Member and the Chairperson, Head or Director and the Chief Librarian, Dean or Vice-President, the period of a probationary, probationary tenure-track or tenure-track appointment may be reduced if a Member served on a limited-term appointment.
- 14.12 Subject to Clause 14.13, probationary, probationary tenure-track and tenure-track appointments and reappointments of Members shall be made for a period of three years. A probationary or probationary tenure-track appointment is one which is in a career stream which may lead to consideration for continuing appointment, appointment without term or tenure. Such a probationary or probationary tenure-track appointment, however, involves no undertaking by the Board to make a further or subsequent appointment. The probationary nature of such an appointment shall be stated in writing to the Member so appointed, at the time of appointment.
- 14.13 When a person is appointed to a probationary, probationary tenure-track or tenure-track position other than on 1 July, the term of the appointment shall be adjusted so that it terminates on the appropriate 30 June. The term shall be greater than three years (but not greater than 3 1/2) when the appointment takes effect on or after 1 January, and shall be less than three years (but not less than 2 1/2) when the appointment takes effect before 1 January. The time for consideration of promotion, salary step adjustment, reappointment, appointment without term or tenure, as may be applicable, shall be appropriately adjusted and the date when any of these considerations would occur shall be set out in the letter of appointment.
- 14.14 When a person is appointed to a tenure-track appointment the time when tenure consideration is expected shall be stated in the letter of appointment. If consideration for appointment without term for professional librarians, subject to Clause 11.13, or for continuing appointment for professional counsellors, subject to Clause 13.04, has been

agreed to take place in the fall term of the person's third year of the appointment at Dalhousie University, the time when consideration for appointment without term or continuing appointment is expected shall be stated in the letter of appointment.

14.15 (a) Unless early consideration for tenure has been agreed, a probationary or probationary tenure-track appointee shall be considered for reappointment no later than the fall term of their third year but, with the mutual consent of the Member and the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean, may be considered as soon as the spring term of their second year. The procedures used shall be those given in Clause 14.11 and 14.15. A decision shall be reported to the Member by 31 October of that year if there is fall consideration and 30 April if there is spring consideration. If reappointment is not offered, the reasons shall be given in writing, to the Member upon their request at the same time as they are informed of the decision not to reappoint.

Assessment of a candidate for reappointment shall be based on evidence that:

- (i) the relevant provisions of the previous appointment have been respected and fulfilled, where appropriate;
- (ii) the quality of the teaching, librarianship, research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional activity has been satisfactory. Particular strength in some characteristics may be considered to counterbalance relative lack of strength in others so that decisions taken are based on an overall assessment of performance and worth. No Member may be reappointed, however, if performance in any characteristic is less than satisfactory;
- (iii) programme and budgetary considerations have been satisfied, in accordance with the provisions of Articles 25, 26 and 27 of this Collective Agreement.
- (b) Where a time limit relating to reappointment of a Member is stipulated in this Article 14, the Board and Members affected by or involved in the procedure shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the time limit can be met. Nevertheless, where appropriate reasons are demonstrated, the time limit for a decision and the option for an extension of the Member's appointment may be made by agreement of the Parties at the Association-Board Committee. However, the person requiring the extension must give appropriate reasons and notice of the requested extension in a timely manner to the Member affected by the procedure, to the Board and the Association-Board Committee.
- (c) In the case of an application for reappointment, those Members who identify as Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian may elect to have an Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian non-voting representative on their Department-level Committee. The representative will be chosen by the Member and must be arm's length and

have an academic appointment at Dalhousie University. The role of the representative is to provide advice to the Committee on any aspect of the Member's application that may be a reflection of the Member's heritage and/or identity. The representative may prepare an independent report to be added to the Member's file.

14.16 The Parties agree that Article 14 includes all categories of limited-term appointments. See also Letter of Understanding (Appendix IV).

In all cases where the approval or no disapproval of the ABC is required, a Member shall not commence employment unless and until the agreement of the parties is confirmed by the two co-chairpersons either in writing or via email and subsequently ratified by the parties. However, the parties acknowledge there may be exceptional circumstances where prior approval of the ABC before the Member commences employment is not possible. In these circumstances, the Board will endeavour to obtain the agreement of the ABC prior to the Member commencing employment. The agreement of the parties will be confirmed by the two co-chairpersons either in writing or via email, and subsequently ratified by the parties.

Members with limited term appointments of ten months or longer in three consecutive years shall be notified at least four (4) months prior to the expiry of the last appointment as to whether or not their appointment will be renewed. Failure to inform a Member four (4) months prior to the expiry of the last appointment shall constitute renewal for the lesser of (a) another appointment of the same duration; or (b) a one-time renewal for one (1) year.

Except for appointments made under Clauses 14.16(b)(v), (vi) or (vii), appointments for a fixed and limited term normally shall be for a period of one to three years. Appointments made under Clauses 14.16(b)(v) or (vi) may be for such period, not exceeding five years, as the funding is expected to continue; appointments made under Clause 14.16(b)(ii) shall be for a period of three years and appointments made under Clause 14.16(b) (vii) shall be for a period of four years or more. If an appointment to the teaching staff is to be for less than one year, an explanation of the circumstances of the person who is to become a Member and the duties to be performed shall be provided to the Association-Board Committee and the appointment may be made for less than one year unless disapproved by the Association-Board Committee.

Subject to Clause 14.17, appointments for a fixed and limited term of no more than three years, or five years in the case of appointments made under Clauses 14.16(b)(v), (vi), or four years or more in the case of appointments made under Clause 14.16(b)(vii), to one of the ranks provided in Clause 14.04 or Clause 10.01 shall be of the following kinds:

- (a) Not renewable without approval of the Association-Board Committee, when:
 - (i) appointment is made to replace a Member on leave; or to replace some or

- all of the duties and responsibilities vacated by a Member who has elected partial reduction of workload and salary including reductions as a result of Clause 7.13;
- (ii) the appointment is to a programme or activity which is established on an experimental or limited-term basis of no longer than three years. If a programme or activity of this nature is to continue beyond three years, the Association-Board Committee shall determine whether it remains experimental in nature for a further limited term. If the committee so agrees, appointments may be renewed or made for that further limited term. If the committee decides that the programme or activity is no longer experimental, appointments and reappointments shall be made as probationary, probationary tenure-track or tenure track appointments;
- (iii) the appointment is for a period following retirement from Dalhousie University;
- (iv) the appointment is a visiting appointment of an established scholar who has a continuing appointment elsewhere or has retired from such an appointment;
- (v) the appointment is to bring a distinguished public figure to Dalhousie University;
- (vi) the appointment is necessary to fulfill teaching responsibilities formerly assigned to a Member who has resigned from Dalhousie University but with less notice than specified in Clause 24.01;
- (vii) the appointment is recommended by a Department or other similar unit to meet essential teaching responsibilities when no acceptable candidate is available to fill an approved, regular appointment because the acceptable candidate for an approved, regular appointment has a deferred start date, or because the search for an approved, regular appointment has failed or has not yet concluded;
- (viii) the appointment is needed to accommodate unexpected enrolment increases;
- (ix) the appointment is necessary to fulfill primarily academic administration duties within the Faculty or other such unit;
- (x) the appointment is necessary to fulfill duties for reasons not described in other Sub-Clauses of Clause 14.16.
- (b) Renewable, as decided by the Board using the procedures specified in Clause

- 14.11 and provided that the number of Members holding appointments in accordance with Clause 14.16 (b)(i) to (b)(iv) shall not exceed five percent of the bargaining unit, when:
- (i) the appointment is made without prospect of tenure consideration on the recommendation of the Senate, to meet a special need of the department or other unit, or of the University;
- (ii) the appointment is for three years and is not one where tenure would be appropriate because the qualifications of the person to be appointed do not meet those expected of candidates for tenure consideration but the person has professional qualifications or experience which would be of value in a Programme of the Department, School, Faculty, College or other unit concerned;
- (iii) the appointment at Dalhousie University is contingent upon the continuance of an appointment at another institution;
- (iv) the appointment is made to carry out duties vacated by a former Member while holding a position for a limited term which position excludes that person from the bargaining unit;
- (v) the appointment is wholly funded from the bequest of Dorothy J. Killam to Dalhousie University;
- (vi) the appointment will be funded fifty per cent or more from external contract or grant funds;
- (vii) the appointment is for four years or more and is not one where tenure would be appropriate because the qualifications of the person to be appointed do not meet those expected of candidates for tenure consideration but the person has professional qualifications or experience which would be of value in a Programme of the Department, School, Faculty, College or other such unit concerned.
- 14.17 Members holding limited-term appointments shall be informed in their letters of appointment of the limited term of their appointment and of the clause and Sub-Clause of this Collective Agreement under which they are appointed.
- 14.18 The Parties agree that in that part of Dalhousie University in which teaching, research, artistic, professional library or professional counsellor staff are included in the bargaining unit, the duties of Members shall not be redistributed to part-time or other staff excluded from the bargaining unit.
 - (a) To assure this is so, in the case of those Members other than instructor and

professional counsellor Members, and with due regard for the need to maintain flexibility, the percentage of the total duties similar to those performed by Members which are actually performed by Members shall not fall below ninety percent without the approval of the Association-Board Committee. This percentage is based upon the fact that there were 636 Members and 146 persons excluded who were doing bargaining-unit duties (or held appointments of this kind) on 7 April 1978; an allowance of one-third of a Member's duties shall be used for each person excluded and this made the percentage on 7 April 1978 equal to $636 \times 100/(636 + 146/3) = 92.8$.

- (b) To assure that this is so, in the case of instructor and professional counsellor Members, the Parties agree, subject to Articles 25, 26 and 27 and Clause 13.10, that the duties of such Members whose appointments are not renewed or who otherwise terminate employment shall not be redistributed to persons who are not instructor Members or professional counsellor Members. However, subject to Articles 25, 26 and 27 and Clause 13.10, nothing in this Sub-Clause 14.18(b) shall prevent graduate students, post-doctoral fellows, student demonstrators, hospital personnel or members of the professorial staff from being employed to perform or from performing reasonable amounts of professional counselling or instructional duties normally performed by an instructor or professional counsellor Member, provided that this is not prejudicial to the employment interest of any Member.
- 14.19 The Board shall consult with the Association Members of the Association-Board Committee on the salary, Y value (and the components thereof) and other terms and conditions of employment for each person to be appointed to a position in the bargaining unit prior to making such an appointment.
- 14.20 Subject to Clause 14.17, the Board is under no obligation to change limited-term appointments to the kinds of appointments specified in Clauses 14.09(a) to (c), or 11.03(a) or (b), or 12.11(a)(i) or (ii), or 13.02(a) or (b). Where a Member who holds a limited-term appointment applies for a kind of appointment specified in Clauses 14.09(a) to (c), or 11.03(a) or (b), or 12.11(a)(i) or (ii), or 13.02(a) or (b), and the recommendations of the Department Chairperson (or Head, Director or Chief Librarian) and Dean are that the appointment be one of those kinds, then if such appointment is not made, reasons in writing must be given to the Member upon their request at the time the decision is made.
- 14.21 Members, other than professional librarian Members in accordance with Clause 11.16, shall not be transferred or reassigned to duties in other departments or other units in Dalhousie University without the agreement of the Members involved. Requests for transfer or reassignment to available positions shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 14.22 When a Member is appointed to one of the excluded positions named in the letters of clarification and the certificates given in Appendix II, or to a position excluded from the bargaining unit under the provisions of the Trade Union Act, that person shall have the

right to return to the bargaining unit at the termination of the excluded appointment. The President and the President of the Association or their designates shall discuss any appointments of Members to new positions which might cause their exclusion from the bargaining unit. Any agreement resulting from such discussions shall be confirmed in writing.

- 14.23 Those persons excluded from the bargaining unit in accordance with Clause 14.22 at the time this Collective Agreement is signed, shall have the right to join the bargaining unit when the appointment which excludes them terminates.
- 14.24 When a person excluded from the bargaining unit in accordance with Clauses 14.22 and 14.23 enters the bargaining unit, the Board shall determine the salary and other terms and conditions of employment consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement and shall consult with the Association Members of the Association-Board Committee as provided in Clause 14.19. The information provided under Clause 14.19 shall, in these cases, include the appropriate Y value, previous salary information including amounts paid as regular salary and amounts paid as administrative stipends or similar allowances. Subject to Clause 31.69, any administrative stipend which is no longer applicable to the person's position shall cease upon entry or reentry of the person to the bargaining unit. Career development may be considered to have continued during such exclusion and nothing shall prevent merit during such exclusion being taken into account in determining salary and other benefits when the person returns to the bargaining unit.
- 14.25 In order to be included in the bargaining unit at the time of termination of those appointments cited in Clauses 14.22 and 14.23, such persons must hold appointments made prior to that time which would include them in the bargaining unit, and such appointments must have been made consistent with this Article 14. Nothing in this Clause 14.25, however, precludes such persons from appointment to positions in the bargaining unit which are the result of regular appointment procedures as specified in Clause 14.11.
- 14.26 Members employed to replace persons excluded from the bargaining unit in accordance with Clauses 14.22 and 14.23 shall have all the rights and privileges associated with their terms of appointment when the persons excluded return to the bargaining unit and their original appointment. Limited term appointments under Clause 14.16(b)(iv) need not be renewed when the person excluded returns to the bargaining unit, and such return shall constitute adequate reason for non-renewal.

Spousal Appointments.

14.27 This Clause shall apply when a candidate who is under consideration, or who has been recommended, for an academic or senior administrative appointment states that their acceptance of an offer is contingent upon their spouse obtaining an academic appointment. This Clause shall also apply when an academic or senior administrative appointee states that their continued employment is contingent on their spouse obtaining an academic appointment. Senior administrative appointments are those outlined in the

Policy on Senior Administrative Appointments (revised by Senate, June 11, 2001, and approved by the Board of Governors, June 26, 2001).

- (a) The Department or other such unit in which the spousal appointment would be sought must first consent to the consideration of the spousal applicant as the sole candidate, and so recommend to the Dean or Chief Librarian.
- (b) Provided that the Unit and the Dean consent, the Association-Board Committee shall be asked to waive the advertising requirement in Clause 14.11(c) so that the spousal applicant may be considered as the sole candidate.
- (c) If the Association-Board Committee agrees to waive the requirements of Clause 14.11(c), the criteria and procedures by which the spousal candidate shall be considered for appointment shall be the criteria and procedures that are defined in this Collective Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the requirements of Clause 14.11(a) shall apply.
- (d) No Member or person acting as an officer of the University shall knowingly participate in any decision that directly and preferentially benefits them or any individual with whom they have an immediate familial, marital, sexual or financial relationship. In addition, no one shall participate in such a decision where their participation may lead to a reasonable apprehension of bias or where there is an appearance of a potential conflict of interest.
- (e) If a spousal candidate is being considered for appointment in the same Department or other such unit as the spouse, a Special Appointments Committee shall be established by the Association-Board Committee.
- (f) When a spousal candidate is being considered for appointment, that candidate shall possess the qualifications and experience required for the appointment for which the candidate is being considered. In addition to other evidence of qualification, the spousal candidate shall be required to demonstrate competitiveness by following all normal forms of internal assessment including:
 - (i) A campus visit, an interview and any presentations that would normally be expected.
 - (ii) They also need to show evidence of competitiveness in one of the following three external types of assessment:
 - a. They currently hold or have held an appointment comparable to the spousal appointment at another University within five (5) years of the date of application for the spousal appointment; or
 - b. They have been short-listed for not fewer than two (2) such

- appointments within five (5) years of the date of the application for the spousal appointment; or
- c. They will provide written assessments of competitiveness from qualified persons, normally Chairs, Heads, Directors, at not fewer than three (3) other Universities.

Article 15: Tenure, Continuing Appointment and Appointment Without Term

- 15.01 (a) Except for Members appointed as professional librarians, instructors, or professional counsellors, the provisions of this Article 15 shall be used to determine the award of tenure for all Members. For Continuing Education Members, consideration for tenure shall be by the College of Continuing Education Promotions and Tenure Committee as set out in Article 37. Except to the extent as modified by the said Article 37, the provisions of Article 15 shall apply to Continuing Education Members.
 - (b) The expression "full-time" in this Article shall be construed as including part-time Members, who in accordance with this Collective Agreement, are eligible for tenure consideration.
 - (c) An appointment with tenure is considered the ultimate safeguard of academic freedom for full-time and regular part-time Members. It constitutes a mutual undertaking, on the part of the Member, that they will continue to perform conscientiously the functions of a teacher and a scholar, and on the part of the University that a Member may continue to enjoy academic freedom with an appointment that shall be terminated only in accordance with this Collective Agreement.
- The University expects and endeavours to improve its standard of academic 15.02 (a) performance year by year and to maintain sufficient flexibility in staffing to meet needs of continuing programmes and evolving needs for change in programmes. Merely spending a number of years on the academic staff of the University will not establish a right to tenure. The Board of Governors will make an appointment with tenure only when it can be firmly predicted that the Member recommended will, in consequence of a demonstrated commitment to intellectual and professional activity throughout their career, attain and maintain a high degree of academic proficiency. However, except when a Member has been appointed or reappointed with notice that the appointment is not foreseen as one serving a continuing programme for the reasonably foreseeable future, every full-time and regular part-time Member serving on a tenure-track term contract does, after some specified period of service in the University, have a right to have their case for tenure considered with the opportunity of presenting it in the most favourable light. Procedures are established by this Collective Agreement to ensure this right

to consideration.

- (b) In no case shall the President's recommendation with respect to an appointment with tenure be provided to the Member later than 1 September during the final year of the Member's appointment. In the event of failure to comply with this requirement, the Member's appointment shall be extended by one year.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, the following procedure shall apply to any grievance arising out of a recommendation of the President under Clauses 15.24(b) and 15.30(c):
 - (i) the grievance shall go directly to arbitration by a single arbitrator under Clause 29.13 or 29.21;
 - (ii) the arbitrator shall hear and determine the grievance within ninety (90) days of the communication to the Member of the President's recommendation;
 - (iii) the ninety (90) day requirement shall not be waived or extended.
- 15.03 (a) In considering a Member for appointment with tenure, general criteria assessed by the committees and administrative officers responsible include: academic and professional qualifications, teaching effectiveness, contributions to an academic discipline, ability and willingness to work with colleagues so that the academic units concerned function effectively, and personal integrity. The Report on Tenure (approved by Senate Council February 1971 and by the Board September 1971) shall be used for guidance respecting the criteria in considering tenure to the extent it does not conflict with this Collective Agreement.
 - (b) At the time of the Member's initial probationary tenure-track or tenure-track appointment, the Dean shall give the Member a copy of the criteria and standards which shall be used for the Member's tenure consideration.
- 15.04 (a) In Faculties where other criteria are of significance, additional criteria must be established by Faculty regulations.
 - (b) Where, by Faculty regulation, a Faculty establishes additional criteria and/or modifies additional criteria during a Member's probationary tenure-track or tenure-track appointment, the Member, as a candidate for tenure in that Faculty shall be evaluated on the basis of the criteria in place at the time of their initial probationary tenure-track or tenure-track appointment unless the Member elects to be evaluated on the basis of the additional criteria and/or modified additional criteria.
- 15.05 If the responsibilities of a Member do not relate to all of the criteria for tenure, yet the

- appointment is expected to lead to consideration of tenure, tenure shall be considered in relation to those responsibilities specified in the letter of appointment of the Member referred to in Clause 14.02.
- 15.06 Interdisciplinary research, educational activities and community service such as are carried out in Centres and Institutes shall be considered in evaluating performance.

Standards in Considering Tenure.

- 15.07 (a) Each Faculty is responsible for establishing, by Faculty Regulations, the standards it considers appropriate in respect of criteria for tenure within Dalhousie. The standards for part-time Members may differ from those for full-time Members.
 - (b) Where, by Faculty regulation, a Faculty modifies established standards and/or establishes additional standards in respect of criteria for tenure during a Member's probationary tenure-track or tenure-track appointment, the Member, as a candidate for tenure in that Faculty shall be evaluated on the basis of the standards in place at the time of their initial probationary tenure-track or tenure-track appointment unless the Member elects to be evaluated on the basis of the standards in place at the time of their tenure consideration.
- 15.08 Where part-time Members are to be considered for tenure, all of the provisions of Article 15 shall apply, including criteria, standards, eligibility, time, and procedures. All those who consider part-time Members for tenure shall make due allowance for the fact that the amount one may contribute to an academic discipline by part-time service for four years is less than can be expected from full-time service. Standards for achievement in other tenure criteria, when appropriate, shall be adjusted similarly for part-time Members.

Eligibility for Consideration for Tenure.

15.09 An appointment with tenure is granted only to those holding academic rank (Lecturer, Assistant Professor, Associate Professor, Professor) or the corresponding research ranks.

Time for Decision on Tenure.

- While Members may, in exceptional circumstances, be given tenure on their appointment to Dalhousie, a Member is normally considered for tenure at the times given in Clauses 15.11 and 15.12.
 - (b) A request for tenure consideration before the times given in Clauses 15.11 and 15.12 can only be initiated by the Member. A Member who is so considered and who is not granted tenure shall continue in the probationary tenure-track or tenure-track appointment and shall be considered again at the prescribed time.
- 15.11 Assistant Professors with three years' full-time university teaching experience before

joining Dalhousie, Associate Professors and Professors shall be considered for tenure after two years of service at Dalhousie, i.e., in the fall term of the third year, and the Dean's recommendation shall be communicated to the Member concerned, normally by 31 December and in no case later than 15 January, to be effective at the beginning of the following academic year.

- 15.12 Other Members, not considered in accordance with Clause 15.11, shall be considered for tenure after four years of service at Dalhousie, i.e., in the fall term of the fifth year, and the Dean's recommendation shall be communicated to the Member concerned, normally by 31 December and in no case later than 15 January, to be effective at the beginning of the following academic year.
- 15.13 (a) Before, or at any stage after, procedures for considering tenure in a given case have commenced, any Member may request deferral of consideration. On recommendation of the Faculty Tenure Committee and the Dean, deferral for a period not exceeding two years may be approved by the President, who shall, when approval is given, then recommend to the Board an extension to the tenure-track appointment.
 - (b) A request for deferral by the Member shall consist of a letter outlining the reasons for the request sent to the Faculty Tenure Committee and the Dean with a copy to the Association. Consideration of the request for deferral shall not require submission of the candidate's dossier; however, the letter shall contain sufficient detail to enable the Faculty Tenure Committee and the Dean to determine the appropriateness of the deferral request. The granting of a deferral shall not prejudice a candidate's case for tenure in subsequent tenure consideration.
 - (c) Where major changes in Department curriculum result in a significantly greater workload or where a Member who through no fault of their own has a teaching or administrative workload which is above the norm for the Department or other such unit and which impairs their ability to meet the criteria for tenure, the Member may request a deferral of their tenure consideration for a period of up to two years, which shall not be unreasonably denied. Members who do so shall have their workload reduced to enable them to concentrate on meeting the criteria for tenure.
- 15.14 By written notice to the Chair, Head or Director of their academic unit, a Member on parental leave may elect to defer for one year consideration of decisions relating to their tenure.
- 15.15 If tenure is denied, a Member shall be recommended for a limited term appointment to carry beyond the sixth year of service only on special grounds satisfactory to the Chair, Head, or Director of the Department, the Faculty Tenure Committee, the Dean and the President. Once given such an appointment, the Member shall be considered as all other Members holding a limited-term appointment in accordance with Clause 14.11 before the

expiry of the term.

15.16 If a Member has been considered for tenure in accordance with procedures established by this Article 15 and the result is a decision that tenure is not recommended, the Member shall not be reconsidered in a subsequent year unless either the Faculty Tenure Committee has originally recommended deferral or the Member's Department Chair, Head, or Director recommends reconsideration in that subsequent year because of a relevant change in circumstances or grounds for consideration.

Procedures for Considering Tenure.

- 15.17 When the Member concerned holds a dual appointment in more than one Department, or has classes offered by more than one Department, the Chairs, Heads or Directors of the Departments in which they serve shall discuss the situation before any recommendation is made by a tenure committee or Department Chair, Head or Director.
- 15.18 (a) At each stage in the tenure process (Department or other similar unit, Faculty, Dean and President), recommendations that tenure be granted, that consideration be deferred, or that tenure not be granted shall be made known to the Member concerned at the same time it is sent to the next stage. Any recommendation that tenure not be granted or that consideration be deferred (except when the Member has requested such deferral) shall include a written statement of the reasons for the recommendation in respect to each of the criteria specified or provided in Clause 15.02 to Clause 15.06 and, where established by Faculty regulations, to the standards provided in Clause 15.07 and Clause 15.08; where no such standards have been established, then past practices shall prevail.
 - (b) When it appears likely that there will be a recommendation that tenure not be granted or that consideration be deferred (except when the Member has requested such deferral), the candidate shall be informed in writing, before any recommendation is made, of the specific concerns related to the criteria and standards for the award of tenure as defined in this Agreement and/or as provided by Faculty regulations. This shall occur at each stage in the tenure process. The candidate shall have the opportunity to respond in writing and to provide additional information in writing within five (5) days.
 - (c) It is the responsibility of the Department or other similar unit committee, Faculty Committee, Dean and the President to ensure that their recommendation on tenure is made with consistency in the application of criteria and standards within the same Faculty or other such unit for candidates assessed in the same academic year and allowing for appropriate differences based on academic discipline.
- 15.19 (a) A Member being considered for an appointment without term, continuing appointment or an appointment with tenure shall submit documentation to the Member's Chairperson, Head, Director, or Chief Librarian no later than 15

September in the academic year in which the Member's case is being considered. Professional librarians shall be considered for appointments without term, in accordance with Clauses 11.07 and 11.09 to 11.15 of this Collective Agreement. Instructor Members shall be considered for continuing appointments, in accordance with Clause 12.17 of this Collective Agreement. Professional counsellors shall be considered for continuing appointments in accordance with Clauses 13.03 and 13.04 of this Collective Agreement. The decision with respect to appointment without term shall be communicated to the Member normally by 28 February and in no case later than 15 March. When appointment without term is granted, it shall take effect from the beginning of the following academic year.

(b) The Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean shall obtain written recommendations from persons outside Dalhousie University unless the Member and the Dean agree that such letters are inappropriate. Any request for a written recommendation shall include a statement of the criteria. (*Refer to Appendix VI*)

In choosing the names of persons to be approached for recommendations, the Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean shall consult the departmental committee, and the Member; at least half of the persons approached for recommendations shall be the choice of the Member. The Member and Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean shall each be entitled to comment on the suitability of the persons approached.

- 15.20 Before the Chair, Head, or Director of a Department formally considers a Member for tenure, they shall inform the Member concerned. In Faculties where Departmental tenure committees are provided for, the Member shall have the opportunity to be heard by, and to submit a written statement to, the appropriate Departmental committee. The Chair, Head, or Director of the Department or School shall in due time make a recommendation to the Dean and in doing so shall indicate any dissent from their recommendation among members of the appropriate Departmental committee, or, if there is no committee, among other members of the Department. If the recommendation of the Chair, Head or Director is that tenure not be granted, the Member concerned shall be advised by the Chair, Head or Director of the recommendation made to the Dean.
 - (i) In the case of an application for tenure, those members who identify as Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian may elect to have an Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian non-voting representative on their Department-level Committee. The representative will be chosen by the member and must be arm's length and have an academic appointment at Dalhousie University. The role of the representative is to provide advice to the Committee on any aspect of the Member's application that may be a reflection of the Member's heritage and/or identity. The representative may prepare an independent report to be added to the Member's file.
- 15.21 The Dean shall lay before the appropriate tenure committee of the Faculty all information

relevant to the case, including the recommendation of the Chair, Head or Director of the Department together with a brief statement of the procedures followed within the Department in arriving at this recommendation, and any dissent from the recommendation as reported by the Department Chair, Head or Director. The tenure committee shall also consider any representations made by other members of the University community, including the Member concerned if they request the opportunity to appear before the committee.

- 15.22 The Faculty Tenure Committee shall consult with the department chair, head or director, and with others in the department as may seem useful to the Faculty Tenure Committee, before coming to a decision to make a recommendation to the Dean which varies from the recommendation of the Department Chair, Head or Director. If the Department Chair, Head or Director has recommended either that tenure not be granted or that (contrary to the Member's wishes) consideration be deferred, or if a Faculty Tenure Committee apprehends some difficulty in reconciling a favourable departmental recommendation with standards prevailing generally in the Faculty, the Faculty Tenure Committee shall invite the Member to appear before it or to submit a written statement, if they have not already done so.
- 15.23 The Dean shall consider the information provided to the Faculty Committee and the recommendation of the Faculty Committee before making a recommendation. The Dean and the Faculty Tenure Committee shall then seek to reach a decision with which both agree.
- 15.24 (a) The Dean shall then make a recommendation to the President, indicating at the same time any dissent from this recommendation among members of the Faculty Tenure Committee and within the Department concerned. The President may consult with the Faculty Tenure Committee before or after receiving this recommendation.
 - (b) The President's recommendation with respect to tenure or appointment without term shall be communicated to the Member normally by 28 February and in no case later than 15 March. When tenure is granted, it shall take effect from the beginning of the following academic year.
- 15.25 The Faculty Tenure Committee concerned, the Dean concerned, or the President acting in turn under these procedures, shall consider any allegation that improper procedures have been followed at earlier stages of any case and shall have authority, if he, she or they believe it may affect disposition of the case, to send the case back for further consideration.
- 15.26 In no case shall deliberations at the Departmental or other similar unit Committee or the Faculty Committee be transacted in the absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview

candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations.

Appeals or Reference to University Tenure Committee.

- 15.27 If the Faculty Tenure Committee recommends tenure be granted or that the case be deferred and if the Dean recommends otherwise, the Member shall have the right to initiate, by writing to the President, no earlier than 14 days after notice of the Dean's recommendation and no later than 21 days after the notice, reconsideration of the matter by a University Tenure Committee as established in Clause 15.30.
- 15.28 The President shall seek further advice from a University Tenure Committee before rejecting a recommendation from the Dean for tenure or for deferral and making a recommendation less favourable to the Member; and the President shall notify the Member of the intention to resort to a University Tenure Committee within 14 days after notice to the Member of the Dean's recommendation.
- 15.29 When a Member or the President requests consideration of the Member's case by a University Tenure Committee, each shall, within 14 days of notice given by one to the other, nominate in writing to the Secretary of Senate the member of the committee whom they select.
- A University Tenure Committee shall consist of three members, one named by the Member concerned, one named by the President, and a chair agreed upon by the two so named, all three to be selected from a standing panel of at least 12 members appointed by Senate on the recommendation of its Nominating Committee after agreement on the names by the committee, the President of the Dalhousie Faculty Association and the President. A University Tenure Committee, after considering all representations on the matter submitted to it, shall report its conclusion and any recommendations and a statement of the reasons to the President and to the Member concerned at the same time and no later than 15 July. The President shall submit a copy of the report of a University Tenure Committee to the Board of Governors.
 - (b) During appeals to a University Tenure Committee, the appellant shall have the choice whether to present their case before or after the University presents its case, but the order of presentation shall not affect the issue to be decided by the committee.
 - (c) After considering the report of a University Tenure Committee the President may recommend to the Board of Governors a further appointment with tenure; an appointment without tenure, with the question of tenure deferred; an appointment without tenure, with no undertaking to consider tenure again; or none of these. The President shall notify the Member of their recommendation and a statement of the reasons within one month from the date of the report of the University

Tenure Committee.

- (d) It is the responsibility of the University Tenure Committee to ensure that their recommendation on tenure is made with consistency in the application of criteria and standards within the same Faculty or other such unit for candidates assessed in the same academic year and allowing for appropriate differences based on academic discipline.
- 15.31 Professional librarians have the right to appeal if the Library System Appointments Committee recommends an appointment without term, or that consideration be deferred (in accordance with Clause 11.09 of this Collective Agreement), and the Dean or Vice-President responsible recommends otherwise. The Dean or Vice-President responsible shall so inform the professional librarian, in writing, by 15 January and an appeal may be initiated by writing to the President within twenty-one days of the written notice from the Dean or Vice-President. Within fourteen days of writing to the President, the President and the professional librarian shall each nominate, in writing to the Secretary of Senate, the member of the University Tenure Committee whom they select. Clause 15.30 of this Collective Agreement shall then be used to determine the award of appointment without term.

Procedure - Tenure on Initial Appointment.

15.32 Before recommending to the President that tenure should be granted on initial appointment, the Dean shall consult with the appropriate tenure committee and, in making a recommendation shall advise the President of any dissent from this recommendation among members of the committee.

Consideration of Tenure for Person with Duties in More than One Faculty.

- 15.33 (a) When a Member has duties in more than one Faculty in the University, the Dean should normally consult any other Dean, whose information is likely to be of assistance in determining the question of tenure.
 - (b) If a Member has a joint appointment, the Chairperson, Head or Director of the Department or similar unit in which the Member holds the principal appointment shall be responsible for convening a special tenure committee with an appropriate number of members from each of the units in which the Member holds an appointment. The members of this committee shall contain elected and/or appointed members according to the established procedures in the units in which the Member holds appointments. This special committee shall fulfill the function of the departmental tenure committee mentioned in Clause 15.20.
- 15.34 Where a time limit relating to tenure consideration of a Member is stipulated in this Article 15, the Board and Members affected by or involved in the procedure shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the time limit can be met. Nevertheless, where appropriate

reasons are demonstrated, the time limit for a decision and the option for an extension of the Member's appointment may be made by agreement of the Parties at the Association-Board Committee. However, the person requiring the extension must give appropriate reasons and notice of the requested extension in a timely manner to the Member affected by the procedure, to the Board and the ABC.

15.35 Where deferral of tenure consideration or consideration for continuing appointment or appointment without term is granted to a Member, the Member's appointment shall be extended by the period of the deferral.

Article 16: Promotion

16.01 A Member who requests consideration for promotion shall submit such request, together with the documentation which the Member believes is relevant, to the Member's Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian no later than 15 September in the academic year in which such consideration is to occur.

For instructor Members, promotion shall occur when a probationary appointment is converted to a continuing appointment or a University Teaching Fellow. Procedures for instructor Member promotions and/or converting a probationary appointment to a continuing appointment are given in Articles 12 and 15 of this Collective Agreement.

Consideration for promotion shall be by a committee within the Member's Department, School, Library or similar unit, elected by the members of that unit, and by the Chairperson, Head or Director, and professional librarian Members by the Chief Librarian. In no case shall deliberations be transacted in the absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations.

For Continuing Education Members, consideration for promotion shall be by the College of Continuing Education Promotions and Tenure Committee as set out in Article 37. Except to the extent as modified by the said Article 37, the provisions of this Article 16 shall apply to Continuing Education Members.

The recommendation of the committee, and of the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian, together with all documents and other evidence on which they are based, shall be passed to the Faculty level as provided by Clause 16.02 by 30 November of each year.

(i) In the case of an application for promotion, those members who identify as Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian may elect to have an Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian non-voting representative on their Department-level Committee. The representative will be chosen by the member and must be arm's length and

have an academic appointment at Dalhousie University. The role of the representative is to provide advice to the Department Head on any aspect of the Member's application that may be a reflection of the Member's heritage and/or identity. The representative may prepare an independent report to be added to the Member's file.

16.02 Consideration for promotion at the Faculty level shall be initially by a committee within the Member's Faculty, elected by the members of that Faculty. For professional librarians, the Library System Appointments Committee described in Clause 11.08 of this Collective Agreement is the Faculty-level committee. Recommendations from such a committee shall be made by 15 February. In no case shall deliberations be transacted in the absence of a quorum, which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations.

Consideration for promotion shall be then by the Dean or Vice-President, whose recommendation shall be made to the President by 31 March. The recommendation from the Dean or Vice-President shall indicate any dissent from the recommendation at the level of the Department or similar unit or by the Faculty committee.

In any case where a member of the Faculty committee has participated in the current promotion proceedings of a Member by:

- (a) providing a written or oral submission to the committee referred to in Clause 16.01, or
- (b) serving as a member of the committee referred to in Clause 16.01,

they shall not participate in the promotion proceedings for that Member at the Faculty level.

- 16.03 Upon receipt of the recommendation of the Dean or Vice-President, the President may then recommend to the Board that the Member be promoted. If promotion is not recommended or is denied, the President shall inform the Member, in writing, and give the reasons with specific reference to how the Member stands with respect to the criteria for promotion. In either case the Member shall be informed of the final decision, including reasons where appropriate, by 31 May.
- 16.04 (a) Before a Member is formally considered for promotion, both at the Departmental and Faculty level, they shall be informed and given the opportunity to be heard or to present a written statement. At any stage of consideration a Member may request that promotion not be considered or that consideration be terminated or deferred, and such requests shall be honoured. If promotion is not recommended or consideration is deferred (unless the Member has requested that consideration be terminated or deferred), the Member shall be given the reasons for this action,

in writing, with sufficient particularity to assist the Member to understand the decision and with specific reference to the duties specified in Clause 20.04 together with each of the criteria and standards specified in Clause 16.06 and, if appropriate, Clause 16.11, and these reasons shall be given by the committee, the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian, Dean or Vice-President, who made the recommendation or decision. Where the Faculty committee, Dean or Vice-President does not concur with the recommendation at the Departmental level, a copy of the reasons shall be sent to the Chairperson of the Department or other such unit.

- (b) It is the responsibility of the Department or other similar unit committee, Faculty Committee, Dean and the President to ensure that their recommendation on promotion is made with consistency in the application of criteria and standards within the same Faculty or other such unit for candidates assessed in the same academic year and allowing for appropriate differences based on academic discipline.
- 16.05 Subject to Clause 14.05, when promotion is granted it shall take effect from the beginning of the following academic year.
- 16.06 (a) Except for instructor Members, the criteria for promotion of Members of the teaching and research staff shall be the same as those for tenure. Promotion is based upon positive evidence of actual achievement and accomplishment in those duties and responsibilities which, in accordance with Clause 20.04, constitute the individual Member's workload, and not on years of service. Where promotion is being considered to the rank of Professor, the standards in Clause 16.11 shall also apply.
 - (b) Faculties, Schools, Departments and similar units may add to or define these criteria more precisely in accordance with the provisions of this Collective Agreement, and copies of the additions or definitions shall be made available to all Members of the Faculty, School, Department or similar unit concerned. The criteria for promotion of professional librarian Members shall be those specified in Article 11, and in the case of any conflict between Article 11 and this Article 16, Article 11 shall apply.
 - (c) Each Faculty is responsible for establishing, by Faculty regulations, the standards it considers appropriate in respect of criteria for promotion within Dalhousie. The standards for part-time Members may differ from those for full-time Members. Members of the Faculty shall be given a written copy of these standards.
- 16.07 When a Member holds a joint appointment in two or more Faculties, Schools,
 Departments or similar units they may be considered for promotion in any of these units.
 During consideration for promotion in one unit, there shall be consultation with the other unit(s) in which the Member holds appointments, but promotion shall not be denied in

one unit merely because of failure to reach agreement. Promotion may be granted in one unit, subject to the provisions of this Clause 16.07, even if not granted in others.

- 16.08 Where a Faculty is not organized into Departments, Schools, or similar units, Clause 16.01 shall not apply; the Dean shall seek the recommendations referred to in Clauses 16.10 or 16.11 and promotion procedures shall start at the Faculty level. Where the Member's appointment is in a research centre or institute not forming part of a Faculty, Clause 16.02 shall not apply and the Vice-President shall seek the recommendations referred to in Clauses 16.10 or 16.11. For Members holding appointments in the College of Continuing Education, the College shall be treated as a Faculty without Departments and the Dean shall be the Dean of the College of Continuing Education for the purposes of Clauses 16.02 and 16.08.
- 16.09 Consideration of promotion from Lecturer to Assistant Professor may be requested if the Member claims to have acquired the equivalent of the appropriate qualifications indicated in Clause 14.05. By mutual agreement of the Member and the Dean, consideration may occur at other times. In these cases, promotion, if granted, shall take effect in accordance with Clause 14.05.
- 16.10 On the initiative of the Member or appropriate Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean, a Member may be considered for promotion from the rank of Assistant Professor to that of Associate Professor but, failing such an initiative, the Dean shall inform the Member by 15 August, in the fifth year of their appointment as Assistant Professor, that they are eligible to be considered for promotion to the rank of Associate Professor. Where consideration for promotion to the rank of Associate Professor takes place in the same year as tenure is awarded, written recommendations in support of the latter shall count also as evidence for the promotion, and no other shall be required. In any other case, the Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean may obtain written recommendations, normally two.

In choosing the names of persons to be approached for recommendations, the Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean shall consult the committee, referred to in Clause 16.01, and the Member; at least half of the persons approached shall be the choice of the Member. The Member and the Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean shall each be entitled to comment on the suitability of the persons approached.

16.11 On the initiative of the Member or the appropriate Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean, a Member may be considered for promotion from the rank of Associate Professor to that of Professor, but failing such an initiative, the Dean shall inform the Member, by 15 August, in the fifth year of their appointment as Associate Professor, that they are eligible to be considered for promotion to the rank of Professor.

Subject to Clause 16.06(a), promotion to the rank of Professor shall be recommended only when solid evidence is established that the Member has attained standards of competence in both teaching and scholarship appropriate to a new full Professor and that

the Member has attained and is likely to maintain a high level of effectiveness in teaching and/or scholarship and that their teaching or scholarship represents a significant contribution to their discipline or to the University.

The Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean shall obtain written recommendations from persons outside Dalhousie University, normally four, unless the Member and the Dean agree that such letters are inappropriate. Any request for a written recommendation shall include the text of this Clause 16.11.

In choosing the names of persons to be approached for recommendations, the Chairperson, Head or Director shall consult the committee, referred to in Clause 16.01, and the Member; at least half of the persons approached for recommendations shall be the choice of the Member. The Member and Chairperson, Head, Director or Dean shall each be entitled to comment on the suitability of the persons approached.

When promotion is considered principally on the ground that the Member has attained and is likely to maintain a high level of effectiveness in teaching, the solid evidence required shall include peer evaluations and/or student evaluations subject to Clause 18.09. Other evidence may include, but is not limited to: development of new courses; updating of existing courses; effective use of innovative teaching aids and techniques; development of innovative teaching aids and techniques; involvement in curriculum development; organization of field schools, laboratories or clinical practica; successful direction of the research of undergraduate and/or graduate students; successful public and/or continuing education activities; publication or production of books, articles, films or recordings which elucidate and advance teaching effectiveness; formal recognition as an excellent teacher.

16.12 There is no limit as to how often a Member may request promotion or how often a Member may be put forward by the committee mentioned in Clause 16.01. When a Member has been considered for promotion and promotion has not been recommended, requests for promotion by the Member and recommendations that the Member be promoted by the Member's Departmental committee must address the reasons mentioned in Clause 16.04 and/or Clause 16.03 of this Collective Agreement, which were given in the last year in which the Member was not recommended.

<u>Promotion Appeals</u>.

- 16.13 Subject to Clause 16.14, a Member who has been denied promotion may elect either to appeal the decision of denial or to grieve the denial in accordance with the provisions in Article 29. Subject to Clause 29.04(e), if the Member elects to appeal, then no grievance or arbitration shall arise from the decision of denial of promotion, including the decision of the University Promotion Appeal Committee.
- 16.14 A Member shall have no right to appeal the decision of denial of promotion where the Department or similar unit Committee, the Chairperson, Head or Director, the Faculty Committee and the Dean concur that promotion ought to be denied.

- 16.15 A Member who elects to appeal the decision of denial of promotion may initiate the appeal by writing to the President within twenty-one days of the written notification of denial. The President or their delegate shall then submit the matter on appeal to a University Promotion Appeal Committee. This Committee shall be composed of three members selected within the same time periods, in the same way and from the same panel as a University Tenure Committee, as set out in Article 15 of this Collective Agreement.
- 16.16 (a) The University Promotion Appeal Committee shall consider whether the Member has met the appropriate criteria and standards for promotion to the rank in question and shall report its decision to the President and Member. The Committee shall determine its own procedures in accordance with the rules of natural justice. The Committee need not conduct a hearing unless requested to do so by the Member or the President and can invite the Member and other persons considered appropriate by the Committee to make representations to the Committee. The Member shall be informed of the final decision including reasons no later than four (4) months following the establishment of the Committee.
 - (b) It is the responsibility of the University Promotion Appeal Committee to ensure that their recommendation on promotion is made with consistency in the application of criteria and standards within the same Faculty or other such unit for candidates assessed in the same academic year and allowing for appropriate differences based on academic discipline.
- 16.17 Subject to Clause 29.04(e), the decision of the University Promotion Appeal Committee shall be binding on the Member, the Association, the President and the Board. Where the decision of the Committee is not unanimous, the decision of the majority of members thereof shall be deemed to be the decision of the Committee.

Article 17: Rights, Responsibilities and Professional Relationships

17.01 An appointment within Dalhousie University, and especially the right of academic freedom as provided in Article 3, carries with it a corresponding responsibility on the part of Members to use their freedom responsibly, with due concern for the rights of others, for the duties appropriate to a university appointment, and for the welfare of society. Members have a continuing responsibility to maintain intellectual vitality, to contribute to the work of their Departments, Schools, or Colleges and Faculties, and of the University, and to ensure that students have reasonable and adequate access to their attention.

Professional Ethics.

17.02 It is the responsibility of Members to be fair to their students, to foster a free exchange of ideas, to avoid unjust or improper discrimination, and to avoid any exploitation of students, or other employees.

- 17.03 Members have the obligation to defend the right of their colleagues to academic freedom. It is unethical for them to act so as deliberately to infringe that freedom. Members must strive to be fair and objective when presenting a professional judgment of a colleague and refrain from unjust criticism of the character or competence of colleagues.
- 17.04 Subject to Article 18, Members have the responsibility to respect the confidentiality of information about a colleague gained during participation in a committee dealing with such matters as appointment, reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment, appointment without term, dismissal or in the discharge of other administrative duties or responsibilities.
- 17.05 Members shall not reveal information about students, whether concerning their academic progress, their personal life, or their political or religious views, except in the normal provision of grades or references within Dalhousie University or to another educational institution, or as may be authorized by the student concerned.
- 17.06 Members have the responsibility to acknowledge in their scholarly lectures and publications academic debts to colleagues and students. It is unethical to exploit the unpaid work of colleagues or students for personal gain.

Duties.

- 17.07 The duties of Members holding appointments as professional librarians, instructors or professional counsellors are described respectively in Article 11, Article 12 and Article 13. For Members holding other appointments, Clauses 17.08 to 17.21, inclusive, apply.
- 17.08 The duties of Members will, unless otherwise specified in a Member's letter of appointment, normally fall within the following categories:
 - (a) undergraduate and/or graduate teaching;
 - (b) research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional activity;
 - (c) academic administration within Dalhousie University;
 - (d) professional responsibilities outside Dalhousie University.
- 17.09 The duties of Members appointed to one of the research ranks specified in Article 10 may be adjusted to take due account of any special responsibilities associated with the research appointment. The duties of Members appointed to an academic administrative position as Chairperson or Head of a department shall be adjusted by agreement between the Member and the appropriate Dean to take due account of the special responsibilities associated with the academic administrative appointment. The duties of Continuing Education Members shall be adjusted to take account of the special duties and responsibilities for Continuing Education Members as described in Clause 37.05.

Annual Reports.

17.10 Members have a responsibility to give an account of their duties described in Clause 17.08 (or in Article 11, 12 or 13 for professional librarians, instructors or professional counsellors respectively) by completing and returning such an annual report as may be requested by the Dean or Vice-President within reasonable time limits as specified by the Dean or Vice-President. The Parties agree that standardized annual accounts are not sufficient documentation of Members' career development, neither are they sufficient documentation in consideration for promotion, tenure, or reappointment, and they shall not be used as such.

Teaching.

- 17.11 Members with teaching responsibilities have an obligation to make all reasonable efforts to develop and maintain their scholarly competence and effectiveness as teachers within the area of expertise in which they are employed, to prepare, organize, and present their subject matter so as to facilitate comprehension by their students, and to revise that subject matter when appropriate.
- 17.12 While it is recognized that there shall be consultation with and among Members on the assignment of teaching duties, once such duties have been assigned, it is the responsibility of the Member to teach the assigned courses to students duly registered in them in accordance with schedules and curricula as approved from time to time by the Department, School, College, Faculty or Senate.
- 17.13 Teaching responsibilities include reasonable availability for consultation with students out of class or laboratory hours. Members have a responsibility to inform students of their availability, and to endeavour to provide periods of time which are likely to be convenient for the students. Supervision of students, their research and practical work, thesis preparation and participation in the evaluation of theses, especially in the case of graduate teaching, are integral components of teaching responsibilities and Members' workloads.
- 17.14 Members shall comply with procedures and deadlines for reporting and reviewing the grades of their students and with other regulations, procedures and deadlines as may be established or authorized by the Senate, Faculties, Schools, Colleges or Departments of Dalhousie University, provided these are consistent with this Collective Agreement and are published.
- 17.15 Members shall accept responsibility for participation in the academic operations of the University, including the supervision of examinations, academic counselling and registration of students.
- 17.16 Except as may be provided for in this Collective Agreement, or approved or authorized by the Senate or the Board, or for valid academic reasons, or for reasons beyond the

Member's control, Members shall not cancel or terminate scheduled instruction. Any cancellation or termination of scheduled instruction shall be reported to an appropriate administrative officer of the University, and every effort shall be made by the Member to notify the students in advance.

Research, Scholarly, Artistic and/or Professional Activity.

- 17.17 All research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional activity conducted by Members in the course of their duties shall have as its primary objectives the increase of knowledge and understanding, artistic creation, the improvement of the scholarly or professional competence of the Member as a member of the academic staff of the University, and the improvement of teaching. When research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional activities are reviewed and assessed in relation to reappointment, tenure, promotion, or salary increases, they shall be assessed in relation to these primary objectives. Such review and assessment shall likewise take due account of the quality and not merely the quantity of such activities. In keeping with the Boyer model, scholarship includes the scholarship of discovery, the scholarship of integration, the scholarship of application and/or the scholarship of teaching. Review and assessment of scholarship should recognize non-traditional forms of scholarship and traditional ways of knowing.
- 17.18 Unless otherwise specified in a Member's letter of appointment, Members have the right and responsibility to devote a reasonable proportion of their time to research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional activities. Insofar as it is within its power, the University will endeavour to facilitate these activities.
- 17.19 It is the responsibility of Members to make the results of their research or scholarly activities available when appropriate for review and assessment in connection with reappointment, tenure, promotion, or salary increases. It is agreed that research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional activities may take a variety of diverse forms and contributions to the University may arise from a variety of accomplishments including, but not limited to, publications, unpublished papers, transcripts or tapes of broadcast material, films, and other art forms as appropriate to the subject matter of the Member's work. Research carried out under contract may be considered as evidence of the Member's scholarly activity or reputation, and it will be assessed as research if the results of the work are available to others and meet acceptable standards of scholarship as judged by peers.

Academic Administration Within Dalhousie University.

17.20 The Parties recognize that the self-governance of the University depends upon the willing participation of Members in the activities of their Departments, Schools, Colleges, Faculties, and in the Senate and other bodies to which a Member may be elected or appointed. Insofar as such is consistent with their primary responsibilities in teaching and research, Members have the right and the responsibility to participate in such bodies when called upon to do so or when elected to such bodies. Service to the Association shall be treated neither more nor less favourably by Departments and other units of

Dalhousie University than committee and similar duties performed for Departments, Faculties and Dalhousie University generally, for purposes of assessing and evaluating a Member's contribution to academic administration within Dalhousie University.

Professional Responsibilities Outside Dalhousie University.

- 17.21 Subject to Clause 17.22, Members have the right, and in some cases the responsibility, to participate in the activities of appropriate professional associations, learned societies or other bodies whose work is supportive of research, scholarship, artistic creation and/or professional development, insofar as such participation is consistent with their primary responsibilities within Dalhousie University or as may be provided elsewhere in this Collective Agreement.
- 17.22 In statements outside the University, Members shall not claim to speak on behalf of Dalhousie University unless specifically authorized to do so.

Article 18: Personal Files

- 18.01 Personal files are all files containing evaluative materials on Members, and any other information pertaining to the employment of Members. Subject to this definition:
 - (a) the Board shall maintain in the Dean's offices, and in a form determined by it, a Principal Personal File for each Member and this file shall contain, subject to Clause 18.10, the original or a copy of all documents substantively relevant to the employment of a Member, including evaluative material;
 - (b) a Member shall have access, within two days of making a request, to any special file created for the specific purposes of consideration of the Member for reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment or appointment without term. Each special file shall contain an inventory sheet which describes the contents of the file and any additions or deletions from the special file shall be noted. The special file shall contain material submitted by the Member for consideration as well as material included by the Department, Chairperson, Head or Director, Dean, Chief Librarian, Vice-President or any Committee considering the matter. Any confidential material in the special file shall be treated in accordance with Clause 18.11. Subject to Clause 18.13, there is no obligation on the Board to maintain any special file after the consideration of the Member has been concluded and University appeal and/or grievance procedures have been completed;
 - (c) the Association shall inform each affected Member of the location of personal files it holds, and shall ensure access to any such files.
- 18.02 Upon presentation of identification, Members shall have the right to examine, during regular office hours, all of the contents of their personal files, except confidential letters

- or similar documents of recommendation, which shall be held confidential subject to Clause 18.11. Access to personal files shall not be unreasonably withheld. Where personal files or parts of personal files are maintained by the Board or the Association only in computer-readable form, the right to examination given in this Clause 18.02 shall be accomplished through computer programs fully adequate to the purpose of fulfilling this right and these programs shall not encroach on the personal files of other persons.
- 18.03 Members shall have the right to have included in their Principal Personal Files, or in a personal file maintained by the Association, additional, relevant, evaluative material provided by themselves, including their written comments on the accuracy or meaning of any of the contents.
- 18.04 The Board and the Association shall not unreasonably refuse to remove from a personal file material which can be shown to be false or misleading. A Member who believes such material to be in their file shall have the right to petition for its removal by the appropriate official of the Board or the Association.
- 18.05 Whenever non-confidential material is to be removed permanently from a Member's Principal Personal File with the purpose of being destroyed, such material shall be given to the Member concerned.
- 18.06 Members, on request to the University or Association officer holding a file, may receive at their own expense copies of any documents to which they have the right of examination.
- 18.07 Except as specified in this Collective Agreement and for the internal administrative purposes of Dalhousie University (including committees considering promotion, tenure, reappointment, disciplinary action, or the resolution of grievances) the contents of the personal files of Members shall not be released or made available to any other person or institution except as part of established procedures of peer evaluation or accreditation, or with the express written consent of the Member involved, or as required by law.
- 18.08 Anonymous evaluative material concerning any Member shall not be kept in any personal file or submitted in any formal deliberation, action, hearing, or proceeding involving any Member except as provided in Clause 18.09.
- 18.09 (a) Multiple-choice responses and other coded material gathered as a result of any collective teacher evaluation authorized by the Senate or any Faculty of Dalhousie University shall not be considered anonymous material under the terms of Clause 18.08. Comments and remarks written by respondents during such evaluations are anonymous material under the terms of Clause 18.08, unless the Senate or a Faculty of Dalhousie University specifically specifies otherwise. Signed comments are confidential, but shall be revealed to the Member they concern without identifying their authors.

- (b) Student surveys/evaluations regarding a Member shall be placed by the Chairperson, Head or Director, Chief Librarian, Dean or Vice-President in any special file for a Member created for the specific purposes of consideration of the Member for reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment or appointment without term provided the survey/evaluation instruments have been approved by the Faculty or Senate. The evaluations shall be made available in the form approved by the Faculty or Senate. Any unsigned comments from students shall be excised prior to the access to the survey/evaluation being provided to members of the Department or any decision-maker or committee considering the Member but such comments shall be provided by the Chairperson, Head or Director, Dean, Chief Librarian or Vice-President in confidence to the Member.
- (c) Subject to the provisions of Clauses 18.09(a) and (b), and if requested by the Member, the Chairperson, Head or Director, Chief Librarian, Dean or Vice-President shall provide copies of the raw data, whether in printed or computer-readable form, to the Member who is the subject of a survey/ evaluation once it has been placed in any special file pursuant to Clause 18.01(b).
- (d) Members shall be provided with student surveys/evaluations within thirty (30) days of the end of the academic year in which the evaluation occurred.
- (e) The Factors that are usually relevant in interpreting the results of student responses to student surveys/evaluations include:
 - (i) Number of times taught and consistency over time,
 - (ii) Number of students enrolled,
 - (iii) Response rate,
 - (iv) Department mean and variability,
 - (v) Class material,
 - (vi) Level and type of class (eg. Introductory, advanced, compulsory, optional, method of class delivery)
 - (vii) Expertise of Member.
- 18.10 Records of grievance and arbitration procedures shall be kept separately from personal files. No record indicating that a Member has invoked the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Collective Agreement shall be placed in their Principal Personal File.
- 18.11 (a) When confidential information is to be used in proceedings concerning disciplinary action or the resolution of grievances, such confidential information shall be made available to the Members involved upon request but in a form which does not identify the authors. At the Member's request, a representative of the Association shall be entitled to review any original document and its edited form to ensure that such deletion and editing as have occurred serve only to conceal the identity of the author. The representative shall maintain confidentiality with regard to the author's identity.

- (b) When confidential information is to be used in proceedings concerning promotion, tenure, reappointment, appointment without term or continuing appointment such confidential information shall be treated in the following manner:
 - (i) letters of reference that are requested from persons outside Dalhousie
 University shall be made available to the Members involved upon request
 unless the author of the letter requests that their identity be concealed in
 which event the identifying letter-head and signature block shall be
 removed;

Persons who are asked to provide recommendations regarding a Member being considered for promotion, tenure, reappointment, appointment without term or continuing appointment shall be advised that their recommendations and identity will be made known to the Member unless they request to have their identity concealed in which event the recommendation shall be treated as stated in the preceding paragraph.

- (ii) other written confidential information shall not be used unless it is made available to the Member involved with the identifying letter-head and signature block removed. The author of the written information shall be advised of this potential disclosure to the Member and may withdraw the original in which case the information shall not be used unless a revised version of the information is submitted and is made available to the Member involved with the identifying letter-head and signature block removed;
- (iii) while oral communication with outside assessors and others regarding a Member under consideration is discouraged, Members shall be entitled to receive a written summary of any material oral confidential information received regarding the Member that is to be used and which may affect the decision but the identity of the source of such information need not be disclosed:

At the Member's request, a representative of the Association shall be entitled to review any original document and its edited form to ensure that such deletion and editing as have occurred serve only to conceal the identity of the author. The representative shall maintain confidentiality with regard to the author's identity.

- 18.12 (a) The Board shall use the first letter in Appendix VI as a guideline for inviting persons outside Dalhousie University to act as assessors for a Member. It is understood that communication by telephone or in person is permissible to determine the availability of the person to act as an assessor.
 - (b) Once assessors have agreed to serve and have been sent the necessary material as

- outlined in the suggested second letter in Appendix VI, no material communication should occur without disclosure of the substance of the communication to the Member affected in accordance with Clause 18.11(b)(iii).
- (c) If appropriate, the Board shall use the third or fourth letters in Appendix VI as a guideline for communication with the assessor.
- (d) All Members of the Department or similar unit may have access to any special file created for the specific purposes of consideration of a Member for reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment or appointment without term and they may submit to the Department Chair, Head, Director or Dean, Chief Librarian or Vice-President a written assessment of the Member based on the criteria in this Collective Agreement. Such assessments, including their authorship, shall be made available on request to the Member, unless the author has requested confidentiality in which case they shall be treated as confidential in accordance with Clause 18.11(b)(ii). Members of the Department or similar unit who request access to said special file shall be bound by the same rules of confidentiality regarding the contents of the special file as apply to members of a departmental committee considering a Member for reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment or appointment without term.
- 18.13 (a) The Board shall provide access to the Association on a confidential basis, within two days of receiving a request from the Association, to any special file of a Member that was available to the President, Vice-President or Dean at the time they considered the matter of reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment or appointment without term of the Member, provided the Association requests the special file in writing not later than 21 days following the notification to the Member of the final decision in the matter.
 - (b) The University Tenure Committee and/or the University Promotion Appeal Committee shall have access to special files pertaining to promotion, tenure or appointment without term for the same assessments of other candidates within the same Faculty or other such unit in the same and preceding academic year as the candidate under consideration.
- 18.14 Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article 18, the Association shall have access to information in accordance with other specific provisions of this Collective Agreement.

Article 19: Existing Practices

19.01 The Board or its agents shall not unilaterally alter existing practices and processes for decision-making, consultation and recommendation in Departments and similar units, or alter Departmental, Faculty or similar structures which support teaching and research. Changes may be made in accordance with existing processes that are reasonable, certain

- and known or in accordance with processes for change approved or authorized by the Senate within its statutory jurisdiction.
- 19.02 The Board acknowledges its responsibility to maintain facilities, services and general working conditions which support the effective discharge by Members of their responsibilities as specified in Article 17. The Board may determine the manner in which, and the level at which, facilities and services are provided to Members, on the understanding that the Board will endeavour to maintain reasonable levels of working space, secretarial and other support services, including telephones, computing, printing, duplicating and library services, technical services and teaching and research assistance. The reasonableness of levels of services may be measured by consideration of financial resources of the Board and past practice in the provision of such services.
- 19.03 Any significant change in general working conditions which are reasonable, certain and known may be made by agreement of the Parties through the Association-Board Committee. Any significant change in the levels of facilities and services provided, which levels are reasonable, certain and known, shall be discussed by the Parties through the Association-Board Committee and an opportunity shall be provided for the Association's comments and suggestions about a proposed change to be considered before the change is introduced.
- 19.04 The onus of establishing a practice or process within the terms of Clause 19.01 or general working conditions or level of facilities and services within the terms of Clauses 19.02 and 19.03 shall rest upon the person or persons alleging its existence and it must be shown that the alleged condition, level, practice or process is reasonable, certain and known by the Board or its agents (including Department Chairpersons or Departments and similar units) and therefore is deemed to have been authorized by the Board.
- 19.05 Where a decision made outside a Department or similar unit requires there to be a permanent reduction of any full-time or sessional full-time position in the complement of support staff within a Department, the Department shall be advised in writing by the Dean or Vice-President (through the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian where there is such a person) and shall be given 10 days to make comments and suggestions which shall be considered before any change is finalized.

Article 20: Workloads

20.01 Provisions for the workloads of Members holding appointments as professional librarians, instructors or professional counsellors are contained respectively in Article 11, Article 12, and Article 13. This Article 20 applies to the workloads of Members holding other appointments. The workloads of Members appointed to one of the research ranks specified in Article 10 shall be determined taking due account of any special responsibilities or duties associated with the research appointment. The workloads for Continuing Education Members shall take account of their special duties and

responsibilities and shall be determined in accordance with Article 37.

- 20.02 Subject to Clause 20.03, or unless specifically provided otherwise in an individual letter of appointment, Members are employed by the University for a period of twelve months in each year, including holidays and vacations as provided in this Collective Agreement, to carry out the duties and responsibilities described in Article 17 on a full-time basis.
- 20.03 The specific workload of a part-time Member shall be authorized in accordance with the Member's letter of appointment and the subsequent provisions of this Article 20.
- 20.04 A Member's workload normally includes, in varying proportions, the duties indicated in Article 17, namely:
 - (a) undergraduate and/or graduate teaching;
 - (b) research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional activity;
 - (c) academic administration within Dalhousie University;
 - (d) professional responsibilities outside Dalhousie University.

Unless otherwise indicated in the Member's letter of appointment, or unless this conflicts with established practice within the Member's Department or other unit, (a) and (b) constitute the Member's principal duties.

- 20.05 (a) The undergraduate and/or graduate classes to be taught by a Member, and other significant teaching responsibilities assigned to a Member, shall be defined within the Member's Department, School or College, where such units exist or within the Member's Faculty in Faculties where no Departments, Schools or Colleges exist. In Faculties having Departments, Schools or Colleges, the teaching component of a Member's workload shall then be recommended by the Chairperson, Head or Director and approved by the Dean. In Faculties without Departments, Schools or Colleges, the teaching component of a Member's workload shall be authorized by the Dean.
 - (b) Following the approval of the Dean, the Chairperson, Head or Director will make reasonable effort by March 1 of each academic year, to inform each Member the details of their teaching assignment for the next academic year.
 - (c) Unless otherwise agreed by the Member, a Member's teaching duties shall be contained within two of the three academic terms per year. Where there is a trimester system in effect, the Member shall have the right to one complete term free of teaching duties in each academic year.
 - (d) The Department Chair, Head or Director shall distribute a list of the teaching assignments approved by the Dean for all Members in the department or other such unit by the first day of classes for each term.

- (e) In order that a Member may balance the need for time to prepare new courses and to establish a research program, when the Member is appointed to a probationary tenure-track position, the Member will be given a teaching and administrative workload that is less than the normal teaching and administrative workload for the Department or other such unit for the first two years of the Member's appointment.
- 20.06 Significant academic administrative duties within Dalhousie University and/or professional responsibilities outside Dalhousie University shall be noted in the recommendation of the Chairperson, Head or Director, and in the approval or authorization of the Dean.
- 20.07 Upon request from the appropriate Dean, Members shall submit a statement of research, scholarly, artistic, and/or professional activities planned or anticipated in the subsequent year. Also upon request from the Dean, Members shall submit at the end of the year a statement indicating changes in and progress toward the planned or anticipated activities.
- 20.08 A Member's workload may include the teaching of scheduled instruction during evening hours, during summer sessions, in a second department, or other unit with Dalhousie University, or off-campus teaching as provided in Article 21. Such teaching duties may be assigned in accordance with existing arrangements within Departments or other teaching units made prior to the signing of this Collective Agreement. Any arrangements for assigning such teaching duties made subsequent to the signing of this Collective Agreement shall be made within Departments or other teaching units and shall include provisions for the agreement of the Member or Members affected. Any such arrangements shall be subject to the approval of the Deans of the Faculties involved. Such teaching shall not be considered overload teaching if appropriate reductions are made in the other teaching or academic administrative responsibilities of the Member or Members concerned. Members doing overload teaching shall receive an overload stipend.
- 20.09 With the agreement of the Member concerned and in accordance with the policies and procedures existing within the Departments or other units for establishing a normal teaching workload and establishing a normal academic administrative workload, the Dean may approve or authorize:
 - (a) overload teaching within a Member's Department, School, College or Faculty, or off-campus as provided in Article 21, for a Member whose composite workload for the year is otherwise considered full-time. In such cases Members shall be entitled to an overload stipend. Overload teaching in another unit of Dalhousie University is dealt with in Article 22;
 - (b) overload academic administration within Dalhousie University for Members who belong to a designated group and who are providing higher than normal academic administrative service whose composite workload for the year is otherwise considered to be full time. In such cases Members shall be entitled to an overload

stipend; and/or

- (c) supports for teaching and/or research for Members who belong to a designated group and who are providing higher than normal academic administrative service whose composite workload for the year is otherwise considered to be full time.
- (d) If the Dean does not have sufficient funds to cover overload stipends under 20.09(b) or (c), the Provost will provide the funds. Requests made under 20.09(b) or (c) shall not be unreasonably denied.

Article 21: Off-Campus Teaching

- 21.01 While the Parties recognize that the majority of the work of Dalhousie University will take place within the campus of the University, including affiliated hospitals, laboratories and other related facilities, the University may schedule instruction in locations other than the regular campus.
- 21.02 Off-campus teaching may be assigned in accordance with existing arrangements within Departments or other teaching units made prior to the signing of this Collective Agreement. Any arrangements for assigning off-campus teaching responsibilities to Members made subsequent to the signing of this Collective Agreement shall be made within Departments or other teaching units and shall include provision for the agreement of the Member or Members affected. Members whose employment includes responsibility for off-campus teaching on a regular or continuing basis shall have such duties set out in their individual letters of appointment.
- 21.03 Any Member teaching in a location other than the regular campus and requiring transportation from the regular campus, shall be reimbursed the actual, reasonable costs of travel as well as other incidental costs arising directly from such travel, on a basis to be agreed in advance between the Member and the Dean or other appropriate administrative officer.
- 21.04 When a Member teaches in a location other than the regular campus, any additional commitments of time, such as for travel, shall result in a corresponding reduction of the Member's other duties or in a recognition of overload teaching as provided in Article 20.
- 21.05 The Parties recognize that the University may enter into agreements with other institutions providing for the sharing of facilities, Programmes, or students, including the admission of students from other institutions to scheduled instruction within Dalhousie University and the assignment of Members to provide instruction within the campus or facilities of another institution. Members may be assigned teaching responsibilities in another institution in accordance with existing arrangements within Departments or other teaching units made prior to the signing of this Collective Agreement. Any arrangements for assigning teaching responsibilities in another institution to Members made subsequent

to the signing of this Collective Agreement shall be made within Departments or other teaching units and shall include provision for the agreement of the Member or Members affected.

21.06 In the case of a Member teaching within another institution, Clauses 21.03 and 21.04 shall apply if travel or relocation is required.

Article 22: Extra Professional Activities

- 22.01 Members other than professional librarians who are invited, with the co-operation of the units involved, to do extra teaching in addition to their regular teaching in another unit of Dalhousie University (such as a Department, School, College, Institute, Centre) shall be paid extra for these extra duties insofar as they are in addition to the Member's regular duties and these extra duties shall not interfere with nor substitute for the Members' regular duties. Arrangements for such extra duties shall be developed by the respective Chairpersons, Heads or Directors, and the Member, and shall be subject to the approval of the Dean of the Faculty in which the extra teaching is to be done. A Member who teaches a credit course during a summer session shall be paid an overload stipend in accordance with Clause 31.70 except where such teaching forms part of their normal teaching workload pursuant to Clause 20.08.
- 22.02 Professional librarians who are invited to teach in a Department, School, College, Institute or Centre at Dalhousie University or are asked to perform on a regular basis duties in a Dalhousie library in addition to their regularly assigned duties, as dealt with in Article 11, shall be paid extra for these duties. Arrangements for such extra duties shall be developed by the appropriate Chief Librarian and the professional librarian, and shall be subject to the approval of the Dean of the Faculty in which the extra teaching is to be done or the Chief Librarian of the library in which the extra duties are to be undertaken.
- 22.03 (a) The nature of the professional competence of many Members affords opportunities for the exercise of that competence outside the Members' regular duties to Dalhousie University, on both remunerative and non-remunerative bases.

Recognizing that such professional activities can bring benefits to and enhance the reputation of Dalhousie University and the capacity of Members, the Board agrees that Members have the right to engage in part-time professional activities, paid or unpaid, providing such activities do not interfere with their regular obligations and duties to Dalhousie University. Members shall report all such activities when requested by the Dean or Vice-President and in a form requested by the Dean or Vice-President. Continuing Education Members agree not to engage in any professional activity, paid or unpaid, which competes or conflicts with the College of Continuing Education activities or with their duties and responsibilities at the College of Continuing Education. The College of Continuing Education may define such professional activity by Faculty regulation

- and copies of any such regulations will be made available to each Continuing Education Member.
- (b) Notwithstanding any other Article of this Collective Agreement, Members who are Directors of or who report to a Director of the Canadian Institute of Fisheries Technology, the Nova Scotia CAD/CAM Centre, the Centre for Water Resources Studies, the Minerals Engineering Centre, the Atlantic Industrial Research Institute, the Applied Microelectronics Institute, the Atlantic Institute of Biotechnology, the Biomedical Engineering Institute, or such other research centre or institute which may be approved by the Board from time to time, shall not engage in activities which conflict with their responsibilities to or the interests of the Centre/Institute. The Guidelines at Appendix V shall be used to determine whether or not a conflict exists. The Member shall be advised in writing whether a conflict exists or not. Determinations of conflict of interests shall be grievable.
- 22.04 Without limiting the generality of Clause 22.03 it is understood that the following are included in the reference to part-time professional activities: participation in professional associations, the Canadian Association of University Teachers and learned societies.
- 22.05 Any Member engaging in any substantial professional consulting practice or related employment outside Dalhousie University, shall discuss these activities in advance with the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian, Dean or Vice-President, as may be appropriate, to ensure that it is mutually agreed that these activities are compatible with the University responsibilities of the Member concerned.
- 22.06 Members shall reimburse the University for the cost of any University facilities, equipment, supplies, or services used in or for professional consulting, practice, or related employment outside Dalhousie University, unless such reimbursement is waived by the Dean. The cost of any such facilities, equipment, supplies or services shall not be greater than the most favourable Dalhousie commercial rate.
- 22.07 The name of the University and University letterhead shall not be used in extra professional activities unless agreed to in advance by the Member's Dean, University Librarian or Vice-President.

Article 23: Copyrights, Patents and Author's Rights

23.01 Except as dealt with in Clauses 23.05 and 23.06, the Board makes no claim to the copyrights in books, articles and similar material in the print or digital media written or prepared by any Member. The Board makes no claim to the copyright of any work of art, such as painting, sculpture, music or the like, created by any Member. The Board, therefore, undertakes to transfer to those Members who are the authors, and hereby transfers to those Members who are the authors, the copyrights of all material they have created in the print or digital media and in works of art.

- 23.02 The Board undertakes to transfer, and hereby transfers, to those Members who are the authors, any and all rights in regard to computer programs. The Board shall have free use of any program developed in the course of the administrative duties of Members, and of any program developed to process Dalhousie University data and records, and of any program developed for use in the degree Programmes of Dalhousie University. Such free use shall cease one year after the termination of the employment of the Member who holds the copyright. The Board may acquire continued use of such computer programs on payment of an appropriate fee.
- 23.03 (a) Members are sole copyright holders in their own lectures. The Board shall give every reasonable assistance to Members to prevent publication, recording or broadcasting of lectures not authorized by the Members concerned.
 - (b) Consistent with existing protections in the collective agreement, Members are sole copyright holders of their on-line lectures, teaching materials and examinations and shall retain the exclusive right to use, revise, rework and amend the copyrighted materials regardless of any support from the Board for production of the materials or of the manner of recording, storing, transmitting or broadcasting them.
- 23.04 The copyright of any recorded work, such as film, videotape, audio recording and the like, belongs to the Member who is the creator of its content.
- 23.05 (a) A Member whose workload includes editing a journal or magazine published by Dalhousie University shall not own any copyrights therein save and except for articles, reviews or literary pieces written by the Member.
 - (b) Continuing Education Members shall have the same rights under Article 23 as all Members except that Continuing Education Members shall not own any copyright in materials which are produced for use in the College of Continuing Education programs or produced under the terms of a contract or externally funded project arranged on behalf of the College of Continuing Education or the University or except as may otherwise be agreed in writing by the Board and the Member.
- 23.06 (a) Members agree to waive any claim for monetary compensation arising out of copyright claims in relation to teaching manuals produced internally within the University as part of their workload, provided that such manuals are sold only within the University at a price set to recover direct costs (i.e., paper, bindings, salaries of support staff, and duplicating costs, but not honoraria or similar payments) or less. If the Board sells at a price higher than direct costs or sells to the general public, then the Board shall pay to the Member(s) who holds the copyright in the teaching manual a ten percent (10%) royalty on all such sales.
 - (b) If the Member agrees in writing that their workload as specified in Article 20 shall

include the production, without any direct funding other than salary, of a recorded work, textbook, printed lectures, laboratory notes or other teaching materials, except for teaching manuals as provided in Clause 23.06(a), the Board may use such materials in its educational Programmes. This right shall cease five years after the termination of employment by the Member. However, the Board may arrange for continued use of the material upon payment of an appropriate royalty or fee.

- 23.07 The Board will do its utmost to make available to Members, without cost, production facilities and funds necessary to produce recorded works for use in Dalhousie University's educational Programmes. Priority for the amount of funds and the kinds of facilities shall be determined by the Senate.
- 23.08 Where a Member has copyright in a recorded work produced with the assistance of direct funding by the Board or with the use of Dalhousie University production facilities, free of charge or substantially less than the local commercial rates, the Member shall grant to the Board a license to use the recorded work in its educational Programmes, including the right to grant others permission to use the work for that same purpose in Dalhousie University. Such license shall cease one year after the termination of the employment of the Member who holds the copyright. The Board may acquire continued use of such work for the above purpose on payment of an appropriate fee.
- 23.09 The Member directly, or through the agency of the Association, shall establish a fee to be charged to third-parties wishing to use work recorded under the conditions given in Clause 23.08. If agreement on such a fee cannot be reached within thirty days of a request by the Member, an appropriate fee shall be set by the Committee on Patents and Copyrights, set up in accordance with Clause 23.13.
- 23.10 Any fees or royalties or other income received by the Board as a consequence of the exploitation of work recorded under the conditions given in Clause 23.08 shall be distributed fifty percent to the Member and fifty percent to the Board.
- 23.11 Members who believe their work recorded under the conditions given in Clause 23.08 is unsatisfactory for a proposed use due to dating or other good reason, shall have the right to require the said work to be amended on the same terms as the original production or to require its use to cease.
- 23.12 Where more than one copyright holder has an interest in a work recorded under the conditions given in Clause 23.08, each copyright holder shall exercise their rights with respect to their contribution, providing that contribution may be erased without destroying the value of other contributions to the same recording or series. Disagreements between the holders of shared copyrights in such recorded material shall be referred to the Committee on Patents and Copyrights set up in accordance with Clause 23.13.
- 23.13 The Board and the Association shall continue the Committee on Patents and Copyrights

- composed of two members appointed by the Board and two Members appointed by the Association. The chairperson of this committee shall be, at alternate meetings, one of its members appointed by the Board then one of the Members appointed by the Association.
- 23.14 The Committee on Patents and Copyrights shall meet within fifteen (15) days of a case having been referred to it. It shall consider copyright and patent cases referred to it by Members as well as those referred by the Board, including disputes over fees. The committee shall render a decision within two months of receipt of a request.
- 23.15 The Board makes no claim to any invention, improvement, design or development made by a Member without the use of the Board's funds or support or technical personnel. The payment of a regular salary to a Member and the provision of an academic environment in which to work shall not be construed as the use of the Board's funds or support or technical personnel in interpreting this Clause 23.15 or others in Article 23. Any claim that the Board may wish to make on any invention, improvement, design or development made by a Member shall be stated in writing at the time monies other than regular salary or support or technical personnel are provided.
- 23.16 Members have no obligation to seek patent protection for the results of their work or to modify their research to enhance patentability. Members also have the unqualified right to publish their inventions, improvements, designs and developments.
- 23.17 Members shall have the right to process applications for patents and the right to process such patents either on their own or through Nova Universities Technology Inc., or other similar agency with which the Board may have an agreement. The Board agrees not to modify, change, alter or abandon its agreement with Nova Universities Technology Inc., or other similar agency without consulting the Association through the Association-Board Committee.
- 23.18 Members who process applications for patents through the Board's agreement with Nova Universities Technology Inc., or other similar agency may be required to sign an agreement governing proceeds and other terms.
- 23.19 Where Members make their own arrangements to patent an invention which has involved the use of the Board's funds or support or technical personnel, such Members shall grant fifty percent of the net proceeds to the Board.
- 23.20 Disputes about patents may be referred to the Committee on Patents and Copyrights.

Article 24: Resignation and Retirement

24.01 Members shall give notice of their intention to resign as early as possible, and it should not be later than four months prior to the date on which the resignation is to take effect.

- 24.02 In the case of Members holding appointments as instructors or professional counsellors, notice of intention to resign shall be made in writing, addressed to the Dean. For Members holding other appointments, notice of intention to resign shall be made in writing, addressed to the President. In all cases, this notice shall be transmitted through the Member's Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian, or other appropriate administrative official.
- 24.03 Resignations shall take effect and employment with Dalhousie University shall terminate on 30 June of the year in question, unless otherwise agreed by the Member and the Board, or unless a Member intending to resign takes up full-time employment elsewhere prior to 30 June, in which case employment with Dalhousie shall terminate on the date the Member takes up such other employment.
- 24.04 All Members shall normally retire at the end of an academic year. Members shall give notice of their intention to retire as early as possible and it should not be later than four months prior to the date on which the retirement is to take effect. Those Members who were employees of the Technical University of Nova Scotia on 31 March 1997 and have continued as Members since that date and who were members of the Public Service Superannuation Plan on 31 March 1997 and who have continued as members of such Plan shall retire in accordance with said Plan. Those Members who were "Designated Employees" as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University-Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act who were members of the Public Service Superannuation Plan on September 1, 2012 shall retire in accordance with said Plan.
- 24.05 Members reaching retirement age may apply for reappointment either on a full-time or part-time basis, as specified in Clause 14.16(a)(iii), and Members holding post-retirement appointments may similarly apply for reappointment. Application shall be made by 31 October of the calendar year before the Member is due to retire, or the year before the Member's current appointment expires.
- 24.06 Members applying for post-retirement reappointment shall be informed of the decision of the President, Vice-Provost (Student Affairs), or Dean, as appropriate, by 31 December of the year of their application unless the Member is advised by the President, Vice-Provost (Student Affairs), or Dean, as appropriate, on or before 31 December that an extension is required in which case consideration shall be deferred to no later than 31 March of the academic year of their application. Failure to inform the Member by 31 December or 31 March, as appropriate, shall mean that the post-retirement reappointment applied for shall be made. Reappointments shall be made in accordance with Clause 14.11.
- 24.07 After retirement, former Members shall have access to Dalhousie University library and other facilities and services on the same basis as full-time Members, provided such access does not seriously disrupt the services provided to continuing Members and students in Programmes.

24.08 A Member may, with the consent of the Board, retire before the age of sixty-five years. In such cases of early retirement, the Member shall receive such pension or other benefits to which they are entitled in accordance with Article 32 of this Collective Agreement provided, however, that those Members who were employees of the Technical University of Nova Scotia on 31 March 1997 and have continued as Members since that date and who were members of the Public Service Superannuation Plan on 31 March 1997 and who have continued as members of such Plan shall retire in accordance with said Plan. Those Members who were "Designated Employees" as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University-Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act who were members of the Public Service Superannuation Plan on September 1, 2012 shall retire in accordance with said Plan.

Article 25: Changes in Programme Staffing for Academic Reasons

- 25.01 The Parties agree that teaching, research and professional library staff are essential to the University's goals, and that the Senate is responsible for determining the teaching, scholarly and research objectives of Dalhousie University within the financial limits approved by the Board. The Board agrees to maintain the integrity of Programmes approved by the Senate by providing a staff of Members sufficient to that purpose subject to the provisions of this Article 25, Article 26 or Article 27.
- 25.02 The Parties acknowledge that the Senate may decide for bona fide academic reasons that a Programme should be varied, reduced or eliminated. In implementing such decisions which affect the terms and conditions of employment of Members, the Board shall take due account of recommendations resulting from such representative planning processes as may be established by the Senate, the Faculties or the Departments or similar units of the University, provided these are fair, reasonable, and consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement. When a Senate decision to reduce or eliminate a Programme is based primarily on a loss of student clientele, the Board acknowledges that it will take action that affects the appointments of Members only if the loss is significant and has been continuous, and is expected to continue, over several years.
- 25.03 When a decision of the Senate calls for the reduction or elimination of a Programme, Members who work in that Programme will not be replaced when they leave Dalhousie University. In other circumstances, unless the provisions of Article 26 or Article 27 apply, a Department or other such unit which does not agree with a decision of non-replacement shall be given an opportunity to present its case to the Faculty Academic Planning Committee; if agreement cannot be secured as a result of the review by the Faculty Academic Planning Committee, a Department or other such unit may appeal to the Senate Academic Priorities and Budget Committee, which shall make a final decision on whether a replacement appointment is necessary to maintain the integrity of the Programme in question.
- 25.04 The Board will take any of the actions in Clause 25.05 to reduce staff in a Programme for

academic reasons, only if the Senate has decided that the Programme be reduced or eliminated, and only if the non-replacement of Members is likely to be insufficient. Before taking any action to give effect to such a Senate decision which might reasonably be expected to result in effects upon Members, the Board shall forward a report to the Association and to the Senate. The report shall cite the specific decision or decisions of the Senate calling for a reduction or elimination of positions, the steps to be taken in Clause 25.05, the number of Members to be affected, and alternative means, if possible, for dealing with the situation. The report shall provide the Board's reasons for the necessity of the proposed actions. The Board shall allow a reasonable period, not less than sixty days, for the Association and the Senate to respond to this report.

- 25.05 If the Senate decides that a Programme is to be reduced or eliminated and the Board agrees, the Board shall seek to reduce the number of positions held by Members in a Programme in a manner and to a degree consistent with the Senate's recommendations by action in three stages:
 - (a) Through the following arrangements in cooperation with Members and the Association-Board Committee:
 - (i) regular retirements and resignations;
 - (ii) voluntary transfers to other duties within Dalhousie University;
 - (iii) voluntary early retirement or voluntary reduction in workload and commensurate salary;
 - (iv) voluntary separation;
 - (v) voluntary retraining for other available positions within Dalhousie University for which the Member may, in the judgment of a concurrent majority of the Association-Board Committee, be reasonably qualified.
 - (b) If the arrangements set out in Clause 25.05(a) will not result in elimination of the number of positions required within a reasonable period of time, but not less than that recommended by the Senate, the Board, on the recommendation of the Association-Board Committee (such a recommendation shall not be unreasonably withheld), may proceed with the following steps in sequence as necessary to make the required number of reductions:
 - (i) non-renewal of initial probationary or initial probationary tenure-track appointments and of initial limited-term appointments under Clause 14.16(b);
 - (ii) non-renewal of renewed limited-term appointments under Clause 14.16(b);

- (iii) non-renewal of tenure-track appointments and of renewed probationary appointments;
- (iv) redeployment of Members with tenure or appointments without term or continuing appointments (on the recommendation of the Association- Board Committee) to other available positions for which they are qualified (or for which they can reasonably be retrained) and which they are willing to accept.

Under (a)(v) and (b)(iv) above the Board shall pay retraining costs where necessary, as judged by the Association-Board Committee. The Association-Board Committee will make all reasonable efforts to find alternative positions for Members affected by steps under Clause 25.05(b).

- (c) If Members holding continuing appointments are unwilling to be redeployed or if there is no possible job for which the Member could qualify with reasonable retraining, the Board may lay the Member off with at least the same notice, recall rights and any other rights and privileges provided to Members or laid-off former Members under Clause 27.28(b), but with an additional six months' severance pay.
- (d) If Members holding appointments with tenure or without term are unwilling to be redeployed or if there is no possible job for which the Member is qualified or could qualify with reasonable retraining, they will be offered the choice of:
 - (i) continuing with full facilities for the continuation of their research, scholarship, artistic and/or professional activities, and their duties related to academic administration within Dalhousie University and professional activities outside Dalhousie University, on a half-time basis or other fraction as may be agreed to by the Dean and the Member concerned (if no agreement is reached, the fraction shall be one-half or the fraction specified by the Dean, whichever is higher) with no loss in rank, tenure status (or appointment without term) and years of service accumulated to that date toward sabbatical leave, with salary at the same fraction as provided above, and with responsibilities assigned to such a Member in accordance with Article 20 set out in writing at the time any change takes place;
 - (ii) being laid off with at least the same notice, recall rights, and any other rights or privileges provided to Members or laid-off former Members under Article 27, but with an additional six months' severance pay.
- 25.06 Should any or all of the steps in Clause 25.05(b), (c) or (d) be required, the identification of Members who are subject to non-renewal of appointment or lay-off shall be made by representative committees in the Departments or similar units affected. Such decisions

shall be made according to appropriate criteria on fair and nondiscriminatory bases, consistent with the provisions of the Collective Agreement and with those characteristics of excellence considered relevant to granting appointments, reappointments, promotion, tenure, appointments without term, and continuing appointments. In the event committees fail to make recommendations within sixty days, the Dean or Vice-President, in consultation with the Association-Board Committee, shall determine the Members to be affected.

Article 26: Financial Constraint

- 26.01 Financial constraint is a situation in which the overall budget of Dalhousie University, including potentially the budget for bargaining unit salaries, is in a condition of severe restraint which cannot be met through routine budgetary measures. It is less serious than a financial exigency and can be resolved by less drastic solutions.
- 26.02 The Board shall not declare that a state of financial constraint exists until it has taken all routine budgetary measures given in Clause 26.02 to postpone, alleviate or avoid the state of financial constraint. It is understood that routine budgetary measures shall include:
 - (a) efforts to increase the revenue of Dalhousie University;
 - (b) efforts to reduce or eliminate expenditures on budgetary items not crucial to the teaching, professional, artistic, scholarly and research objectives as may be determined by Senate;
 - (c) non-replacement of Members who leave or have left the University, which shall be in accordance with the following procedures:
 - (i) Normally by 1 February, the President after consultation with Senate, shall determine the level of reduction in the overall complement of Members;
 - (ii) the President may designate the way in which this reduction is to be distributed among Faculties. Such reduction shall be subject to the agreement of the Senate Academic Priorities and Budget Committee and consistent with the priorities established by Senate's academic planning processes. If no such agreement has been reached within thirty days, the President may proceed to make the reductions in the way originally proposed;
 - (iii) each Dean may designate the way in which this reduction is to be distributed within the Faculty. Such reduction shall be subject to the agreement of the Faculty Academic Planning Committee and consistent with the priorities established by Faculty academic planning processes. If no such agreement has been reached within thirty days the President may

proceed with non-replacement in the way proposed by the Dean or in accordance with the proposal, if any, of the Faculty Academic Planning Committee. Departments or other such units with fewer than 5 Members shall not be subject to more than 1 non-replacement in any 3-year period unless the Faculty Academic Planning Committee so agrees.

- (iv) by 31 May, the Board shall provide a list to the Association of the names of Members who will not be replaced, subject to additions or deletions as a result of decisions made after that date.
- (d) non-renewal of some or all of those limited-term appointments defined in Clause 11.03, Clause 12.11, Clause 13.02 or Clause 14.16(a) of this Collective Agreement;
- (e) those measures in Clause 26.04.
- 26.03 Insofar as routine budgetary measures may require action under Clause 26.02(c) or (d), the Board shall advise the Association in advance, citing this Clause 26.03, of the measures it proposes to take under Clause 26.02(c)(i) or (d), and shall keep the Association advised of the overall condition of the operating budget of the University.
- 26.04 Steps to postpone, alleviate or avoid the state of financial constraint may include encouragement of Members to accept: voluntary leave, voluntary early retirement, voluntary reductions in responsibilities and corresponding salary or voluntary separation, provided that prior to any such agreement between a Member and the Board:
 - (a) there shall be notice to the Association, and
 - (b) there shall be consultation with the Department, and
 - (c) that such agreement is consistent with the academic needs of the Programme and the financial interests of the University, and
 - (d) the Board shall inform the Association in writing of the details of the arrangements referred to above.
- 26.05 In implementing any routine budgetary measures, the Board shall take due account of recommendations resulting from such planning processes as may be established by Senate, Faculties, or Departments or similar units.
- 26.06 Before the Board takes any of the actions provided in Clause 26.08, it shall advise the Senate and the Association, through a report from the President, that it intends to declare a situation of financial constraint. This report shall cite this Clause 26.06, and shall provide relevant detailed information on the Board's efforts and plans to increase revenue, the methods employed, and the actual and projected increase in revenue. The report shall also provide detailed information on the reduction or elimination of expenditures on budgetary items referred to in Clause 26.02(b) and the actual or projected savings resulting therefrom. This report shall demonstrate why the actions in Clause

26.02 are inadequate to avoid this situation of financial constraint.

The report shall also state those steps provided in Clause 26.08 the Board proposes to take, the maximum amount of reduction in the bargaining unit salary budget and the maximum reduction in the number of Members which is proposed, and the reasons to justify this amount and the need for such steps.

- 26.07 The Board shall allow the Association and the Senate a reasonable period, not less than thirty days, to make proposals on ways in which the financial situation might be ameliorated, including how any reductions in expenditures might be accomplished with the least damage to the University. The Senate may, if it wishes, specify the academic priorities within which the situation of financial constraint is to be resolved.
- 26.08 Following the procedures in Clauses 26.06 and 26.07 the Board may declare that a situation of financial constraint exists and that some or all probationary, probationary tenure-track, and those limited-term appointments defined in Clause 14.16(b) shall not be renewed.
- 26.09 Subject to Clause 26.13, the percentage reduction in the bargaining unit salary budget shall not exceed the percentage reduction in the overall salary budget for teaching, research and professional library staff, excluding restricted external funds for salary support.
- 26.10 The steps in Clause 26.08 above shall not be taken to affect the bargaining unit unless the actions possible in accordance with Clause 26.02, are inadequate and any proposals from the Association for relieving the financial situation are judged by the Board to be inadequate to avoid, eliminate or sufficiently alleviate financial constraint, and reasons for this judgment have been given.
- 26.11 The identification of those whose appointments will not be renewed, as provided for in Clause 26.08, shall be made by representative committees in the Departments or similar units affected. Such decisions shall be made according to appropriate criteria on fair and non-discriminatory bases consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement and with those characteristics of excellence considered relevant to granting appointments, reappointments, promotion, tenure, continuing appointments and appointments without term. In the absence of a recommendation from the Department or similar unit concerned within twenty days, the Dean or Vice-President shall consult with the Association-Board Committee and shall undertake within twenty days the identification of those whose appointments will not be renewed.
- 26.12 For purposes of this Article, the situation of financial constraint shall continue for a period of one year from the date of the Board's declaration unless repealed sooner by the Board in light of a sufficiently improved financial situation. If the situation of financial constraint is to be continued the Board must make a new declaration under Clause 26.08 following the procedures in Clauses 26.06 and 26.07.

26.13 Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article 26, the Senate may determine that some of the positions affected by financial constraint are redundant under the terms of Article 25 of this Collective Agreement.

Article 27: Financial Exigency

- 27.01 A financial exigency exists if, and to the extent that, far-reaching reductions are required in University expenditures, which may include expenditures on Members' salaries, in order to avoid the financial collapse of the University.
- 27.02 Bearing in mind that the primary aims of the University are teaching, scholarship and research, and except as may be provided for in Article 26, the Board undertakes that lay-off or termination of employment of Members for financial reasons will occur only in the event of, and only to the extent required by, a bona fide case of financial exigency. The necessity must arise from the total budget of Dalhousie University, not just the teaching, research, library or salary budget.
- 27.03 Before the Board takes any action for reasons of financial exigency it shall advise the Association, through a report from the President, of its judgment that such a situation obtains. The President's report shall include the information which convinced the Board of the need for such a decision and the Board's statement of the magnitude of the exigency, its proposal for solving the exigency and a statement of the maximum reduction necessary in bargaining-unit salaries. The Association shall have a reasonable opportunity, and not less than twenty-eight days, to respond through the Association-Board Committee to the President's report.
- 27.04 Following the report by the President referred to in Clause 27.03 and until the decision is made by the Board whether a declaration of financial exigency is to be made, and this decision has been implemented in accordance with Clause 27.17, the President shall not recommend any appointments to vacant or new positions on the teaching, research, library or administrative staff of Dalhousie University.
- 27.05 If requested by either the Association or the Senate, the Board shall establish an Independent Financial Advisory Committee, composed of one member nominated by the Board, one member nominated by the Association and a chairperson chosen by those two members. Failing agreement to select a chairperson within ten days, S. Bruce Outhouse or someone chosen by him shall serve as chairperson.
- 27.06 The Board shall provide to the Independent Financial Advisory Committee all relevant information, financial and otherwise, pertaining to Dalhousie University requested by the chairperson of the committee. Delay in providing information shall lead to an equivalent extension in the committee's time to consider before reporting. Refusal by the Board to produce the information requested by the committee shall be, in and of itself, grounds upon which the committee may declare that there is no state of financial exigency and

- that no lay-offs or termination of the employment of Members for financial or budgetary reasons shall occur.
- 27.07 The Independent Financial Advisory Committee shall seek to reach a judgement in which all three members concur. Failing a majority judgment on any issue to be reported, the judgment of the chairperson shall be the judgment of the committee, but the members may report their divergent opinions. Any report of the committee shall be a public document.
- 27.08 The committee shall report to the Board and the Association within ninety days of the selection of its chairperson, unless a longer period is agreed upon by the Parties or unless there has been a delay as in Clause 27.06.
- 27.09 The committee may recommend specific measures to be adopted or steps to be taken to ameliorate or eliminate the exigency, including:
 - (a) reasonable reductions in all areas of Dalhousie University's expenditures other than salary expenditures for Members;
 - (b) appropriate means of increasing revenue;
 - (c) taking all possible advantage of endowment funds and other investments;
 - (d) disposing at reasonable prices of Dalhousie University property not essential to the teaching, scholarship and research objectives of the University;
 - (e) reductions in administrative staff that are not likely to interfere seriously with the aforementioned objectives of the University;
 - (f) reductions of salary commitments through attrition, including regular retirements without replacement, including also the anticipated expiry of non-renewable limited-term appointments;
 - (g) reduction of salary commitments through non-renewal of probationary, probationary tenure-track and limited-term appointments.

The committee shall recommend step (f) only if it judges that steps (a) to (e) are inadequate to ameliorate sufficiently or eliminate the exigency and it shall recommend step (g) only if it judges steps (a) to (f) inadequate to the same purpose.

27.10 If the committee judges that the measures and steps it recommends in accordance with Clause 27.09 are adequate to ameliorate sufficiently or eliminate the exigency, it shall so declare in its report and it shall recommend against the lay-off and termination of the employment of Members.

- 27.11 Only if the savings to be achieved through the measures and steps it recommends in Clause 27.09 are inadequate to ameliorate sufficiently or eliminate the exigency shall the committee recommend that the lay-off or termination of the employment of Members be carried out.
- 27.12 Using generally accepted accounting procedures the committee shall assess the validity of the Board's declaration of financial exigency and shall state the magnitude of the exigency, its proposals for meeting the exigency and shall state the maximum amount of reduction of bargaining-unit salaries it believes justified.
- 27.13 Upon receipt of the report from the committee, or after ninety days or longer period (as agreed by the Parties in accordance with Clause 27.08 or due to delay in accordance with Clause 27.06), the Board may, through the President, declare that a bona fide state of financial exigency obtains within Dalhousie University.
- 27.14 After receipt of the committee's report, in accordance with Clause 27.13, the Board shall inform the Association through the Association-Board Committee if it intends to declare a state of financial exigency which will require a reduction of the bargaining-unit salary budget and give the Association not less than thirty days to respond.
- 27.15 The Board may, after declaring that a bona fide state of financial exigency obtains within Dalhousie University, declare the amount of bargaining-unit salary reduction that must be achieved through lay-off or termination of employment of Members. If the Independent Financial Advisory Committee unanimously recommends a maximum reduction of bargaining-unit salaries in Clause 27.12, then this amount shall not be exceeded by the Board. In the absence of a unanimous recommendation, the Board shall act to exceed the maximum amount of reduction of bargaining-unit salaries, declared by the Independent Financial Advisory Committee in accordance with Clause 27.12, only if it can make a bona fide case that its own declared amount, made in accordance with this Clause 27.15, rather than the committee's declared figure aforesaid is necessary to avoid the financial collapse of the University and that the exigency cannot be sufficiently ameliorated in other ways.
- 27.16 The maximum amount of bargaining-unit salary reduction which is finally settled upon in accordance with Clause 27.15 shall not be increased unless and until a new declaration of financial exigency is made and the procedures of this Article 27 are followed.
- 27.17 In the event that the Board declares the need for a reduction in the bargaining-unit salary budget, as in Clause 27.15, a Supervisory Committee shall be formed to supervise the state of financial exigency as it applies to Members. The committee shall consist of two Members appointed by the Association, two Members appointed by the Board and a chairperson chosen by the committee from the academic staff of another university. Failing agreement to select a chairperson within ten days, Dr. Kenneth Ozmon or someone chosen by him shall serve as chairperson.

- 27.18 Within ninety days, the Senate shall specify the priorities for establishing which teaching, research or library units shall be subject to reduction.
- 27.19 Working within the priorities as may have been specified by the Senate, the Supervisory Committee shall first determine the number and distribution of people to be laid-off and then, subsequent to the procedures described in Clause 27.20, the individual Members. The Supervisory Committee's procedures shall include reasonable provisions for Members to argue their cases, both individually and on behalf of their teaching, research and library units. The Supervisory Committee shall take it as a rule of procedure that no Faculty, School, College, Institute, Centre, Library, or Department within a Faculty shall have its bargaining-unit salary budget reduced for reasons of financial exigency by a percentage that is more than 1.25 times the percentage reduction in the overall bargaining-unit salary budget. Should the committee decide that it must reduce a particular unit by more than the 1.25 percent guideline, it will first refer the matter to the Senate for approval. Failure by the Senate to make a judgment within a time specified by the committee (which in any case shall not be less than two weeks) will give the committee power to proceed as it sees fit. The Supervisory Committee will complete its activities within five months from the declaration of priorities by the Senate as provided in Clause 27.18.
- 27.20 The identification of individual Members to be laid off shall be made by the Supervisory Committee in consultation with the appropriate Dean or Vice-President and with committees in each Department or other such unit potentially affected. These consultative committees shall consist of Members elected by the unit and one Member appointed by the Association from outside the affected unit. Such decisions shall be made according to appropriate criteria on fair and nondiscriminatory bases consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement and with those characteristics of excellence considered relevant to granting appointments, promotion, tenure and appointment without term. Those characteristics are given in the Report on Tenure (approved by the Senate and the Board in 1971) and, in the case of professional librarians, in Article 11 of this Collective Agreement. Length of service shall not be considered as a criterion for identifying individuals to be laid-off unless all the other criteria have been exhausted. Recommendations and the bases for the recommendations shall be made, in writing, by the Supervisory Committee, following full consultation with all Members of the affected academic unit. Members recommended for lay-off shall have the right to examine the above-mentioned written recommendations.
- 27.21 The President shall write to each person designated for lay-off, indicating the intention to recommend to the Board that the person be laid off and stating that the lay-off is for reason of financial exigency only. The President's letter shall be delivered to the person by registered mail.
- 27.22 Such notice shall be provided as soon as possible prior to the date of lay-off. For Members with tenure, appointment without term, or continuing appointments notice shall be at least fifteen months, and for Members holding tenure-track appointments,

- probationary tenure-track appointments, or probationary appointments notice shall be at least nine months. For the purpose of this Article 27 the procedures for lay-off shall not apply to those holding limited-term appointments.
- 27.23 Prior to implementing any lay-off, the Board shall make every reasonable effort to secure a position elsewhere in Dalhousie University for the person concerned. Individuals who accept such alternate employment which is on the teaching, research or professional library staff shall continue all their employment rights, including years of service towards sabbatical leave, salary and pension credit. Individuals who accept alternative employment at Dalhousie University which is not on the teaching, research or professional library staff shall continue those employment rights which are appropriate to their new positions and shall retain those pre-existing employment rights which are not so appropriate, for use if they return to the teaching, research or professional library staff. Individuals who accept alternate employment at Dalhousie University shall have the same rights, in Clauses 27.24 to 27.26, as those laid off and shall be given reasonable opportunity to retrain for their new duties. The Board shall pay tuition where necessary, as judged by the Association-Board Committee.
- 27.24 There shall be no hiring of new teaching, research or professional library staff to positions in the University until all laid-off former Members, who apply and are qualified for the positions that become available, have been offered them. Laid-off former Members shall have the right of first refusal for their original position and for all other vacancies on the teaching, research and professional library staff of Dalhousie University, for which they are qualified, for a period of six years from the date of their lay-off or earlier period as given in Clause 27.29. Although preference shall not be given to laid-off former Members over other persons who have been laid off from other bargaining units or the administrative staff in Dalhousie University for recall to their original unit, preference shall be given to laid-off former Members over other people for such positions. The qualifications of laid-off former Members shall be judged by the appropriate Department or similar unit and the Dean or Vice-President concerned and, where more than one laid-off former Member is being considered, the Department or similar unit shall choose among them. Individuals receiving offers of employment under this provision shall have up to one month to accept such offers and a reasonable period, not less than six months, to terminate alternative employment and take up the position. The Board shall notify all laid-off former Members by regular mail, at their last-known address, of all available positions at Dalhousie University and also give timely notice of them to the Association.
- 27.25 Recalled persons returning to teaching, research or professional library positions shall be entitled to seniority and tenure (or appointment without term in the case of professional librarians) as at the time of lay-off and years of service prior to lay-off shall be counted towards sabbatical leave privileges. Salary shall be the salary at the time of lay-off, increased by any applicable across-the-board or standard increments, not including increments for career development awarded during the period of lay-off unless the person's activities during lay-off warrant some payment for career development.

- 27.26 Any person recalled to a position different from that at lay-off shall continue to have the right of first refusal for a vacancy in their original position for a period of six years from the time of initial lay-off.
- 27.27 For a period of six years, laid-off former Members shall enjoy full access to University facilities, including library and computing services, under the same conditions as Members. Office and laboratory space shall be provided when the Board judges this would involve no significant cost and the Department or similar unit judges that such access would not inhibit seriously its teaching Programme. Those laid-off former Members who are not in full-time employment, their spouses and dependents shall be eligible for tuition waivers as provided for through this Collective Agreement, for a period of six years from the date of lay-off.
- 27.28 A person who has been laid off for reasons of financial exigency shall be entitled to:
 - (a) notice or one month's salary and benefits for each month's notice as specified in Clause 27.22; and either
 - (b) in the case of an instructor or professional counsellor Member employed in excess of three (3) years, one (1) month's salary for each full year of service, but a minimum of nine (9) months' salary and a maximum of twelve (12) months' salary shall be paid to those who have continuing appointments and a maximum of nine (9) months' salary shall be paid to those who have probationary appointments; or
 - (c) in the case of other Members, one month's salary and benefits for each year of service at Dalhousie University, but a minimum of twelve months' salary and a maximum of fifteen months' salary shall be paid to those who have appointments with tenure and those who have appointments without term, and a minimum of six months' salary and a maximum of nine months' salary shall be paid to all other persons laid-off.

The salary referred to in (a) is that current at the time notice is given and the salary in (b) and (c) is that current at the date of lay-off, or at the time notice is given if salary in lieu of notice is taken under (a).

27.29 Recall rights of a person laid off shall terminate six years from the date of lay-off, or the date due for retirement, or when the person indicates in writing to the Board that **they** no longer wish to be considered for recall, or at the date of expiry of the appointment from which the person was laid off, whichever of these occurs soonest.

Article 28: Disciplinary Actions, Suspension and Dismissal

28.01 (a) Any disciplinary action, including a letter of reprimand or warning, shall be taken only for just and proper cause. Causes for disciplinary action include: gross

misconduct; misrepresentation of credentials; persistent neglect of duty to students or to the University; failure to maintain an acceptable standard of competence and performance in duties appropriate to the appointment; malicious damage to University property. Causes for suspension include an immediate threat to the functioning of the University. Illness, including drug addiction, alcoholism and psychological disorders, are not causes for disciplinary action and shall be considered in accordance with the provisions of Clauses 30.05 to 30.07.

(b) Where disciplinary action, including suspension or dismissal, has been recommended pursuant to the procedures set out in the Sexual Harassment Policy approved by the Board on 16 March 1999, and the Statement on Prohibited Discrimination issued by the President on January 2001, the Member and the Association shall be given a copy of all relevant materials, including the decision(s) referred to in Clause 28.10, prior to the initiation of the procedures contained in this Article 28.

<u>Procedure for Those Holding Appointments as Instructor (Except U.T.F) or Professional</u> Counsellor Members.

28.02 The step procedure for disciplinary action shall be:

(a) <u>Verbal warning</u>. A Member shall be warned at a meeting of the Dean, the Chairperson and the Member in question. The Board may indicate what disciplinary remedy the Board intends to take. If agreement is reached as to the disposition of the matter, it shall be reduced to writing, countersigned by the Dean and the Member, and forwarded to the Association within five (5) days.

or

- (b) Written warning. If the procedure of Clause 28.02(a) is not successful in resolving the problem, within thirty (30) days (unless the Board has initiated proceedings at this step) a written warning may be given by the Dean to the Member. A written warning shall include details of the cause of discipline and any proposed remedy, and a copy of the warning and proposed remedy shall be sent to the Association within five (5) days. If agreement is reached as to the disposition of the matter, it shall be reduced to writing, countersigned by the Dean and the Member, and forwarded to the Association within five (5) days.
- (c) Suspension. If the matter is not resolved by the procedures of Clause 28.02(b), the Vice-President shall meet with the Member and the Chairperson. The Vice-President shall state the alleged violation(s) included in the written warning that remains unresolved, which may include the Member's failure to take remedial actions specified therein. No matter may be brought forth as reason for disciplinary action unless it has been previously stated in the written warning as provided in Clause 28.02(b). The Vice-President may then inform the Member of the Board's

- intention to suspend and the duration of the suspension. The suspension may not commence earlier than thirty (30) days from the date of the meeting.
- (ii) If a grievance is not filed within thirty (30) days of the meeting, the suspension is deemed accepted and shall be without pay for a period of up to three (3) weeks.
- (iii) If a grievance is filed, the Board may suspend the Member from some or all duties at Dalhousie University and the suspension shall be with pay. A letter to the Vice-President from the Member and/or the Association that denies the alleged violation(s) of this Collective Agreement and/or contests the remedy sought by the Board as inappropriate or unjust shall be deemed notification of filing a grievance pursuant to Clauses 29.05(a) and 29.07.
- (d) <u>Dismissal</u>. If the procedures of Clause 28.02(c) have been carried out but the matter that was the subject of the provisions herein continues when the Member returns, within sixty (60) days of the Member's return to their duties and responsibilities at Dalhousie University, the Vice-President may give written notice to the Member of the Board's intention to dismiss, and a copy shall be forwarded to the Association. This written notice shall contain a complete statement of the grounds for dismissal, but no matter may be stated as grounds for dismissal unless it was included in the written warning pursuant to Clause 28.02(c). Within twenty (20) days of such notice having been given, the Member shall inform the Vice-President in writing of a decision either to accept dismissal or to oppose the dismissal through the grievance procedure in Article 29. Failure to inform the Vice-President within twenty (20) days shall be deemed to represent acceptance of dismissal.
- 28.03 Notwithstanding the procedures provided in Clause 28.02, the Vice-President may suspend a Member by written notice for stated cause involving extraordinary circumstances. Such circumstances include an immediate physical threat by the Member to any individual in Dalhousie University, or an immediate and serious threat to the functioning of Dalhousie University or the property of Dalhousie University. The suspensions may be from some or all duties at Dalhousie University and shall be with pay; however, some privileges may be withdrawn. Within twenty (20) days of the date of suspension, the Board shall notify the Member by registered mail, of what further action it intends to take, if any, with a copy to the Association. If no notice is received in the aforementioned twenty (20) day period, the suspension is deemed to terminate.
- 28.04 When disciplinary proceedings are dismissed, withdrawn or resolved without disciplinary action or remedy, no records of disciplinary proceedings that identify the Member concerned shall be kept. When a disciplinary action or remedy is upheld or agreed to, unless further disciplinary penalties are assessed within the period of eighteen (18)

- months following imposition of discipline, the record of such action, including but not limited to letters of reprimand and warnings, and anonymous complaints shall be removed from the Member's Principal Personal File (pursuant to Article 18).
- 28.05 The Vice-President, upon recommendation of the Dean, may suspend a Member for reasons of health if there is reason to believe that the Member's health is seriously interfering with their ability to carry out duties and responsibilities and if the Member refuses to accept reasonable arrangements for leave or variation of duties and responsibilities that may be proposed by the Dean. Suspension of this sort shall not lead to disciplinary proceedings; however, the Member may initiate grievance proceedings to question the Vice-President's decision of suspension. Suspension invoked in these circumstances will terminate when the Member presents medical evidence, including a certificate from an examining doctor named by the Member and acceptable to the Association-Board Committee, indicating that the Member is fit to resume duties and responsibilities. The Dean may vary such duties in light of the medical report and in consultation with the Member's Department.
- 28.06 Notwithstanding Clause 28.02, disciplinary action may be commenced at the succeeding step of Clause 28.02 if a Member has, within the preceding eighteen (18) months, been assessed a disciplinary penalty in accordance with this Article 28; for the purpose of this Clause 28.06, Clause 28.02(b) shall be the succeeding step to Clause 28.02(a). In such a circumstance, the Board may initiate the disciplinary action at the next step succeeding that where the last disciplinary action was terminated. The Member shall be advised in writing of all incidents and other alleged violations upon which the Board is relying in taking disciplinary action. Matters either not contained in the Board's aforementioned written statement or unrelated to the incidents and/or alleged violations referred to shall not be introduced in any step of the grievance procedure.
- 28.07 The onus shall be on the Board to establish just cause for any disciplinary action.
- 28.08 The Association shall have the right to be present at all steps, and, if so requested by the Member, to represent the Member at all steps. It is understood that the Member shall also be present at all steps.

<u>Procedure for Members Holding Appointments as University Teaching Fellow, Professional Librarian or Professor.</u>

28.09 When the Dean of the Faculty in which a Member holds an appointment, or a Vice-President if there is no appropriate Faculty, has reason to consider disciplinary action, they shall invite the Member concerned and any person the Member may wish to accompany him or her to meet and discuss the matter. The Dean or Vice-President concerned shall also invite the President of the Association or their designate to attend that meeting as an observer. If the matter is resolved to the satisfaction of the Dean or Vice-President and the Member, then, with the concurrence of the President of the Association, the formal procedures of this Article 28 need not be invoked.

28.10 If the matter is not resolved in accordance with Clause 28.09, then formal disciplinary procedures may be initiated and the responsibility for laying a complaint shall rest with the Dean of the Member's Faculty or Vice-President if there is no appropriate Faculty. The Dean or Vice-President laying the complaint shall advise the Member in writing of the complaint and that the matter is being referred to a Dalhousie University Hearing Committee. This letter to the Member shall give detailed particulars of the complaint, including references to times and places where appropriate, names of witnesses to be called and any sanction being sought.

The complaint shall be formally laid as soon as possible, but in no case later than three months after the alleged incident has come to the attention of the Dean or Vice-President. A copy of the letter to the Member shall be sent at the same time to the President of the Association.

Where the recommendation for disciplinary action arises from an investigation established pursuant to the procedures as set out in the Sexual Harassment Policy, the decision under section 40 of that Policy, which shall be conveyed in writing, shall be deemed the alleged incident referred to in this Clause 28.10 for purposes of establishing time limits. Where the recommendation for disciplinary action arises from an investigation established pursuant to the procedures as set out in the Statement on Prohibited Discrimination, the decision under paragraph 18 of that Statement, which shall be conveyed in writing, shall be deemed the alleged incident referred to in this Clause 28.10 for purposes of establishing time limits.

- 28.11 There shall be a Dalhousie University Hearing Committee composed of two members named by the Association, two members named by the President acting on behalf of the Board, and two Members elected by the Senate. Each of the members named shall serve for two years. Members' terms shall automatically extend to the conclusion of any case in which they have been concerned prior to the date fixed for their ordinary retirement, if the case continues beyond that time. The committee shall name its own chairperson and vice-chairperson and the chairperson or vice-chairperson shall designate any three members including themself to serve as a Hearing Committee to consider any allegation of cause for disciplinary action from a Dean or Vice-President. The three members designated must include one from each of the three nominating parties.
- 28.12 Within seven days of the charge being laid the chairperson of the committee shall contact the Member and arrange for an initial meeting at a time convenient to the Member. That initial meeting shall take place as soon as possible but not later than one month from the date the charge was laid.
- 28.13 The Dalhousie University Hearing Committee shall conduct its proceedings in accordance with the rules of natural justice. It shall conduct hearings in camera unless the Member, the Dean or Vice-President concerned and the committee agree that hearings shall be open. The committee shall permit the Member and the Dean or Vice-President concerned to be assisted by a representative and shall permit the Association to be

represented by an observer designated by the President of the Association. The committee shall keep a taped record of any hearings if requested by the Member, the Dean or Vice-President concerned, or the Association. This taped record shall be made available to any grievance and arbitration proceeding that may arise. The committee shall determine whether just and proper cause for disciplinary action does or does not exist. It shall make a recommendation whether disciplinary action or some other action such as voluntary leave is justified. It shall consider the charges and the evidence adduced to support the charges. It shall provide full opportunity for the Member concerned to adduce evidence, to cross-question and to present argument, including argument in rebuttal. The committee may seek and consider additional evidence that bears upon the charges. A Member's having used the grievance and arbitration procedures shall not be used as evidence against that Member.

- 28.14 The charges may be withdrawn by the Dean or Vice-President concerned and the hearing by the committee may be terminated at any time if a settlement satisfactory to the Member and the Dean or Vice-President concerned is reached. In any event, the committee shall report on its proceedings, giving written reasons for its decision and shall state its findings of fact relevant to the particulars of the charge in question and to any recommended disciplinary action. As soon as possible this report shall be presented to the President of the University and at the same time a copy of the report shall be sent to the Member, to the Dean or Vice-President concerned and to the President of the Association.
- 28.15 The President, upon reviewing any report of a Dalhousie University Hearing Committee which records the findings of fact and makes recommendations concerning disciplinary action, shall invite the Member concerned and any person the Member may wish to accompany him or her, the Dean or Vice-President concerned, and the President of the Association or their designate to meet to discuss the report of the Dalhousie University Hearing Committee. The Member concerned shall be given the opportunity to make an oral or written statement or representations within a reasonable period. The President may then decide to take no action or to invoke disciplinary action which shall not exceed in severity that recommended by the Dalhousie University Hearing Committee, and the President shall advise the Member concerned in writing of their decision as soon as possible, but in no case later than thirty days after the meeting with the Member as provided in this Clause 28.15 or alternatively within thirty days of receipt of representations, if any, from the Member following the meeting with the President. A copy of the letter to the Member from the President shall be sent to the Dean or Vice-President concerned and to the President of the Association.
- 28.16 When disciplinary proceedings are dismissed, withdrawn or resolved without disciplinary action, no records of disciplinary proceedings that identify the Member concerned shall be kept. Where there is a settlement of the matter (as specified in Clause 28.09) resulting in the Member's agreeing to accept disciplinary action, or where there is a report of a Dalhousie University Hearing Committee recommending disciplinary action and the disciplinary action is taken by the President, records of the proceedings may be

maintained in a special file for the purpose. Letters of reprimand or warning shall be removed from the Member's Principal Personal File when no further penalties have been imposed on the Member for eighteen months from the date of the reprimand or warning. Any Committee of Hearing may rule that any extant letters of warning or reprimand, whether in the Member's Principal Personal File, or in a special file, are admissible to their considerations at the time of deciding on the sanction to be imposed on a Member found guilty of a charge.

28.17 If an accused Member cannot be found at any stage of the proceedings carried out pursuant to this Article 28, written statements shall be sent to the Member's last-known home address by registered mail. The President of the Association shall be sent a copy of these written statements at the same time and the President of the Association may appoint someone to represent the Member during their absence. The President of the Association shall also have the right to refer decisions made in accordance with this Article 28 to the grievance and arbitration procedures in Article 29, whether the accused Member has been found or not.

Suspension.

- 28.18 The President may suspend a Member by written notice for stated cause involving extraordinary circumstances. Such circumstances include an immediate physical threat by that Member to any individual in Dalhousie University or to the property of Dalhousie University, or an immediate and serious threat to the functioning of the University. The suspension may be from some or all duties in Dalhousie University and may withdraw some privileges except salary and benefits.
- 28.19 When the President has acted to suspend a Member, the President shall invite the Member concerned, any person the Member may wish to accompany him or her, the Dean or Vice-President concerned, and the President of the Association or their designate to meet and discuss the matter. If the matter is resolved to the satisfaction of the President and the Member, then with the concurrence of the President of the Association the matter shall be considered settled as agreed by the President and the Member.
- 28.20 If the matter is not resolved in accordance with Clause 28.19, the President shall advise in writing the Member and the President of the Association whether disciplinary proceedings are to be initiated. If they are not to be initiated by the President and the Member wishes to question the President's decision on suspension, the Member may initiate grievance proceedings. In any grievance proceedings the onus shall be on the President to establish cause for suspension.
- 28.21 In addition to the provisions of Clauses 28.18 to 28.20, the President may suspend a Member for reasons of health if there is good reason to believe that the Member's health is seriously interfering with their ability to carry out duties and responsibilities and if the Member refuses to accept reasonable arrangements for leave or variation in duties and responsibilities that may be proposed by the President. Suspension of this sort shall not

lead to disciplinary proceedings. The Member may initiate grievance proceedings to question the President's decision of suspension. Suspension invoked in these circumstances will terminate when the Member presents medical evidence, including a certificate from an examining doctor named by the Member and acceptable to the Association-Board Committee, indicating that the Member is fit to resume duties and responsibilities. The Chief Librarian, Dean or Vice-President concerned may vary such duties in the light of the medical report and in consultation with the Department or other similar unit.

Dismissal.

- 28.22 A Member holding an appointment with tenure, continuing or without term, or for a term not yet expired, may be dismissed for cause, including causes set out in Clause 28.01.
- 28.23 Dismissal for cause shall not be initiated unless such action is consistent with the recommendations of a University Hearing Committee, which has considered the matter and reported, in accordance with Clauses 28.14 and 28.15.
- 28.24 After receipt of the report of the University Hearing Committee in accordance with Clause 28.14, the President and the Member's Dean, Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian shall meet with the Member affected in the presence of a colleague in the University whom the Member may have selected as adviser and the President of the Association or their designate, shall explain the cause for the dismissal, shall review the matter and the President shall indicate whether a recommendation for termination of the Member's appointment will be made to the Board of Governors.
- 28.25 If the Member does not accept termination of their employment as proposed and discussed in the meeting with the President, and if the President determines that termination remains justified, the President shall within twenty-one days of the meeting serve written notice of intention to initiate procedures to dismiss the Member concerned. The notice shall include the reasons for the decision in sufficient detail to enable the Member to prepare their response.
- 28.26 Within thirty days of such notice having been given, the Member shall inform the President in writing of their decision either to accept termination or to oppose the proposed termination. Failure to inform the President within thirty days shall be deemed to represent acceptance of termination.

Article 29: Grievance and Arbitration

29.01 (a) The Parties agree to use every reasonable effort to encourage informal, amicable, and prompt settlement of grievances arising from the administration of this Collective Agreement.

- (b) The Parties recognize that harmonious relations within a Department or similar unit enhance and promote good academic administration and self-governance within the University. Consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement, including those respecting fairness and natural justice as well as the rights of the Board pursuant to Article 28, the Parties recognize that where there are procedures, duly adopted by the Department and which are reasonable and known and approved by the Faculty, for resolving disagreements between Members, such procedures shall be applied to resolve such disagreements, subject to the rights of Members to seek further redress through the Dean or the Association and subject, in the alternative, to the right of any Member to seek redress under the terms of this Collective Agreement or other established procedures of the University.
- 29.02 In this Article 29, references to the President and the President of the Association may, in each case, include persons designated to act on behalf of the President or the President of the Association, and such designation shall be in writing.
- 29.03 Grievances and arbitration shall be limited by this Article 29 and any limitations contained in any other article of this Collective Agreement.
- 29.04 The Parties agree that the following matters cannot give rise to any dispute or difference, and therefore no grievance or arbitration shall arise from them:
 - (a) Article 1;
 - (b) Article 2;
 - (c) Article 5;
 - (d) Article 15, the decision of a University Tenure Committee insofar as the decision of a University Tenure Committee is accepted by the Board;
 - (e) Article 16, the decision of the University Promotion Appeal Committee insofar as that decision has been reached in a way that is consistent with the procedures in the Collective Agreement;
 - (f) Clause 28.15, insofar as the decision of the President is not more severe than that recommended by a University Hearing Committee.

29.05 A grievor shall include:

(a) an individual Member or a group of Members, with the formal support of the Association, against the Board; or, in the cases of Clause 29.06 (Informal Procedure), Article 3, Article 4 or Article 28 (Dismissal), without the formal support of the Association, against the Board;

- (b) the Association on behalf of an individual Member or group of Members, or on its own behalf, against the Board;
- (c) the Board against the Association, an individual Member, or a group of Members;

and these may be the parties to any grievance. Nothing in this Article 29 shall be deemed to preclude the Association from initiating a grievance which is also capable of constituting an individual grievance or a group grievance or vice-versa.

Informal Procedure.

29.06 (a) Before a formal grievance is filed by any party, an attempt will be made to settle the matter by informal discussion between or among the appropriate persons or representatives of the parties which shall occur within and not later than fifteen days of notice of the act or omission giving rise to the dispute. In the case of a grievance initiated by an individual Member or group of Members, written notice of the substance of the grievance shall be given to the Association, and the matter shall first be raised with the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian concerned who shall seek to resolve the matter.

In the case of a grievance initiated by the Association, the matter may first be raised with the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian; or, as is appropriate, and with written notice to the Board, the matter may first be raised with the Dean, Vice-President, or President, who shall seek to resolve the matter.

- (b) Subject to the requirements of confidentiality in release of documents to Members in Clause 18.11, grievors may request existing documents which bear upon their grievances. Such documents shall be provided promptly, and shall not be unreasonably denied, but may not include materials produced specifically for the purpose of case preparation.
- (c) If the dispute cannot be resolved in this way, the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian shall advise the Dean or Vice-President concerned. In the case of a grievance initiated by an individual Member or group of Members, a representative of the Association shall be present at any discussion of the matter with the Dean or Vice-President. If the dispute is resolved by this procedure, the agreed resolution shall be reduced to writing by the Dean, Vice-President or President within and not later than five days of his, her or their acceptance of the resolution. Whether or not the matter is resolved, the decision of the Dean, Vice-President or President shall be conveyed in writing to the complainant within and not later than fifteen days of the date the matter was first raised as provided above. A copy of such decision shall be sent to the Association and the Board.

Such informal discussions shall not in any way prejudice any dispute resolution

procedures set out in this Collective Agreement and such discussions shall be without prejudice.

Formal Procedure.

- 29.07 If the informal procedures of Clause 29.06 do not resolve the matter within fifteen days of the date the matter was first raised, the Association, acting on its own behalf or on behalf of a Member or group of Members, may initiate formal grievance procedures as provided in Clause 29.08. In cases involving allegations of violation by the Board of Article 3 (Academic Freedom) or Article 4 (No Discrimination), if the Association decides not to initiate formal grievance procedures, an individual Member or group of Members shall have the right to initiate formal grievance procedures after advising the Association, and shall have the right to whatever services C.A.U.T. is willing to provide.
- 29.08 Formal grievance procedures shall be initiated against the Board by the grievor (as provided in Clause 29.07) presenting a written grievance to the President within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the decision of the Dean, Vice-President or President that the grievance remains unresolved as provided for in Clause 29.06. The grievor shall use the grievance form attached as Appendix I to this Collective Agreement. The grievance form shall be sent by registered mail or it shall be delivered to the office of the President by hand, and that Office shall provide a receipt. If a grievor is a Member or group of Members, acting under Article 3, Article 4 or Article 28 (Dismissal), the grievor shall send a copy of the written grievance to the Association.
- 29.09 Formal grievance procedures shall be initiated against the Association, an individual Member, or a group of Members by the Board presenting a written grievance to the Association, the Member, or group of Members within fifteen (15) days of the conclusion of the informal procedure contained in Clause 29.06, using the grievance form attached as Appendix I to this Collective Agreement. Where the respondent to such grievance is other than the Association on its own behalf, the Association shall be sent a copy of the grievance.
- 29.10 (a) Within ten (10) days of receipt of the grievance form, the President shall convene a meeting with the President of the Association and any individuals directly involved, for the purpose of resolving the grievance. At the meeting there shall be a full discussion of all of the particulars of each party's position and a full exchange of all information and documentation related to the grievance under consideration. In the case of a grievance against the Board, the President shall respond in writing to the grievor within ten (10) days of the meeting and any adjournments thereof indicating a decision in relation to the grievance alleged and the reasons therefor. Such reasons shall be set out in sufficient particularity to allow the grievor to respond. In the case of a grievance by the Board, the appropriate respondent shall respond in writing to the President within ten (10) days of the meeting and any adjournments thereof indicating a decision in relation to the grievance alleged and the reasons therefor. Such reasons shall be set out in

- sufficient particularity to allow the grievor to respond. A copy of the response shall be sent to the Association and to the Member or Members concerned.
- (b) If the grievance is resolved at this meeting, the agreed resolution shall be reduced to writing by the President and countersigned by the President of the Association, within and not later than twenty-five days from the formal submission of the grievance as specified in Clauses 29.08 or 29.09.
- (c) If the grievance is not resolved at this meeting, the parties may agree on further procedures to aid in the resolution of the grievance. These may include the following:
 - (i) referral of some or all of the issues in dispute to a mutually agreed mediator, with a deadline for the resolution of the grievance mutually agreed upon;
 - (ii) further meetings of the President and the President of the Association and individuals directly involved, with a deadline for the resolution of the grievance mutually agreed upon;
 - (iii) further meetings of the President and the President of the Association with the written consent of the individual Member or Members directly involved, with a deadline for the resolution of the grievance mutually agreed upon;
 - (iv) referral of some or all of the issues in dispute to an appropriate University Committee.

Arbitration.

- 29.11 Cases specified in the following may be submitted to arbitration:
 - (a) any grievance which has not been resolved by means of the procedures set forth in Clauses 29.08, 29.09 or 29.10, may be submitted to arbitration within and not later than fifteen days of:
 - (i) the expiry of the deadline for resolution of the grievance agreed to in Clauses 29.10(b) or 29.10(c)(i), or (ii), or (iii);
 - (ii) the meeting of Presidents as specified in Clause 29.10 (a) if no steps beyond those listed in Clause 29.10 were agreed;
 - (b) cases involving alleged violation by the Board of Article 3 (Academic Freedom) or Article 4 (No Discrimination). In these cases, a Member or group of Members may submit the matter to arbitration and shall have a right to whatever services

C.A.U.T. is willing to provide;

- (c) cases where a Member is subject to dismissal in accordance with Clause 28.25, regardless of the support of the Association;
- 29.12 Except for the provisions in Clause 29.11(b) and (c), submission to arbitration shall be initiated by the Association or the Board. All submissions to arbitration shall be within and not later than fifteen days of the receipt of the response as specified in Clauses 29.08, 29.09, or pursuant to the provisions in Clause 29.11(a), and written notice shall be given to the other Party of submission of the matter to arbitration.
- 29.13 Unless the parties agree to have an Arbitration Board, as provided in Clause 29.14, a Single Arbitrator shall determine the arbitration, and the following shall apply:
 - (a) the Parties agree that the following persons serve as a panel of Single Arbitrators on a rotating basis so long as this Collective Agreement continues to operate:
 - (i) Owen Shime;
 - (ii) Brian Bruce;
 - (iii) Thomas S. Kuttner
 - (iv) Susan Ashley;
 - (v) Louisa M. Davie;
 - (vi) Paula Knopf;
 - (vii) Pamela Picher;
 - (viii) S. Bruce Outhouse:
 - (ix) William Kaplan;
 - (x) Donald Carter;
 - (xi) Kevin M. Burkett:
 - (xii) Gus Richardson;
 - (b) the persons specified in (a) above shall serve as Single Arbitrators in rotation according to the order in which they are listed. Prior to the selection of an arbitrator, the Grievor shall advise the other party of the person to be contacted. The responding party shall have five (5) working days to notify the Grievor of their disagreement with the selection, failing which they will be deemed to consent to the selection of the arbitrator named. Copies of all correspondence with a person specified in (a) above shall be sent to the other party (or their counsel). If an arbitrator is not available or agreeable to commence hearings within and not later than thirty days of being notified of their requested appointment, the parties (or their counsel) shall consult to determine whether an agreement to waive the thirty (30) day requirement can be achieved. If no agreement to waive the thirty (30) day requirement is achieved, the next person on the list shall be selected, and so on, until one of those on the list is available. For the next arbitration thereafter, the person who appears on the list immediately after the arbitrator last selected shall be next in the sequence of selection. However, by mutual consent in writing,

- the parties may select a listed arbitrator out of turn or select an arbitrator not on the list;
- (c) if none of the persons on the list specified in (a) above can or will act within the required time, and if the parties do not agree on another arbitrator in accordance with (b) above, the parties, within and not later than fifteen days of commencement of the selection process, shall ask the Minister of Labour for the Province of Nova Scotia to appoint such Single Arbitrator, and if that request is not fulfilled within and not later than fifteen days of the date the Minister is requested to act, the Single Arbitrator shall be named in accordance with the Arbitration Act of Nova Scotia.
- 29.14 In the event the parties agree in writing that an Arbitration Board determine the grievance, the Arbitration Board shall be composed of three persons: a nominee of each of the parties and a chairperson to be chosen jointly by the two nominees. The nominee of the Association may be a Member and the nominee of the Board may be a member of the Board or a member of the University staff not included in the bargaining unit. Such nominees shall not be deemed to be advocates for the parties on the Arbitration Board and neither party shall object to such appointment. At the time of giving notice of submission to arbitration the grievor shall indicate the name of its nominee to the Arbitration Board. A Member or group of Members submitting the matter to arbitration without being supported by the Association pursuant to Clause 29.11 (b) and (c) shall give notice to the Association in addition to the Board and shall select a member of the Arbitration Board in the same way as the Association. Within and not later than seven days of receipt of such notice, the other party shall name its nominee. Within and not later than a further five days the two nominees shall select a chairperson for the Arbitration Board. If they are unable to agree upon a chairperson within such time, the Minister of Labour for the Province of Nova Scotia shall be asked to appoint the chairperson and if that request is not fulfilled within and not later than fifteen days of the date the Minister is requested to act, the chairperson shall be named in accordance with the Arbitration Act of Nova Scotia. If an Arbitration Board is agreed upon, the remaining provisions of this Article 29 pertaining to the Single Arbitrator shall likewise apply to such an Arbitration Board.
- 29.15 The Single Arbitrator shall commence the arbitration hearing within and not later than thirty days after being appointed.
- 29.16 Except as provided in Clause 29.04, any difference between the Parties relating to the interpretation, application, alleged violation or administration of this Collective Agreement, including whether a matter is arbitrable, may be submitted to arbitration.
- 29.17 The Single Arbitrator shall be confined to the grievance submitted for arbitration and shall have no authority to determine any other issue or issues.
- 29.18 The Single Arbitrator shall be subject to the following limitations

- (a) The Single Arbitrator shall not be barred from hearing and deciding the substance of a grievance because of a technical violation, irregularity or failure to follow procedures in this Collective Agreement.
- (b) When dealing with grievances involving claims of non-compliance with procedures in this Collective Agreement, if the Single Arbitrator finds that the procedures have not been complied with, they shall direct that the matter be considered again by an appropriate body in accordance with the procedures in this Collective Agreement, unless the Single Arbitrator determines that such reconsideration would be inappropriate.
- (c) Where by the terms Collective Agreement, judgment or discretion is to be exercised by the Board or any person or body, the Single Arbitrator shall not substitute their own judgment for that already made unless they find such judgment or discretion have been unreasonable or improper.
- 29.19 The Single Arbitrator shall not have jurisdiction to amend or add to any of the provisions of this Collective Agreement, nor to give any decision inconsistent with the terms of this Collective Agreement. The Parties may agree in advance that, notwithstanding any other Clause of this Collective Agreement, where the Arbitrator concludes the decision of the University to deny tenure is wrong, the Arbitrator may substitute a decision on the merits and award tenure.
- 29.20 No person may be appointed as a Single Arbitrator in relation to any grievance which would involve a conflict of interest because of their personal involvement in the matter that gives rise to the grievance.
- 29.21 In any arbitration involving a matter of academic freedom (Article 3), the arbitrator must be selected in order from the following list: Brian Bruce, Thomas Kuttner, Susan Ashley, Louisa M. Davie, Paula Knopf, William Kaplan, Donald Carter. However, by mutual consent in writing, the parties may select a listed arbitrator out of turn or select an arbitrator not on this list.
- 29.22 An individual Member submitting a matter to arbitration pursuant to Clause 29.11(b) or (c) shall have the right to whatever services the Canadian Association of University Teachers is willing to provide. In the event that an individual Member elects to so proceed, the individual shall give written notice to the President of the University and the President of the Association of their intention to proceed to arbitration.
- 29.23 In addition to those instances in which, according to arbitral jurisprudence, there is an established practice with respect to burden of proof, the burden shall be on the Board to establish just cause in all cases involving dismissal for cause.
- 29.24 Where a Single Arbitrator determines that a Member has been dismissed or otherwise disciplined by the Board for cause, the Single Arbitrator may substitute any other penalty

- that to the Single Arbitrator seems just and reasonable in all the circumstances.
- 29.25 Without limiting the operation of other appropriate provisions of this Article 29, the fact that a grievance has been presented as an Association grievance shall not prevent a Single Arbitrator from awarding a remedy to an individual Member directly affected by a proven breach, to the same extent as if the individual Member had presented the grievance as an individual grievance, and had succeeded at arbitration.
- 29.26 Each party shall bear the costs of its nominee to an Arbitration Board and the costs of the Single Arbitrator, or chairperson of an Arbitration Board, shall be paid in accordance with the provisions of the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia.
- 29.27 When a Member proceeds to arbitration without the support of the Association in any case of dismissal in accordance with Clause 29.11(c) or in any case involving Article 3 (Academic Freedom) or Article 4 (No Discrimination) in accordance with Clause 29.11(b), the Member and the Board shall each bear the costs of their nominee and pay the costs of the chairperson or Single Arbitrator in accordance with the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia.
- 29.28 In cases involving termination of a Member's appointment where a violation of Article 3 (Academic Freedom) or Article 4 (No Discrimination) is established, the costs of the arbitration, including the costs of the arbitrators, shall be borne by the Board.
- 29.29 In the case of an Arbitration Board, a decision of the majority shall be the decision of the Arbitration Board, and where there is no majority decision, the decision of the chairperson shall be the decision of the Arbitration Board. The decision of the Arbitration Board or Single Arbitrator shall be final and binding on all parties.

Process Provisions and Precedent.

- 29.30 The time limits as established by this Article 29 may be extended by mutual agreement, in writing, between the Association and the Board in any particular case. The Single Arbitrator or the Arbitration Board shall have the power to relieve against noncompliance with time limits.
- 29.31 Failure by the respondent or respondents to a grievance to respond within the time limit allows the grievor to proceed to the next stage of the grievance or arbitration procedures.
- 29.32 If the grievor fails to proceed with the grievance, either initially, or during the processing thereof through the grievance and arbitration procedures in this Article 29, the grievance shall be conclusively deemed to have been finally resolved.
- 29.33 Any grievance resolved at any stage of the procedures outlined in this Article 29 other than a decision by an Arbitration Board or a Single Arbitrator shall not constitute a precedent in any arbitration proceeding unless agreed to in writing by the Board and the

Association.

- 29.34 The Board recognizes the right of the Association to appoint up to twenty (20) Members as grievance officers. The Association will notify the Board in writing of the name of any officer so appointed, and a copy of such notification shall be sent to the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian concerned.
- 29.35 Grievance officers shall be entitled to relief from their normal duties for the purpose of investigating and processing grievances, except in the case of scheduled teaching duties for which relief may be arranged for the purpose of attendance at grievance and arbitration hearings. Should participation in such activities conflict with the duties and responsibilities of the Member then mutually satisfactory arrangements shall be made in advance within the Department.

Article 30: Vacations, Holidays and Leaves

- 30.01 For the purpose of annual vacation, one month shall be twenty-five (25) working days.
- 30.02 A Member employed on a twelve-month basis is entitled to an annual vacation of one month which may be taken in one or more parts. A Member employed for fewer than twelve months in a year, other than an instructor Member appointed for less than twelve months in any year, is entitled to an annual vacation on a proportionate basis determined by the ratio of their months of service to the normal twelve months of service of full-time Members. An instructor Member appointed for less than twelve months in any year shall be paid a monthly vacation payment in lieu of a paid vacation in the amount of 8 percent of salary earned in each month. Vacation dates shall be arranged by the Member in consultation with the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean concerned, to accord with responsibilities of the Member and the Department or other such unit. Vacation entitlement is expected to be used annually but a Member may request that vacation entitlement be carried over from one year to the next. Requests shall be made to the Chief Librarian, Dean or Vice-President concerned and shall not be unreasonably denied.

30.03 The following shall be paid holidays for all Members:

New Year's Day Dartmouth Natal Day (half holiday)

Munro Day Labour Day

N.S. Heritage Day
Good Friday
Victoria Day
Canada Day
Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

Halifax Natal Day

and any other day declared as a national holiday by the Federal Government or as a public holiday by the Provincial Government. When one of the above days falls on a

Saturday or Sunday, the Board shall declare the preceding Friday or the following Monday to be observed in substitution.

- 30.04 A Member summoned to be a witness or juror by any body with the power to subpoena shall be granted leave with regular salary and benefits for the period requiring absence from the University, but the Member so involved is expected to advise the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean concerned who shall arrange, with cooperation of the Member, to avoid undue interruption of the Member's responsibilities to students.
- 30.05 A Member who is unable to carry out their regular responsibilities because of illness shall advise the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean concerned who shall arrange for the Member's essential responsibilities to students or others to be rescheduled, if possible. The Member may be required to provide evidence or advice from a medical practitioner concerning the health of the Member. The Member may be granted leave from some or all of the responsibilities assigned in accordance with Article 20, with salary continuing:
 - (a) on arrangements approved by the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian concerned where the illness and resulting disability does not extend for more than one week, and
 - (b) on arrangements approved by the Dean or Vice-President concerned where the illness and resulting disability extends for more than one week.

Leave shall not be denied unreasonably and arrangements approved by the Dean or Vice-President may include:

- (i) periodic evidence or reports from a medical practitioner concerning the health of the Member, and
- (ii) where there is a prospect of continuing and permanent disability, notification by the Board with required documentation provided by the Member concerned to the carrier of the Salary Continuance Programme of Dalhousie University.
- 30.06 A Member who is suspended from some or all regular responsibilities and placed on sick leave in accordance with Clauses 28.05 and 28.21 of this Collective Agreement may be required to provide periodic evidence or reports from a medical practitioner concerning the health of the Member, in addition to the certificate required in accordance with those clauses before termination of suspension, and where there is a prospect of continuing and permanent disability, the Board may notify the carrier of the Salary Continuance Programme of Dalhousie University, with required documentation to be provided by the Member.
- 30.07 The Board accepts responsibility for maintaining provisions for leave for Members and salary continuance with the same cover and benefits as in the Salary Continuance

Programme of Dalhousie University on 1 July 1980. No changes in the cover and benefits provided for leave for Members shall be made without the approval of the Association.

Pregnancy, Paternity and Adoption Leaves.

30.08 (a) A Member shall be granted pregnancy leave, consistent in timing and duration with the Labour Standards Code of Nova Scotia, upon provision of evidence or advice from a medical practitioner respecting the anticipated date of delivery arising from the pregnancy. Payment for this period of leave shall be in accordance with the existing SUB plan filed with Service Canada. The benefit payable by the Board under this plan is a weekly amount which combined with the Employment Insurance benefit and any other earnings from employment will equal ninety-five percent (95%) of the Member's regular salary at the commencement of the leave for a maximum period of seventeen (17) weeks. Further unpaid leave shall not be unreasonably denied. (This ninety-five percent (95%) top-up applies where the Member has the requisite number of weeks of insurable earnings for Employment Insurance, irrespective of the length of time of employment at Dalhousie.)

When a Member is granted pregnancy leave and qualifies for parental leave under the Labour Standards Code of Nova Scotia and for parental benefits under the Employment Insurance Act as determined by Service Canada, the benefit payable by the Board is a weekly amount which combined with the Employment Insurance benefit and any other earnings from employment will equal ninety-five percent (95%) of the Member's regular salary at the commencement of the parental leave for a maximum period of fourteen (14) weeks. Further unpaid leave shall not be unreasonably denied. (This ninety-five percent (95%) top-up applies where the Member has both the requisite number of weeks of insurable earnings for Employment Insurance and has been an employee at Dalhousie for at least a year.)

- (b) When a Member has become a parent other than by giving birth, including by adoption, they may arrange, with the approval of the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean concerned, for leave from some or all of their duties and responsibilities assigned under Article 11, Article 12, Article 13 or Article 20 as appropriate. Such leaves shall not be unreasonably denied, and shall be with full salary and benefits for a period reasonable in the circumstances, but in any case not less than five days if the Member so requests. Further unpaid leave shall not be unreasonably denied.
- (c) When a Member qualifies for parental benefits under the Employment Insurance Act related to parenthood, as determined by Service Canada, the benefit payable by the Board shall be the difference between ninety-five percent (95%) of the Member's regular salary at the commencement of the leave and the amount the Member receives from Employment Insurance benefits plus any other earnings

from employment, for a maximum period of seventeen (17) weeks. Further unpaid leave shall not be unreasonably denied. (This ninety-five percent (95%) top-up applies where the Member has the requisite number of weeks of insurable earnings for Employment Insurance, irrespective of the length of time of employment at Dalhousie.)

When a Member qualifies for parental leave under the Labour Standards Code of Nova Scotia and for parental benefits under the Employment Insurance Act related to parenthood as determined by Service Canada, the benefit payable by the Board shall be the difference between ninety-five percent (95%) of the Member's regular salary at the commencement of the leave and the amount the Member receives from Employment Insurance benefits plus any other earnings from employment, for a maximum period of fourteen (14) weeks. Further unpaid leave shall not be unreasonably denied. (This ninety-five percent (95%) top-up applies where the Member has both the requisite number of weeks of insurable earnings for Employment Insurance and has been an employee at Dalhousie for at least a year.)

For clarity, this clause applies to both adoptive and biological parents.

The benefit payable by the Board shall not be in addition to the full salary benefit as may be arranged under Clauses 30.08(b).

The following is a tabular representation of Sub-Clauses (a) - (d) of this Clause 30.08:

	< 1 year employment at Dalhousie	> 1 year employment at Dalhousie
Pregnancy	17 weeks top-up	+ 14 = 31 weeks top-up
Parental (including	5 days full salary	5 days full salary
adoption)	OR	OR
	17 weeks top-up	+ 14 = 31 weeks top-up

- (d) There shall be no increase in the Member's workload following a pregnancy, paternity, parental or adoption leave to make up duties not assigned or not performed because of such leave.
- (e) The period of pregnancy, or parental leave pursuant to Clauses 30.08(a), (b), or (c) shall be credited towards years of full-time service in the calculation of eligibility for sabbatical, educational and special leaves. Members on such leaves interrupted by a pregnancy or parental leave pursuant to Clauses 30.08(a), (b), or (c) shall have the option to resume the remaining interrupted leave immediately following the pregnancy or parental leave.
- (f) Where a Member is subject to a waiting period of two (2) weeks before receiving Employment Insurance benefits for pregnancy or parental leave, the Member shall receive an amount equal to ninety-five percent of their normal weekly rate of pay for

each week of the waiting period.

(g) By written notice to the Chair, Head, Director or Associate University Librarian of their academic unit, a Member on parental leave may elect to defer for one year consideration of decisions relating to their continuing appointment, appointment without term or tenure. The Member's appointment shall be extended by the period of the deferral.

Bereavement Leave.

30.09 When there is a death or critical illness in the immediate family of a Member, or when similar circumstances necessitate compassionate leave, the Member concerned may arrange, with the approval of the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean concerned for leave from some or all of the individual's duties and responsibilities assigned in accordance with Article 11, Article 12, Article 13 or Article 20 as appropriate.

Such leaves shall not be unreasonably denied, and shall be with full salary and benefits for a period reasonable in the circumstances. Further unpaid leave shall not be unreasonably denied.

Personal Problems and Emergencies.

30.10 Release from scheduled teaching, professional service and departmental responsibilities, with regular salary and benefits shall not be unreasonably denied to Members who request it for personal problems and emergencies, including medical appointments, the illness of a child, unscheduled daycare closure, dental appointments and relocation of residence, provided arrangements satisfactory to the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean concerned are made to reschedule essential teaching, professional service or departmental responsibilities, if possible. In case of emergency, the Chairperson, Director, Head, Chief Librarian or Dean shall make the arrangements for rescheduling.

Political Leave.

- 30.11 A Member may become a candidate for elected office at the federal, provincial or municipal level without prejudice to that Member's position at Dalhousie University and shall be entitled to elect one of:
 - (a) reduction of responsibilities assigned in accordance with Article 11, Article 12, Article 13, or Article 20 with no reduction in regular salary and benefits;
 - (b) annual vacation;
 - (c) unpaid leave;

for the period up to one month that the Member selects, provided that the Member gives

the appropriate Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean at least one month's notice in advance of the period selected to allow the Chairperson, Head, Director, Chief Librarian or Dean to arrange for the Member's duties to students and others to be otherwise met.

30.12 If elected to political office, a Member shall be entitled to unpaid leave of absence for a period up to five years, or may apply to have responsibilities assigned in accordance with Article 11, Article 12, Article 13 or Article 20 reduced, with corresponding reduction of salary, for a period up to five years and the Board shall not unreasonably deny such application.

Off-Campus Activities.

30.13 Some Members must consult sources outside Dalhousie University, visit libraries, laboratories and other sources of the material necessary for teaching, scholarship, research and related activity, and observations must often be done in the field. Members are expected to be on campus at times appropriate to meet their responsibilities in teaching, in consulting with students and others, in administrative or committee work in accordance with Article 11, Article 12, Article 13, Article 17 and Article 20. Members have the responsibility of advising their Chairperson, Head, Director or other appropriate administrative officer of the University of their location and the means by which they may be contacted when carrying out their responsibilities elsewhere than on the University campus. Members who propose to be absent on a regular basis, for other reasons, for one or more days a week or for any period of a week or longer (except for annual vacation) are expected to ensure that their proposed arrangements are acceptable as compatible with their responsibilities and with those of their Department or other such unit.

Retraining Leave.

30.14 With the agreement of the Department or other similar units affected, and the Board, a Member may undertake retraining for new duties. When such retraining involves a period of leave, the Member's salary and benefits shall continue and the cost of retraining shall not be the responsibility of the Member. The Member shall carry their rank, tenure status and years of service toward sabbatical or special leave during and after the period of retraining.

Sabbatical Leave.

- 30.15 The Board agrees to grant sabbatical leave to a Faculty Member or instructor Member at the rank of University Teaching Fellow with a career stream appointment on the following conditions:
 - (a) that the leave is expected to benefit the Member and the University, following the Member's return, through future teaching, research, scholarly, artistic and/or

- professional work, as defined in Articles 17, 20 and, in the case of Continuing Education Members, 37, and is not merely to recognize previous service;
- (b) that before commencement of leave, the Member will submit to the Dean or Vice-President concerned a statement outlining the programme to be followed during leave and including a statement of any salary or earnings from services expected to be rendered, or any external research grant or other support received, in connection with the planned programme;
- that upon return to the University following sabbatical leave the Member will submit a report to the Dean or Vice-President concerned regarding the programme of research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional work, as defined in Articles 17 and 20, pursued during leave;
- (d) that the Member has completed service at Dalhousie University in accordance with Clause 30.17.
- 30.16 Sabbatical leave, when granted, may be for the following periods, provided that it does not begin or end in the middle of a normal teaching term for the Member:
 - (a) for a full year, from 1 July to the following 30 June;
 - (b) for a half year which may be from 1 January to 30 June or from 1 July to 31 December:
 - (c) for a full year, from 1 January to the following 31 December, provided satisfactory arrangements can be made to maintain essential responsibilities within the Member's Department, School, College, Institute or Faculty.

In special circumstances the period of sabbatical leave may be altered as agreed by the Member and the Dean or Vice-President.

- 30.17 Initial sabbatical leave and associated salary depends on a Faculty Member's or instructor Member at the rank of University Teaching Fellow's years of service on the academic staff of Dalhousie University in a career stream appointment or any other university just prior to taking up an appointment at Dalhousie University, normally as follows:
 - (a) two years of full-time service with an academic appointment to which sabbatical leave attached at another university since the last sabbatical leave granted to the Member at that university shall be counted as one year of service at Dalhousie University, up to a maximum of two years (or three years for a person appointed with tenure) and such allowance for prior service shall be set out in the person's letter of appointment at Dalhousie University;
 - (b) a minimum of three years of actual service at Dalhousie University shall be

- required of those Members holding appointments with tenure, and a minimum of four years of actual service at Dalhousie University shall be required of other Members, before commencement of an initial sabbatical leave;
- (c) Service in a limited term appointment at Dalhousie in the six academic years preceding a tenure stream appointment or appointment or promotion to the rank of University Teaching Fellow will count towards eligibility for sabbatical leave at a ratio of 1:1 provided that the Member succeeds in achieving a tenure stream appointment or appointment or promotion to the rank of University Teaching Fellow at Dalhousie University.
- (d) subject to Clause 30.17(g), after a total of six years of service, including credit for service elsewhere, a Member may have leave as in Clause 30.16(a) or (c) with 85% of regular salary, or may have leave as in Clause 30.16(b) with regular salary;
- (e) subject to Clause 30.17(g), after three years of actual service by a Member holding an appointment with tenure, or after four years of actual service by other Members, leave as in Clause 30.16(b) may be granted with 85% of regular salary;
- (f) subject to Clause 30.17(g), after a total of six years of service, including credit for service elsewhere, a Member may choose to have leave as in Clause 30.16(b) with 85% of regular salary, and after the use of this option the Member shall retain three accumulated years of service towards sabbatical leave;
- (g) if salary support for leave granted by external agencies brings the Member's salary above their regular salary rate then the sabbatical leave may be reduced providing:
 - (i) not less than 60 percent of regular salary rate or, in the case of a part-time Member, of their regular salary, shall be paid; and
 - (ii) the reduction shall not exceed the amount by which the Member's salary with support exceeds the regular salary rate;
- (h) in the case of those Members who hold or who have held part-time appointments, the fraction of full-time duties which shall be relevant in determining sabbatical salary (subject to the other provisions of this Clause 30.17) shall be the average of such fractions (as determined in accordance with Clause 14.06) over the qualifying years.
- 30.18 Subject to Clauses 30.19 and 30.20, after an initial sabbatical leave a Member may be granted further such leaves after additional periods of service at Dalhousie University, and these additional periods of services and inter-related leave and salary shall be those specified in Clauses 30.17(c), (d) and (e) counted from the resumption of regular duties by the Member following the period of sabbatical leave and shall include any period of

pregnancy or parental leave specified in Clause 30.08. When a Member cancels or postpones their sabbatical or educational leave to take a pregnancy or parental leave, the Member shall retain leave credit for years of service spent on pregnancy and parental leave for use following a planned sabbatical or educational leave.

- 30.19 Where it is in the Member's interest as determined by the Member and it is not contrary to University interests as determined by the Board, in special cases the normal period of service required for sabbatical leave may be reduced on condition that the Member agrees that any future sabbatical leave is postponed by a period similar to any reduced period of service.
- 30.20 If a Member applies for sabbatical leave and the conditions of Clauses 30.15 and 30.17 or 30.18 are met but it is in the interests of the University that leave be postponed, the Member who agrees to postpone sabbatical leave upon request by the Dean or Vice-President concerned shall receive additional salary support of 2.5 percent for each 6 month period of postponement to a maximum of two years, provided, however, that the total salary support resulting from this provision does not exceed 100% of the Member's regular salary, and shall be entitled to have the period of service required before any subsequent leave reduced to the extent the prior leave is postponed.
- 30.21 (a) A Member granted sabbatical leave may arrange to cancel or postpone their leave with the approval of the Board.
 - (b) The Parties recognize that there may be cases in which Members on sabbatical leave suffer a serious interruption of their stated program of activities as a result of serious illness, injury or other emergency situations beyond the Member's control. In such cases, the Member may request that a sabbatical arrangement be modified or postponed which shall not be unreasonably denied. Requests based upon illness or injury must be supported by the timely submission of a medical certificate attesting to the illness or injury.
- 30.22 The Board shall provide a fund in the amount of \$314,145 for the academic year 2020/21 for expenditure in the fiscal year 2021/22 and an amount of \$318,072 for the academic year 2021/22 for expenditure in the fiscal year 2022/23, to provide grants to supplement salary and/or research grants payable to Members granted sabbatical leave or special leave for part or all of that year. A Member granted sabbatical or special leave who is not in receipt of external grant support for leave in excess of 25 percent of regular salary may apply for a supplemental leave grant. Application shall be made to the appropriate Committee on Research Development of the Office of Research Services and shall include a statement of expenses the Member expects to incur as a result of research and scholarly work during leave and a statement of anticipated external grants or earnings from services rendered during leave (unless such earnings would normally be classified under Article 22). In cases of doubt about the appropriate Committee on Research Development, the Vice-President (Research) shall decide which committee shall process the application. The committee concerned shall consider all applications, giving

particular preference to Members whose research and scholarly work necessitates travel to other libraries, laboratories, conferences, research or similar centres. The committees shall not unreasonably deny applications and may award supplemental grants, ordinarily not in excess of 25 percent of regular salary, and the decisions of the committees within the limit of the amounts specified herein shall be processed by the Vice-President (Research) for adding to the regular salary/research grant support provided to the Member during leave. Decisions of the committees when implemented by the Vice-President (Research) shall not be subject to grievance and arbitration proceedings.

- 30.22A Members who by virtue of holding an external appointment are ineligible to apply for supplemental leave funds from external agencies may apply to the appropriate committee on Research Development of the Office of Research Services referred to in Clause 30.22 for a grant to supplement salary during sabbatical or special leave. The Board agrees to provide funds over and above those referred to in Clause 30.22 for such grants, which ordinarily shall not be in excess of 25 percent of regular salary.
- 30.23 A Member who has served on the full-time academic staff for at least the period required for an initial sabbatical leave in accordance with Clause 30.17 and who subsequently transfers to part-time service as a Member on the academic staff or who has accepted less than full-time responsibilities and correspondingly reduced salary, shall be considered for sabbatical leave in accordance with Clauses 30.15 to 30.22.

Special Leave.

- 30.24 Special leave to pursue research and scholarly work that directly complements their work at Dalhousie University may be granted to professional counsellor Members in accordance with Clause 13.09, professional librarian Members, to Members holding research appointments, and Members holding part-time appointments and employed on a twelve-month basis during two consecutive three-year appointments as provided in Clause 14.16(b)(iii). When special leave is granted, it shall be on the same conditions as those applying to other Members to whom sabbatical leave is available, in accordance with Clauses 30.15 to 30.22.
- 30.25 Members who have been Heads or Chairpersons of a Department for at least five consecutive years immediately preceding the special leave referred to in this Clause 30.25 shall be entitled to such special leave upon the expiry of their term as Head or Chairperson, and such special leave shall be on the same terms as a sabbatical leave provided in Clauses 30.15 and 30.16, and salary support shall be on the same terms as provided in Clauses 30.17(d) or (f) and 30.22. Members who have accumulated years of service toward a regular sabbatical leave at the time they take up an appointment as Chairperson or Head shall retain those accumulated years of service but years served as Head or Chairperson shall not be counted as years of service toward a regular sabbatical leave unless the Member waives consideration under this Clause 30.25. Clause 30.20 shall not apply in cases where a Member postpones a regular sabbatical leave in order to

accept an appointment as Head or Chairperson and subsequently takes a special leave under the terms of this Clause 30.25. Sabbatical leaves for Members serving as Heads or Chairpersons for less than five consecutive years shall not be affected by this Clause 30.25.

- 30.26 Service by Members for any period or periods exceeding the minimum conditions for sabbatical or special leave, except in accordance with Clauses 30.17(e) and 30.20, does not reduce the period of service required for any second or subsequent sabbatical or special leave, and years of service do not accumulate for more than one future leave at a time.
- 30.27 Application for sabbatical leave or special leave, as provided for in Clauses 30.15 to 30.24, shall be made through the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian to the Dean or Vice-President, and shall be made not later than 1 November of the academic year prior to that in which leave is proposed.
- 30.28 While on sabbatical or special leave a Member:
 - (a) shall continue to pay dues to the Association in accordance with Article 7, and contributions to pension and other benefit programmes, in accordance with Article 32, shall be continued by the Member and the Board;
 - (b) may apply on the prescribed form through the Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian to the appropriate Committee on Research Development of the Office of Research Services to have a portion of leave remuneration paid as a research grant; the amount allowed shall be paid as a research grant. The research grant portion of leave remuneration may vary by month if requested in writing by the Member in advance of the leave:
 - (c) may have leave remuneration reduced by any amount the Member derives during leave for services rendered, unless such services would normally fall under the provisions of Article 22 as extra-professional activities, or from external grants designed to support the Member while on leave if the total remuneration during leave exceeds the equivalent of full regular salary and reasonable expenses incurred:
 - (i) by the Member and their spouse and dependents in moving to and back from the place or places in which the Member is to reside during the leave period, where such expenses have not been otherwise provided for; and
 - (ii) in connection with research and scholarly work while on leave.

Unpaid Leave of Absence.

30.29 Members may apply through their Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian for

unpaid leave of absence from Dalhousie University, if possible not less than six months before the date requested for initiation of leave. Unpaid leave of absence shall not be withheld unreasonably, and in particular shall not be withheld unreasonably from the spouse of any Member who has been granted sabbatical leave where the spouse is also a Member of the bargaining unit, but may be limited to periods of up to two years at a time, subject to Clause 30.12. A Member on unpaid leave of absence shall continue payment of dues or other charges directly to the Association, in accordance with Article 7, and during such leave may choose to contribute to the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan and other available benefit options, subject to the approval of the Board, and subject to the provisions of any individual insurance policies and the Pension Plan.

30.30 When a Member is a Chairperson or Head, the Dean of the Faculty concerned shall be informed of absences and vacations in accordance with this Article 30.

Conferences.

- 30.31 (a) An instructor Member may be granted time off in order to attend conferences, meetings, workshops and seminars when such are relevant to the position held by the instructor Member and when attendance has been approved through the regular Departmental procedure. Arrangements must be made sufficiently in advance so as to ensure that regular duties and responsibilities are carried out during any such absence. Reimbursement for travelling and living expenses for instructor Members shall be in accordance with Clause 30.33.
 - (b) Professional librarian and professional counsellor Members may be granted time off in order to attend conferences, meetings, workshops and seminars when such are relevant to the position held by the Member and when attendance has been approved through the regular unit procedure. Arrangements must be made sufficiently in advance so as to ensure that regular duties and responsibilities are carried out during any such absence.

Reimbursement for travelling and living expenses for professional librarian and professional counsellor Members shall be in accordance with Clause 30.33.

Educational Leave.

- 30.32 (a) The Board agrees to grant educational leave to pursue academic studies that complement their work at Dalhousie University and which will also benefit their Department to instructor Members on the conditions set out in this Clause 30.32. In order to be eligible for the granting of educational leave, a Member must have completed six (6) years of service at Dalhousie University, or shall have completed seven (7) years of service at Dalhousie University calculated from the initial date of the previous educational leave project.
 - (i) Up to three (3) years of service in a limited term appointment at Dalhousie

in the six academic years preceding a continuing stream appointment or appointment to the rank of Senior Instructor will count towards eligibility for educational leave at a ratio of 1:1 provided that the Member succeeds in achieving a continuing stream appointment or appointment to the rank of Senior Instructor at Dalhousie University.

- (b) Before the Board grants educational leave to an instructor Member, that Member shall submit to the Dean, eight months prior to the date the requested leave is to commence, a statement specifying the leave project, and the instructor Member's Department shall submit to the Dean an assessment and recommendation concerning the leave. The assessment shall include a consideration of the arrangements necessary to maintain the academic program(s) of the Department during the proposed period of leave. Provided the Dean and the Department agree that the conditions in Clause 30.32(a) have been satisfied, and provided the Member's Department recommends the granting of such leave, the Dean shall recommend to the President within two months of receiving the application that the proposed educational leave be granted. There shall be no replacement appointment for the instructor Member on educational leave unless the Dean agrees that such an appointment is necessary. In the event that the Dean recommends to the President that the proposed educational leave not be granted, the Dean shall write to the instructor Member giving the reasons for this recommendation.
- (c) When educational leave is granted to instructor Members, it may be:
 - (i) for a full year, from 1 July to the following 30 June with 85% of regular salary, or
 - (ii) for a full year, from 1 January to the following 31 December, provided satisfactory arrangements can be made to maintain essential responsibilities within the Member's Department, School, College, Institute or Faculty with 85% of regular salary, or
 - (iii) for a half year which may be from 1 January to 30 June or from 1 July to 31 December at regular salary.

The salary paid while on educational leave may be reduced in the light of salary support for leave granted by external agencies but not less than sixty percent (60%) of regular salary shall be paid.

(d) Pursuant to Clause 30.32(b) herein, the proposed educational leave may be approved in one or more segments not to exceed twelve (12) months in total when leave is pursuant to Clause 30.32(c)(i) or (ii) or not more than six (6) months in total when leave is pursuant to Clause 30.32(c)(iii).

- (e) Notwithstanding the above provisions contained in this Article 30, when it has been determined that retraining is appropriate for an instructor Member, the Dean may authorize a Special Educational Leave for this purpose following approval through regular Departmental procedures. Unless otherwise agreed with the instructor Member, such Special Educational Leave shall be included in the eligibility period for Educational Leave as specified in Clause 30.32(a) herein.
- (f) An instructor Member who is granted Educational Leave or Special Educational Leave must agree to return to duties at Dalhousie University for a period equal to the period of such leave(s) or reimburse the Board for the full amount of the financial assistance received from the Board during the leave(s). If an instructor Member returns to the University for a period of time less than the length of the leave, the reimbursement will be prorated accordingly.

The Board shall provide a fund in the amount of \$19,202 for the academic year 2020/21 for expenditure in the fiscal year 2021/22 and an amount of \$19,443 for the academic year 2021/22 for expenditure in the fiscal year 2022/23, to provide grants to supplement salary and/or research grants payable to Members granted educational leave or special educational leave for part or all of that year. A Member granted educational or special educational leave who is not in receipt of external grant support for leave in excess of twenty-five percent (25%) of regular salary may apply for a supplemental leave grant. Application shall be made to the appropriate Committee on Research Development of the Office of Research Services and shall include a statement of expenses the Member expects to incur as a result of research and/or scholarly work during leave and a statement of anticipated external grants or earnings from services rendered during leave (unless such earnings would normally be classified under Article 22). In cases of doubt about appropriate Committee on Research Development, the Vice-President (Research) shall decide which committee shall process the application. The committee concerned shall consider all applications, giving particular preference to Members whose research and/or scholarly work necessitates travel to other libraries, laboratories, conferences, research or similar centres. The Committees shall not unreasonably deny applications and may award supplemental grants, ordinarily not in excess of twenty-five percent (25%) of regular salary, and the decisions of the committees within the limit of the amounts specified herein shall be processed by the Vice-President (Research) for adding to the regular salary/research grant support provided to the Member during leave. Decisions of the committees when implemented by the Vice-President (Research) shall not be subject to grievance and arbitration proceedings.

- (g) Financial assistance may also include assistance to offset part or all of the cost relating to tuition fees, travel and relocation.
- (h) If an instructor Member applies for educational leave and the conditions in Clauses 30.32(a), (b) and (c) are met but it is in the interests of the University that

leave be postponed, the Member who agrees to postpone educational leave upon request by the Dean shall receive additional salary support of 2.5 percent for each six month period of postponement to a maximum of two years, provided, however, that the total salary support resulting from this provision does not exceed 100% of the Member's regular salary, and shall be entitled to have the period of service required before any subsequent leave reduced to the extent the prior leave is postponed.

(i) An instructor Member who is granted Educational Leave or Special Educational Leave may apply on the prescribed form through the Chairperson, Head or Director to the appropriate Committee on Research Development of the Office of Research Services to have a portion of leave remuneration paid as a research grant; the amount allowed shall be paid as a research grant. The research grant portion of leave remuneration may vary by month if requested in writing by the Member in advance of the leave.

Travel.

- 30.33 The Board expects that Members may attend conferences, workshops and study-sessions in places other than Dalhousie University, as judged necessary to extend and communicate their knowledge, including travel directly related to instructional development and the quality of teaching. The Board, therefore, agrees to reimburse out of the funds provided in Clause 30.34 the travelling and living expenses of those Members whose attendance is approved under the guidelines recommended by the relevant Faculty committee and approved by the Dean. Such guidelines shall include reference to the per diem maximum payable to a Member. The Faculty committee shall also make recommendations to the Dean concerning individual applications for the Dean's decision. For the purposes of this Clause, the professional librarian and professional counsellor Members shall set up Travel Committees, which shall be the Faculty-level committees for this purpose, to make recommendations to the appropriate Chief Librarian or Vice-Provost (Student Affairs) regarding reimbursement of the travelling and living expenses of those professional librarian and professional counsellor Members whose attendance at conferences and/or meetings is recommended by these committees.
- 30.34 The Board shall provide a fund for expenditure in the fiscal year for travel by Members. The amount of the fund for the fiscal year 2020/21 shall be \$809,856, for the fiscal year 2021/22 shall be \$817,955, for the fiscal year 2022/23 shall be \$828,180. Faculty-level committees shall be notified no later than 1 March of the amount of funds to be allocated to them for the upcoming fiscal year.

This fund shall be divided into two portions:

(a)(1) subject to Clause 30.34(a)(2), ninety-eight percent of the travel fund for each fiscal year shall be allocated to Faculties, the College of Continuing Education, the Counselling Centre and the Library System in proportion to the number of

Members each contains, for distribution to Members on a fair and equitable basis by the Deans, Chief Librarians or Vice-President (Student Services), on the advice of Heads, Chairpersons or Directors, and the committees mentioned in Clause 30.33:

- (i) the travel funds allocated to a Faculty, College, Centre or Library System for any fiscal year shall not be overspent in that fiscal year by more than 10% of the allocated amount and the overspent amount shall be debited to the amount allocated for the following fiscal year;
- (ii) the travel funds allocated to a Faculty, College, Centre or Library System for any fiscal year may be underspent in that fiscal year by no more than 10% of the allocated amount and any excess of underspending beyond that 10% shall be taken into general Dalhousie University revenue;
- (iii) overspending and underspending of travel funds allocated to a Faculty, College, Centre or Library System shall be permitted to accumulate over three fiscal years but at the end of each fiscal year the accumulated amount of overspent and underspent funds for that fiscal year and the two fiscal years preceding it shall not be an over-expenditure exceeding 10% of the travel funds allocated in the fiscal year just ending and shall not be an underexpenditure exceeding 30% of the travel funds allocated in the fiscal year just ending;
- (iv) expenditure of travel funds shall be said to occur on the date when payment is made from them or on the date when an invoice for payment is received by the Board, whichever is earlier;
- (a)(2) in determining the allocation to the Faculties, the College of Continuing Education, the Counselling Centre and Library System pursuant to Clause 30.34(a)(1), each such unit shall be entitled to the greater of:
 - (i) **\$5,430**, or
 - (ii) an allocation based on the proportion of the number of Members each contains provided that the total funds allocated under Clause 30.34(a) shall not exceed ninety-eight percent of the travel fund;
- (b) the remaining two percent of the travel fund for each fiscal year shall be allocated for travel by the President, or his delegate, on a fair and equitable basis, to those Members for whom Clause 30.34(a)(2) does not apply. The President, or his delegate, may distribute any funds remaining after such allocation to Members whose travel requirements cannot be met through Clause 30.34(a)(2).

Members on leave shall not be eligible for travel support from these funds.

Article 31: Salaries

- 31.01 For Members employed full-time for 12 months during the academic year, the regular salary as defined in Article 1, shall be adjusted as provided in this Article 31. For Members employed full-time for less than 12 months during the academic year, the regular salary as defined in Article 1, shall be adjusted as provided in this Article 31 multiplied by the fraction obtained by dividing the number of months employed by 12. For Members employed less than full-time during the academic year, the regular salary as defined in Article 1, shall be adjusted as provided in this Article 31 multiplied by the fraction of full-time duties they were employed to carry out in accordance with the specification of this fraction in Clause 14.06. For Members employed less than full-time for less than 12 months during the academic year, the regular salary as defined in Article 1, shall be adjusted as provided in this Article 31 multiplied by both fractions.
- 31.02 All increases in regular salary rates arising from the application of this Article 31 shall take effect from the date indicated or the starting date of the Member's employment if that is later. The effect of adjustment of salaries on pension benefits shall also take effect from the same date as the salary adjustment.

Regular Salaries for the Academic Year 2020/21.

- 31.03 Adjustments of regular salary rates for **2020/21** shall be made only for those Members falling into one of the following categories:
 - (a) Members whose appointments took effect on or before 1 January **2020**, who had a regular salary rate for **2019/20**, who received no adjustment to their regular salary rates for **2020/21** prior to 1 July **2020** and who have been employed as Members from at least 1 January **2020** to 1 July **2020**;
 - (b) Members whose appointments took effect after 1 January 2020, whose regular salary rate at the time of appointment as a Member was specified to be the rate for 2019/20 and subject to adjustment for 2020/21, who have received no subsequent adjustment to their regular salary rates for 2019/20 prior to 1 July 2020, and who have been employed from the date of their appointment to 1 July 2020.
- 31.04 Members who started employment after 1 January **2020** at regular salary rates specified as **2020/21** rates are not eligible for further adjustments to their regular salary rates for **2020/21**, subject to terms set out in their letters of appointment, unless their regular salary rate is less than that shown in the appropriate Schedule. Such Members shall receive an Adjustment to the Scale necessary to bring their regular salary rate up to the minimum for their rank and Y value, as shown in the appropriate Schedule.
- 31.05 Insofar as the salary paid to a Member for **2020/21** is modified solely as a result of a change in the fraction of full-time duties that Member is employed to carry out, such a modification shall not be interpreted as an adjustment in regular salary rate for the purpose

of Clause 31.03. Notwithstanding the limitations imposed by Clause 31.03, adjustments of **2020/21** regular salary rates approved by the Association-Board Committee under the provisions of the **2017-20** Collective Agreement shall be further adjusted as required by the form of that approval.

Regular Salaries for **2020/21** for Members Other Than Professional Librarian, Instructor and Professional Counsellor Members.

- 31.06 The regular salary rates for **2020/21** for Members other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate in accordance with Clauses 31.02 and 31.03, shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) an Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.) equal to **1.00** percent of the Member's **2019/20** regular salary rate shall be added to the Member's **2019/20** regular salary rate for **2020/21**, effective 1 July **2020**
 - (b) subject to Clauses **31.39** and **31.44**, a Career Development Increment (C.D.I.) of \$2731 shall be added to their **2019/20** regular salary rate for **2020/21**, effective 1 July **2020** unless the C.D.I. is withheld in accordance with Clause 31.08 or unless the Member was appointed after 1 January **2020** and had the year **2020/21** allowed as a year of creditable performance at the time of the appointment, in which case no C.D.I. shall be paid in **2020/21**;
 - (c) a salary adjustment on promotion in the amount of \$2,731 for those Members promoted to Associate Professor and a salary adjustment on promotion in the amount of \$2,731 for those Members promoted to Professor shall be added to their regular salary rate for 2020/21 effective 1 July 2020;
- 31.07 After application of Clause 31.06, the regular salary rates for **2020/21** for Members other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Members, whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule A for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule A.
- 31.08 (a) The C.D.I. is intended to provide financial progress through each rank commensurate with actual development in a Member's career. Career development is not a measure of the number of years a Member has been employed in a rank, but is based upon, recognizes and rewards actual development in the quality of performance in relation to the Member's responsibilities specified in Article 17, the Member's workload approved or authorized in accordance with Article 20, and the characteristics and contributions relevant to appointment, reappointment, promotion and tenure. Upon the recommendation or agreement of the appropriate Chairperson, Head or Director and Dean or Vice-President, and the concurrence of the President, the C.D.I. may be withheld if the performance of the Member during the preceding academic

year is judged, by the criteria referred to in this Clause 31.08, to have shown substantially less career development than might reasonably be expected for a Member of that rank. Before the President concurs with the withholding of a C.D.I., the President or their delegate shall review with the Member the basis for the judgment before any financial adjustment is made to the Member's salary. When such withholding is done, the Member and the Association shall be notified by the Dean or Vice-President, in writing, that the action has been taken and the reasons for it, making specific reference to the criteria below which the Member's performance fell substantially. Such notice shall be given not later than the end of the month within which the C.D.I. is first withheld.

Effective

- (b) An isolated case of unsatisfactory teaching evaluation results for a single half-credit or full-credit course shall not be the basis for denial of a C.D.I.
- 31.09 The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Lecturer and Assistant Professor shall be the 2019/20 rank minimum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Associate Professor and Professor shall be the 2019/20 rank minimum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for 2020/21 for Members other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Members shall be as follows:

		1 July 2020
(a)	Lecturer, or equivalent	\$ 67,385
(b)	Assistant Professor, or equivalent	\$ 75,569
(c)	Associate Professor, or equivalent	\$ 92,621
(d)	Professor, or equivalent	\$107,182

These minima shall, as of 1 July **2020**, be **\$10,659** higher for those in the Faculty of Law with a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the minima shall be **\$18,256** higher for those in the Faculty of Medicine with a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board or comparable agency.

Regular Salaries for 2020/21 for Professional Librarian Members.

- 31.10 The regular salary rates for **2020/21** for professional librarian Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate for **2020/21** in accordance with Clauses 31.02 and 31.03, shall be adjusted as follows:
 - (a) an Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.) equal to **1.00** percent of the Member's **2019/20** regular salary rate shall be added for **2020/21** effective 1 July **2020**;

- (b) subject to Clause **31.39**, a Career Development Increment (C.D.I.) of **\$2,189** for Librarian 1, and **\$2,535** for Librarians 2, 3 and 4 shall be added to their **2019/20** regular salary rate for **2020/21** effective 1 July **2020**, unless the C.D.I. is withheld in accordance with Clause 31.12 or unless the Member was appointed after 1 January **2020** and had the year **2020/21** allowed as a year of creditable performance at the time of the appointment, in which case no C.D.I. shall be paid in **2020/21**;
- 31.11 After application of Clause 31.10, the regular salary rates for **2020/21** for professional librarian Members, whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule B for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule B.
- 31.12 The C.D.I. is intended to provide financial progress through each rank commensurate with actual development in a Member's career. Career development is not a measure of the number of years a Member has been employed in a rank, but is based upon, recognizes and rewards actual development in the quality of performance in relation to the Member's responsibilities specified in Article 11 and the characteristics and contributions relevant to appointment, reappointment, promotion and appointment without term. Upon the recommendation or agreement of:
 - (i) the Associate University Librarian (Health Sciences), and the University Librarian for librarian Members in the Health Sciences Library;
 - (ii) the Chief Librarian and the Dean of Law for librarian Members in the Law Library;
 - (iii) the Associate University Librarian (Sexton Design & Technology) and the University Librarian for librarian Members in the Sexton Design & Technology Library;
 - (iv) the University Librarian for librarian Members in the Libraries not specified in (i), (ii) and (iii) above;

and the Vice-President, and with the concurrence of the President, the C.D.I. may be withheld if the performance of the Member during the preceding academic year is judged to have fallen substantially below the criteria referred to in this Clause 31.12. Before the President concurs with the withholding of a C.D.I., the President or their delegate shall review with the Member the basis for the judgment before any financial adjustment is made to the Member's salary. When such withholding is done, the Member and the Association shall be notified by the Dean or Vice-President, in writing, that the action has been taken and the reasons for it, making specific reference to the criteria below which the Member's performance fell substantially. Such notice shall be given not later than the end of the month within which the C.D.I. is first withheld.

31.13 The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Librarian 1, 2, 3, and 4 shall be the

2019/20 rank minimum increased by **1.00** percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for **2020/21** for professional librarian Members shall be as follows:

		Effective
		1 July 2020
(a)	Librarian 1	\$ 61,854
(b)	Librarian 2	\$ 68,409
(c)	Librarian 3	\$ 76,006
(d)	Librarian 4	\$ 88,664

Regular Salaries for 2020/21 for Instructor Members.

- 31.14 The regular salary rates for **2020/21** for instructor Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate for **2020/21** in accordance with the provisions of Clauses 31.02 and 31.03, shall be adjusted as follows:
 - (a) an Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.) equal to **1.00** percent of the Member's **2019/20** regular salary rate shall be added for **2020/21**, effective 1 July **2020**;
 - (b) subject to Clause **31.39**, a step of **\$2,586** shall be added to their **2019/20** regular salary rate for **2020/21** effective 1 July **2020**, unless the Member was appointed after 1 January **2020** and had the year **2020/21** allowed as a year of creditable performance at the time of the appointment, in which case no step shall be paid in **2020/21**:
- After application of Clause 31.14, the regular salary rates for **2020/21** for instructor Members, whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule C for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule C.
- After application of Clause 31.14, the regular salary rates for **2020/21** for Technology Instructor Members, whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule E for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule E.
- 31.16A The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Instructor, Senior Instructor and University Teaching Fellow, shall be the 2019/20 rank minimum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for 2020/21 for instructor Members shall be as follows:

		Effective 1 July 2020
(a)	Instructor	\$ 61,364
(b)	Senior Instructor	\$ 76,861
(c)	University Teaching Fellow	\$ 92,358

These minima shall be \$10,659 higher for those in the Faculty of Law with a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society, and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment, and the minima shall be \$18,256 higher for those in the Faculty of Medicine with a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board or comparable agency.

31.16B. The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Technology Instructor I, Technology Instructor II and Technology Instructor III 2020/21 shall be as follows:

		Effective 1 July 2020
(a)	Technology Instructor I	\$ 49,400
(b)	Technology Instructor II	\$ 59,731
(c)	Technology Instructor III	\$ 75,226

Regular Salaries for 2020/21 for Professional Counsellor Members.

- 31.17 The regular salary rates for **2020/21** for professional counsellor Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate for **2020/21** in accordance with the provisions of Clauses 31.02 and 31.03, shall be adjusted as follows:
 - (a) An Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.) equal to **1.00** percent of the Member's **2019/20** regular salary rate shall be added for **2020/21**, effective 1 July **2020**;
 - subject to Clause **31.39**, a step of **\$2,731** shall be added to their **2019/20** regular salary rate for **2020/21** effective 1 July **2020**, unless the Member was appointed after 1 January **2020** and had the year **2020/21** allowed as a year of creditable performance at the time of the appointment, in which case no C.D.I. shall be paid in **2020/21**:
- 31.18 After application of Clause 31.17, the regular salary rates for **2020/21** for professional counsellor Members whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule D for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule D.

31.19 The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of professional counsellors who hold the M.A. degree or its equivalent and for professional counsellors who are registered or who have the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent shall be the 2019/20 rank minimum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rate for 2020/21 for Members employed as professional counsellors who hold the M.A. degree or its equivalent but who are not registered by the Nova Scotia Board of Examiners in Psychology shall be \$71,210 effective 1 July 2020. For those who are registered or who have the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent, the minimum shall be \$79,394 effective 1 July 2020.

Regular Salaries for the Academic Year 2021/22

- 31.20 Adjustments of regular salary rates for **2021/22** shall be made only for those Members falling into one of the following categories:
 - (a) Members whose appointments took effect on or before 1 January **2021**, who had a regular salary rate for **2020/21**, who received no adjustment to their regular salary rates for **2021/22** prior to 1 July **2021**, and who have been employed as Members from at least 1 January **2021** to 1 July **2021**.
 - (b) Members whose appointments took effect after 1 January 2021, whose regular salary rate at the time of appointment as a Member was specified to be the rate for 2020/21 and subject to adjustment for 2021/22, who have received no subsequent adjustment to their regular salary rates for 2021/22 prior to 1 July 2021 and who have been employed from at least the date of their initial appointment to 1 July 2021.
- 31.21 Members who started employment after 1 January **2021** at regular salary rates specified as **2021/22** rates are not eligible for further adjustments to their regular salary rates for **2021/22**, subject to terms set out in their letters of appointment, unless their regular salary rate is less than that shown in the appropriate Schedule. Such Members shall receive any Adjustment to Scale necessary to bring their regular salary rate up to the minimum for their rank and Y value, as shown in the appropriate Schedule.
- 31.22 Insofar as the salary paid to a Member for **2021/22** is modified solely as a result of a change in the fraction of full-time duties that Member is employed to carry out, such a modification shall not be interpreted as an adjustment in regular salary rate for the purpose of Clause 31.20. Notwithstanding the limitations imposed by Clause 31.20, adjustments of **2021/22** regular salary rates approved by the Association-Board Committee under the provisions of this Collective Agreement shall be further adjusted as required by the form of that approval.

Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Members Other Than Professional Librarian, Instructor and Professional Counsellor Members.

- 31.23 The regular salary rates for **2021/22** for Members other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate in accordance with Clauses 31.02 and 31.20, shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) An Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.) equal to **1.25** percent of the Member's **2021/22** regular salary rate shall be added to the Member's **2020/21** regular salary rate for **2021/22**, effective 1 July **2021**;
 - (b) subject to Clauses **31.39** and **31.44**, a Career Development Increment (C.D.I.) of \$2,766 shall be added to their **2020/21** regular salary rate for **2021/22** effective 1 July **2021**, unless the C.D.I. is withheld in accordance with Clause 31.25 or unless the Member was appointed after 1 January **2021** and had the year **2021/22** allowed as a year of creditable performance at the time of the appointment, in which case no C.D.I. shall be paid in **2021/22**;
 - a salary adjustment on promotion in the amount of \$2,766 for those Members promoted to Associate Professor and a salary adjustment on promotion in the amount of \$2,766 for those Members promoted to Professor shall be added to their regular salary rate for 2021/22 effective 1 July 2021;
- 31.24 After application of Clause 31.23, the regular salary rates for **2021/22** for Members other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Members, whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule F for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those in Schedule F.
- 31.25 (a) The C.D.I. is intended to provide financial progress through each rank commensurate with actual development in a Member's career. Career development is not a measure of the number of years a Member has been employed in a rank, but is based upon, recognizes and rewards actual development in the quality of performance in relation to the Member's responsibilities specified in Article 17, the Member's workload approved or authorized in accordance with Article 20, and the characteristics and contributions relevant to appointment, reappointment, promotions and tenure. Upon the recommendation or agreement of the appropriate Chairperson, Head or Director and Dean or Vice-President, and the concurrence of the President, the C.D.I. may be withheld if the performance of the Member during the preceding academic year is judged, by the criteria referred to in this Clause 31.25, to have shown substantially less career development than might reasonably be expected for a Member of that rank. Before the President concurs with the withholding of a C.D.I., the President or their delegate shall review with the Member the basis for the judgment before any financial adjustment is made to the Member's salary. When such withholding is done, the Member and the Association

shall be notified by the Dean or Vice-President, in writing, that the action has been taken and the reasons for it, making specific reference to the criteria below which the Member's performance fell substantially. Such notice shall be given not later than the end of the month within which the C.D.I. is first withheld.

- (b) An isolated case of unsatisfactory teaching evaluation results for a single half-credit or full-credit course shall not be the basis for denial of a C.D.I.
- 31.26 The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Lecturer and Assistant Professor shall be the 2020/21 rank minimum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Associate Professor and Professor shall be the 2020/21 rank minimum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for 2021/22 for Members other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Members shall be as follows:

		Effective 1 July 2021
(a)	Lecturer, or equivalent	\$ 68,228
(b)	Assistant Professor, or equivalent	\$ 76,514
(c)	Associate Professor, or equivalent	\$ 93,779
(d)	Professor, or equivalent	\$108,522

These minima shall, as of 1 July **2021**, be \$**10,793** higher for those in the Faculty of Law with a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the minima shall be **\$18,485** higher for those in the Faculty of Medicine with a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board or comparable agency.

Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Professional Librarian Members.

- 31.27 The regular salary rates for **2021/22** for professional librarian Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate for **2021/22** in accordance with Clauses 31.02 and 31.20, shall be adjusted as follows:
 - (a) An Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.), equal to **1.25** percent of the Member's **2020/21** regular salary rate shall be added to the Member's **2020/21** regular salary rate for **2021/22**, effective 1 July **2021**;
 - (b) subject to Clause **31.39**, a Career Development Increment (C.D.I.) of **\$2,217** for Librarian 1, and **\$2,567** for Librarian 2, 3 and 4 shall be added to their **2020/21** regular salary rate for **2021/22** effective 1 July **2021**, unless the C.D.I. is withheld in accordance with Clause 31.29 or unless the Member was appointed after 1 January **2021** and had the year **2021/22** allowed as a year of creditable performance at the

time of the appointment, in which case no C.D.I. shall be paid in 2021/22;

- 31.28 After application of Clause 31.27, the regular salary rates for **2021/22** for professional librarian Members whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule G for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule G.
- 31.29 The C.D.I. is intended to provide financial progress through each rank commensurate with actual development in a Member's career. Career development is not a measure of the number of years a Member has been employed in a rank, but is based upon, recognizes and rewards actual development in the quality of performance in relation to the Member's responsibilities specified in Article 11 and the characteristics and contributions relevant to appointment, reappointment, promotion and appointment without term. Upon the recommendation or agreement of:
 - (i) the Associate University Librarian (Health Sciences), and the University Librarian for librarian Members in the Health Sciences Library;
 - (ii) the Chief Librarian and the Dean of Law for librarian Members in the Law Library;
 - (iii) the Associate University Librarian (Sexton Design & Technology) and the University Librarian for librarian Members in the Sexton Design & Technology Library;
 - (iv) the University Librarian for librarian Members in the Libraries not specified in (i), (ii) and (iii) above;

and the Vice-President, and with the concurrence of the President, the C.D.I. may be withheld if the performance of the Member during the preceding academic year is judged to have fallen substantially below the criteria referred to in this Clause 31.29. Before the President concurs with the withholding of a C.D.I., the President or their delegate shall review with the Member the basis for the judgment before any financial adjustment is made to the Member's salary. When such withholding is done, the Member and the Association shall be notified by the Dean or Vice-President, in writing, that the action has been taken and the reasons for it, making specific reference to the criteria below which the Member's performance fell substantially. Such notice shall be given not later than the end of the month within which the C.D.I. is first withheld.

31.30 The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Librarian 1, 2, 3, and 4 shall be the **2020/21** rank minimum increased by **1.25** percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for **2021/22** for professional librarian Members shall be as follows:

		1 July 2021
(a)	Librarian 1	\$62,628
(b)	Librarian 2	\$69,265
(c)	Librarian 3	\$76,957
(d)	Librarian 4	\$89,773

Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Instructor Members.

- 31.31 The regular salary rates for **2021/22** for instructor Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate for **2021/22** in accordance with the provisions of Clauses 31.02 and 31.20, shall be adjusted as follows:
 - (a) an Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.) equal to **1.25** percent of the Member's **2020/21** regular salary rate shall be added to the Member's **2020/21** regular salary rate for **2021/22**, effective 1 July **2021**;

Effective

- subject to Clause 31.39, a step of \$2,619 shall be added to their 2020/21 regular salary rate for 2021/22, effective 1 July 2021, unless the Member was appointed after 1 January 2021 and had the year 2021/22 allowed as a year of creditable performance at the time of the appointment, in which case no step shall be paid in 2021/22;
- After application of Clause 31.31, the regular salary rates for **2021/22** for instructor Members whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule H for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule H.
- After application of Clause 31.31, the regular salary rates for **2021/22** for Technology Instructor Members, whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule J for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule J.
- The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Instructor, Senior Instructor and University Teaching Fellow shall be the 2020/21 rank minimum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for 2021/22 for instructor Members shall be as follows:

Effective
1 July 2021

(a)	Instructor	\$62,132
(b)	Senior Instructor	\$77,822
(c)	University Teaching Fellow	\$93,513

These minima shall be, as of 1 July **2021**, **\$10,793** higher for those in the Faculty of Law with a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society, and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment, and the minima shall be **\$18,485** higher for those in the Faculty of Medicine with a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board or comparable agency.

The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of Technology Instructor I, Technology Instructor II and Technology Instructor III shall be the 2020/21 rank minimum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for 2021/22 for Technology Instructor Members shall be as follows:

Effective
1 July 2021

(a)	Technology Instructor I	\$50,018
(b)	Technology Instructor II	\$60,478
(c)	Technology Instructor III	\$76,167

Regular Salaries for 2021/22 for Professional Counsellor Members.

- 31.34 The regular salary rates for **2021/22** for professional counsellor Members, who qualify for an adjustment of regular salary rate for **2021/22** in accordance with the provisions of Clauses 31.02 and 31.20, shall be adjusted as follows:
 - (a) an Income Maintenance Change (I.M.C.) equal to **1.25** percent of the Member's **2020/21** regular salary rate shall be added to the Member's regular salary rate for **2021/22**, effective 1 July **2021**;
 - subject to Clause **31.39**, a step of **\$2,766** shall be added to their **2020/21** regular salary rate for **2021/22**, effective 1 July **2021**, unless the Member was appointed after 1 January **2021** and had the year **2021/22** allowed as a year of creditable performance at the time of the appointment, in which case no step shall be paid in **2021/22**;
- 31.35 After application of Clause 31.34, the regular salary rates for **2021/22** for professional counsellor Members whose regular salary rates are less than those specified in Schedule I

- for their rank and Y value, shall be increased by an Adjustment to Scale such that these regular salary rates shall equal those shown in Schedule I.
- The minimum regular salary rate shall be constructed from the minimum for each rank. The minimum regular salary rate for the ranks of professional counsellors who hold the M.A. degree or its equivalent and for professional counsellors who are registered or who have the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent shall be the 2020/21 rank minimum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The minimum regular salary rates for 2021/22 for professional counsellor Members who hold the M.A. degree or its equivalent but who are not registered by the Nova Scotia Board of Examiners in Psychology shall be \$72,101 effective 1 July 2021. For those who are registered or who have the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent, the minimum shall be \$80,387 effective 1 July 2021.

Salary on Initial Appointment to Dalhousie University.

- 31.37 The regular salary rate of a Member, upon initial appointment to Dalhousie University shall be determined by the Board and shall not be less than that specified in the applicable Schedule for the Member's rank and Y value. The Y value shall be determined as set out in Appendix III, which shall be part of this Collective Agreement.
- 31.38 In addition to the provisions for consultation on initial appointment provided in Clause 14.19, in the case of persons to be appointed as instructor Members the Association nominees to the Association-Board Committee shall be provided with a statement concerning the candidate's creditable years of service and experience, and a curriculum vitae. This statement shall contain information provided by the candidate including previous employment dates, full or part-time status and fraction of full-time duties performed, in a form agreed between the Parties. The interpretation of experience, employment and creditable years by the Board, shall be made in accordance with the past practice of the Association-Board Committee in previous Collective Agreements for instructor Members. The placement on the salary scale shall be determined prior to commencement of employment.

Salary Maxima.

- 31.39 The salary maxima are intended as limits on C.D.I. and step progression and are to be construed as absolute maxima, with the following exceptions: adjustment of the regular salary rate by the I.M.C. component specified in Clauses 31.06(a), 31.10(a), 31.14(a), 31.17(a), 31.23(a), 31.27(a), 31.31(a), and 31.34(a); or salary upon appointment for Full Professors; or the adjustment of a regular salary rate in accordance with the provisions of Clause 8.01; or an adjustment in accordance with Clause 31.44; or a promotion adjustment specified in Clauses 31.06(c), and 31.23(c).
- 31.40 The maximum regular salary rate for 2020/21 shall be the 2019/20 maximum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rate for 2021/22 shall be the 2020/21 maximum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rates in

2020/21 and 2021/22 for the ranks of Members other than professional librarian, instructor and professional counsellor Members shall be as follows:

		Effective	Effective
		1 July 2020	1 July 2021
(a)	Lecturer, or equivalent	\$111,508	\$112,902
(b)	Assistant Professor, or equivalent	\$127,272	\$128,863
(c)	Associate Professor, or equivalent	\$161,241	\$163,257
(d)	Professor, or equivalent	\$195,420	\$197,863

As of 1 July **2020**, these maxima shall be **\$10,659** higher for those in the Faculty of Law with a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the maxima shall be **\$18,256** higher for those in the Faculty of Medicine with a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board or comparable agency. As of 1 July **2020**, these maxima shall be **\$10,659** higher for those in the Faculty of Engineering, in the School of Business and in the Faculty of Computer Science. As of 1 July **2021**, these maxima shall be **\$10,793** and **\$18,485** higher respectively.

31.41 The maximum regular salary rate for 2020/21 shall be the 2019/20 maximum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rate for 2021/22 shall be the 2020/21 maximum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rates in 2020/21 and 2021/22 for the ranks of professional librarian Members shall be as follows:

	Effective 1 July 2020	Effective 1 July 2021
Librarian 1	\$ 89,118	\$ 90,232
Librarian 2	\$104,405	\$105,711
Librarian 3	\$123,560	\$125,105
Librarian 4	\$147,388	\$149,231
	Librarian 2 Librarian 3	1 July 2020 Librarian 1 \$89,118 Librarian 2 \$104,405 Librarian 3 \$123,560

31.42A The maximum regular salary rate for **2020/21** shall be the **2019/20** maximum increased by **1.00** percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rate for **2021/22** shall be the **2020/21** maximum increased by **1.25** percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rates in **2020/21** and **21/22** for the ranks of instructor Members shall be as follows:

		Effective	Effective
		1 July 2020	1 July 2021
(a)	Instructor	\$106,483	\$107,815
(b)	Senior Instructor	\$130,697	\$132,331
(c)	University Teaching Fellow	\$154,912	\$156,849

As of 1 July **2020**, these maxima shall be **\$10,659** higher for those in the Faculty of Law with a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the maxima shall be **\$18,256** higher for those in the Faculty of Medicine with a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board or comparable agency. As of 1 July **2020**, these maxima shall be **\$10,569** higher for those in the Faculty of Engineering, in the School of Business and in the Faculty of Computer Science. As of 1 July **2021**, these maxima shall be **\$10,793** and **\$18,485** higher respectively.

31.42BThe maximum regular salary rate for 2020/21 shall be the 2019/20 maximum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rate for 2021/22 shall be the 2020/21 maximum increased by 1.25 percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rates in 2020/21 and 2021/22 for the ranks of Technology Instructor Members shall be as follows:

		Effective 1 July 2020	Effective 1 July 2021
(a)	Technology Instructor I	\$ 82,001	\$ 83,027
(b)	Technology Instructor II	\$ 89,905	\$ 91,029
(c)	Technology Instructor III	\$ 103,076	\$104,365

31.43 The maximum regular salary rate for 2017/18 shall be the 2016/17 maximum increased by 1.00 percent (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rate for 2018/19 shall be the 2017/18 maximum increased by 1.25% (I.M.C.). The maximum regular salary rates in 2020/21 and 2021/22 for professional counsellor Members shall be as follows:

		Effective 1 July 2020	Effective 1 July 2021
(a)	M.A. unregistered Counsellor Ph.D. or registered Counsellor	\$112,041	\$113,442
(b)		\$135,816	\$137,514

31.44 A Member other than a professional librarian, instructor or professional counsellor Member who has reached or exceeded the maximum for their rank shall receive a C.D.I. if recommended by the Dean, after consultation with the appropriate Chairperson, or Departmental Head, on the basis that their performance is substantially above the norm for the Member's rank and provided that the Member is not eligible for promotion. All newly appointed Members, who attain the maxima of their ranks within five years from the year of their appointment shall receive the C.D.I. for those five years regardless of the rank maxima unless any such payments are denied under Clause 31.08 or 31.25.

Administrative Stipends.

31.45 Those Members who are Chairpersons shall be paid an administrative stipend for such

duties and that stipend shall be added to their regular annual salaries for 2020/21 or for the period such Members were Chairpersons if less than one academic year. Those Chairpersons who have from one to five full-time equivalent Members in their Departments shall be paid \$3,248 effective 1 July 2020; those with six to fifteen shall be paid \$4,856 effective 1 July 2020; those with sixteen to thirty shall be paid \$6,461 effective 1 July 2020; and those with over thirty full-time equivalent Members shall be paid \$8,078 effective 1 July 2020, as a stipend. The number of full-time equivalent Members shall not include the Chairperson, but it shall include all other Members with teaching, research and/or artistic appointments, and it shall include allowance for part-time Members prorated to full-time equivalent positions. Those Members who are Chairpersons of Departments in which more than five full-time equivalent staff are regularly employed in addition to Members or employees performing work similar to that performed by Members shall be paid an additional \$1,089 effective 1 July 2020. Those Members who are Chairpersons of Departments in which more than five full-time equivalent Members are regularly employed and whose teaching responsibilities are not reduced below those normally assumed by Members of that Department shall be paid an additional \$1,089 effective 1 July 2020. Payment shall be effective 1 July 2020 or the date of the Member's administrative appointment if that was later, and payment shall cease when the appointment as Chairperson ends, except when the Member has served as Chairperson for from six to eight consecutive years (not including sabbatical leaves) in which case one-half of the stipend shall continue as part of the Member's regular salary, or when the Member has served as Chairperson for at least nine consecutive years, in which case the stipend shall continue and be part of the Member's regular salary. In no case, however, shall the Member's regular salary in the year the Member ceased to be Chairperson be less than the regular salary plus the administrative stipend of the preceding year. Acting Chairpersons shall be paid a stipend on the same basis as Chairpersons.

Those Members who are Chairpersons shall be paid an administrative stipend for such duties and that stipend shall be added to their regular annual salaries for 2021/22 or for the period such Members were Chairpersons if less than one academic year. Those Chairpersons who have from one to five full-time equivalent Members in their Departments shall be paid \$3,289 effective 1 July 2021; those with six to fifteen shall be paid \$4,917 effective 1 July 2021; those with sixteen to thirty shall be paid \$6,542 effective 1 July 2021; and those with over thirty full-time equivalent Members shall be paid \$8,179 effective 1 July 2021, as a stipend. The number of full-time equivalent Members shall not include the Chairperson, but it shall include all other Members with teaching, research and/or artistic appointments, and it shall include allowance for part-time Members prorated to full-time equivalent positions. Those Members who are Chairpersons of Departments in which more than five full-time equivalent staff are regularly employed in addition to Members or employees performing work similar to that performed by Members shall be paid an additional \$1,103 effective 1 July 2021. Those Members who are Chairpersons of Departments in which more than five full-time equivalent Members are regularly employed and whose teaching responsibilities are not reduced below those normally assumed by Members of that Department shall be paid an additional \$1,103 effective 1 July 2021. Payment shall be effective 1 July **2021** or the date of the Member's administrative

appointment if that was later, and payment shall cease when the appointment as Chairperson ends, except when the Member has served as Chairperson for from six to eight consecutive years (not including sabbatical leaves) in which case one-half of the stipend shall continue as part of the Member's regular salary, or when the Member has served as Chairperson for at least nine consecutive years, in which case the stipend shall continue and be part of the Member's regular salary. In no case, however, shall the Member's regular salary in the year the Member ceased to be Chairperson be less than the regular salary plus the administrative stipend of the preceding year. Acting Chairpersons shall be paid a stipend on the same basis as Chairpersons.

- 31.47 All Directors and Heads of Departments or other units who are Members shall be paid an administrative stipend, in addition to regular salary, on the same basis as specified for Chairpersons in Clauses 31.45 and 31.46.
- 31.48 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Collective Agreement, the Parties are agreed that Sexton department Heads who are receiving an administrative stipend at the signing of this Collective Agreement will receive the greater of:
 - (a) the administrative stipend they would receive pursuant to Clause 31.45 or 31.46;
 - (b) the administrative stipend they received immediately prior to the signing of the Collective Agreement.

It is further agreed that the aforementioned administrative stipends will continue for the duration of the Sexton Head's current appointment as Head.

- **31.49** Continuing Education Members who are Directors in the College of Continuing Education shall be paid an administrative stipend on the same basis as specified for Chairpersons in Clauses 31.45 and 31.46.
- 31.50 A person excluded from the bargaining unit in accordance with Clauses 14.22 or 14.23 shall, upon entering the bargaining unit, retain an administrative stipend if that stipend would be retained under the provisions of Clause 31.45 and 31.46 had the person been a Chairperson and a Member.

Overload Stipends.

31.51 Members entitled to additional remuneration in recognition of overload teaching shall receive an amount not less than \$10,557 in 2020/2021 per full class of 6 credit hours, or equivalent, (or a prorated amount for teaching a fraction of a class). In 2021/22 the amount shall be not less than \$10,689 effective 1 July 2021 per full class of 6 credit hours, or equivalent (or a prorated amount for teaching a fraction of a class).

Salary Administration.

- 31.52 Where a Member's previous bargaining unit position comes to an end, while the Member continues to perform substantially the same duties in a new rank in the same Faculty, with the appointment to the new rank made without posting or advertising the position, the Member's full-time equivalent salary rate upon appointment to the new rank shall not be less than what the full-time equivalent salary rate would have been had there been renewal of the previous appointment and no change in rank. A gap of four (4) months or less between appointments shall not preclude the application of this Clause.
- 31.53 Members holding post-retirement appointments, or who take up such an appointment, shall be paid the appropriate I.M.C. taking due account of any change in the fraction of full-time duties performed, as determined by the procedures of Article 14. Such Members shall also receive any Adjustment to Scale necessary to bring their regular salary rate up to the minimum for their rank and Y, as shown in the appropriate Schedule.
- 31.54 Each Member shall receive from the Board a written statement of his or her regular annual salary and the basis on which it was calculated whenever that salary is adjusted. Such notification shall be given no later than 30 April 2021 or, if the adjustment is made after that date, no later than the end of the month in which the adjustment is made. Administrative stipends shall be stated separately from regular annual salary. Each statement shall indicate the Member's Y value.
- **31.55** When a Member is promoted, his or her new salary, before the addition of any comparability adjustment, shall not be less than one C.D.I./step higher in the new rank scale, but only one C.D.I./step shall be added to a Member's salary rate for any one academic year.
- 31.56 Salary adjustments effective from 1 July 2020 shall be made before 30 April 2021. Any errors or omissions in the amount of these payments shall be corrected in the regular payroll in May 2021, or when the error or omission is confirmed, if that is later. Salary adjustments effective 1 July 2021 shall be made in the month in which they become effective.
- 31.57 The Board's present policy and practice with respect to payday shall remain in effect during the term of this Agreement.

Article 31A: The Anomalies Fund

In each year of the Collective Agreement the Board shall establish a separate fund of \$142,583 for 2020/21 and \$144,366 for 2021/22 in order to correct anomalies in base salary rates among Members. This Anomalies Fund shall be administered in accordance with the procedures set out in this Article.

- The Anomalies Fund shall be administered by a joint Anomalies Committee composed of three (3) individuals, one (1) nominated by the Board and one (1) nominated by the Association and a chair agreed upon by the two so-named. The decisions of the Anomalies Committee shall be final and binding on the applicants, the Association, the President and the Board and not subject to the grievance and arbitration process.
- No Member may receive a salary adjustment of more than \$5,000. No Member may receive more than one (1) such adjustment during the life of this Collective Agreement.
- A Member, Chairperson, Head, Director, Dean, Chief Librarian, University Librarian or Vice-President may apply in writing to the Committee for a salary adjustment in the base salary of a Member. Each application shall be signed by the individual making the application; shall set out the reasons for the application and the amount requested; and shall be forwarded to the Committee and copied to the Dean, University Librarian or Vice-President at the same time of submission to the Committee.
- 31A.05 Applications shall be made no later than 15 March of each year.
- Salary adjustments shall be assigned to Members whose salaries are judged to be anomalously low, when compared with the salaries of other Members accounting for experience and rank within their Faculty. For purposes of this Article, the collective body of Professional Librarian Members shall constitute a Faculty and the collective body of Professional Counsellor Members shall constitute a Faculty.
- The Committee's decision shall be communicated in writing to the Member no later than 30 April and shall include a written statement of the reasons for the decision in respect of the criteria set out in this Article. The Committee shall notify the Association and the Chair, Head, Director, Dean, Chief Librarian, University Librarian or Vice-President concerned of its decision.
- Salary adjustments in the base salary of a Member shall take effect on 1 July following the Committee's decision.
- In any year, the total amount in the Anomalies Fund need not be allocated. Any amount not allocated shall be carried forward and added to the Anomalies Fund for the succeeding year.

Article 32: Benefits

- 32.01 The Board agrees to continue the employee benefits as they were on the signing of this Collective Agreement, except as may be modified in this Collective Agreement or as they may be modified by agreement of the Board and the Association following a report of the Employee Benefits Committee or the Advisory Committee (established under the provisions of the Pension Plan). These include:
 - (a) waiving of tuition fees for Members and their dependents in accordance with Clauses 32.03 and 32.04;
 - (b) the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan in accordance with Clause 32.05;
 - (c) Group Life Insurance including coverage for accidental death and dismemberment, and the survivor income benefit;
 - (d) the Salary Continuance Programme;
 - (e) the optional Dental Care Plan, pursuant to Clause 32.13;
 - (f) Major Medical Insurance, subject to Clause 32.18;
 - (g) the Professional Development Allowance, pursuant to Clause 32.19;
 - (h) Voluntary Personal Accident Insurance;
 - (i) Voluntary Group Term Life Insurance;
 - (j) Health Spending Account.
- 32.02 The following general insurance provisions shall apply to all Members:
 - (a) malpractice insurance, pursuant to Clause 32.08;
 - (b) multi-peril insurance against loss of property, pursuant to Clause 32.09.
- 32.03 The Board agrees to waive tuition fees for Members, their spouses and children on the following bases:
 - (a) for Members, up to twelve credit hours in the 12 month period ending 31 August of each year in any Faculty of Dalhousie University,
 - (b) fees for non-credit courses at Dalhousie University for Members may be waived for reasons of professional development where approval is given by the Dean of the Member's Faculty (Vice-President where there is no Faculty) or University Librarian, as appropriate, in advance of registration,
 - (c) for spouses and children, fifty percent (50%) of tuition fees in all courses offered at Dalhousie University in any undergraduate program in any Faculty other than Dentistry (excluding the School of Dental Hygiene), Law and Medicine. Where both parents are Members the tuition fee waiver in this Clause 32.03(c) shall be 100%,
 - (d) Where a Member has a child in respect of which any waivers claimed under Sub-Clause 32.03(c) do not exceed 15 billing hour fees (30 if both parents are

Members), the Board agrees to waive tuition of \$4,719 for that child (until age 25) in respect of a Dalhousie MD, DDS, or LLB (prorated for an LLB student enrolled at less than full-time fees). Where both parents are Members, the tuition waiver in this Sub-Clause shall be \$9,438. The waiver amounts will be adjusted by the general increase in University tuition for 2021/22. This Sub-Clause 32.03(d) may only be used for one degree program. The fees are based on the standard annual tuition for the Bachelor of Health Science.

32.03A For purposes of Clauses 32.03 and 32.04 the following definitions shall apply:

"Spouse" shall mean a person who either is married through an ecclesiastical or civil ceremony to an employee, or although not legally married to an employee, cohabits with the employee for at least 12 months in a conjugal relationship. The term "conjugal relationship" shall be deemed to include a conjugal relationship between partners of the same sex.

"Child" shall mean any dependent child of the Member to the end of the academic year of the child's 25th birthday, or beyond that date if dependent on the Member by reason of mental or physical disability. Dependents are defined as children of the Member for whom the Member is entitled to claim tax credit under the Income Tax Act in the year in which the tuition waiver is requested or children not over the age of twenty-five (25) to whom the Member declares that they provide regular financial support.

"Tuition Fee" shall mean the basic tuition fee applicable to specific programmes and shall include auxiliary fees which are for required instruction but shall exclude any other fees such as international student differential fees, co-op fees and student union fees.

32.04 Tuition waivers, in accordance with Clause 32.03, shall continue to be available to:

- (a) Members who have retired, having been employed for five or more years, and to their spouses and children, and to the spouses and children of former Members who are deceased and who had been employed for five or more years;
- (b) the children of those Members who are divorced or legally separated provided satisfactory documentary evidence of support equivalent to 7% of annual earnings is provided;
- (c) Members who are ill or disabled and to their spouses and children, provided the Member is in receipt of salary pursuant to Clause 30.05 or long term disability benefits pursuant to Clause 30.06.
- 32.05 (1) The Board agrees to continue the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan as it was on the signing of this Collective Agreement, except as it may be modified in

this Collective Agreement and in the Memorandum of Understanding dated 13 November 1987, or by agreement between the Board and the Association after the approval of the Advisory Committee. Within thirty (30) calendar days of the approval of any Plan amendment by the Nova Scotia Superintendent of Pensions and by the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency (formerly Revenue Canada), the Board will provide an updated electronic copy of the complete Pension Plan text to the Association in addition to updated hard copies of the altered pages of Plan text.

- A. Any reports of the Advisory Committee to the Board, the Association and any represented bargaining unit will be directed to the President of the University, the President of the Association, and the President or other representative of the other bargaining units respectively. The Board will cooperate in providing information and actuarial services as the Advisory Committee may require. The Board will invite bargaining units to confirm the name(s) of their representative(s) on the Advisory Committee within thirty days of the signing of this Agreement.
- B. Notwithstanding Rule 28 of the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan, any rights or entitlements which a Member, former Member or beneficiary of a Member has or might have under the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan shall be grievable in accordance with the provisions of Article 29 of this Collective Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, grievances may include disputes on the interpretation, application or administration of the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan.
- C. Subject only to the approval of the Advisory Committee, the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency (Taxation) and the Superintendent of Pensions of the Province of Nova Scotia, the Board and the Association agree that any definition of spouse in the Plan shall include a person of the same sex with whom the Member has been cohabitating for at least one year in a conjugal relationship.
- D. No part of the capital or income of the Fund shall be withdrawn from the Plan to be used for purposes other than the benefit of employees and former employees under the Plan, except with the agreement of the Advisory Committee.
- E. No portion of any surplus money held in the Pension Trust Fund shall be withdrawn from that Fund or used to pay employer contributions without the prior approval of the Board and all of the various bargaining units, including the Dalhousie Faculty Association, and the Administrative Group. Any such action shall, in any event, be subject to the prior consent of the Superintendent of Pensions if required under the Pension Benefits

Act of Nova Scotia.

- F. The preceding Sub-Clauses in this Clause 32.05 do not apply with respect to Members who were employees of the Technical University of Nova Scotia on 31 March 1997 and who were members of the Public Service Superannuation Plan on 31 March 1997 and who elected to continue as members of that Plan. These Members shall retire in accordance with the terms of that Plan and the Public Service Superannuation Act. The preceding Sub-Clauses in this Clause 32.05 do not apply with respect to those Members who were "Designated Employees" as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University-Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act who were members of the Public Service Superannuation Plan on September 1, 2012. These Members shall retire in accordance with the terms of that Plan and the Public Service Superannuation Act.
- G. All actuarial reviews and valuations except for preliminary drafts shall be made available to the Association representatives on the Pension Advisory Committee within two (2) working days of receipt by the University Administration. Requests for written reports from the actuary which are to be paid for as costs of administering the Pension Plan shall be directed through the Pension Advisory Committee and all such reports received from the actuary shall be made available to the Association representatives and the President of the DFA within two (2) business days of receipt by the University Administration. Excepted from this provision are reports regarding benefits of specific individuals.
- The provisions of this Clause 32.05(2) shall apply only to full-time Members employed on 9 October 1981 at the Technical University of Nova Scotia (TUNS) and continuously employed by TUNS until 31 March 1997 and by Dalhousie University thereafter (herein called 1981 Sexton Member) and shall not apply to any Member hired after 9 October 1981.
 - (a) A 1981 Sexton Member who is retired or who is about to be retired because of age or mental or physical incapacity shall be granted an award, the equivalent of five (5) calendar days pay at their then salary for each completed year of service. For example: A 1981 Sexton Member with twenty-two (22) years' service would be eligible to receive an amount equal to:

5 X 22 X Last Yearly Salary 365

(b) If a 1981 Sexton Member dies while still employed by the Board, and if they would have been entitled to the Service Award had they retired immediately prior to their death, the amount to which they would be

- entitled shall be paid to the person who is eligible to receive the deceased pension benefits or to their estate if there is no such beneficiary.
- (c) The salary which shall be used to calculate the amount of the Service Award in accordance with this Clause 32.05(2) shall be the salary which the 1981 Sexton Member was receiving on the date of the termination of their employment.
- (3) Designated employees as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University-Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act who became employees of Dalhousie University on September 1, 2012 shall be granted a Public Service Award in accordance with the following:
 - (i) An employee who ceases to be employed either by retirement or resignation from employment, and is immediately eligible for and immediately accepts a pension pursuant to the provisions of the *Public Service Superannuation Act*, shall be granted a Public Service Award equal to one (1) week's pay for each year of full-time service to a maximum of twenty-six (26) years. The amount will include a pro-rated payment for a partial year of service.
 - (ii) The amount of Public Service Award provided under Clause 32.01(a) shall be calculated by the formula:

$$\frac{\text{Annual Salary}}{52} = 1 \text{ week}$$

- (iii) The entitlement of an employee to a Public Service Award shall be based on the service credited to the employee as an employee of Her Majesty in Right of the Province and the employee's service at Dalhousie University after September 1, 2012.
- (iv) Where an employee dies and they would have been entitled to receive a Public Service Award if they had retired immediately before their death, the Public Service Award to which they would have been entitled shall be paid to the person who is eligible to receive the deceased's pension benefits or to their estate if there is no such beneficiary.

The salary which shall be used to calculate the amount of the Public Service Award in accordance with this Article shall be the salary which the employee was receiving on the date of the termination of their employment or the salary used in the calculation of a pension under the *Public Service Superannuation Act*, whichever is greater.

32.06 The Board agrees to maintain a Dalhousie University Employee Benefits Committee

representative of interested union and non-union staff groups (including two representatives of the Association), and the Senate and the Board, to consider issues relating to the Dalhousie University Salary Continuance Programme and other benefit programmes. Representatives named by the Board and the Senate to the committee shall not be more numerous than representatives named by staff groups. The committee shall consider matters relating to benefit programmes for staff, including the administration, participation in and contribution to benefit programmes. The committee shall report to the Association, the Board and others represented on the committee and when changes in benefit programmes or their administration are considered the committee shall also report on the costs that would be incurred as a result of changes. The Board will cooperate in providing information and consultative services as the committee may require. The Board will invite staff groups to review their representatives within thirty days of the signing of the Collective Agreement. The committee shall select its own Chair each year. Any reports required of this committee by the Board and the Association will be directed to the President of the University, and the President of the Association respectively.

- 32.07 Within six months of the close of each fiscal year, the Board agrees to provide to the Association an audited balance sheet and income statement for the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan. Such statements shall show the rate of return earned in each of the previous two fiscal years.
- 32.08 The Board shall defend Members in any suit or claim for damages alleging malpractice by any Member arising from the activities of students under their supervision, and shall indemnify any Member for any damages awarded against the Member in such a suit, provided:
 - (a) the Member has met standards for supervision consistent with their professional responsibilities, and
 - (b) if the work of students under the Member's supervision involves clinical or experimental work with human subjects, appropriate clinical standards or appropriate standards or protocols for experimental work with human subjects have been met.
- 32.09 The Board shall continue to provide multi-peril insurance against loss of the property of a Member, excluding vehicles, trailers or boats, which property is on the premises of the University in a University office or laboratory and is there for use in connection with the work of the Member, to a limit of \$10,000 for each Member, and shall arrange for extended coverage beyond that limit for each Member who desires to pay for extended coverage, provided that the Member takes all reasonable precautions to avoid or minimize loss.

32.10 The Board agrees that:

(a) the present annual general parking fees to be paid by Members for unreserved,

outdoor parking on Dalhousie University parking lots shall not be increased beyond the Income Maintenance Change awarded to Members for the year preceding that for which the fees apply. If the Parking Committee can demonstrate that a larger increase is required in response to increased annual operating costs, a special increase proposal shall be brought to the Association-Board Committee for a final decision, subject to the Parties right to grieve;

- (b) the fees for reserved outdoor parking shall not be increased beyond the Income Maintenance Change awarded to Members for the year preceding that for which the fees apply. If the Parking Committee can demonstrate that a larger increase is required in response to increased annual operating costs, a special increase proposal shall be brought to the Association-Board Committee for a final decision, subject to the Parties right to grieve;
- (c) the fees for reserved indoor parking shall not be increased beyond the percentage equivalent of the average overall change in salary to Members for the year preceding that for which the fees apply, unless it can be demonstrated through the Parking Committee to the Association-Board Committee that a larger increase is required to cover increased operating costs;
- (d) the Board may make significant changes to the capacity and accessibility of Dalhousie University parking lots by agreement with the Association, but lacking such agreement the Board may make such changes if it has a bona fide case for doing so in terms of the actual costs necessary, the needs of staff for such parking space and the building requirements of the University, and if the change will not result in a reduction in the overall number of parking spaces available to the University community;
- (e) Members whose offices are on the Sexton campus and who are precluded from acquiring term parking permits by virtue of the "near zone" parking policy of Sexton campus will be sold, on request at the commencement of each term, eight daily parking passes.
- 32.11 The Board agrees to pay the transportation costs for a newly-appointed Member, their spouse and dependent children from the place of residence of the Member when appointed, to Halifax, at the rate of economy-class airfare or lesser actual cost, by the most direct route, subject to recovery in circumstances provided in Clause 32.12(c).
- 32.12 The Board agrees to reimburse the costs of moving household and other effects of a newly-appointed Member when estimates of costs are submitted in advance to the Dean or Vice-President concerned who shall approve the amount of reimbursement to be paid either in advance subject to satisfactory accounting thereafter, or upon presentation of receipts following the Member's move to Halifax, subject to the following limitations:
 - (a) the full costs shall be paid for moving essential professional equipment and

books, when separately estimated in advance of any move and then approved by the Dean or Vice-President;

- (b) in the case of a Member newly appointed the costs of moving household goods and personal effects (not including automobiles) by surface freight shall ordinarily be reimbursed up to two-thirds of the costs actually incurred or \$3,877, whichever is the lesser (in exceptional cases, by agreement in advance, the limit on moving costs may be increased at the discretion of the Board);
- (c) the reimbursement of moving costs shall take the form of an interest-free loan. One-third of the loan shall be forgiven on the date the Member commences employment, a second third shall be forgiven on the first anniversary of employment commencement and the last third shall be forgiven on the second anniversary of employment commencement. In the event the Member ceases employment prior to any of the dates mentioned, the amount owing shall be paid on those dates to the Board. Members with limited term appointments for less than three years shall have their moving costs forgiven on the date of completion of their appointment.

The Association agrees that if, through a procedure which is acceptable to the Association-Board Committee and in consultation with the Association's nominees to that Committee, the Board contracts with a company for moving services and if that contract is endorsed by the Association-Board Committee by concurrent majority, the Board shall include the offer of moving services (including applicable discounts) from that company to each newly-appointed Member. The Board agrees that if a newly-appointed Member agrees to use the services of the contracted company, estimates from other companies of the costs of the move shall not be required.

- 32.13 The Board agrees that it will keep available the Dental Care Plan presently in existence, or its equivalent, for all Members and their dependents who choose to participate. The Board shall pay fifty percent of the cost of the premiums. The coverage provided will be adjusted each year to the current Nova Scotia Dental Fee Guide, unless the Employee Benefits Committee, after a review of the plan costs, decides by a majority not to endorse such an adjustment. The Board shall also keep available the current level of orthodontic coverage for Members' dependent children and on the same cost-sharing basis.
- 32.14 The Board agrees to allow Members, their spouses and their dependents access to all sports, athletic and recreational facilities of Dalhousie University on the same basis and at the same cost as for other University employees. Dalplex membership fees for Members, for individual, or family memberships (as that term is defined in the Dalplex fee schedule), shall be 50% of the fee charged to the general community.
- 32.15 Members who are not on leave may apply, through their Chairperson, Head, Director or Chief Librarian, to the appropriate Committee on Research Development of the Office of Research Services for a research grant to be paid in equal monthly instalments for a

period not to exceed 12 months. Application shall be made on the prescribed form available from the Office of Research Services. When the application is approved, the Board shall reduce the Member's regular salary by the approved amount in the month or months in question and pay that amount or those amounts to the Member as a research grant. Such payments shall be reported by the Board as a research grant on a T4A form.

The following provisions shall apply to the consideration and payment of such research grants:

- (a) research grant in lieu of salary shall not be less than \$1,000.00 for any month and shall not exceed 50% of the salary that would otherwise be applicable in a calendar year;
- (b) the Vice-President or Principal and the Dean must confirm that the amount of the research grant is for research which is reasonably equivalent in value to the reduction in the non-specific research component of the Member's normal responsibilities;
- (c) there is sufficient salary being paid, net of the research grant, to meet the cost of pension and statutory and insured benefits contributions, based on the nominal salary;
- (d) the appropriate Committee on Research Development of the Office of Research Services must conclude that the amounts requested are reasonable and that the proposal appears to meet the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency definition of eligible research;
- (e) the grant will only be used for the purposes for which the application was made; and,
- (f) any tax withholding issues arising from a particular application shall be between the Member and the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency.
- 32.16 Daycare facilities for Members' children shall continue to be available during the term of this Agreement and the daycare centre will operate on a non-profit basis levying fees sufficient to meet its operating costs and liabilities.
- 32.17 The Board may enter into an agreement with a Member with tenure, appointment without term or continuing appointment who wishes to terminate their employment with Dalhousie, who does not have alternative employment at hand, and whose termination is consistent with the academic needs of the Programme and the financial interests of the University. The possibility of such an arrangement may be explored informally, but all communication prior to a formal application shall be without prejudice to the Member and the Board.

Formal application shall be made through the Association as the sole bargaining agent to the Board. The Board reserves the right to refuse any application. If through this process the Member and the Board agree to the separation the Member shall receive a severance allowance up to a maximum amount calculated as one year's regular salary plus one additional month's salary for each year of employment beyond 10, to a maximum of 12 additional months. Thus, the maximum severance payment would not exceed 24 months' salary. This amount might be reduced in light of the Board's interest in the termination and the individual's employment prospects, as may be agreed upon by the Member and the Board. The individual would be free to withdraw or transfer accumulated pension benefits, subject to locking-in provisions of provincial legislation and any applicable income tax laws. The salary rate used to calculate the appropriate severance allowance would be the applicant's regular salary rate at the time of agreement. The Member may also wish to take early retirement, subject to the provisions of the Dalhousie University Pension Plan.

The manner in which the severance allowance is paid shall be by agreement of the Member and the Board, subject to any applicable laws or regulations.

- 32.18 (a) The Board shall pay sixty percent (60%) of the premiums for all Members who participate in the Major Medical Insurance (Blue Cross) Plan.
 - (b) Effective **July 1, 2020,** the Board agrees to provide each Member with \$1000 annually in a Health Spending Account. The Health Spending Account is not intended to erode the benefit plans provided to the general membership. Its purpose is to provide flexibility to self-select and direct enhanced coverage.
- 32.19 The Board recognizes that Members face various expenses related to their occupation. For the fiscal years **2020/21** and **2021/22**, the Board, therefore, agrees to reimburse Members for allowable professionally-related expenditures which are not otherwise reimbursed by the University and which relate to the Member's responsibilities to the University.

Allowable professionally-related expenditures are limited to the following: membership fees for professional and/or learned societies, subscriptions to professional and/or learned journals, purchase of books, equipment, and/or other items related to the Member's research or scholarly activities and registration fees for attendance at scholarly conferences. Members' eligible expenses, up to a maximum of \$794 in the fiscal year 2020/21 and \$802 in the fiscal year 2021/22 and \$813 in the fiscal year 2022/23, shall be reimbursed. Members may apply once during the period 1 April to 28 February for reimbursement up to the maximum amount and shall provide receipts and relevant information regarding their application. The Member's application shall be considered by the relevant Faculty-level committee established pursuant to Clause 30.33 and, if approved, shall be paid by the Board.

Article 33: Health and Safety

- 33.01 The Board, consistent with its rights and obligations in law, recognizes its responsibility to provide a safe environment in which to carry out the University's functions.
- The Board agrees to continue the University Environmental Health and Safety Committee. There shall be two committees, one for the Halifax campuses and one for the Agricultural campus. Each bargaining unit within Dalhousie University shall be invited to appoint one member to each of the committees, except the Association shall appoint two members to the Halifax committee, one of whom shall be an instructor Member. Members shall request alternates to participate in their absence. The Board shall appoint members of the committees, not to exceed in number those named by the bargaining units. The committee shall be empowered to add from time to time those further members it deems necessary for its function in such a manner as to preserve the principle of parity between the bargaining units and the Board. The chairperson of each committee shall be elected from amongst its members, and shall have a vote. The committees may each invite a nonvoting observer from the Dalhousie University Student Union, and from each interested non-union staff group which applies.
 - (b) A Director of Safety or Campus Principal shall be a non-voting member of the Environmental Safety Committee. The Director or Campus Principal normally shall attend all meetings of the committee, and shall normally provide a written record on issues of safety relayed to the Director's office, and shall report on the steps being taken to deal with those issues, and any additional measures required. This record shall form part of the minutes of the committee meetings.
 - (c) A copy of the minutes of the committee meetings shall be provided to the Association.
- 33.03 (a) The Environmental Safety Committee shall be empowered to recommend policies, guidelines and/or codes of practice for all aspects of health and safety within the University, including work practices. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the committee may identify any toxic, radioactive or otherwise dangerous substances present on the campus, and recommend policies, guidelines and/or codes of practice for the presence, use, transportation and disposal of all such substances.
 - i) Recommendations that impact university-wide policies, guidelines and/or codes of practice must be approved by the Halifax campus committee before being made to the Board.
 - (b) The Environmental Safety Committee shall be empowered to make recommendations to the Board for alterations to physical facilities or actual work practices, if it deems such alterations necessary or desirable for carrying out the

University's functions in a safe and healthy manner.

- (c) The Environmental Safety Committee shall be empowered to make recommendations on mechanisms that the committee considers necessary for investigating any complaints or allegations about unsafe or unhealthy working conditions.
- (d) The Environmental Safety Committee shall be empowered to set its own procedures.
- 33.04 The Board shall consider the recommendations of the committee pursuant to Clause 33.03; if the action of the Board varies from the recommendations of the committee it shall report its decision and reasons in writing to the committee. All original policies, recommendations, guidelines and/or codes or practice recommended to the Board by the committee and the Board's above-mentioned report to the committee shall be maintained by the chairperson of the committee who shall advise the Board and the Association of the location of these documents which shall be available to members upon reasonable request; a copy shall also be kept in the Association office. No Member shall be penalized or have their employment terminated due to any of the Board actions resulting from recommendations of the committee.
- 33.05 The Board agrees to publish to all appropriate employees any policies, guidelines, and/or codes of practice adopted or approved by the Board pursuant to Clause 33.04.
- 33.06 Subject to Clause 33.04, Members shall assume appropriate responsibilities to respect, comply with, and assist in the implementation of Board-approved policies, guidelines and/or codes of practice as provided in Clause 33.05, and the Association shall encourage Members to comply with these policies, guidelines and/or codes of practice. Willful disregard of such policies, guidelines and/or codes of practice shall be grounds for disciplinary proceedings.
- No Member shall be laid-off, have their employment terminated, or be disciplined for refusing to work where in the reasonable opinion of the Member there is an imminent danger to health, or for refusing to participate in any work practice which does not conform to guidelines provided in Clause 33.05. Any evidence of such health or safety hazard shall be reported immediately to the appropriate authority for investigation and remedy, and the committee shall be notified of any such report. The Member(s) involved may be requested to accept temporary assignment to appropriate alternative duties and/or workplace pending investigation and any necessary remedial action, and such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.
 - (b) Where a Member believes that a health or safety hazard may exist in the working environment or in work practices, the circumstances shall be reported to the committee for immediate assessment, and to any appropriate authority. Where the

committee confirms that a health or safety hazard exists, the Member(s) affected may be requested to accept temporary assignment to appropriate alternative duties and/or workplace until any necessary remedial action is taken, and such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

(c) Upon request from a Member, the Board shall, at the Board's expense, provide the appropriate personal protective equipment needed to protect them from hazards in their workplace. Where possible, PPE for research activities should be covered by research funds.

Article 34: Strikes and Lock-outs

- 34.01 In addition to the expectation that Members are required to live up to their obligations and responsibilities under this Collective Agreement, the Parties agree that there shall be no form of strike, no concerted interruption of normal work performance and no form of lock-out so long as this Collective Agreement continues to operate.
- 34.02 As a means of continuing the services indicated in Clauses 34.03 and 34.04 after this Collective Agreement is no longer in force, the Parties agree to maintain, during any strike or lock-out, the Association-Board Committee.
- 34.03 In the event of a work interruption, lock-out or legal strike, Members who require access to University facilities in order to prevent irreparable damage (such as danger to human, plant or animal life or decomposable material) shall be granted such access, if their request is approved by the Association-Board Committee. If possible, requirements for such access shall be made known to the Association-Board Committee, prior to any such work interruption.
- 34.04 In the event of a legal strike or lock-out, the Board shall provide the Association-Board Committee with a list of essential services and with a list of Members it has nominated to carry out the services detailed in the Board's list. Such Members, if they are willing and if the committee determines their services are essential, shall continue to work at such services, receiving a percentage of their regular salary and benefits equivalent to the percentage of their regular workload represented by such essential services.
- 34.05 No Member shall be subject to any disciplinary action for refusing to carry out the duties of an employee of the University who is on legal strike, or of one who is prevented from performing duties by a lock-out.
- 34.06 The Parties recognize that there may be broad civil and social actions, other than civil and social issues which are specific to Dalhousie University, called for by such established organizations as the Canadian Association of University Teachers and its affiliates, in which Members acting in good conscience feel they must participate. The Parties also concede that such actions must not disrupt the University's functions. Subject to these

considerations, no Member shall be disciplined in any way for participating in such actions. Any Member who alters the time or location of their regularly scheduled responsibilities because of such an action shall consult with their Chairperson, Director, Chief Librarian or other appropriate University officer, to assure the arrangements are suitable.

Article 35: Transition, Term and Duration

- 35.01 Except as may otherwise be specified, this Collective Agreement shall take effect from the date it is signed and remain in force until the end of 30 June **2022**, but including any period of negotiation until a new Collective Agreement is signed or the right to strike and lock-out accrues.
- 35.01A Members who have retired or terminated employment before the signing of this Collective Agreement shall receive the increases in regular salary rates in Article 31 that apply up to the date of their retirement or termination.
- 35.02 Any grievance, arbitration, or any appeal to a University Tenure Committee or a University Hearing Committee which commenced under the provisions of the predecessor Collective Agreement shall continue and be resolved under the provisions of that Collective Agreement.
- 35.03 Recommendations and decisions on reappointments, promotions, tenure, appointments without term and the determination of Y values which commenced under the provisions of the predecessor Collective Agreement shall continue to be resolved under the provisions of that Collective Agreement.
- 35.04 The Parties agree they will meet to bargain in good faith for a new Collective Agreement within 14 days of one Party giving notice to the other on or after 1 April **2022**.

Article 36: Fairness and Natural Justice

- 36.01 The Parties agree they shall exercise their respective rights under this Collective Agreement fairly and reasonably, in good faith and without discrimination, and in a manner consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement.
- 36.02 The Parties are agreed that the rules of natural justice apply to the following proceedings or hearings involving a Member:
 - (a) Department, School, College or similar unit committees or Faculty committees considering a Member for reappointment, promotion, tenure, appointment without term or continuing appointment, and

- (b) the University Tenure Committee, and
- (c) the University Promotion Appeal Committee, and
- (d) the Dalhousie University Hearing Committee,

provided that such rules of natural justice are consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement.

- 36.03 A Member has the right to reasonable notice of and the right to attend any proceeding or hearing or portion thereof involving the Member's specific case which is held by a committee referred to in Clause 36.02, provided that there shall be no right to attend proceedings or hearings or portions thereof which are solely and exclusively deliberations of the committee. Additionally, the Member has the right to make submissions to such a committee. The Member has the right, on request, to receive written reasons for the decision of such a committee.
- 36.04 No person who has been involved as a decision-maker at any stage in any of the proceedings covered by Clause 36.02 shall participate as a decision-maker at a later stage of that case.
- 36.05 The President of the Association or their delegate may attend any appeal hearing of the University Tenure Committee or the University Promotion Appeal Committee as an observer.
- 36.06 Members serving on any committee referred to in Clause 36.02 shall exercise their responsibilities fairly and reasonably, in good faith and without discrimination and in a manner consistent with the provisions of this Collective Agreement and, where appropriate, in accordance with Clause 36.02.

Article 37: Continuing Education Members

37.01 Continuing Education Members shall have the same rights and responsibilities as other Members except as otherwise provided in this Collective Agreement.

Kinds of Appointment.

37.02 Appointments of Continuing Education Members shall be of the same four kinds as those given in Clause 14.09 of this Collective Agreement.

Appointments/Promotions and Tenure Committees.

37.03 (a) No Continuing Education Member shall be appointed or reappointed unless they have been recommended for such an appointment by an appropriate

committee of the College of Continuing Education elected by the Continuing Education Members in the unit to which they would be assigned. All recommendations for appointments and reappointments shall be made to the Dean by the Director of the unit and subsequently to the President for presentation to the Board. The Dean shall consider a recommendation, if any, with respect to rank and kind of appointment; if they disagree with the recommendation they shall consult with the committee and endeavour to reach agreement on the matter before proceeding. The Parties agree that unnecessary delays in the appointment process would diminish the reputation of Dalhousie University and its effectiveness. The Board therefore undertakes to ensure that all decisions affecting appointments are made as expeditiously as possible. The provisions of Clause 14.11(b) shall apply to all appointments of Continuing Education Members. A recommendation for reappointment shall be consistent with the provisions of Clause 14.15. In no case shall deliberations be transacted in the absence of a quorum which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview candidates, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with candidates have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations.

- (b) There shall be a College of Continuing Education Promotions and Tenure Committee composed of three Continuing Education Members representing at least two units in the College of Continuing Education. Members of the Committee shall be elected by Continuing Education Members in the College of Continuing Education. Whenever a Continuing Education Member is being considered for promotion or tenure, that Continuing Education Member shall not serve on the Committee and an alternate shall be elected by the other Continuing Education Members in the College of Continuing Education. All recommendations from the Committee shall be made to the Dean. The Director may make a separate recommendation. The recommendation of the committee and the Director together with all documents and other evidence on which they are based shall be passed to the Dean by 15 February in the case of promotions. In no case shall deliberations be transacted in the absence of a quorum which shall be two-thirds (2/3) of the members of the Committee (rounded to the nearest whole number). In the event of a resignation from the Committee before the Committee has begun to interview a Member being considered for promotion or tenure, the resulting vacancy shall be filled by election. If interviews with a Member being considered for promotion or tenure have commenced, the vacancy shall remain unfilled for the balance of the deliberations for that Member.
- (c) In the case of an application by a Continuing Education Member for reappointment, tenure, and/or promotion, those Members who identify as Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian may elect to have an Aboriginal or African Nova Scotian non-voting representative on their College of Continuing Education

Promotions and Tenure Committee. The representative will be chosen by the Member and must be arm's length and have an academic appointment at Dalhousie University. The role of the representative is to provide advice to the Committee on any aspect of the Member's application that may be a reflection of the Member's heritage and/or identity. The representative may prepare an independent report to add to the Member's file.

Tenure.

37.04 Except to the extent as herein modified, the provisions of Article 15 shall apply to Continuing Education Members being considered for tenure.

The criteria for consideration for tenure of Continuing Education Members shall be as set out in this Article. A recommendation for tenure shall only be made when it can be firmly predicted that the Continuing Education Member recommended will, in consequence of a demonstrated effectiveness in the performance of the Continuing Education Member's duties and responsibilities and a demonstrated commitment to intellectual and professional activity throughout their career, attain and maintain a high degree of proficiency.

General criteria for consideration for tenure include: academic and professional qualifications; contributions to the College of Continuing Education and its programmes; ability and willingness to work with colleagues so that the unit and the College of Continuing Education function effectively; and personal integrity.

Additional criteria and/or the standards appropriate in respect of the criteria for tenure may be established by the College of Continuing Education regulations. The standards for part-time Continuing Education Members may differ from those for full-time Continuing Education Members.

Duties and Responsibilities of Continuing Education Members.

- 37.05 The duties and responsibilities of Continuing Education Members, in varying proportions dependent upon the Continuing Education Member's workload may include the following:
 - (a) (i) The development, coordination, marketing, administration and the delivery of organized, systematic educational activities (outside the framework of undergraduate and graduate degree courses) designed to be relevant to particular groups; these activities include but are not limited to courses, conferences, workshops and other educational opportunities. The delivery of continuing education and public affairs activities may include instructing, tutoring, counselling, facilitating learning, and the evaluation of participants, although no Continuing Education Member will necessarily use all of these methods of delivery;

- (ii) the designing, writing and editing of courses or programme curricula and materials; the planning of methods of delivery in conjunction with representatives of the participants in order to fit teaching styles to the continuing education learning situations;
- (iii) the provision of appropriate information, consultation and leadership development services on community based issues to particular groups;
- (iv) the development, coordination and administration of summer school courses for credit at Dalhousie University and/or the development, delivery, coordination and administration of other programmes aimed at improving access to University credit courses and degree programmes for part-time, adult and non-traditional students;
- (v) the preparation of information and promotional materials on Continuing Education programmes and educational activities, as well as appropriate documentation including proposals, reports, needs assessments and programme and course evaluations related to continuing education and public affairs activities;
- (vi) research, scholarly, and/or professional activity which is normally directed to:
 - (a) specific programme initiatives that are being implemented or are being considered for implementation at the College of Continuing Education; and/or
 - (b) the Member's areas of expertise or specialization in the College of Continuing Education; and/or
 - (c) the field of adult and continuing education and of public affairs; and/or
 - (d) where appropriate, other related fields.
- (b) Academic administration within Dalhousie University. The Parties recognize that the self-governance of the University depends upon the willing participation of Continuing Education Members in the activities of their units, the College of Continuing Education and in the Senate and other bodies to which a Continuing Education Member may be elected or appointed. Insofar as such is consistent with their primary duties and responsibilities, Continuing Education Members have the right and the responsibility to participate in such bodies when called upon to do so or when elected to such bodies. Service to the Association shall be treated neither more nor less favourably by units in the College of Continuing Education or other units of Dalhousie University than committee and similar duties performed for

units in the College of Continuing Education and Dalhousie University generally, for purposes of assessing and evaluating a Member's contribution to academic administration within Dalhousie University;

(c) Contributions to the professional field of continuing education including participation in the activities of appropriate professional associations or other bodies whose work is supportive of continuing education;

Whenever the words "teaching, librarianship, research, scholarly, artistic and/or professional" or any of them or similar terms are applied to Continuing Education Members to describe duties and responsibilities then, where appropriate, the meaning thereof shall be modified to reflect the special duties and responsibilities of Continuing Education Members as set out in this Article.

Workloads.

37.06 The workload of Continuing Education Members shall be defined through the established practices of the College of Continuing Education. Such practices shall provide for consultation with the Member and approval by the Dean.

Transfer/Reassignment.

37.07 Continuing Education Members shall only be transferred or reassigned duties in other units of the College of Continuing Education after consultation and with their consent, or where such transfer or reassignment is required in order to meet the program or budgetary needs of the College of Continuing Education, in which case provision shall be made for the Continuing Education Member's input which shall be considered and to which a written response shall be provided upon request. Requests for transfer or reassignment to available positions within the College of Continuing Education shall not be unreasonably denied provided the transfer or reassignment is consistent with the needs of the unit and the College of Continuing Education.

Ranks.

- 37.08 Appointments of Continuing Education Members shall be made to one of the following ranks:
 - (a) Lecturer (Continuing Education);
 - (b) Assistant Professor (Continuing Education);
 - (c) Associate Professor (Continuing Education);
 - (d) Professor (Continuing Education).

Appointments to any other ranks for Continuing Education Members must be approved by the Association-Board Committee.

The continuing education ranks Lecturer (Continuing Education), Assistant Professor (Continuing Education), Associate Professor (Continuing Education) and Professor (Continuing Education) shall correspond in terms of salary to those of the teaching staff in the following ranks respectively: Lecturer, Assistant Professor, Associate Professor and Professor. The continuing education rank Special Instructor (Continuing Education) shall correspond to the salary scale for Instructor Members.

Promotion.

37.09 Except to the extent as herein modified, the provisions of Article 16 shall apply to Continuing Education Members being considered for promotion.

The criteria for promotion of Continuing Education Members shall be the same as those for tenure for Continuing Education Members. Promotion is based upon positive evidence of actual achievement and accomplishment in those duties and responsibilities which constitute the Continuing Education Member's workload and not on years of service. Where promotion is being considered to the rank of Professor (Continuing Education) the following standards shall also apply:

Promotion to the rank of Professor (Continuing Education) shall be recommended only when solid evidence is established that the Continuing Education Member has attained and is likely to maintain a high level of effectiveness in the performance of their duties and responsibilities and they have made a significant contribution to the College of Continuing Education.

The College of Continuing Education by Faculty regulation may add to or define these criteria for promotion more precisely and may establish the standards appropriate for the criteria. Copies of the regulations shall be made available to all Continuing Education Members.

Consideration for promotion normally shall be initiated by the Continuing Education Member, who shall make a written request no later than 15 September to the Dean. The Dean shall advise the College of Continuing Education Promotions and Tenure Committee to consider the request in accordance with Clause 37.03. Failing such a request, the Dean shall advise the Continuing Education Member in the fifth year of their appointment at the rank listed in Clause 37.08(a), (b) or (c) that they are eligible to be considered for promotion. All recommendations from the Committee shall be made to the Dean. The Director may make a separate recommendation.

Directors.

37.10 Directors of units within the College of Continuing Education may be appointed or reappointed by the President on the recommendation of the Dean for a term up to five years. Before commencing an appointment or reappointment of a Director, the Dean shall consult with the Continuing Education Members in the unit on the appropriateness of the candidate.

Salaries, Y Values and Ranks.

37.11 Y values and ranks for Continuing Education Members shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Appendix III.

Article 37A: Financial Emergency in the College of Continuing Education

- 37A.01 The Parties agree that Article 26 does not apply to the College of Continuing Education for Continuing Education Members. A financial emergency exists in the College of Continuing Education if and to the extent that the overall budget of the College of Continuing Education including the budget for bargaining unit salaries, is in a condition of severe restraint which cannot be met through routine budgetary measures and which may require reductions in the College of Continuing Education expenditures including expenditures on Continuing Education Members' salaries.
- The Board shall not declare that financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education exists until it has taken the routine budgetary measures in Clause 37A.02 to postpone, alleviate or avoid the financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education. It is understood that routine budgetary measures shall include:
 - (a) efforts to increase the revenue of the College of Continuing Education;
 - (b) efforts to reduce or eliminate expenditures on the College of Continuing Education budgetary items not crucial to the College of Continuing Education objectives as may be determined by the College of Continuing Education:
 - (c) non-replacement of Continuing Education Members who leave or have left the College of Continuing Education, which shall be in accordance with the following procedures:
 - (i) normally by 1 February, the President after consultation with the Dean of the College of Continuing Education, shall determine the level of reduction in the overall complement of Continuing Education Members;
 - (ii) the Dean may designate the way in which this reduction is to be distributed within the College of Continuing Education. Such reduction shall be subject to the agreement of the College of Continuing Education Council. If no such agreement has been reached within thirty (30) days, the President may proceed with non-replacement in the way proposed by the Dean or in accordance

- with the proposal, if any, of the College of Continuing Education Council;
- (ii) by 31 May, the Board shall provide a list to the Association of the names of Continuing Education Members who will not be replaced, subject to additions or deletions as a result of decisions made after that date;
- (d) non-renewal of some or all limited-term appointments of Continuing Education Members:
- (e) those measures in Clause 37A.04.
- 37A.03 Insofar as routine budgetary measures may require action under Clause 37A.02(c) or (d), the Board shall advise the Association in advance, citing this Clause 37A.03, of the measures to be taken under Clause 37A.02(c)(i) or (d), and shall keep the Association advised of the overall condition of the operating budget of the College of Continuing Education.
- 37A.04 Steps to postpone, alleviate or avoid the state of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education may include encouragement of Continuing Education Members to accept: voluntary leave, voluntary early retirement, voluntary reductions in responsibilities and corresponding salary or voluntary separation, provided that prior to any such agreement between a Continuing Education Member and the Board:
 - (a) there shall be notice to the Association, and
 - (b) there shall be consultation with the College of Continuing Education, and
 - (c) that such agreement is consistent with the continuing education and public affairs goals of the College of Continuing Education and the financial interests of the College of Continuing Education, and
 - (d) the Board shall inform the Association in writing of the details of the arrangements referred to above.
- 37A.05 In implementing any routine budgetary measures, the Board shall take due account of recommendations resulting from such planning processes as may be established by Senate or the College of Continuing Education.
- 37A.06 Before the Board takes any of the actions provided in Clause 37A.08, it shall advise the Senate and the Association through a report from the President, that it intends to declare a situation of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education. This report shall cite this Clause 37A.06, and shall provide relevant detailed information on the Board's efforts and plans to increase revenue in the

College of Continuing Education, the methods employed, and the actual and projected increase in revenue in the College of Continuing Education. The report shall also provide detailed information on the reduction or elimination of expenditures on budgetary items referred to in Clause 37A.02(b) and the actual or projected savings resulting therefrom. This report shall demonstrate why the actions in Clause 37A.02 are inadequate to avoid this situation of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education. The report shall also state those steps provided in Clause 37A.08 the Board proposes to take, the maximum amount of reduction in the bargaining unit salary budget and the maximum reduction in the number of Continuing Education Members which is proposed, and the reasons to justify this amount and the need for such steps. The Dean shall provide a copy of the report to all Continuing Education Members.

- 37A.07 The Board shall allow the Association and the Senate a reasonable period, not less than twenty-two (22) days, to make proposals on ways in which the financial situation might be ameliorated, including how any reductions in expenditures might be accomplished with the least damage to the University and the College of Continuing Education.
- Following the procedures in Clauses 37A.06 and 37A.07, the Board may declare that a situation of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education exists and that some or all probationary tenure-track, tenure-track and limited-term appointments shall not be renewed.
- 37A.09 The reduction in the bargaining unit salary budget under this Article shall not exceed the amount necessary to balance the College of Continuing Education budget, excluding restricted external funds for salary support.
- 37A.10 The actions under Clause 37A.08 above shall not be taken to affect the bargaining unit unless the actions possible in accordance with Clause 37A.02, are inadequate and any proposals from the Association or the Senate for relieving the financial situation are judged by the Board to be inadequate to avoid, eliminate or sufficiently alleviate financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education, and reasons for this judgment have been given.
- The identification of those whose appointments will not be renewed, as provided for in Clause 37A.08, shall be made by a committee representative of all units in the College of Continuing Education. Such decisions shall be made according to appropriate criteria on fair and non-discriminatory bases. In the absence of a recommendation from such a committee within ten (10) days, the Dean shall consult with the Association-Board Committee and shall undertake within ten (10) days the identification of those whose appointments will not be renewed.
- The Board undertakes that lay-off of Continuing Education Members for financial emergency will occur only in the event of a deficit in the total budget of the

College of Continuing Education. Before the Board undertakes the lay-off of Continuing Education Members, it shall advise the Senate, the Association and the College of Continuing Education Advisory Committee through a report from the President that a state of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education exists. The President's report shall contain information on the statement of the magnitude of the financial emergency, the Board's proposal for solving the emergency and a statement of the maximum reduction necessary in bargaining unit salaries. The Senate, the Association and the College of Continuing Education Advisory Committee shall have a reasonable opportunity, not less than thirty (30) days to respond to the President's report. There shall be a freeze on appointments to vacant or new positions on the continuing education professional staff of the College of Continuing Education pending the completion of the actions in Clause 37A.15. The Dean shall provide a copy of the report to all Continuing Education Members.

- 37A.13 Prior to making the report of the President cited in Clause 37A.12, the Board shall establish a College of Continuing Education Advisory Committee composed of one representative from each unit in the College of Continuing Education to be elected by the Members within the unit and two representatives of the College of Continuing Education Board, one of whom shall be the Chair of the College of Continuing Education Board or their designate. Any designate selected by the Chair shall be a community member. The committee shall select its own chairperson. At the same time they receive a copy of the report referred to in Clause 37A.12, the committee shall also receive a copy of the report in Clause 37A.06.
- Following the procedures in Clauses 37A.08 to 37A.13, the Board may declare that the financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education requires the lay-off of some or all of the Continuing Education Members. The Board may then proceed with the lay-off of some or all of the Continuing Education Members which are required to solve the financial emergency.
- 37A.15 The identification of those Continuing Education Members to be laid-off, as provided for in Clause 37A.14 shall be made by the Board in consultation with a committee elected by Continuing Education Members. Such decisions shall be made according to appropriate criteria on fair and non-discriminatory bases. Recommendations and the reasons therefor shall be made in writing by the committee to the Board following consultation by the committee with Continuing Education Members in the unit or units where lay-offs are recommended to occur. The committee may recommend that the lay-off of one or more specified Continuing Education Members be delayed for a specified period in order to meet the short term needs or commitments of the College of Continuing Education. Copies of the recommendations shall be made available to Continuing Education Members recommended for lay-off. In the absence of a recommendation from the committee within twenty (20) days, the Board shall consult with the Association-

Board Committee and shall undertake within fifteen (15) days the identification of those Continuing Education Members to be laid-off. If the determination by the Board of the identification of the persons to be laid-off and the effective date of lay-off do not agree with the recommendation of the committee, the Board shall state the reasons therefor.

- 37A.16 The President shall write to each person designated for lay-off pursuant to this Article 37A and shall advise them of such designation. The letter shall include a statement that the lay-off is for reasons only of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education. This letter shall be delivered to the Continuing Education Member in person by the President or designate or by registered mail.
- For purposes of this Article 37A, the situation of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education shall continue for a period of one (1) year from the date of the Board's declaration under Clause 37A.08 unless repealed sooner by the Board in light of a sufficiently improved financial situation. If the situation of financial emergency in the College of Continuing Education is to be continued the Board must make a new declaration under Clause 37A.08 following the procedures in Clauses 37A.06 and 37A.07.
- 37A.18 The maximum amount of bargaining unit salary reduction achieved by lay-off shall not exceed that stated in the President's report cited in Clause 37A.12 unless the President makes a new report pursuant to Clause 37A.12 and the procedures of Clauses 37A.08 to 37A.16 are followed. Once the Board has identified Continuing Education Members to be laid-off pursuant to Clause 37A.15, it shall not lay-off any additional Continuing Education Members under this Article unless the provisions of Clauses 37A.12 to 37A.15 have been repeated.
- 37A.19 Prior to implementing any lay-off, the Board shall make every reasonable effort to secure a position elsewhere in Dalhousie University for a Continuing Education Member who is laid-off in accordance with Clause 37A.15. Individuals who accept such alternate employment which is on the teaching, research, professional library or the College of Continuing Education professional staff shall continue all their employment rights, including years of service towards sabbatical leave, salary and pension credit. Individuals who accept alternative employment at Dalhousie University which is not on the teaching, research, professional library or the College of Continuing Education professional staff shall continue those employment rights which are appropriate to their new positions and shall retain those pre-existing employment rights which are not so appropriate, for use if they return to the teaching, research, professional library or the College of Continuing Education professional staff. Individuals who accept alternate employment at Dalhousie University shall have the same rights, in Clauses 37A.20 to 37A.22, as those laid-off and shall be given reasonable opportunity to retrain for their new duties. The Board shall pay tuition where necessary, as judged by the Association-Board Committee.

- 37A.20 There shall be no hiring of new Continuing Education Members to positions in the College of Continuing Education until all laid-off former Continuing Education Members, who apply and are qualified for the positions that become available, have been offered them. Laid-off former Continuing Education Members shall have the right of first refusal for their original position and for all other vacancies on the College of Continuing Education professional staff, for which they are qualified, for a period of six (6) years from the date of their lay-off or earlier period as given in Clause 37A.24. Although preference shall not be given to laid-off former Continuing Education Members over other persons who have been laid off from other bargaining units or the administrative staff in Dalhousie University for recall to their original unit, preference shall be given to laid-off former Continuing Education Members over other people for such positions. The qualifications of laid-off former Continuing Education Members shall be judged by the appropriate Centre or similar unit concerned and, where more than one laid-off former Continuing Education Member is being considered, the Centre or similar unit shall choose among them. Individuals receiving offers of employment under this provision shall have up to one (1) month to accept such offers and a reasonable period, not less than six (6) months, to terminate alternative employment and take up the position. The Board shall notify all laidoff former Continuing Education Members by regular mail, at their last-known address, of all available positions at the College of Continuing Education and also give timely notice of them to the Association.
- 37A.21 Recalled persons returning to the College of Continuing Education professional staff positions shall be entitled to seniority and tenure as at the time of lay-off and years of service prior to lay-off shall be counted towards sabbatical leave privileges. Salary shall be the salary at the time of lay-off, increased by any applicable across-the-board or standard increments, not including increments for career development awarded during the period of lay-off unless the person's activities during lay-off warrant some payment for career development.
- Any person recalled to a position different from that at lay-off shall continue to have the right of first refusal for a vacancy in their original position for a period of six (6) years from the time of lay-off.
- For a period of six years, laid-off former Continuing Education Members shall enjoy full access to University facilities, including library and computing services, under the same conditions as Continuing Education Members. Office space shall be provided when the Board judges this would involve no significant cost and the Centre or similar unit judges that such access would not inhibit seriously its activities. Those laid-off former Continuing Education Members who are not in full-time employment, their spouses and dependents shall be eligible for tuition waivers as provided for through this Collective Agreement, for a period of six (6) years from the date of lay-off.

- Recall rights of a person laid-off shall terminate six (6) years from the date of layoff, or the date due for retirement, or when the person indicates in writing to the
 Board that they no longer wish to be considered for recall, or at the date of
 expiry of the appointment from which the person was laid-off, whichever of these
 occurs soonest.
- A Continuing Education Member who has been laid-off for reasons of financial emergency in accordance with this Article shall be entitled to:
 - (a) notice of lay-off and the effective date thereof as soon as reasonably possible after the lay-off decision has been made, and
 - (b) provided they do not accept alternate employment at Dalhousie University, on the lay-off date they shall be entitled to a lump sum payment of one (1) month's salary for each year of service at Dalhousie University, but a minimum of six (6) months and a maximum of twelve (12) months shall be paid to those who have appointments with tenure, and a minimum of three (3) months and a maximum of six (6) months shall be paid to all other Continuing Education Members who are laid-off. Such Continuing Education Members shall have the right to an additional supplement of one month's salary for each month that said Continuing Education Member does not obtain equivalent employment after the expiry of a period equivalent to the applicable maximum and such supplement shall be paid for an additional period not to exceed six (6) months.

The salary referred to is that current at the time of lay-off.

If such Continuing Education Member accepts employment at Dalhousie University after the lay-off date but prior to a period equivalent to the applicable maximum in Clause 37A.25(b) they shall repay any portion of the amount paid under Clause 37A.25(b) which exceeds what their salary would have been had they continued to occupy their prior position.

for the Board

The Board of Governors of Dalhousie University

And

The Dalhousie Faculty Association

Was signed at Halifax, Nova Scotia this _	(9) day of April , 2021 by
Mach	
1 Amhi	Tava Coerd

for the Association

This page is intentionally left blank

Schedule A:2020/21 Salary Minima by Year being Credited for Initial Appointment of Members Other Than Professional Librarian, Instructor and Professional Counsellor Members, Effective 1 July 2020.

Y	Lecturer	Assis. Prof.	Assoc. Prof.	Professor
1 2	\$67,385 \$70,116			
3	\$72,847			
4	\$75,578	\$75,569		
5	\$78,309	\$78,300		
6	\$80,767	\$81,031		
7	\$83,225	\$83,762		
8	\$85,683	\$86,493	000.001	
9	\$88,141	\$89,224	\$92,621	
10	\$90,599	\$91,955	\$95,352	
11		\$94,686	\$98,083	
12		\$97,417	\$100,814	
13		\$100,148	\$103,545	****
14		\$102,879	\$106,276	\$107,182
15		\$105,610	\$109,007	\$109,913
16			\$111,738	\$112,644
17			\$114,469	\$115,375
18			\$117,200	\$118,106
19			\$119,931	\$120,837
20			\$122,662	\$123,568
21			\$125,120	\$126,299
22			\$127,578	\$129,030
23			\$130,036	\$131,761
24			\$132,494	\$134,492
25			\$134,952	\$137,223
26			\$137,410	\$139,954
27				\$142,685
28				\$145,416
29				\$148,147
30				\$150,878
31				\$153,609

Lecturer, or equivalent	\$ 111,508
Assistant Professor, or equivalent	\$ 127,272
Associate Professor, or equivalent	\$ 161,241
Professor, or equivalent	\$ 195,420

All dollar figures shall be increased by \$10,659 for Members in the Faculty of Law who hold a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the dollar figures shall be increased by \$18,256 for those Members in the Faculty of Medicine who hold a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board, or comparable agency.

<u>Schedule B</u>: 2020/21 Salary Scale for Professional Librarian Members, Effective 1 July 2020.

Y	Librarian 1	Librarian 2	Librarian 3	Librarian 4
1	\$61,854			
2	\$64,043			
3	\$66,232			
4	\$68,421	\$68,409		
5		\$70,944		
6		\$73,479		
7		\$76,014	\$76,006	
8		\$78,549	\$78,541	
9		\$81,084	\$81,076	
10		\$83,619	\$83,611	
11			\$86,146	
12			\$88,681	\$88,664
13			\$91,216	\$91,199
14			\$93,751	\$93,734
15			\$96,286	\$96,269
16			\$98,821	\$98,804
17			\$101,356	\$101,339
18				\$103,874
19				\$106,409
20				\$108,944
21				\$111,479
22				\$114,014
23				\$116,549
24				\$119,084
25				\$121,619

Librarian 1	\$ 89,118
Librarian 2	\$104,405
Librarian 3	\$123,560
Librarian 4	\$147,388

Schedule C: 2020/21 Salary Scale for Instructor Members, Effective 1 July 2020.

Y	Instructor	Sen. Instructor	U.T. Fellow
1	\$61,364		
2	\$63,950		
3	\$66,536		
4	\$69,122		
5	\$71,708		
6	\$74,294		
7	\$76,880	\$76,861	
8	\$79,466	\$79,447	
9	\$82,052	\$82,033	
10	\$84,638	\$84,619	
11	\$87,224	\$87,205	
12	\$89,810	\$89,791	
13	\$92,396	\$92,377	\$92,358
14		\$94,963	\$94,944
15		\$97,549	\$97,530
16		\$100,135	\$100,116
17		\$102,721	\$102,702
18		\$105,307	\$105,288
19		\$107,893	\$107,874
20		\$110,479	\$110,460
21		\$113,065	\$113,046
22		\$115,651	\$115,632
23		\$118,237	\$118,218
24			\$120,804
25			\$123,390
26			\$125,976

Instructor	\$106,483
Senior Instructor	\$130,697
University Teaching Fellow	\$154,912

All dollar figures shall be increased by \$10,659 for Members in the Faculty of Law who hold a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the dollar figures shall be increased by \$18,256 for those Members in the Faculty of Medicine who hold a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board, or comparable agency.

Schedule D: 2020/21 Salary Scale for Professional Counsellor Members, Effective 1 July 2020.

Y M.A.	Registered (N.S.B.E.P) M.A. or Ph.D.
1 \$71,210	
2 \$73,941	
3 \$76,672	
4 \$79,403	\$79,394
5 \$82,134	\$82,125
6 \$84,865	\$84,856
7 \$87,596	\$87,587
8 \$90,327	\$90,318
9 \$93,058	\$93,049
10 \$95,789	\$95,780
11	\$98,511
12	\$101,242
13	\$103,973
14	\$106,704
15	\$109,435
16	\$112,166
17	\$114,897
18	\$117,628
19	\$120,359
20	\$123,090

M.A. unregistered Counsellor	\$112,041
Registered (N.S.B.E.P) M.A. or Ph.D. Counsellor	\$135,816

Schedule E: 2020/21 Salary Scale for Technology Instructor Members, Effective 1 July 2020.

Y	Tech Instr. I	Tech Instr. II	Tech Instr. III
1	\$49,400		
2	\$51,986		
3	\$54,572		
4	\$57,158		
5	\$59,744	\$59,731	
6	\$62,330	\$62,317	
7	\$64,916	\$64,903	
8	\$67,502	\$67,489	
9	\$70,088	\$70,075	
10	\$72,674	\$72,661	
11		\$75,247	\$75,226
12		\$77,833	\$77,812
13			\$80,398
14			\$82,984
15			\$85,570
16			\$88,156
17			\$90,742
18			\$93,328

Technology Instructor I	\$82,001
Technology Instructor II	\$89,905
Technology Instructor III	\$103,076

Schedule F:2021/22 Salary Minima by Year being Credited for Initial Appointment of Members Other Than Professional Librarian, Instructor and Professional Counsellor Members, Effective 1 July 2021.

Y	Lecturer	Assis. Prof.	Assoc. Prof.	Professor
1	\$68,228			
2	\$70,994			
3	\$73,760			
4	\$76,526	\$76,514		
5	\$79,292	\$79,280		
6	\$81,782	\$82,046		
7	\$84,272	\$84,812		
8	\$86,762	\$87,578		
9	\$89,252	\$90,344	\$93,779	
10	\$91,742	\$93,110	\$96,545	
11		\$95,876	\$99,311	
12		\$98,642	\$102,077	
13		\$101,408	\$104,843	
14		\$104,174	\$107,609	\$108,522
15		\$106,940	\$110,375	\$111,288
16			\$113,141	\$114,054
17			\$115,907	\$116,820
18			\$118,673	\$119,586
19			\$121,439	\$122,352
20			\$124,205	\$125,118
21			\$126,695	\$127,884
22			\$129,185	\$130,650
23			\$131,675	\$133,416
24			\$134,165	\$136,182
25			\$136,655	\$138,948
26			\$139,145	\$141,714
27				\$144,480
28				\$147,246
29				\$150,012
30				\$152,778
31				\$155,544

Lecturer, or equivalent	\$112,902
Assistant Professor, or equivalent	\$128,863
Associate Professor, or equivalent	\$163,257
Professor, or equivalent	\$197,863

All dollar figures shall be increased by \$10,793 for Members in the Faculty of Law who hold a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the dollar figures shall be increased by \$18,485 for those Members in the Faculty of Medicine who hold a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board, or comparable agency.

Schedule G: 2021/22 Salary Scale for Professional Librarian Members, Effective 1 July 2021.

Y	Librarian 1	Librarian 2	Librarian 3	Librarian 4
1	\$62,628			
2	\$64,845			
3	\$67,062			
4	\$69,279	\$69,265		
5		\$71,832		
6		\$74,399		
7		\$76,966	\$76,957	
8		\$79,533	\$79,524	
9		\$82,100	\$82,091	
10		\$84,667	\$84,658	
11			\$87,225	
12			\$89,792	\$89,773
13			\$92,359	\$92,340
14			\$94,926	\$94,907
15			\$97,493	\$97,474
16			\$100,060	\$100,041
17			\$102,627	\$102,608
18				\$105,175
19				\$107,742
20				\$110,309
21				\$112,876
22				\$115,443
23				\$118,010
24				\$120,577
25				\$123,144

Librarian 1	\$ 90,232
Librarian 2	\$105,711
Librarian 3	\$125,105
Librarian 4	\$149,231

Schedule H: 2021/22 Salary Scale for Instructor Members, Effective 1 July 2021.

Y	Instructor	Sen. Instructor	U.T. Fellow
1	\$62,132		
2	\$64,751		
3	\$67,370		
4	\$69,989		
5	\$72,608		
6	\$75,227		
7	\$77,846	\$77,822	
8	\$80,465	\$80,441	
9	\$83,084	\$83,060	
10	\$85,703	\$85,679	
11	\$88,322	\$88,298	
12	\$90,941	\$90,917	
13	\$93,560	\$93,536	\$93,513
14		\$96,155	\$96,132
15		\$98,774	\$98,751
16		\$101,393	\$101,370
17		\$104,012	\$103,989
18		\$106,631	\$106,608
19		\$109,250	\$109,227
20		\$111,869	\$111,846
21		\$114,488	\$114,465
22		\$117,107	\$117,084
23		\$119,726	\$119,703
24			\$122,322
25			\$124,941
26			\$127,560

For the explanation of the calculation of Y for initial appointment, see Appendix III. The salary maxima for each rank are as follows:

Instructor	\$107,815
Senior Instructor	\$132,331
University Teaching Fellow	\$156,849

All dollar figures shall be increased by \$10,793 for Members in the Faculty of Law who hold a degree in law which is recognized by a professional bar society and for those in other Faculties for whom a degree in law, which is recognized by a professional bar society, is a requirement for appointment and the dollar figures shall be increased by \$18,485 for those Members in the Faculty of Medicine who hold a degree in medicine which is recognized by a provincial medical board, or comparable agency.

<u>Schedule I</u>: 2021/22 Salary Scale for Professional Counsellor Members, Effective 1 July 2021.

Y	M.A.	Registered (N.S.B.E.P) M.A. or Ph.D.
1	\$72,101	
2	\$74,867	
3	\$77,633	
4	\$80,399	\$80,387
5	\$83,165	\$83,153
6	\$85,931	\$85,919
7	\$88,697	\$88,685
8	\$91,463	\$91,451
9	\$94,229	\$94,217
10	\$96,995	\$96,983
11		\$99,749
12		\$102,515
13		\$105,281
14		\$108,047
15		\$110,813
16		\$113,579
17		\$116,345
18		\$119,111
19		\$121,877
20		\$124,643

For the explanation of the calculation of Y for initial appointment, see Appendix III. The salary maxima for each rank are as follows:

M.A. unregistered Counsellor \$113,442 **Registered (N.S.B.E.P) M.A. or** Ph.D. Counsellor \$137,514

Schedule J: 2021/22 Salary Scale for Technology Instructor Members, Effective 1 July 2021.

Y	Tech. Instr. I	Tech. Instr. II	Tech. Instr. III
1	\$50,018		
2	\$52,637		
3	\$55,256		
4	\$57,875		
5	\$60,494	\$60,478	
6	\$63,113	\$63,097	
7	\$65,732	\$65,716	
8	\$68,351	\$68,335	
9	\$70,970	\$70,954	
10	\$73,589	\$73,573	
11		\$76,192	\$76,167
12		\$78,811	\$78,786
13			\$81,405
14			\$84,024
15			\$86,643
16			\$89,262
17			\$91,881
18			\$94,500

For the explanation of the calculation of Y for initial appointment, see Appendix III. The salary maxima for each rank are as follows:

Technology Instructor I	\$ 83,027
Technology Instructor II	\$ 91,029
Technology Instructor III	\$104,365

GRIEVANCE FORM

Grie	vor's Name:	
Depa	artment:	
Addı	ress:	Phone No.:
		Fax No.:
		E-Mail:
1.	Nature of Grievance:	
2.	Clauses of Collective Agreement inv	olved:
3.	Facts of the Case (attach separate page	ges if necessary):
4.	Remedy Sought:	
5.	The grievance remains unresolved at procedure.	the conclusion of the informal
6.	Signature of Grievor:	Date:



56 IA

L.R.B. No. 2478 (Sec. 22)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

IN THE MATTER of the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia, and

IN THE MATTER of Dalhousie Faculty Association,
Dalhousie University,
Halifax, Nova Scotia

Applicant

- and -

The Governors of Dalhousie College and University,
Dalhousie University,

Halifax, Nova Scotia

Respondent

- and -

H. F. Aikens; et al

Interveners

pursuant to the Trade Union Act; APPLICATION having been made to the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) on April 7, 1978, for Certification of the Applicant as Bargaining Agent

AND the Board having conducted a with Section 24 (1) of the Trade as am. by S.N.S. 1977, c.70; of the Trade Union Act, R.S.N.S. vote on April 14, 1978, 1972, c.19, s.24, in accordance

AND the Application having been contested by the Respondent and opposed the Interveners;

on July 4, 5 and 6, 1978; made and evidence presented on behalf of the parties at Hearings held by the Applicant and Respondent, and Interveners, and representations AND the Board having considered the Application and the documents filed

AND the Board having been satisfied that more than forty percent of the employees of the Respondent in an appropriate Bargaining Unit are members in good standing of the Applicant in accordance with Regulation 10 Governing Procedure of the Board;

AND the Board having been satisfied that the majority of those employees voting in the Unit determined by the Board to be apposes to ballots in favour of the Applicant; be appropriate,

excluded by Paragraphs (a) and (b) of Subsection (2) of Section 1 of the fifty percent or more non-academic administration, Dalhousie University who hold positions as academic staff Unit consisting of all full-time and regular part-time employees of University, Halifax, Nova Scotia, as the Bargaining Agent for a Bargaining the agreement of the parties as to the description of the bargaining unit, does hereby certify the Dalhousie Faculty Association, Dalhous THEREFORE, the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) in consideration of lecturer and above, professional librarians, and artists and musicians residence but excluding those classifications as described in Appendix residence and all those employees whose duties and responsibilities include Union Act and those employees with the rank Dalhousie

THE CHAIRMAN. TWENTY-FOURTH DAY OF NOVEMBER, 1978, AND MADE BY THE LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD (NOVA SCOTIA) AT HALIFAX, THIS SIGNED 2 ITS BEHALF BY

P. F. Langlois Acting Chairman



L.R.B. No. 2478 (Sec. 22)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

Halifax, Nova Scotia November 24, 1978

REGISTERED

Dr. R. S. Rodger President of Dalhousie Faculty Association Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia

Dear Dr. Rodger:

Re: Dalhousie Faculty Association,

Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia

- and -

The Governors of Dalhousie College and

University,

Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia

Respondent

Applicant

- and -

H. F. Aikens; et al

Interveners

I am enclosing for your information copy of L.R.B. No. 2478 issued by the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) in connection with the above-noted Application for Certification.

The Board wishes to note the agreement of the parties on the following issues:

The phrase "regular part-time" means an employee whose duties and responsibilities are fifty percent or more of those of full-time employees in the same classification in the same faculty.

Employees who are seconded from or to Government or other institutions and fifty percent or more of whose salaries and benefits are determined by Government or other institutions are out of the unit.

Associate and Assistant Deans in the Faculty of Medicine are out of the bargaining unit until a date five years from the date of their appointment, except that the Associate Dean responsible for post-graduate medical education will be out of the unit until June 30, 1981. From those dates forward these Associate and Assistant Deans will be in the unit unless they are appointed in a manner similar to, and following the same procedure as Deans, or unless they fall within any of the other categories of exclusion.

The presently existing clinical-medical departments are:

Preventive Medicine Anaesthesia Family Medicine Radiology Pyschiatry Pathology Urology Otolaryngology

Neurosurgery Obstetrics and Gynecology

Pediatrics Surgery Continuing Medical Education Medicine

Ophthamology



L.R.B. No. 2478 (Sec. 22) Page 2

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

The Board has considered the special involvement in labour relations in Nova Scotia of Innis Christie and Peter Darby, faculty members of law at Dalhousie University, as Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia), and finds no basis under the provisions of the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia for excluding them from the bargaining unit.

Sincerely

Ry Home

Acting Chief Executive Officer

KHH/dls Encl.

c.c. Mr. Gerald J. McConnell
 Kitz, Matheson, Green & MacIsaac
 P.O. Box 247
 Halifax, Nova Scotia
 B3J 2N9

c.c. Dr. W. A. MacKay Vice-President Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6 c.c. Mr. Hector McInnes, Q.C.
 McInnes, Cooper & Robertson
 P.O. Box 730
 Halifax, Nova Scotia
 B3J 2V1

c.c. Mr. Gregory I. North
 Cox, Downie, Nunn & Goodfellow
 P.O. Box 2380
 Halifax, Nova Scotia
 B3J 3E5

c.c. Mr. Donald H. McDougall
 Stewart, MacKeen & Covert
 P.O. Box 997
 Halifax, Nova Scotia
 B3J 2X2

L.R.B. No. 2478 (Sec. 22)

APPENDIX "A"

EXCLUSIONS

The President

Vice Presidents

Assistant to the President

Registrar

Secretary of the Senate

Members of the Board of Governors

Deans of Faculties

Associate and Assistant Deans appointed in the same manner and following the same procedure as Deans of Faculties

University Librarian

Health Sciences Librarian

Law Librarian

Associate University Librarian

Directors of the following schools, institutes and centres:

School of Business Administration

School of Library Service

School of Public Administration

Maritime School of Social Work

School of Human Communication

Disorders

School of Nursing

College of Pharmacy

School of Physical Education

School of Physiotherapy

Institute for Resource and

Environmental Studies

Institute of Public Affairs

The Canadian Centre for Marine

Transportation

Trace Analysis Research Centre

Centre for Regional and International

Development Projects

Government Studies Program

Part-time Studies and Extension

Director of Athletic & Recreation Services

Dean of Student Services

Academic Staff in the Faculty of Dentistry and the School of Dental Hygiene

Employees with primary appointments in clinical-medical departments

Director and Assistant Director of Dalhousie Legal Aid



L.R.B. No. 2885 (Sec. 26)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

IN THE MATTER of the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia, and

IN THE MATTER

of The Board of Governors of Dalhousie College & University, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

Applicant

- and -

Dalhousie Faculty Association, c/o Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

Respondent

- and -

Dalhousie Faculty Association, c/o Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

Applicant

- and -

The Board of Governors of Dalhousie College & University, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

Respondent

- and -

Ms. Linda L. Zambolin, 114 Regal Road, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia B2W 4H8

Intervener

APPLICATIONS having been made to the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) on September 25, 1981 and October 22, 1981, pursuant to Section 26 of the Trade Union Act to combine L.R.B. No. 2478 and L.R.B. No. 2486 into one order and to amend certain classifications in the Bargaining Unit;

AND the Application having been contested by the Respondents and opposed by the Intervener;

AND the Board having considered the Applications and documents filed by the Applicants, Respondents and Intervener and representations made and evidence presented on behalf of the parties at Hearings held on January 25, 1982, January 26, 1982 and April 13, 1982;

AND the Board having been satisfied that a community of interest exists between those employees covered by L.R.B. No. 2478 and those covered by L.R.B. No. 2486;

THEREFORE, the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) does hereby declare pursuant to its jurisdiciton under Section 26(1) of the Trade Union Act that effective July 1, 1982, the Bargaining Units contained in L.R.B. No. 2478 and L.R.B. No. 2486 are combined into one Bargaining Unit under the jurisdiction of the Dalhousie Faculty Association;



L.R.B. No. 2885 (Sec. 26)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD Page 2 NOVA SCOTIA

AND THEREFORE, the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia does hereby amend L.R.B. No. 2478 dated November 24, 1978 by adding in the 7th paragraph and after the words "professional librarian" the following words; instructors, demonstrators, counsellors in the Students' Counselling and Psychological Services Centre;

AND FURTHER, the Board amends the description of the Bargaining Unit as contained in L.R.B. No. 2478, noting the agreement of the parties to the classification amendments;

THEREFORE, the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) in consideration of the agreement of the parties as to the description of the Bargaining Unit does hereby amend Appendix "A" to its Certification L.R.B. No. 2478 dated November 24, 1978, as follows:

After the words "Assistant to the President" add "Executive Director, Policy and Planning," "Advisor, Office of the President," "Legal Advisor, Office of the President," and "Assistant to the Executive Director, Policy and Planning";

After the words "School of Physiotherapy" as those appear immediately following the phrase "Directors of the following schools, institutes and centres" add "School of Dental Hygiene" and "School of Occupational Therapy".

After the words "Dean of Student Services" add "Dean of Freshmen" and after the words "Faculty of Dentistry" delete the word "and" and substitute therefor the word "excepting".

AND the Board having been satisfied that the Intervener, Ms. Linda Zambolin, Assistant Professor, School of Dental Hygiene has a community of interest with those employees in the Bargaining Unit;

THEREFORE, the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) does hereby dismiss the Intervention of Ms. Linda Zambolin.

MADE BY THE LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD (NOVA SCOTIA) AT HALIFAX, THIS NINETEENTH DAY OF AUGUST, 1982, AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

K. H. Horne Chief Executive Officer



L.R.B. No. 2885 (Sec. 26)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

Halifax, Nova Scotia August 19, 1982

CERTIFIED

Mr. Gerald J. McConnell Kitz, Matheson, Green & MacIsaac P.O. Box 247 Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J 2N9

Dear Mr. McConnell:

Re: The Board of Governors of Dalhousie College & University, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

400

- and -

Dalhousie Faculty Association, c/o Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

- and -

Dalhousie Faculty Association, c/o Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

- and -

The Board of Governors of Dalhousie College & University, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

and -

Ms. Linda L. Zambolin, 114 Regal Road, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia B2W 4H8

Intervener

Respondent

Applicant

Respondent

Applicant

I am enclosing for your information copy of L.R.B. Order No. 2885 issued by the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) in connection with the above noted case.

For purposes of clarity, the Board wishes to note that in accordance with the evidence presented at the Hearings, the persons while holding the positions of Chairman of Senate, Vice-Chairman of Senate and Secretary of Senate are found not to be employees within the meaning of Section 1(2)(a) of the Trade Union Act and that there is not sufficient community of interest between these aforementioned positions and those employees contained in L.R.B. No. 2478 dated November 24, 1978, to warrant the inclusion of these positions into the Bargaining Unit.

Sincerely,

V. H. Horne

Chief Executive Officer

Encl.

/cmc,

c.c. Dr. R. Roger
Dalhousie Faculty Association

c.c. Mr. Harvey Morrison
McInnes, Cooper & Robertson

Mr. David Cameron

Ms. Linda L. Zambolin



L.R.B. NO. 4173 (Sec. 28)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

IN THE MATTER of the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia, and

IN THE MATTER of Board of Governors of Dalhousie College

and University
Dalhousie University

Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H9

Applicant

-and-

Dalhousie Faculty Association
Dalhousie University
University Ave.
Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H9

Respondent

APPLICATION having been made to the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) on July 6, 1990, to amend L.R.B. No. 2478 dated November 24, 1978 as amended by 2885 dated August 19, 1982;

AND the Application having been contested by the Respondent;

AND the parties subsequently agreeing to the following inclusions/exclusions;

 Amend Appendix "A" of L.R.B. No. 2478 by adding to the list of exclusions from the bargaining unit in Appendix "A" the following classifications:

> Director of the School of Education Dean - Henson College Associate Dean - Henson College

 Amend Appendix "A" of L.R.B. No. 2478 by deleting from the exclusions to the bargaining unit the following classifications:

Director, Institute of Public Affairs
Director, Canadian Centre for Marine Transportation
Director, Centre for Regional and International Development Projects
Director, Government Studies Program
Director, Part-time Studies Extension

 Amend L.R.B. No. 2478 by adding to L.R.B. No. 2478, after the words "Lecturer and above" the following classifications:

Lecturer (Continuing Education)
Assistant Professor (Continuing Education)
Associate Professor (Continuing Education)
Professor (Continuing Education)
Special Instructor (Continuing Education)

.../2



L.R.B. NO. 4173 (Sec. 28)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

Page 2

 Amend L.R.B. No. 2885 by deleting from the exclusions to the bargaining unit set out there, the following classifications:

> Executive Director, Policy and Planning Assistant to the Executive Director, Policy and Planning Dean of Freshmen

THEREFORE, the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) does hereby amend L.R.B. No. 2478 dated November 24, 1978 and L.R.B. No. 2885 dated August 19, 1982 to reflect the preceeding agreement of the parties.

MADE BY THE LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD (NOVA SCOTIA) AT HALIFAX, THIS TWENTY-FIRST DAY OF APRIL, 1993, AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

K.H. Horne
Chief Executive Officer

L.R.B. No. 4544 Interim Order I (Sec. 31)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

IN THE MATTER of

the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia, and

IN THE MATTER of

The Governors of Dalhousie College and University

Applicant

("Dalhousie") University Avenue

Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

-and-

Nova Scotia Government Employees' Union, Local 77 &

Respondents

Local 53A

100 Eileen Stubbs Avenue

Dartmouth, NS B3B 1Y6

-and

Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 1392 & Local 3912

7071 Bayers road Halifax, Nova Scotia B3L 2C2

-and-

International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 968 & 968B

1379 Sackville Dr.

Box 419

Lower Sackville, Nova Scotia

B4C 2T2

-and-

The Governors of Dalhousie College and University

Employers

("Dalhousie") University Avenue Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

-and-

Technical University of Nova Scotia ("TUNS")

P.O. Box 1000 1340 Barrington Street

Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J 2X4

AN APPLICATION having been made to the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) on January 6, 1997 pursuant to Section 31 of the Trade Union Act requesting a determination of certain bargaining agents as a result of an amalgamation by statute of the Governors of Dalhousie College and University and the Technical University of Nova Scotia to form Dalhousie University which took place on or about April 1, 1997, which statute provided further that the Applicant is bound by the Collective Agreements entered into between the Respondents and the Employers;

AND the Application having been contested by the Respondent Unions;

AND the Board having considered the documents filed and representations made by the parties;

AND the Board having been satisfied that the parties have reached an agreement that there will be a Faculty Bargaining Unit to be represented by the Dalhousie Faculty Association, the designation of which is to occur without the requirement for a representational vote;

AND the Board having been satisfied that the parties have reached an agreement that there will be a Part-time Faculty and Teaching Assistant Bargaining Unit to be represented by the Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 3912, the designation of which is to occur without the requirement for a representational vote;



L.R.B. No. 4544 Interim Order I (Sec. 31)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

AND the Board having been satisfied that the parties have reached an agreement that there will be a Staff Bargaining Unit to be represented by the Nova Scotia Government Employees Union, the designation of which is to occur without the requirement for a representational vote;

AND the Board having been satisfied that the parties have reached an agreement that there will be an Operational Support Bargaining Unit, the designation of which is to occur in accordance with a representational vote conducted by the Board;

AND the Board by agreement of the parties having conducted a representational vote of certain of the employees of the Applicant in the Operational Support Bargaining Unit on April 24, 1997;

AND the Board having been satisfied that the majority of the employees in the Operational Support Bargaining Unit who voted, voted to be represented by the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 968 at a vote count on May 8, 1997

AND the Board having been satisfied that there is no dispute as to the Applicants' successorship to the business and/or activities of the predecessor Employers;

AND the Board having been satisfied that the Applicant should be the successor employer to the predecessor Employers, that the Applicant should be bound by the Collective Agreements entered into between the Respondent Unions and Respondent Employers and that the designation of the Bargaining Agents in relation to the Bargaining Units has now been established by agreement of the parties and/or results of representational votes conducted on April 24, 1997;

THEREFORE the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) hereby declares and orders that:

- Dalhousie University is the successor employer to the Governors of Dalhousic College and University and the Technical University of Nova Scotia;
- Dalhousie University is bound by the Collective Agreements between the Respondent Trade Unions and the Respondent Employers;
- There shall be four bargaining units as described below, with the designated bargaining agents as successor unions:
 - (a) The Dalhousic Faculty Association shall be the bargaining agent for a bargaining unit to be known as the Faculty Bargaining Unit which shall consist of those employees of Dalhousie University formerly represented by the Dalhousie Faculty Association at Dalhousie College and University and by the Technical University of Nova Scotia Faculty Association at the Technical University of Nova Scotia;
 - (b) The Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 3912 shall be the bargaining agent for a bargaining unit to be known as the Part-time Faculty and Teaching Assistant Unit which shall consist of those employees of Dalhousie University formerly represented by the Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 3912 at Dalhousie College and University;
 - (c) The Nova Scotia Government Employees Union shall be the bargaining agent for a bargaining unit to be known as the Staff Bargaining Unit which shall consist of those employees of Dalhousie University formerly represented by the Nova Scotia Government Employees Union, Local 77 at Dalhousie College and University and by the Nova Scotia Government Employees Union, Local 53A at the Technical University of Nova Scotia (save and except for those employees in positions which form part of the Operational Support Bargaining Unit); and



LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

(d) The International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 968 shall be the bargaining agent for a bargaining unit to be known as the Operational Support Bargaining Unit which shall consist of those employees of Dalhousie University formerly represented by the Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 1392, the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 968 and by the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 968B, all at Dalhousic College and University together with the employees in the comparable positions formerly included in the bargaining unit formerly represented by the Nova Scotia Government Employees Union, Local 53A at the Technical University of Nova Scotia.

The Board docs hereby retain jurisdiction in this matter to resolve all outstanding issues in this successorship application, including questions of appropriate inclusion/exclusion from the bargaining unit and whether the Canadian Union of Public Employees, Local 3912 should represent part-time faculty and/or teaching assistants at the former Technical University of Nova Scotia.

The effective date of this Order is May 8, 1997.

MADE BY THE LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD (NOVA SCOTIA) AT HALIFAX ON THIS ELEVENTH (11th) DAY OF DECEMBER, 1997, AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

Gary D. Ross

Chief Executive Officer



L.R.B. No. 4544 Interim Order II (Sec. 31)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

IN THE MATTER of

the Trade Union Act of Nova Scotia, and

IN THE MATTER of

Dalhousie Faculty Association ("DFA") 1229 LcMarchant St. Halifax, Nova Scotia

Halifax, Nova S B3H 3J5

-and-

Dalhousie University University Avenue Halifax, Nova Scotia B3H 4H6

Respondent

Applicant

APPLICATION having been made to the Labour Relations Board (Nova Scotia) on May 15,1997, pursuant to section 31 of the Trade Union Act, for a determination whether it was appropriate to include in the bargaining unit the position of "Industrial Liaison Officer", currently held by Kenneth F. Sadler.

AND the Application having been contested by the Respondent;

AND the Board having considered the Application and the documents filed by the Applicant and the Respondent, and representations made and evidence presented on behalf of the parties at Hearings held on September 18, 1997 and December 19, 1997;

AND the Board having reserved decision thereto;

THEREFORE the Labour Relations Board has determined that the position of "Industrial Liaison Officer" is included within the bargaining unit;

The Reasons of the Board (Chairman William H. Kydd, Q.C., and Members Brian Matheson, and Donna VanBuskirk) are as follows:

This application asks for a direction on the effect of an agreement made between Kenneth F. Sadler and the Technical University of Nova Scotia (TUNS), prior to TUNS amalgamation with Dalhousic University, whereby Mr. Sadler agreed to give up his position as a professor with eligibility to apply for tenure, in exchange for being given a non-bargaining unit position with the title of "Industrial Liaison Officer".

The collective agreement between TUNS and the Technical University of Nova Scotia Faculty Association (TUNSFA) provided that university faculty would have 5 years to obtain tenure, failing which they would lose their position after one more year. Mr. Sadler was a member of the teaching faculty, but initially had been hired for his ability to work within the university's cooperative program, rather than for his academic credentials. He was also told to concentrate on teaching rather than research. Mr. Sadler had neither a Ph.D. nor a Masters degree, and was due to have his application for tenure considered. Dr. Bell, who was the Dean of Engineering at TUNS, testified that because of concerns that Mr. Sadler would probably not be granted tenure, and the University's desire to continue to employ him without breaching the collective agreement, he negotiated an agreement with Mr. Sadler to withdraw from the bargaining unit. The agreement was concluded on March 30,1996, pursuant to which Mr. Sadler waived his entitlement to tenure, and accepted an "appointment without term" as an Industrial Liaison Officer in the Department of Engineering. This is a new position in the employee group known as "Administrators without academic appointment". This position is not within the bargaining unit of TUNSFA and no dues are required. In reality however Mr. Sadler continued to work with the same responsibilities and duties as before, except that he had lost his entitlement to tenure. The cvidence is that prior to coming to this agreement, Mr. Sadler was assured that he would be protected during the impending amalgamation with Dalhousie University by being treated as if he were faculty rather than holding an administrative position.



L.R.B. No. 4544 Interim Order II (Sec. 31)

LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD NOVA SCOTIA

The effective date of amalgamation was April 1, 1997. On March 26, 1997 Mr. Sadler was given a letter advising that the position of Industrial Liaison Officer had been assessed as no longer necessary and that it should be eliminated. The letter further advised that his employment at TUNS was "hereby terminated effective immediately". However Mr Sadler was asked to continue his teaching duties until the end of term, beyond April 1st, and continued to receive his salary.

During the initial stages of his negotiations with Mr. Sadler, Dr. Bell met with the Executive Committee of the TUNSFA, and advised them of his concerns about Mr. Sadler's status and of his plan to establish a position for Mr. Sadler outside the bargaining unit. Beyond that, the TUNSFA were never involved in the negotiations and they were not parties to the agreement. The evidence however satisfies this Board that TUNS acquiesced in the concept of establishing the new position outside the bargaining unit.

In determining the appropriateness of including a position in the bargaining unit, the Board has encouraged unions and employers to agree on what is appropriate, and has usually been ready to endorse any such agreement. It is fundamental however that Employers cannot separately bargain with individual members of a bargaining unit. Any such agreement has to be between the Union and the Employer. There was no such agreement in this case. There was however acquiesence to the extent mentioned, and this Board, in the past, has acknowledged that it is prepared to apply estoppel in an appropriate case, where there has been acquiesence. In this case, the inaction of the TUNSFA amounted to a representation that it concurred with Dr. Bell's efforts, and TUNS relied on that representation, in that it continued to employ Mr. Sadler without requiring him to obtain tenure. Estoppel however is an equitable doctrine, and as such is subject to the maxim that "he who seeks equity must do equity". In this case the evidence is that the private agreement that Mr. Sadler made with TUNS, was induced significantly by the representation that the change in his position would not be affected by the amalgamation. What happened breached this representation, and it is therefore the Board's view that it would be inequitable to apply estoppel in this case.

In the absence of an agreement between the Employer and the Union, there is no reason to exclude the position from the bargaining unit as the evidence is that the work done by Mr. Sadler in the position of Industrial Liaison Officer, was the same as before.

MADE BY THE LABOUR RELATIONS BOARD (NOVA SCOTIA) AT HALIFAX ON THIS TWENTY-SECOND (22nd) DAY OF DECEMBER, 1997, AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

Gary D. Ross

Chief Executive Officer

LB-0582

ORDER

2014 NSLB 142

Nova Scotia

BETWEEN

Dalhousie University

- Applicant

-and-

Dalhousie Faculty Association

- Respondents

-and-

Nova Scotia Government & General Employees Union

<u>NATURE OF MATTER</u> Application for Successor Rights under Section 31 of the

Trade Union Act

DATE OF FILING June 19, 2013

BEFORE Susan Ashley, Vice-Chair

George Fox, Member

Kenneth Estabrooks, Member

REPRESENTATIVES Malcolm D. Boyle, for the Applicant

Raymond F. Larkin, for the Respondents

<u>CASE MANAGEMENT DATES</u> December 3, 2013

April 22, 2014 May 6, 2014

<u>DATES AND PLACE OF HEARING</u> June 3, 2014 in Halifax, Nova Scotia

June 4 and 18, 2014, scheduled but not held

ORDER An application was made to the Labour Board on June 19,

2013 pursuant to Section 31 of the *Trade Union Act* requesting that the Board declare that the Educational Classification bargaining unit (the EDC) at the Nova Scotia Agricultural College established under the *Civil Service Collective Bargaining Act* be merged with, and continued as, the Dalhousie Faculty Association (the DFA) forming a

Page: 1 of 5

single bargaining unit consisting of every employee currently in the DFA and in the EDC bargaining units which will be governed by the Collective Agreement between the Board of Governors of Dalhousie University and the DFA.

For the following reasons, the Labour Board declares that the application is granted and finds that the disputed six employees do not fall under the DFA collective agreement. The Labour Board retains jurisdiction in the event that the parties are unable to resolve other issues that may relate to this application.

[reasons redacted for confidentiality for the printing of this Collective Agreement]

MADE BY THE LABOUR BOARD AT HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA ON THE NINTH (9TH) DAY OF JULY, 2014 AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

AMENDED ORDER 2014 NSLB 255

LABOUR BOARD Nova Scotia

BETWEEN

Dalhousie University - Applicant

-and-

Dalhousie Faculty Association

- Respondents

-and-

Nova Scotia Government & General Employees Union

NATURE OF MATTER Application for Successor Rights under Section 31 of the

Trade Union Act

DATE OF FILING June 19, 2013

BEFORE Susan Ashley, Vice-Chair

George Fox, Member

Kenneth Estabrooks, Member

<u>REPRESENTATIVES</u> Malcolm D. Boyle, for the Applicant

Raymond F. Larkin, for the Respondents

CASE MANAGEMENT DATES December 3, 2013

April 22, 2014 May 6, 2014

<u>DATES AND PLACE OF HEARING</u> June 3, 2014 in Halifax, Nova Scotia

June 4 and 18, 2014, scheduled but not held

PREVIOUS RELATED ORDERS LB-2478; LB-0582

ORDER The Labour Board amends LRB-2478 dated November 24,

1978 as amended by LB-0582 and amends the bargaining unit description to include all full-time and regular part-time employees of Dalhousie University in Halifax and Truro, Nova Scotia. This order is effective September 1,

2012.

LB-0582

For clarification the Boards notes that the following employees are included in the Dalhousie Facility Association:

[names redacted for confidentiality]

By correspondence dated October 30, 2014 the Board was notified that the parties have an agreed upon transition agreement therefore the Board will no longer retain jurisdiction over this application.

MADE BY THE LABOUR BOARD AT HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA ON THE NINETEENTH (19TH) DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2014 AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF BY THE ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER.

DIANA HARTLEY

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Calculation of Y Values

For Members of the teaching and research staff, Y represents the number of years of creditable service (s) in the rank of Lecturer or its equivalent or above in universities or equivalent institutions plus the sum of weighted years of other relevant experience (e), and 3 is added to Y for possessing the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent. The limit for e is 5 and s shall include the year in which the appointment is taken up.

The Evaluation of s

Equivalents of Universities

This is interpreted rather strictly: such an institution shall be degree-granting at least. Thus service teaching in community colleges, C.E.G.E.P.s and teaching students in hospitals to prepare them for diploma examinations is not treated as the equivalent of teaching in universities. Being a senior research scientist, with post-doctoral fellows to supervise, in institutions which are "commercial" rather than "educational", even though such institutions encourage and contribute to "basic research", is not considered the equivalent of working in a university. A very close, formal connection between such an institution and a university would be required to qualify it for equivalence to a university.

Equivalents of Lecturers

Taking full responsibility for teaching courses leading to a degree or diploma, setting examinations, grading them and reporting grades to be used for credit towards a degree or diploma and being a voting member of a faculty are the characteristics of being a Lecturer or above (no matter what one's title was). If the teaching responsibilities fall short of the criteria, it is counted under e ("Other Relevant Experience") rather than here under s. It is not always easy to resolve questions about "team-taught" classes. If it appears that teaching was part of one's duties as a graduate student, that is entirely disallowed. Analogously, someone who set up a new laboratory in a university, staffed it, planned and carried out research in it, and applied for grants to fund it, is considered to be the equivalent of a Lecturer or above.

Overlaps in s and Ph.D. Study

In some cases a Member may have held the post of Lecturer or equivalent or above while studying for the Ph.D. degree. The question that then arises is whether years of creditable service(s) should be granted for those same years which represent work for the Ph.D. (which will eventually result in 3 being added to Y). The following rules hold in such cases. Two or three years is taken to be the normal period of full-time study for the Ph.D. degree. When two or three years of full-time study for the Ph.D. has not been done, scholarly works during the overlapping years should be evaluated, and s will be reduced for one or two of them if the work beyond that done for the Ph.D. is insufficiently creditable.

The Evaluation of e

Relevance Weight 0

Some experience is discounted (given weight 0) as too remote from current duties. Examples are "being a native speaker" in a language professor, working in army intelligence in a social sciences professor and a variety of other (but not all) duties in the armed forces. Some claimed experience is voluntary (unpaid) work and little or no credit weight is given for that.

Low Relevance Weights

Some experience is weighted 1/3 or 1/4. Examples are education testing in the navy, being a teacher in an Army Education Corps, being a bibliographic assistant (all in humanities professors), practising one's profession but just after the first degree was achieved (from Members in the social sciences and in preclinical medicine). The criteria for low weight are junior status, limited previous experience or training, and/or some degree of remoteness from the Member's present duties.

Relevance Weight 1/2

A weight of 1/2 is used for staff nursing (by nursing professors), for school teaching (but not in one's present discipline), for university teaching below the rank of Lecturer and for practising one's profession (but without advanced qualifications, where these are appropriate, or in related but not closely-related fields). The general criteria here are the same as for 1/3 but a weight of 1/2 is given for more seniority and responsibility, and a closer relationship to present duties in the occupations experienced. Examples of professional experience weighted 1/2 are acting (in a theatre professor), independent research, editor of scholarly works (in humanities professors), chemist, pharmacist (in Biochemists), clinical fellow, and the director of clinical unit (in medical professors). It should be noted that regular, classroom school teaching is placed here, but higher weight is given to such general experience for those applicants who now are involved in training teachers.

High Relevance Weights

Being a community health nurse or assistant head nurse (in nursing professors) is weighted 2/3, as is school teaching one's present subject, general school teaching (if one's present duties include training teachers) and social work (if one now trains social workers).

Weight 3/4 is used for experience as a head nurse, nursing supervisor (in nursing professors), head teacher (in people who now train teachers), research associate at a fairly responsible level in one's present field but outside universities (usually such work <u>is</u> done after receiving the Ph.D. degree, where that is appropriate).

Relevance Weight 1

Unit weight is given to post-doctoral fellowships in universities, to directors of nursing (in nursing professors) and to teaching one's present subject in diploma schools. In many disciplines, especially in the sciences, experience as a post-doctoral fellow in a university for a year or two has become an almost essential condition for a subsequent appointment as a full-time faculty member. Such experience is very

close to that of faculty members, often involving a good deal of independence and effective supervision of students (especially at the graduate level). If reduced weight were given to such experience under e, those requiring such experience for subsequent faculty appointment might be unfairly treated when compared to those whose disciplines do not require it.

The Ph.D. and its Equivalents

Doctorates in Education possessed by Members are accepted as equivalent to the Ph.D. Credit is not given for the Ph.D. degree unless all the work is completed, fully evaluated and accepted for the award of the degree. Professional experience or training is not equivalent to the Ph.D. Master of laws degrees and Agregation des Lettres are not accepted as equivalent to the Ph.D. Some people have the equivalent of two Ph.D. degrees. Multiple degrees justify no more than a total of 3 units, to be added to Y. In some cases, Members had been given leave of absence from university appointments to study for their doctorates. Such leaves of absence are subtracted from the years of university service(s).

Combining the Elements

The elements of Y are s (years of creditable service in the rank of Lecturer or equivalent or above in universities or equivalent institutions), e (the weighted sum of years of other relevant experience) and Ph.D. or its equivalent (which is counted as 3). Y is the sum of these, i. e.

$$Y = s + e + Ph.D.$$

For example, a professor of geography with an Ed.D. degree who spent 3 years as a Lecturer at York University, 2 years as a post-doctoral fellow at U.B.C., 4 years as a postal worker and 1 year as a primary school teacher should be allocated

$$Y = s + e + Ph.D.$$

= 3 + (2x1+4x0+1x1/2) + 3 = 9

Note that values of a half or more in the sum are rounded up (e.g. 8.5 goes up to 9). It should also be noted that the maximum allowed for e is 5.

Teaching Staff in the School of Dental Hygiene

In determining Y values for new Members the Dean, based on advice received through the normal appointment procedures given in Article 14, and using the Guidelines for Rank, Promotion and Tenure approved for the School of Dental Hygiene by the Faculty of Dentistry, shall reconstruct in the individual's career the point at which they would have achieved the standards necessary for appointment as a Lecturer and consider that that individual would have been appointed in the next academic year as a Lecturer with a Y value of 1. The minimum standards necessary for appointment as a Lecturer are either:

(a) a Diploma in Dental Hygiene (or equivalent) and three years of professional practice in

- Dental Hygiene; or
- (b) a Bachelor's degree in a field relevant to Dental Hygiene and a Diploma in Dental Hygiene (or equivalent); or
- (c) a Bachelor's degree in Dental Hygiene (or equivalent) and one year of professional practice in Dental Hygiene.

If the individual qualifies in more than one of these categories, then the most advantageous would be used.

Similarly, if an individual has achieved the qualifications and experience necessary for appointment as an Assistant Professor, a reconstruction would be made which would identify the year in which they would have been appointed to the rank of Assistant Professor at Dalhousie University and assume that in the academic year next following they would have been given the Y value of 4 on the Assistant Professor scale.

Other relevant experience gained after the minimum standards as noted above have been achieved shall be evaluated in the same manner as for Members of the teaching and research staff as indicated above in this Appendix III and this shall include work experience gained in the professional practice of Dental Hygiene. The maximum allowed for such relevant experience shall be five (5).

Instructor Members

Creditable years of experience for instructor Members shall include the following:

- (a) the academic year in which the appointment at Dalhousie University is taken up; and
- (b) years of experience as an Instructor or similar position at Dalhousie University or other similar institution; for this purpose full-time employment for a period of eight (8) months, or more, in any twelve (12) month period shall be counted as one year; less than full-time shall be prorated according to the fraction of full-time duties the person worked; and
- (c) years of employment experience elsewhere that is related and relevant to the functions of their specific position. The maximum to be allowed under this Sub-Clause (c) shall be five years;
- (d) the Dean and the Department shall consider and include as experience one year for a Master's degree or equivalent, one year for a Bachelor of Education degree or equivalent, or three years for a Doctorate degree or equivalent if such a degree or equivalent is in a related discipline;
- (e) creditable years shall not include any experience acquired while a full-time student engaged as a teaching or research assistant if credit is given for a graduate degree in (d).

Y Values for Professional Counsellors

In the case of professional counsellors, s shall be the years of creditable service as a professional counsellor, clinical psychologist or equivalent, including a year spent as an interne, and e shall be the weighted years of other relevant experience. The limit for e shall be 5 and the highest weights shall be given to work as a teacher and for work as in research at universities. Two units shall be added to s for professional counsellors on the M.A. scale who meet one or more of the following criteria:

- (a) they are registered with the Nova Scotia College of Social Workers, or
- (b) they are certified by the Canadian Counselling and Psychotherapy Association, or
- (c) they are registered with the Nova Scotia College of Counselling Therapists.

Two units shall be added to s for professional counsellors who are registered by the Nova Scotia Board of Examiners in Psychology. For professional counsellors as for Members of the teaching and research staff, three units are given for possessing the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent and:

$$Y = s + e + Ph.D.$$

Y Values for Professional Librarians

In the case of professional librarians, s shall be the years of creditable service as a professional librarian. A professional librarian is a person who has a graduate degree in library service or library science or the equivalent of that.

Other relevant experience for professional librarians shall include professional experience in other disciplines, which shall be weighted 1/2; non-professional experience in other disciplines, which shall be weighted 1/4; and non-professional experience as a library assistant or equivalent in a university library or equivalent, which shall be weighted 1/2.

Professional experience refers to that obtained after achieving the appropriate professional qualification. The limit for e, as other relevant experience, shall be 5.

Those involved in the process of setting Y values for professional librarians, whether for appointment under Clause 14.11 or otherwise, shall include credit for degrees possessed as follows. For a Master's degree 1; for the LL.B. degree or its equivalent 1; for the B.Ed. degree or its equivalent 1; and for the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent 3. Multiple degrees justify no more than a total of 3 units to be added to Y.

The above elements shall be combined in the same manner as specified above for the teaching and research staff, i.e.

$$Y = s + e + d$$

where d is the credit for degrees.

Y Values for Continuing Education Members at the College of Continuing Education

In the case of Continuing Education Members, s shall also include:

- (a) the years of creditable service as a Continuing Education Member at Dalhousie, and
- (b) the years of creditable service the Continuing Education Member was employed in continuing education and public affairs programmes, either in a college or university or in an institution associated with a college or university.

Other relevant experience (e) for Continuing Education Members shall be weighted years of other relevant experience. The maximum for e shall be 5.

Those involved in the process of setting Y values for Continuing Education Members, whether for appointment or otherwise, shall include credit for the Ph.D. degree or its equivalent in the same manner as for Members other than instructors, professional counsellors and professional librarians. The maximum for Ph.D. shall be 3.

The elements of Y value for Continuing Education Members shall be as specified above but shall be combined in the same manner for the teaching and research staff, so that:

$$Y = s + e + Ph.D.$$

Calculation of Continuing Y Value

After initial appointment to Dalhousie University, a Member's Y value shall be increased as follows:

- (i) Each year of creditable service thereafter at Dalhousie University or each year of relevant experience thereafter shall increase the Y value by one, unless the C.D.I. is withheld in accordance with Clauses 31.08, 31.12, 31.25 or 31.29, in which case the Y value shall not increase for that year, as the result of creditable service.
- (ii) In case the Member achieves enhanced qualifications, the Member's Y value shall be increased in accordance with the provisions of this Appendix subject to (iii) below.
- (iii) Where a Member is given leave to pursue enhanced qualifications, at the option of the Member, either the year or years of leave shall be counted as years of creditable service, and Y increased as in (i), or Y shall be increased as in (ii), but not both.

Letter of Understanding

Clause 14.16 – Limited-Term Appointments of Less Than One Year and

Clause 14.18(a) – Part-Time or Other Staff Excluded

The Parties agree that for the 2020-2022 Collective Agreement:

1. Clause 14.16

- (i) The total number of limited-term appointments for less than one year shall not be greater than 6% of the total number of Members in the Bargaining Unit effective 1 July 2017 and thereafter.
- (ii) Appointments of Members starting 1 July 2017 and thereafter shall not be for less than ten months except where:
 - (a) the appointment is to replace a Member who is on leave for less than ten months provided that the length of the replacement appointment equals the length of the leave (or the remainder of the leave in the case of sick leave) excluding the time required to recruit the replacement; or
 - (b) the Member requests, in writing, for reasons relating to the Member's personal or other employment circumstances, that the appointment be for less than ten months.
- (iii) Instructor Members appointed for ten months or more will have vacation scheduled within the term of the appointment while those appointed for less than ten months under (ii)(a) or (b) will receive vacation payment in lieu of paid vacation in accordance with Clause 30.02.
- (i) Appointments under Clause 14.16(b)(vii) shall be included with the Clause 14.16(b)(ii) appointments for purposes of the Letter of Understanding Academic Staffing Appendix VII of the **2020-2022** Collective Agreement.

2. Clause 14.18(a)

Teaching duties performed by part-time or other staff excluded from the Bargaining Unit shall not be considered to have been redistributed if they are performed by:

- (i) persons excluded from the Bargaining Unit under the managerial or confidential exclusion provisions of the Trade Union Act;
- (ii) persons who are replacing Members whose workload is reduced under Clause 7.13 or because of requirements stipulated by research grants;

- (iii) former Members who have retired from Dalhousie University
- (iv) For the purpose of the calculation of Clause 14.18 (a), the term "Member" shall also include instructor Members holding probationary or continuing appointments. For the purpose of clarity, it is understood that instructor Members holding limited-term appointments are not included in the calculation in Clause 14.18(a).

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement at Halifax, Nova Scotia this day of day of 2021.

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty Association

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Per:

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

Witness to Board of Governors of

Dalhousie University

Guidelines Pursuant to Clause 22.03(b)

PURPOSE:

These guidelines are written pursuant to Clause 22.03(b) and are intended to avoid the occurrence of conflicts of interest between a Member's responsibilities to or the interests of a Centre/Institute and any outside professional activity in which a Member may wish to engage. The guidelines apply to all positions noted in Clause 22.03(b).

PROCEDURE:

The Member shall make a written request to the appropriate Dean for permission to engage in an outside professional activity. Members who are Directors or Chairholders shall direct their requests to the President. Details of the activity shall be provided including its nature and extent and the names of all other parties involved.

The Member shall be advised in writing whether a conflict exists between the Centre and the proposed activity. In accordance with Clause 22.03(b), the Member shall not engage in the activity where it is determined that a conflict exists.

CONFLICT GUIDELINES:

A conflict shall normally be deemed to exist where one or more of the following situations applies:

- (i) the activity would normally be undertaken by the Centre:
- (ii) the activity would be undertaken for a competitor of an existing client of the Centre and would be the same as, or substantially similar to, an activity already undertaken by the Centre for the existing client;
- (iii) the activity would adversely affect the ability of the Centre to attract contracts;
- (iv) the activity would adversely affect the Member's own research activity in the Centre.

AMENDMENTS:

The Board may from time to time, following consultation with and the approval of the Dalhousie Faculty Association through the Association-Board Committee, amend these guidelines and/or issue further guidelines under Clause 22.03(b).

Sample letter for external referees

1. LETTER OF REQUEST
Date:
Dear
Dr. (<i>insert candidate's name</i>), an Assistant Professor (<i>or substitute appropriate rank</i>) in (<i>insert name of Department</i>), is being considered by Dalhousie University for (<i>insert tenure and/or promotion as appropriate</i>). Your name has been suggested as an external referee to assist us in our deliberations. As you know, such an external review makes a vital contribution to tenure and promotion consideration and I hope you will be able to assist the University by acting as an external referee in this case. We would require your input into our deliberations by (<i>insert required return date</i>).
You should be aware that the provisions of the collective agreement provide that your letter of reference will be made available to the candidate unless you request that your identity be concealed in which event the identifying letter-head and signature block shall be removed.
If you are willing to act as an external referee in this case could you please advise me by return fax at (<i>insert fax number</i>) or phone me at (<i>insert phone number</i>) no later than (<i>insert response date</i>). Upon confirmation from you, I will be forwarding to you copies of Dr. (<i>insert candidate's name</i>)'s curriculum vitae and other relevant information.
Thank you for considering this matter.
Yours Sincerely,
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
2. LETTER WITH DETAILS
Date:
Dear
Thank you for agreeing to act as an external referee in Dr. (<i>insert candidate's name</i>) consideration for (<i>insert tenure and/or promotion as appropriate</i>). As I previously indicated to you, we will require your input into our deliberations by (<i>insert required return date</i>).

I would also remind you that the provisions of the collective agreement provide that your letter of reference will be made available to the candidate unless you request that your identity be concealed in which event the identifying letter-head and signature block shall be removed.

I am enclosing the following documentation to assist you in giving your assessment of the candidate to us:

(List details of all enclosures including:

- copies of the relevant criteria and standards from the collective agreement and Faculty regulations,
- the curriculum vitae of the candidate,
- if appropriate, copies of the teaching evaluations,
- copies of all published articles and papers presented to conferences as submitted by the candidate,
- bibliographical list of published books; (include the following as a note: if your library cannot supply these, please let us know, and we will arrange for the material to be sent to you.)

Of the several criteria that are relevant in tenure or promotion consideration, we would expect that your assessment would primarily focus on the candidate's scholarly activities. In an assessment of the candidate's published work, we would request that you include a comment on the reputation of the journal or publication in which the work appears and your comments on the quality, originality and productivity of any research performed by the candidate would also be welcomed. We are, of course, not restricting you from commenting on any other aspects of the candidate's abilities or performance or other relevant criteria if this is possible. Your assessment of whether the candidate has, in your view, met the relevant criteria is of vital importance to us.

If you require any further clarification, we would prefer it if you write or fax us rather than telephone since the substance of any material communication with you regarding this matter will be disclosed to the candidate.

Thank you for your kind assistance in this matter.

*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*

Yours Sincerely,

3. REMINDER LETTER PRIOR TO DEADLINE

Date:
Dear
I am writing you regarding your assessment of Professor X. As you know, we requested that you submit your assessment to us by (<i>insert date</i>). As that date is fast approaching, I am writing to give you a friendly reminder of that important date and to express our hope that you will be in a position to give us your views by that time. Your views and expertise in this matter are of critical importance to us. If you anticipate any delays in providing us with the requested assessment, please advise me at the earliest opportunity.
Thank you for your kind assistance in this matter.
Yours Sincerely,

4. REMINDER LETTER AFTER THE DEADLINE
Date:
Dear
I am writing you regarding your assessment of Professor X. As you know, we requested that you submit your assessment to us by (<i>insert date</i>). As that date is now passed, I am writing to request that you provide us with your assessment as soon as possible.
Your views and expertise in this matter are of critical importance to us and our consideration of the candidate will be incomplete unless we have your input. If you anticipate any significant delay in providing us with the requested assessment, please advise me at the earliest opportunity.
Thank you for your kind assistance and attention to this matter.
Yours Sincerely,

Letter of Understanding

Academic staffing

1. Provided only that the University's Operating Budget (in constant 2001 dollars) as approved by the Board of Governors continues at or above its current (2001/02) level, the Board agrees to provide a staff of Members over the life of this Collective Agreement at or above 760 Members. This means that the number of Members on 1 November 2020, 1 November 2021, and 1 April 2022 will equal or exceed the 760 Members (including vacancies that are the subject of an active search, a list of which shall be provided to the Association on or before 1 November in each year and on or before 1 April 2020), of which the total number of Members holding probationary, probationary tenure-track, tenure-track, tenured, appointment without term, continuing and Clause 14.16(b)(ii) appointments on 1 November 2020, 1 November 2021, and 1 April 2022 will equal or exceed 687 Members (including vacancies that are the subject of an active search, a list of which shall be provided to the Association on or before 1 November in each year and on or before 1 April 2022).

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have signed this Letter of Agreement at Halifax, Nova Scotia this day of , 2021.

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty

Association

Witness to Board of Governors of Dalhousie University

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Jah. Per:

UNIVERSITY

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

February 16, 1988

The Parties agree that the Board will not treat any person appointed to the academic staff as excluded from the bargaining unit if that person assumes any of the duties of existing positions in the bargaining unit unless first the Parties discuss the appointment and the Board provides to the Association an appropriate job description with sufficient detail to enable the Association to evaluate the propriety of the exclusion of such a person from the bargaining unit. Any Agreement resulting from such discussions shall be confirmed in writing.

This letter is part of the collective agreement.

Per En Wood

Dalhousie Faculty Association

Governors of Dalhousie College and University

Per: Wrinky

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN:

The Board of Governors of Dalhousie College and University, herein called the Board

OF THE FIRST PART

and

The Dalhousie Faculty Association, herein called the Association

OF THE SECOND PART

It is understood between the parties that:

- The Board will not reduce its rate of contributions to the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan below that applicable to pension plan members.
- 2. The Board may defer payment of its contributions as provided through the Nova Scotia Pension Benefits Act and/or the regulations thereof.

IN WITNESS THEREOF the Parties have executed this memorandum this 1344 day of Novayet , 1987.

SIGNED IN THE PRESENCE OF

Ollemy	The Board of Governors of Dalhousie College and University per: Such Publication of Dalhousie College and University
	per: Allak
Peggy Wold	The Dalhouble Pagulty Association
	per:
0 • 0	per: (on) -de- talky

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - Definition of "Spouse"

The Parties agree that wherever the word "spouse" is used in any article of the Collective Agreement (or in benefit plans referred to in the Collective Agreement) it will mean:

A person who either is married through an ecclesiastical or civil ceremony to an employee, or although not legally married to an employee, co-habits with the employee for at least twelve (12) months in a conjugal relationship. The term "conjugal relationship" shall be deemed to include a conjugal relationship between partners of the same sex.

Dated this 4th Day of December, 2000.

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

Per: On Kwer

Witness as to Dathousie University

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Dom

4

Witness as to Dalhousie Faculty Association

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

Special Salary Increases (SSI) Clause 8.01(b)

For purposes of administering Clause 8.01(b), the Parties agree that:

- 1. All Special Salary Increases brought to ABC by the Board nominees shall be fully documented, which for this purpose shall mean:
 - (i) documented reasons for the special salary increase as provided by the Dean, University Librarian or Vice-President;
 - (ii) any supporting documentation provided to the Dean; and
 - (iii) the Member's curriculum vitae.
- 2. Of the 12 allowable special salary increases, no more than four shall be from any one Faculty or equivalent unit.
- 3. Salary graphs for Bargaining Unit Members in each Faculty or equivalent unit will be generated at the beginning of the academic year. (This means separate graphs for: Architecture, Arts & Social Sciences, Computer Science, Counsellors, Dentistry, Engineering, Health Professions, Continuing Education, Law, Librarians, Management, Medicine, and Science.) On each graph, a linear least squares regression line will be drawn through all data points on the graph, i.e, excluding no one in the Bargaining Unit.
- 4. The DFA will publish in the *DFA Dialogue* the salary grids for all Faculties/ equivalents, including the linear least squares regression line.

The significance of these lines is as follows:

- (a) The DFA nominees to ABC will approve, without further conditions, any special salary increases proposed by the Board nominees to ABC which involves a Member whose salary before the special salary increase falls below the linear least squares regression line.
- (b) The DFA nominees to ABC will approve any special salary increase proposed by the Board nominees to ABC which involves a Member whose salary before the special salary increase falls on or above the linear least squares regression line on the condition that for each such special salary

increase there must be at least an equivalent number of Members and at least an equivalent amount of money given in category (a) during the same year. The category (a) Member(s) need not be in the same Faculty or equivalent as the category (b) Member.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have signed this Memorandum of Understanding at Halifax, Nova Scotia this 23 day of 2015.

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

Per:

Der

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty Association

of Dalhousie University

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN:

The Board of Governors of Dalhousie University

-and-

The Dalhousie Faculty Association

WHEREAS Dalhousie University and the Nova Scotia Agricultural College were merged by the Dalhousie University – Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act, SNS 2012, c. 3 effective September 1, 2012;

AND WHEREAS, on July 9, 2014, the Labour Board made an Order under Section 31 of the *Trade Union Act* with the effect of including employees formerly covered by the Civil Service EDC Collective Agreement and certain employees covered by the Civil Service Master Agreement ("the Civil Service Collective Agreements") with the bargaining unit recognized in Article 5 of the Collective Agreement between the Board of Governors of Dalhousie University and the Dalhousie Faculty Association ("the DFA Agreement");

AND WHEREAS the Parties agree as follows:

- 1. Subject to the terms of this Memorandum of Agreement, the DFA Agreement shall apply to Bargaining Unit Employees in the Faculty of Agriculture effective July 1, 2014;
- The Parties agree to amend Article 5 of the DFA Agreement to incorporate the Labour Board Order of July 9, 2014 and any further Order of the Labour Board implementing that Order;
- 3. All bargaining unit employees serving in indefinite terms of employment will be continued in appointments without term, continuing appointments or tenure, as appropriate;
- 4. The service of "Designated Employees" as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University- Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act will apply to eligibility to be considered for the following processes as provided for in subsection 12(4) of the Dalhousie University Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act:
 - Continuing appointments;
 - Re-appointment;
 - Tenure;
 - Reclassification/promotion;
 - Sabbatical leave;

- Educational leave;
- Special Leave
- · Other leaves;
- Administrative stipend;
- Public service awards.

Necessary processes must be concluded prior to an employee being entitled to reclassification/promotion/leave, etc., notwithstanding eligibility for consideration;

- 5. Dues deduction under Article 7.02 of the DFA Agreement shall begin with the first monthly deduction after the Labour Board Order dated July 9, 2014;
- Instructor Members with indefinite term appointments under the Civil Service Agreements shall have continuing appointments under the DFA Agreement;
- Members of the academic staff seeking reappointment, tenure or promotion shall have the option to be considered based on the criteria and standards which applied to them under the EDC Collective Agreement or the criteria and standards in the DFA Agreement;
- 8. Any existing intellectual property rights of members shall be recognized and preserved;
- The Parties agree to amend Articles 24.04, 24.08, and 32.05 (1)F to include all Designated Employees as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University- Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act who were members of the Public Service Superannuation Plan on September 1, 2012;
- 10. The service "Designated Employees" as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University – Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act shall apply to service related benefits in Article 27 of the DFA Agreement;
- 11. All grievances which arose under the Civil Service Agreements before July 9, 2014 shall remain the responsibility of the Nova Scotia Government and General Employees Union and the DFA Agreement will apply to grievances which arose on or after July 9, 2014;
- 12. All vacation in Carry Forward and Accumulated banks on November 1, 2014 shall be paid out before adjustments;
- 13. Members on leaves of absence taken under the Civil Service Agreements shall be entitled to return to employment from their leave;
- 14. The terms of leaves under the DFA Agreement effective on July 1, 2014 shall apply to members on a leave of absence on or after July 1, 2014;

- 15. The funds in clauses 30.22, 30.32, and 30.34 shall be increased proportionately to reflect the new eligible Members effective July 1, 2014;
- 16. The Parties agree to amend Article 32 of the DFA Agreement to add the following Article 32.05(3):

Designated employees as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University- Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act who became employees of Dalhousie University on September 1, 2012 shall be granted a Public Service Award in accordance with the following:

- (i) An employee who ceases to be employed either by retirement or resignation from employment, and is immediately eligible for and immediately accepts a pension pursuant to the provisions of the *Public Service Superannuation Act*, shall be granted a Public Service Award equal to one (1) week's pay for each year of full-time service to a maximum of twenty-six (26) years. The amount will include a pro-rated payment for a partial year of service.
- (ii) The amount of Public Service Award provide under Article 32.01 (a) shall be calculated by the formula:

- (iii) The entitlement of an employee to a Public Service Award shall be based on the service credited to the employee as an employee of Her Majesty in Right of the Province and the employee's service at Dalhousie University after September 1, 2012.
- (iv) Where an employee dies and he/she would have been entitled to receive a Public Service Award if he/she had retired immediately before his/her death, the Public Service Award to which he/she would have been entitled shall be paid to the person who is eligible to receive the deceased's pension benefits or to his/her estate if there is no such beneficiary.

The salary which shall be used to calculate the amount of the Public Service Award in accordance with this Article shall be the salary which the employee was receiving on the date of the termination of his/her employment or the salary used in the calculation of a

pension under the *Public Service Superannuation Act*, whichever is greater.

- 17. Effective April 1, 2012 the Lecturers, Assistant Professors, Associate Professors and Professors formerly represented by NSGEU under the EDC Agreement ("Professors") will receive a 2% increase;
- 18. Effective September 1, 2012, the Professors will be paid according to the rates in the Collective Agreement between the Board of Governors of Dalhousie University and the Dalhousie Faculty Association;
- 19. Professors will be placed on the DFA salary scales at their Y value consistent with the salary administration practice in effect at Dalhousie University for faculty appointments.
- 20. Effective April 1, 2012, the DFA Instructors formerly represented by NSGEU under the *Civil Service Master Agreement* ("Instructors") will receive a 2% salary increase;
- 21. Effective July 1, 2013, the Instructors will receive a 1.75% salary increase;
- 22. Effective July 1, 2014 the Instructors will be placed on the DFA salary scales at the Instructor rank or the Technology Instructor rank in accordance with Article 12 of the DFA Agreement;
- Instructors will be placed on the DFA salary scales at their Y value consistent with the salary administration practice in effect at Dalhousie University for Instructor appointments;
- 24. Instructors who successfully promote to Senior Instructor under the processes outlined in Clause 12.17 of the DFA Agreement within one year of the date of this Memorandum of Agreement will be paid at the level of Senior Instructor effective July 1, 2014. Teaching effectiveness and general competence of the Instructor Members shall be presumed to be at the norm of other Instructor Members unless there is convincing evidence to the contrary. Timelines for applications will be extended to January 31, 2015. Timelines for decision will be extended to April 30, 2015;
- 25. Designated employees as defined in subsection 1(d) of the Dalhousie University- Nova Scotia Agricultural College Merger Act who resigned or retired in the period between September 1, 2012 and the date of this Agreement will receive retroactive pay on the basis agreed to between the parties;
- 26. Article 32 shall apply effective July 1, 2014 wherever possible; coverage for insured benefits will be made available within a reasonable time for implementation in accordance with the requirements of the insurers.

This Agreement made this 16 day of October 2014

Dalhousie Faculty Association

The Board of Governors of Dalhousie University

Academic Renewal

Whereas:

- A. The Parties agree that Dalhousie University benefits from the contributions of Members at all stages of their careers.
- B. The Parties are interested in implementing a time limited renewal incentive program that permits Deans to renew departing academic staff in their Faculties on a 1:1 basis.

Therefore:

- 1. The Board agrees to fund a time limited renewal incentive program for faculty.
 - a. Twenty (20) renewal incentives shall be available. The value of each renewal incentive shall be equivalent to six (6) months' salary for the Member receiving the incentive.
 - b. Members who are tenured and who would be eligible to retire with a pension without actuarial reduction on or before June 30, 2018 shall be eligible for consideration for a renewal incentive.
 - c. Deans shall invite all eligible Members to apply for renewal incentives. The deadline for applications will be August 31, 2018, or August 31 in subsequent years should any of the twenty (20) renewal incentives remain available.
 - d. Applications will be assessed by Deans and recommendations at the Dean's discretion will be submitted to the Provost and Vice President Academic and the Vice President Finance and Administration on or before December 31, 2018, or by December 31 in subsequent years should any of the twenty (20) renewal incentives remain available.
 - e. Every effort shall be made by the Vice President Finance and Administration and the Provost and Vice President Academic to distribute the renewal incentives equitably. Five renewal incentives will be reserved and awarded within the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences. If fewer than five applications are received from the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences the reserved renewal incentives will be available within the common pool.
 - f. A Member who accepts an offer for a renewal incentive shall retire on or before June 30 of the year in which the renewal incentive is offered, in consultation with, and by approval of the Dean of their Faculty.

- g. The Board agrees to commence recruitment for one (1) tenure stream academic appointment for every renewal incentive that is awarded, within the following academic year and within the Faculty where the renewal incentive is awarded. All searches will be on-going until the renewal appointments are filled. Ten (10) of these renewal appointments shall be recruited using hiriug processes to increase the representation of underrepresented designated groups within the Faculties where they are made. The usual recommendations are required (Committee, Head/Chair/Director, and Dean).
- 2. In addition to the renewal incentive program, the Board agrees to replace all tenure stream Members who retire or resign during the lifetime of this Agreement with bargaining unit tenure stream appointments within the overall complement of the University.
- 3. The Association and the Board Agree to transfer \$240,000 of the surplus that has accumulated in the Anomalies Fund effective June 30, 2018 to the Academic Initiatives Fund to increase the number of Dalhousie Diversity Faculty Awards by an additional four (4) tenure stream awards. To ensure that appointments are made without undue delay, funds will be made available to fill awards for the life of this Agreement and active searches shall be underway before the expiry of the Agreement.

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have signed this Letter of Understanding at Halifax, Nova Scotia this $\underline{\cancel{9}}$ day of $\underline{\cancel{401}}$, $201\underline{\cancel{9}}$.

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty
Association

Witness to Board of Governors of Dalhousie University

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Per:

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE

UNIVERSITY

Y-Value Letter of Understanding

The Board agrees to recognize non-traditional scholarship and traditional ways of knowing in the calculation of y-values. The parties agree to form a Joint Committee to consider how non-traditional scholarship and traditional ways of knowing will be assessed and weighted. The Joint Committee will be composed of the Academic Staff Relations Manager, DFA's Administrative Officer, a representative from each of the Dalhousie Black Faculty & Staff Caucus and the Indigenous Faculty Caucus. The Committee will provide recommendations to be approved by ABC and implemented, effective July 1, 2021.

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have signed this Letter of Understanding at Halifax, Nova Scotia this _____ day of _____, 2021.

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty Association

Witness to Board of Governors of Dalhousie University

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Per:

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE

UNIVERSITY

Per: + wu'v

COVID-19 Letter of Understanding

- 1. As many Members are required to work remotely, the Board will make its best efforts to provide necessary home office equipment and supports. With approval of the Dean, Members may request reimbursement for the purchase of reasonable home office equipment and supports to enable completion of essential work tasks that they incur or have incurred since March 16, 2020. As appropriate, the Dean may alternatively recommend that the member utilize/borrow existing campus-based equipment for home use. Equipment purchased with Faculty funds is the property of the Faculty and needs to be returned to campus when virtual operations end.
- 2. Members who are required to have in person contact with students, other faculty and/or staff shall be provided with the appropriate personal protective equipment, at the Board's expense.
 - a) Where possible, PPE for research activities should be covered by research funds.
- 3. Upon request to the Dean, Members have a right to defer applying for reappointment, tenure, continuing appointment, or appointment without term for up to two (2) years. This request must stem from COVID-19 work disruption and current appointments will be extended accordingly.
- 4. With the approval of their Dean, a Member may elect to defer approved sabbatical, educational or special leave during the 2020/2021 academic year for reasons relating to COVID-19 disruptions. Member(s) will retain the duration of the deferral, up to a maximum of 1 year, for use toward their subsequent leave.
 - a) Requests to defer a leave beginning July 1, 2020 should be made to the Dean by June 1, 2020.
 - b) Requests to defer a leave beginning January 1, 2021 should be made to the Dean by August 1, 2020.

This provision does not remove or contravene a Member's rights under Clause 30.21.

- 5. The parties waive the 10% carry-forward maximums relating to the DFA travel fund under Clause 30.33 for 2019/2020. Unspent balances will be returned to each unit's travel fund for the 2020/2021 year. The 30% maximum carry-forward for amounts accumulated over three years are waived for 2019/2020.
- 6. Costs for travel cancelled because of COVID-19 (including the university's cancellation of all university-related travel) that cannot be refunded will be paid out

of supplemental leave grants for sabbatical, educational and special leaves and travel grant funding that had already been approved; Members will continue to have access to travel funds, including the DFA travel fund.

- 7. Members with Parking permits will receive a rebate of 1/6th of their annual parking fees for the 2019/20 year.
- 8. The parties agree that the DFA Travel fund may be used to pay for fees associated with attending conferences that have moved to an on-line format due to travel restrictions from the COVID-19 pandemic.
- 9. Consistent with existing protections in the collective agreement, Members have the academic freedom right to determine the appropriate method of delivery of online classes they are scheduled to teach, including how to best deliver a class or program, subject to applicable health directives and safety considerations.
- 10. The parties waive the requirement under Clause 18.09 that student surveys/evaluations from Winter, Spring, and Summer terms 2020 be placed in any special file for a Member created for the specific purposes of consideration of the Member for reappointment, promotion, tenure, continuing appointment or appointment without term. The student surveys/evaluation shall be provided in confidence to the Member.
- 11. The parties approve the extension of the timeline for determining workload in those cases where a Member's workload, for the academic year 2020/2021 was finalized by the 1 March deadline, but the Department Chair/Head/Director and Dean wish to negotiate a revised teaching workload, which must be in place no later than 1 July 2020.
- 12. Member(s) who are required to work from home may request an accommodation due to family, health or other matter covered by the Dalhousie Accommodation Policy. Those entitled to an accommodation under the Policy will be accommodated to the point of undue hardship.

- 13. In recognition of the additional demands placed upon a Member during the COVID pandemic, all Members shall be granted an additional five (5) days of vacation in the 2021-2022 vacation year.
 - a. With the approval of their Dean, Members who are unable to take some/all vacation for the academic year 2019/2020 due to workload resulting from COVID will be able to carry forward remaining vacation to the year 2020/2021.
- 14. Consistent with existing protections in the collective agreement, unless otherwise agreed, Members are sole copyright holders of their on-line lectures, teaching materials and examinations and shall retain the exclusive right to use, revise, rework and amend the copyrighted materials regardless of any support from the Board for production of the materials or of the manner of recording, storing, transmitting or broadcasting them.

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have signed this Letter of Understanding at Halifax, Nova Scotia this _____ day of _____, 2021.

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty
Association

Witness to Board of Governors of Dalhousie University Per:

Per:

UNIVERSITY

230

Cessation of transfers

The parties agree to commission an independent report to examine the indexing of pensions under the Pension Plan, the costs of indexing, and the potential impacts of cessation of transfers on current and future retirees, as well as any steps that can be taken to mitigate these impacts.

The DFA's agreement to commission the independent report does not mean that the DFA accepts cessation of transfers.

The report shall be commissioned on or before January 1, 2021 and submitted to the parties on or before April 1, 2022.

The costs of this independent report will be borne by the Pension Plan, if feasible, and if not, by the Board.

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have signed this Letter of Understanding at Halifax, Nova Scotia this <u>8</u> day of ______, 2021.

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty Association

Witness to Board of Governors of Dalhousie University DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Per:

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

Down

Canada Pension Enhancement Integration

The DFA and the Board agree in principle to integrate the enhanced portion of the Canada Pension Plan with the Dalhousie University Staff Pension Plan effective January 1, 2023. The DFA and the Board agree to refer the matter to the Pension Advisory Committee with a request to report back to the parties within one year from the date of signing of this Letter of Understanding with an accrual formula that is easy to administer/communicate and reflects integration of the CPP enhancement. Any cost savings will be shared between the Board and active Plan members.

If CPP enhancement is cancelled, there shall be no amendments. If CPP enhancement is modified, the Pension Advisory Committee shall make recommendations that also reflect the modifications.

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have signed this Letter of Understanding at Halifax, Nova Scotia this 2 day of 2021.

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty
Association

Witness to Board of Governors of Dalhousie University DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Per:

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE

UNIVERSITY

Protected Leaves under the Labour Standards Code

The parties agree to form a Joint Committee to examine the protected leaves under the Labour Standards Code.

The Joint Committee shall make recommendations on amendments to the Collective Agreement before the next round of collective bargaining.

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

Witness to Dalhousie Faculty Association

Witness to Board of Governors of Dalhousie University

DALHOUSIE FACULTY ASSOCIATION

Per:

BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF DALHOUSIE

UNIVERSITY